EDGAROnline

COMPLETE GENOMICS INC

FORM S-1/A

(Securities Registration Statement)

Filed 11/10/10

Address

Telephone
CIK
Symbol
SIC Code
Fiscal Year

2071 STIERLIN COURT

MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94043

650-943-2843

0001361103

GNOM

8731 - Commercial Physical and Biological Research
12/31

Powere d By EDGA;Rbn]ine

http://www.edgar-online.com
© Copyright 2010, EDGAR Online, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Online, Inc. Terms of Use.



http://www.edgar-online.com

Table of Contents

As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissioon November 10, 2010
Registration No. 33316843¢

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

AMENDMENT NO. 6
TO
FORM S-1

REGISTRATION STATEMENT
UNDER
THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

COMPLETE GENOMICS, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaet)

Delaware 8731 2C-322654¢
(State or other jurisdiction of (Primary Standard Industrial (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Classification Code Number) Identification Number)

2071 Stierlin Court, Mountain View, CA 94043
(650) 943-2800
(Address, including zip code, and telephone numbeincluding area code, of registrant’s principal exeutive offices)

Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D.
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
Complete Genomics, Inc.
2071 Stierlin Court
Mountain View, CA 94043
(650) 943-2800
(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone&mber, including area code, of agent for service)

Copiesto:
Alan C. Mendelson Donald J. Murray
Gregory Chin Dewey & LeBoeuf LLP
Latham & Watkins LLP 1301 Avenue of the Americas
140 Scott Drive New York, New York 10019-6092
Menlo Park, California 94025-1008 Telephone: (212) 259-8000
Telephone: (650) 328-4600 Facsimile: (212) 259-6333

Facsimile: (650) 4€-2600

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale the public: As soon as practicable after the effective dathisfRegistration Statement.

If any of the securities being registered on tlosnfrare to be offered on a delayed or continuossshaursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities AtB83, check the following box. I

If this Form is filed to register additional sedigs for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) unitier Securities Act, check the following box and fiee Securities Act registration statement
number of the earlier effective registration stagatfor the same offering. O

If this Form is a poseffective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(war the Securities Act, check the following boxl ¢ist the Securities Act registration statemennbar of the earlie

effective registration statement for the same ofter O

If this Form is a poseffective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462@jar the Securities Act, check the following boxl éist the Securities Act registration statemermber of the earli¢

effective registration statement for the same ofter O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlezge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, m-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting comp&se the definitions of “large accelerated
filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportim@mpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer O Accelerated filer O

Non-accelerated filer (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting company O

The Registrant hereby amends this registration stament on such date or dates as may be necessarylétay its effective date until the Registrant shalfile a further amendment
which specifically states that this registration sitement shall thereafter become effective in accoathice with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 193r until the registration
statement shall become effective on such date agtGommission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(apnay determine.




Table of Contents

The information in this preliminary prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We may not sell 8esecurities until the
registration statement filed with the Securities ad Exchange Commission is effective. This prelimingrprospectus is not an offer to sell
these securities and we are not soliciting offeretouy these securities in any jurisdiction where ta offer or sale is not permitted.

Subject to Completion, November 10, 2010

Preliminary Prospectus

6,000,000 Shares

Comltglete

enomics

Common Stock

This is the initial public offering of our commotosk. No public market currently exists for our aoon stock. We are offering all of the
6,000,000 shares of our common stock offered ks/ghospectus. The expected public offering prick9i€0 per share.

Our common stock has been approved for listing lom NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “GNOM.”

Investing in our common stock involves a high degeeof risk. Before buying any shares, you should cafully read the discussion of
material risks of investing in our common stock in* Risk Factors” beginning on page 13 of this prospectus.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission n@ny state securities commission has approved or digproved of these securities ¢
determined if this prospectus is truthful or complee. Any representation to the contrary is a crimind offense.

Per Share Total
Public offering price $ $
Underwriting discounts and commission:s $ $
Proceeds, before expenses, to $ $

The underwriters have the option, exercisable domefore the thirtieth day after the date of thiggmectus, to purchase up to an additional
900,000 shares of our common stock at the publeriofy price, less the underwriting discounts aathmissions payable by us, to cover over-
allotments, if any. If the underwriters exercises thption in full, the total underwriting discourdad commissions will be $ , and our
total proceeds, before expenses, will be $

The underwriters are offering the common stockea$asth under “Underwriting.Delivery of the shares will be made on or about
2010.

UBS Investment Bank Jefferies & Company

Baird Cowen and Compan

The date of this prospectus is , 2010.
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Complete Human Genome Sequencing Service

A Simple, Complete Solution

Researchor sends DMNA samples
to Complate Genomics.

Complete Genomics performs library preg,
sequencing, data assemibly and anabysis,

Large-scale data center supports advanced
informatics and data management software,

Complate Geanomics uploads firshed,
resaarch-ready data to Amazon Web Senices
for Clalivary 10 CLUSIomars,

Customers have access to a suite of analytical tools
to enabile them 1o rapidly anayia the genomic data
that & generated frorm thesr samples.
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You should rely only on the information contained m this prospectus. We have not, and the underwritexr have not, authorized anyone t
provide you with additional information or informat ion different from that contained in this prospectus. We are offering to sell, and
seeking offers to buy, shares of our common stockly in jurisdictions where offers and sales are peanitted. The information contained
in this prospectus is accurate only as of the dataf this prospectus, regardless of the time of deléry of this prospectus or of any sale of
shares of our common stock.
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transactions in our common stock, whether or ndigipating in this offering, to deliver a prospest This is in addition to the dealers’
obligation to deliver a prospectus when actingrasdenwriters and with respect to their unsold alletts or subscriptions.

Our logo, “Complete Genomics,” “Complete Genomicsalysis Platform,” “CGA Platform,” “cPAL” and “DNB’and other trademarks or
service marks of Complete Genomics, Inc. appeanirigis prospectus are the property of Completed@®es, Inc. This prospectus contains
additional trade names, trademarks and servicesradrgther companies. We do not intend our usasplaly of other companies’ trade names,
trademarks or service marks to imply relationshijil, or endorsement or sponsorship of us by, tletiser companies.
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Prospectus Summary

This summary highlights information contained elser in this prospectus and does not contain athefinformation you should
consider in making your investment decision. Yaukhread this summary together with the more diediainformation, including our
financial statements and the related notes, elsesvinethis prospectus. You should carefully considmong other things, the matte
discussed in “Risk Factors” and “Management’s Dission and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resaf Operations” before
making an investment decision. Unless otherwisieated, “Complete Genomics, Inc.,” “Complete Genogi “the Company,” “we,”
“us” and “our” refer to Complete Genomics, Inc.

Our Company

We are a life sciences company that has developgd@nmercialized an innovative DNA sequencingfptat, and our goal is to becor
the preferred solution for complete human genomeesecing and analysis. Our Complete Genomics AisBjisitform, or CGA Platforn
combines our proprietary human genome sequencitgedogy with our advanced informatics and dataagament software and our
innovative, end-to-end, outsourced service modptéwide our customers with data that is immedyjatehdy to be used for genorbasec
research. We believe that our solution will provae@demic and biopharmaceutical researchers wittplste human genomic data and
analysis at an unprecedented combination of qualitst and scale without requiring them to inveghihouse sequencing instruments,
high-performance computing resources and specihpeesonnel. By removing these constraints anddiyanabling researchers to
conduct large-scale complete human genome studé@bglieve that our solution has the potentiaktmtutionize medical research and
expand understanding of the basis, treatment aageption of complex diseases.

We believe that our complete human genome sequgteimnology, which is based on our proprietary D&NFays and ligation-based
read technology, is superior to existing commelciabailable complete human genome sequencing rdstimoterms of quality, cost and
scale. In the DNA sequencing industry, complete &migenome sequencing is generally deemed to beagwvef at least 90% of the
nucleotides in the genome. Because we have optihaaetechnology platform and our operations ferdimique requirements of high-
throughput complete human genome sequencing, wabéedo achieve accuracy levels of 99.999% atad tost that is significantly less
than the total cost of purchasing and using comia@ravailable DNA sequencing instruments. We &e&ti that we will be able to further
improve our accuracy levels and reduce the totstl cbsequencing and analysis, enabling us to miaisignificant competitive
advantages over the next several years. Becaudedaunology resides only in our centralized faieiit we can quickly and easily
implement enhancements and provide their benefitait entire customer base. Our goal is to beiteedompany to sequence and ana
high-quality complete human genomes, at scalea total cost of under $1,000 per genome.

While our competitors primarily sell DNA sequencimgtruments and reagents that produce raw seqdetata, requiring their customers|
to invest significant additional resources to pescthat raw data into a form usable for researehoffier our customers an end-to-end,
outsourced solution that delivers research-readpigéc data. As the cost of complete human genomeeseing declines, we believe the
basis of competition in our industry will shift frothe cost of sequencing to the value of the esgpiencing solution. We believe that
integrated, advanced informatics and data manageseerices will emerge as a key competitive advgatss this shift occurs.

Our genome sequencing center, which began comrhepsaations in May 2010, combines a high-througtgaumple preparation facility,
a collection of our proprietary high-throughput seqcing instruments and a large- scale data cedtegrcustomers ship us their samples
via common carrier services such as Federal Expieds
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United Parcel Service. We then sequence and antilgse samples and provide our customers withhiisresear-ready data, enablir
them to focus exclusively on their single highe®bhity, discovery.

As of March 31, 2010, there had been approxim&élpublished and 200 unpublished complete humaarges sequenced worldwide,
reported in the April 2010 edition dfature. As of September 30, 2010, we have sequencedd®complete human genomes year-to-
date, including more than 300 in the third quaofe?010, and have an order backlog of over 800 gerso Our customers include some o
the leading global academic and government reseamters and biopharmaceutical companies. By tHeo€&8010, we expect our facility
to have the capacity to sequence and analyze @gec@mplete human genomes per month. We expeatabicity to increase between
two- and three-fold in 2011 as we deploy additigejuencers and increase the throughput of ouesetng process through software
refinements and component upgrades. In future yaerplan to construct additional genome centethernUnited States and other
strategic markets to accommodate an expected ggogloibal demand for high-quality, low-cost completenan genome sequencing on
large scale.

Our Industry

Studying how genes differ between species and arimatigjduals within a species, or genetic variatiphelps scientists to determine thei
functions and roles in health and disease. Impgpeur understanding of the genome and its functi@ssdriven and, we expect, will
continue to drive advancements in medical reseanchdiagnostics. Genetic analysis products compr&euments and consumables, as
well as associated hardware, software and serdicestly involved in the study of DNA and RNA. Sotea Advisors, a third-party
research firm, estimated genomic revenue in 200 tapproximately $5.8 billion and projects the keato grow to approximately $9.0
billion by 2014. Scientia Advisors further estimgthat human genomics research will grow from $dlli®n in 2009 to $7.3 billion in
2014.

The primary genetic analysis methods traditionafigd by genetic researchers fall into three categjdDNA sequencing, genotyping and
gene expression analysis. DNA sequencing is theegsoof determining the exact order, or sequeridegandividual nucleotides in a
DNA strand so that this information can be coredab the genetic activity influenced by that seghué DNA. Genotyping is the process
of examining certain known mutations or variatiomthe DNA sequence of genes to determine whelteeparticular variant can be
associated with a specific disease susceptibiligrog response. Gene expression analysis is twegs of examining the molecules that
are produced when a gene is activated, or expregsddtermine whether a particular gene is expkssa specific biological tissue.

The Importance of Complete Human Genome Sequencing and the Limitations of Existing Technologies

One of the most difficult challenges facing the efgmresearch and analysis industry is improvingunderstanding of how genes
contribute to diseases that have a complex patteimheritance. For many diseases, multiple geaeb enake a subtle contribution to a
person’s predisposition or susceptibility to a dsmor response to a drug treatment protocol. Aangly, we believe that unraveling this
complex network will be critical to understandingniian health and disease. We believe that sequeagimglete human genomes is the
most comprehensive and accurate method by whiabhi®ve these objectives and improve our understgrad human disease.

Innovations in DNA sequencing have led to the dawelent of high-throughput sequencing technologiesymonly referred to as next-
generation or second-generation sequencing, whimluge thousands to millions of sequences at dkltdteough second-generation
sequencing technologies have led to dramatic rezhscin cost and improvements in quality and thiqug for complete human genome
sequencing, they were designed as general-purpssarents for sequencing the DNA or RNA of plaatimals, bacteria and viruses.
We believe the key limitations of using second-gatien technologies for sequencing large numberofplete human genomes include
the following:

= HighCost. Commercially available DNA sequencing instrmtsecannot sequence complete human genomes aed@si
enough to make lar-scale projects affordable to research
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= |nsufficient Scaleand Speed. Commercially available DNA sequencing instrumsetypically require weeks to sequence a
complete human genome, which translates into mantlggars for large project

= Difficulty of Data Management. Many users of commercially available DNA seagipg instruments lack the costly comput
resources, storage capacity, network bandwidthspedialized personnel to process and analyze tksiveadata sets generatec
sequencing complete human genon

Our Solution

We have developed a novel approach to complete ing@aome sequencing. Our solution combines ourr@tapy sequencing

technology, which achieves accuracy levels of 9889with our advanced informatics and data managesadtware and our innovative,
end-to-end service model to deliver research-rggaypmic data at a total cost that is significales than the total cost of purchasing an
operating commercially available DNA sequencingrimaents.

o

Proprietary Sequencing Technology

Our patterned DNA nanoball, or DNB, arrays, duéhtgir small size and biochemical characteristiogbde us to pack DNA very
efficiently on a silicon chip. In addition, we hagteveloped a highly accurate combinatorial probe&hianligation, or cPAL, read
technology, which enables us to read DNA fragmefftsiently using small concentrations of low-cosagents, while retaining extremely
high single-read accuracy. We believe this unicpraltination of our proprietary DNB and cPAL techrgiss is superior in both quality
and cost when compared to other commercially avi@ilapproaches and provides us with significantpetitive advantages. As reported
in the January 2010 edition 8tiencewe sequenced a complete human genome at a consascaist of approximately $1,800 and with &
consensus error rate of approximately 1 error Q@O nucleotides. Our read accuracy was furthidated by one of our customers, the
Institute for Systems Biology, or ISB, as publiste&cience Expresa March 2010.

Advanced Informatics and Data Management

Sequencing complete human genomes generates sidistarounts of data that must be managed, stard@nalyzed. To address this
potential need by our customers, we have builtrgecs data processing facility with computing ésfiructure for managing both small-
and large-scale genomic sequencing projects. Quprigtary assembly software uses advanced datgsimalgorithms and statistical
modeling techniques to accurately reconstruct 808t of the complete human genome from approximavetybillion 70-base reads.
After assembling the genomic data, we use our aisadpftware to identify and annotate key diffeejor variants, in each genome.

By using our analytical tools and data managemefivare, our customers can significantly reducer tileestments in computing
infrastructure. Our customers are provided withaldé access to assembled and annotated sequeade daultiple formats to ease data
sharing and comparative analyses. In additiongdata storage options provide flexibility and alloustomers to customize their data
management strategy based on their particular éssiand scientific requirements. We have develapgdte of open source analytical
tools, called CGATools, designed to enable ourarasts to rapidly analyze the data we generate thain samples. We are also
developing additional analytical tools, such asradr-normal comparison tool designed to allow canesearchers to compare a cancer
genome to the normal genome from which it was @ekriVAs the reagent cost of sequencing declinesdeleve that the cost and
complexity of data analysis and management willrgeas the primary limiting factor for conductingngplete human genome analysis.

Innovative, End-to-End Outsourced Solution

While our competitors primarily sell DNA sequenciingtruments and reagents that produce raw seqdelate, our end-to-end,
outsourced solution enables our customers to afftoaus the complex processes of sample preparagguencing, computing and data
storage and management. We believe our servicksxpand the
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potential addressable market by enabling a broad baresearchers who may lack sufficient capitdl the specialized persont
necessary to build and operate a sequencing laivpratr who have historically been constrainedhmsy high total cost of sequencing, to
conduct large-scale complete human genome studies.

Our end-to-end solution provides the following athages to our customers:
= High-Quality Data. Our technology delivers what we believe isitiiistry’s highest quality complete human genome ¢

= Cost-Savings. Our customers are not required to purchasersipe sequencing instruments and high-performaoogating
resources or hire the necessary specialized pesstmeequence and analyze large sets of completam genome dat

= Speedat Scale.  Our customers can complete their large-scalgpts more quickly by using our services than siypa
commercially available sequencing instrume

= Easeof Use. Our customers can avoid the difficulty and consuming process of purchasing and operating thair
sequencing instruments and can outsource the gmtioess to us, from sample preparation to delieérgsearc-ready data

= Operational Flexibility. By outsourcing their lar-scale complete human genome sequencing projeats tmur customers ci
free up the capacity of-house instruments to run smaller or more targetgdencing projects and applicatio

= Technological Flexibility. As DNA sequencing technology improves, our congrs avoid the risk of their expensive
instruments becoming technologically obsol

= Enables Customersto Focuson Discovery.  Outsourcing offloads the operational burdeihmanaging large-scale genome
sequencing projects and enables our customergts their resources on research, which can redhactnhe to discoven

We have more than 30 past and current customeishwitlude some of the leading global academicgmdernment research centers
biopharmaceutical companies. In May 2010, we reszkan order from SAIC-Frederick, Inc., a prime cactor for the National Cancer
Institute’s research and development facility iedarick, Maryland, to sequence 50 tumor-normalspair 100 complete human genomeg
over a six-month period. This contract contain®ption for SAIC-Frederick to engage us to sequéditzeadditional cancer cases, or
1,128 complete human genomes, over an additioraddi@h period. In addition, we sequenced completeoges that enabled ISB to
pinpoint the causal gene, and subsequently corfiengene’s role, in Miller Syndrome. This work ted to a follow-on project with the
ISB to sequence an additional 122 genomes. Wenadsked with Genentech, Inc. (a member of the R&ghmip) on a norsmall cell lung
cancer study that was the first complete human mensequence of a primary non-small cell lung tuarat matched normal tissue. The
data we delivered allowed Genentech to measurmathef smoking-induced mutations accumulated tves.

Applications for Our Sequencing Service
Potential applications for our complete human gemseqguencing service include:

= Cancer Research.  We believe understanding genetic mutationsircer patients will guide development of new cancer
therapeutics and diagnostics and ultimately enddétors to select the best course of therapy basédke specific mutations fou
in a tumor.

= Mendelian Disease Research. By sequencing the complete genomes of famglifected with Mendelian diseases, which lik
have a significant genetic component, we belieeegnetic causes of these diseases can be disdpwdiieh could lead to the
development of novel diagnostics and therapet
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Rare Variant Disease Research.  Large-scale genomic studies of central nengystem disorders, cardiac disease and certain
metabolic disorders may help to identify disruppathways and lead to the development of novel distits and therapeutic

Clinical Trial Optimization. We believe that selecting or stratifying patseon the basis of their genetic profiles couldixa
the preferential admission of high responders dfitacal trials, lowering costs and resulting irster clinical trials and drug
commercialization

In addition to these research studies, we expeatdiclinical applications to include:

Companion Diagnostics.  We believe that therapeutics that are not-line treatments for the general population ma’
elevated to first-line treatments or used in coratn therapies for subsets of the population shate a common genetic profile.
Complete human genome studies may unlock new maggirtunities for these therapies or combinati@adpies

Cancer Pathology. We believe that analyzing complex cancer gersottnat involve large and unpredictable structuhanges
will be most reliably and economically implementesing complete human genome sequenc

Universal Diagnostics.  As medical records technology and public hepttlicy advance, we believe that large numbel
people will have their complete human genomes sempeeand stored in their electronic medical recéodsise by their
physicians in managing their health care decisi

Competitive Strengths
We believe that our competitive strengths are Hevis:

Proprietary Human Genome Sequencing Technology.  Our proprietary sequencing technology achieoesiracy levels of
99.999% at a total cost that is significantly lésmn the total cost of purchasing and operatingmeraially available DNA
sequencing instrument

Fully Integrated Advanced | nformatics and Data Management Software.  Our solution enables our customers to managt
gain useful information from the massive data getserated in complete human genome sequer

Highly Scalable and Capital-Efficient BusinessModel .  Consolidating volume across our entire custdnase enables us to
sequence large numbers of genomes while avoidimgdbkt and complexity of employing a large fielsgtallation and support
organization. By implementing a high degree of madtion, we have reduced the possibility of humaarsrthat could adversely
affect quality and increase cos

Unique Insight Into Customer Needs. We interact directly with our customers onitlitéscovery projects, which enables us to
develop and enhance our analysis software to meetustomersspecific needs while expanding our understandingaagtion ir
the human genom

Fast and Efficient Deployment of Operational and Technological Enhancements. Because our sequencing operations and
center are centralized, we can rapidly upgradeesimology and deliver the benefits to our custemiaraddition, our access to
genomic data allows our software engineers to naatly refine and improve our software with each@ee we sequenc

Expanded Market Opportunity . We believe our outsourced model will exparelgbtential addressable market by providing
academic and biopharmaceutical researchers whald€kient budgets or the specialized personneéssgary to build and
operate a sequencing laboratory with access tc-quality, low-cost complete human genome di
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Our Strategy

We intend to become the leading complete humanrgersequencing and analysis company and the prefelagform for human genome
discovery by:

continuing to deliver the highest quality genomitaland analysis at a low total cc
maintaining and strengthening our technolc

capitalizing on our scalable mod

establishing ourselves as the leader in outsowoetplete human genome sequenc
expanding globally to increase capacity and reash markets

exploring strategic partnerships and collaboratiamns!

expanding applications for the use of our techngl

Risks Associated with our Business

Our business is subject to numerous risks, as sisclmore fully in the section entitled “Risk Fastammediately following this
prospectus summary. These risks include the foligp@mong others:

We are an early, commerc-stage company and have a limited operating his
We have a history of losses, and we may not actoegestain profitability in the future, on a quaty or annual basi
We may need substantial additional capital in titark in order to maintain and expand our busir

Our only source of revenue is our human genomeesegijog service, which is a new business model ieraerging industry, an
failure to achieve market acceptance will harmmusiness

Potential customers may have significant resermatabout allowing a third party to control the saging process or may wani
sequence only portions of human genomes, whichprayent our complete human genome sequencing edrein achieving
market acceptanc

Our success depends on the growth of markets fdysia of genetic variation and biological functiamd the shift of these
markets to complete human genome sequen

We face significant competition from large, v-capitalized companies. The emergence of hew cotiygegienome sequencit
technologies may also harm our busin

We must significantly expand our capacity in orttemeet projected demar

If our Mountain View genome sequencing facility bees inoperable, we will be unable to perform amame sequencing
services, and our business will be harn

If third parties assert, as they currently are @sgg that we have infringed their patents or ofv®prietary rights or challenge t
validity of our patents or other proprietary rightee may become involved in costly and time-consgndisputes and litigation
that could affect our ability to sell our servic

Summary of the Results of Operations for the Three Months Ended September 30, 2010 (unaudited)

Below is a summary of our results of operationstffierthree months ended September 30, 2010. Taedia data below has been
prepared by, and is the responsibility of, managegndanagement has completed its quarter-end finhalosing procedures for the thred
months ended September 30, 2010 but complete fmlastatements for this period, including the rethfootnote disclosures, are not yet
available. This summary is not meant to be a coh®sive presentation of our unaudited financialltegor September 30, 2010 and the
three months then ended.
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The following are our results of operations as et®mber 30, 2010 and for the three months theadend
= revenue for the three months ended September 30,@8s $4.2 million
= operating expenses for the three months ended 8bpte30, 2010 were $14.9 million; a
= net loss for the three months ended September@@®, was $20.5 million, which includes non-cash esgerelated to the marking to
market value of equity instrumen

As of September 30, 2010, our cash and cash eguigalvere $10.5 million and our order backlog fbick we believe we will sequence, bill
and gain customer acceptance within twelve montis approximately $9.0 million.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in the state of Delaware ore l, 2005. The address of our principal executffiees is 2071 Stierlin Court, Mountain
View, California 94043, and our telephone numb&6&0) 943-2800. Our website address is www.coregltomics.com. We do not
incorporate the information on, or that can be ased through, our website into this prospectusyandshould not consider it part of this
prospectus.
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The Offering

Common stock offered by Complete Genon 6,000,000 shares (or 6,900,000 shares if the unidersiexercise their ov-allotment
option in full).

Common stock to be outstanding after this offeri2%,809,078 shares (or 26,709,078 shares if therumitlers exercise their over-
allotment option in full)

Proposed NASDAQ Global Market symk “GNOM”

Use of proceeds We currently intend to use the net proceeds ofdfiering for capital expenditures to
expand the sequencing and computing capacity iMmumtain View and Santa Cla
leased facilities, to finance the further developtredf our sequencing technology and
services, for sales and marketing activities amadviarking capital and other general
corporate purposes, including the costs associgitbdoeing a public company.
Please se“Use of Proceec”

Risk factors See “Risk Factors” starting on page 13 of this peasus for a discussion of factors
you should carefully consider before deciding teest in our common stoc

The number of shares of common stock to be outstgradter this offering is based on 19,809,078 skautstanding as of October 15,
2010 and excludes:

= 2,814,636 shares of common stock issuable uportieresf options outstanding as of October 15, 20t a weighted-average
exercise price of $1.96 per shg

= 642,607 shares of common stock reserved for flssteance under our 2006 Equity Incentive Plan @avbber 15, 2010, whic
will become available for issuance under our 2040i€ Incentive Award Plan after completion of thigering;

= an aggregate of 3,200,000 shares of common stetkvili be reserved for future issuance under @irREquity Incentive Awar
Plan and Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as welyaawtomatic increases in the number of sharesio€@mmon stock reserved
for future issuance under these benefit plans, ivividi become effective immediately prior to thensommation of this offering;
and

» 1,965,477 shares of common stock subject to wariautstanding as of October 15, 2010 that willexggire upon completion ¢
this offering, with a weighte-average exercise price of $1.88 per st

The number of shares of our common stock descabede gives effect to:

= the conversion of all 14,731,939 shares of our edible preferred stock outstanding on October2D8,0 into an aggregate
17,445,662 shares of our common stock, which veileffective immediately prior to the consummatidthis offering;

= the exercise, on a net issuance basis, of warcamgsanding as of October 15, 2010, which will egpipon completion of th
offering if unexercised, to purchase shares ofoaunmon stock, resulting in the issuance of 1,358d8tares of common stock,
based upon the expected initial public offeringerof $9.00 per share; a

= the exercise, on a net issuance basis, of warcamgsanding as of October 15, 2010, which will egpipon completion of this
offering if unexercised, to purchase shares ofcouvertible preferred stock, ai
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the conversion of those shares of preferred stockediately prior to the consummation of this offigriresulting in the issuan
of 44,491 shares of common stock, based upon thected initial public offering price of $9.00 pérase.

Except as otherwise indicated, all informationhistprospectus reflects or assumes no exercideeafriderwriters’ over-allotment option.
We refer to our Series A, Series B, Series C, S@®iand Series E preferred stock collectively astertible preferred stockbdr financial

reporting purposes and in the financial tablesudet! in this prospectus, as more fully explaineNate 6 to our financial statements. In
other parts of this prospectus, we refer to oureSek, Series B, Series C, Series D and Seriegteped stock collectively as “preferred

stock.”

Certain of our principal stockholders and/or ttedfiliates have indicated an interest in purchasipgo an aggregate of $13.5 million of
shares of common stock in this offering, based uperexpected initial public offering price of $9.per share. However, because these
potential indications of interest are not bindiggelements or commitments to purchase, any or dfiesfe stockholders may elect not to

purchase any shares in this offering.
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Summary Financial Data

The following tables set forth a summary of outdnigal financial data as of, and for the periodded on, the dates indicated. You shc
read these tables together with our financial statés and the related notes, “Selected Financitd"2end “Managemers’ Discussion an
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggiems” included elsewhere in this prospectus. dtatement of operations data for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009 avedi&om our audited financial statements inclliéésewhere in this prospect

The statement of operations data for the six moatiaed June 30, 2009 and 2010 and for the cumelpéviod from June 14, 2005 (date
of inception) to June 30, 2010, and the balancetsiega as of June 30, 2010 are derived from ocaudited financial statements included
elsewhere in this prospectus. The unaudited firdistatements have been prepared on a basis emsisth our audited financial
statements and include, in the opinion of managgnadradjustments, consisting only of normal remg adjustments, necessary for the
fair statement of the financial information in teagtatements. Our historical results are not nadgsidicative of the results to be
expected in any future period, and the resultsHersix months ended June 30, 2010 are not nedgsndicative of the results to be
expected for the year ending December 31, 2010.

The unaudited pro forma and pro forma as adjusteh€ial data is presented for informational pugsosnly and does not purport to
represent what our results of operations or firermbsition actually would have been had the tretisas reflected occurred on the dates
indicated or to project our financial conditionasany future date or results of operations for artyre period.

Six months ended

Cumulative
period from
June 14, 2005

Years ended December 31, June 30,
(date of
inception) to
June 30,
2007 2008 2009 2009 2010 2010
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue $ — % — 3 622 % — % 1428 % 2,04¢
Operating expense
Star-up production cost® — 5,03: 1,01z 8,98t 14,01¢
Research and developm¢® 10,30¢ 23,63 22,42¢ 10,44¢ 11,09 71,19
General and administrativ®) 1,89¢ 3,17¢ 4,95: 2,12( 4,86: 15,841
Sales and marketir@® — 1,04¢ 1,79¢ 62C 2,53¢ 5,382
Total operating expens(® 12,20! 27,85] 34,20¢ 14,20: 27,48 106,43
Loss from operation (12,20) (27,85)) (33,585 (14,209 (26,05%) (104,38
Interest expens (215) (974) (3,46%) (2,057 (1,149 (5,809
Interest and other income (expense), 162 437 1,101 (70 23t 2,06t
Net loss $(12,259) $(28,399 $ (35,949 $(16,32) $ (26,969 $ (108,129
Net loss per share, basic and dilu $(211.00 $(369.3( $ (386.50 $(177.99 $  (45.09
Weightedaverage shares of common stock outstar
used in computing net loss per share, basic and
diluted 58,07: 76,87 92,99¢ 91,72« 598,08
Pro forma net loss per share of common stock, ba:
and diluted (unaudite? $ (6.59 $ (2.59
Net loss used in computing pro forma net loss
share of common stock, basic and diluted
(unaudited'® $ (37,03) $ (27,209
Weightedaverage shares of common stock outstar
used in computing the pro forma net loss per sh
of common stock, basic and diluted (unaudit? 5,619,60! 10,763,51

(footnotes on following pag
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(1) Includes stoc-based compensation expense as follc

Cumulative
period from
June 14, 2005
Six months ended
Years ended December 31, June 30,

(date of
inception) to
June 30,
2007 2008 2009 2009 2010 2010
(in thousands)

Star-up production cost $ — $ — $ 81 $ 15 $ 10t $ 18€
Research and developme 78 24¢ 992 22t 41F 1,741
General and administratiy 22 90 262 78 301 677
Sales and marketir — — 75 25 68 143
Total stocl-based compensation expel $ 10C $ 33€ $1,41C $ 345 $ 88¢ $ 2,74

(2) Netloss used in computing pro forma basic andtelilinet loss per share of common stock, and théewuaof weighte-average common shares used in computing pro forma
basic and diluted net loss per share of commorksindhe table above assume the conversion affalr outstanding convertible preferred stock intanmon stock immediat
prior to the consummation of this offering. Seed\to our financial statements for an explanatdithe method used to compute pro forma basic datkd net loss per shai
of common stock and the number of shares usecdhiputing those per share amour

The table below presents our balance sheet dathJasie 30, 2010:

on an actual basi

on a pro forma basis to give effect

our issuance and sale, during August, Septembe©atmber 2010, of an aggregate of 3,921,826 sludresr Series [
preferred stock

our issuance and sale, during August and Septe2@i€), of warrants to purchase an aggregate of I/33&hares of our
common stock at an exercise price of $2.69 pershérich subsequently terminated and were no loogtstanding as of
September 30, 201

our issuance and sale, in August 2010, of an agtgesf $121,440 principal amount of convertibleasc

the conversion of our convertible notes outstandisi@f June 30, 2010, and the additional convertibkes we issued and sold
during August 2010, into 2,990,355 shares of ouieSeE preferred stock, which occurred during Ad@@0 in connection
with our Series E preferred stock financi

the conversion of all shares of our convertibldgnred stock outstanding on June 30, 2010, togetitarthe shares of Series
preferred stock we issued during August, SepterabdrOctober 2010, including shares issued in cdiorewith the related
conversion of our convertible notes, into an agate@f 17,445,662 shares of our common stock, whititbe effective
immediately prior to the consummation of this offfigr;

the conversion of all of our warrants for convedipreferred stock into warrants for common steuknediately prior to th
consummation of this offering, and the relatedassification of convertible preferred stock warratility to additional paid-
in capital;

the exercise, on a net issuance basis, of warcamgsanding as of June 30, 2010, which will expipen completion of this
offering if unexercised, to purchase shares ofomunmon stock, resulting in the issuance of 1,358d&tares of common stock,
based upon the expected initial public offeringgrof $9.00 per share; a
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= the exercise, on a net issuance basis, of warcamssanding as of June 30, 2010, which will expipen completion of this
offering if unexercised, to purchase shares ofoomvertible preferred stock, and the conversiotho$e shares of preferred
stock immediately prior to the consummation of tfiering, resulting in the issuance of 44,491 skasf common stock, based
upon the expected initial public offering price®#.00 per share; ar

= on a pro forma as adjusted basis to give furthfecefo the sale of 6,000,000 shares of commorkstothis offering at the
expected initial public offering price of $9.00 strare, after deducting the estimated underwridisgounts and commissions and
estimated offering expenses payable by

June 30, 2010

terms of this offering chang

Pro forma
Actual Pro forma as adjusted ()
(in thousands)

Balance Sheet Data
Cash and cash equivale $ 7,97- $ 37,74 $ 84,71
Working capital (deficit, (20,86() 26,21 73,18:
Total asset 39,79¢ 69,56¢ 116,53t
Current and lon-term notes payabl 23,17¢ 5,87¢ 5,87¢
Convertible preferred stock warrant liabil 1,31¢ — —
Convertible preferred stoc 95,84+ — —
Total stockholder equity (deficit) (96,45) 47,95¢ 94,92

(1) A $1.00 increase (decrease) in the expected intidalic offering price of $9.00 per share wouldrizese (decrease) each of pro forma as adjusted aadttash equivalent
working capital, total assets and stockholders’iggby approximately $5.6 million, assuming tha trumber of shares offered by us, as set forthemraover page of this
prospectus, remains the same. We may also incozadecrease the number of shares we are offeringnérease (decrease) of 1,000,000 in the numbshafes we are offerir
would increase (decrease) each of pro forma assadflicash and cash equivalents, working capitéd) tssets and stockholdeesjuity by approximately $8.4 million, assum
the initial public offering price per share, as $etth on the cover page of this prospectus, res#ie same. An increase of 1,000,000 in the nuoftsrares we are offering,
together with a $1.00 increase in the expectedainiublic offering price per share, would increasach of pro forma as adjusted cash and cash ebrite working capital,
total assets and stockholders’ equity by approxatya$14.9 million. A decrease of 1,000,000 in theber of shares we are offering, together with H8Hecrease in the
expected initial public offering price per sharequld decrease each of pro forma as adjusted cashcash equivalents, working capital, total assetd stockholders’ equity by
approximately $13.0 million. The pro forma as atasinformation is illustrative only, and we williist this information if the expected initial pighbffering price and other
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Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degrferisk. You should carefully consider the follogwrisk factors, as well as the ott
information in this prospectus, before deciding thiee to invest in shares of our common stock. Tdoeiwence of any of the events described
below could harm our business, financial conditimsults of operations and growth prospects. Irhsaic event, the trading price of our
common stock may decline and you may lose all drqfgour investment.

Risks Related to Our Limited Operating History, Fin  ancial Condition and Capital Requirements

We are an early, commercial-stage company and have a limited operating history, which may make it difficult to evaluate our current
business and predict our future performance.

We are an early, commercial-stage company and &éw@ted operating history. We were incorporated®elaware in June 2005 and began
operations in March 2006. From March 2006 until ¥2@D9, our operations focused on research and @gwel our DNA sequencing
technology platform. In December 2009, we recoghizer first revenue from the sale of our genomeigaging services. Our limited operai
history, particularly in light of our novel, sereibased business model in the rapidly evolving gensequencing industry, may make it
difficult to evaluate our current business and patedur future performance. Our lack of a long @tieg history, and especially our very short
history as a revenue-generating company, make ssgsament of our profitability or prediction about future success or viability subject to
significant uncertainty. We have encountered antdoentinue to encounter risks and difficultiesdfeently experienced by early, commercial-
stage companies in rapidly evolving industriesvéfdo not address these risks successfully, ounéss will suffer.

Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate in the future. Asaresult, we may fail to meet or exceed the expectations of research analysts or
investors, which could cause our stock priceto decline.

Our financial condition and operating results magtiiate from quarter to quarter and year to yedhé future due to a variety of factors, m
of which are beyond our control. Factors relatim@tr business that may contribute to these fldictna include the following, as well as other
factors described elsewhere in this prospectus:

= our ability to achieve profitability

= the size and frequency of customer ord

= our ability to expand our sequencing operati

= our need for and ability to obtain capital necegsamperate and expand our busin
= the cost of our sequencing servic

= the demand for the sequencing of complete humaarges;

= the existence and extent of government fundingdeearch and development relating to genome seigg
= the emergence of alternative genome sequencingdéagies;

= risks associated with expanding our business itermational market:

= our ability to lower the average cost per genonag We sequenci

= our dependence on sin-source suppliers

= our ability to manage our growt

= our ability to successfully partner with other mesises in joint ventures or collaborations, orgrdate any businesses we may acquire
with our business

13
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= our dependence on, and the need to attract ard,rkég management and qualified sales perso
= our ability to obtain, protect and enforce our lietetual property rights and avoid infringing threellectual property rights of othel
= our ability to prevent the theft or misappropriatiof our knov-how or technologies
= lawsuits brought against us by third part
= business interruptions, such as earthquakes aed oditural disaster
= public concerns about the ethical, legal and satiaterns related to the use of genetic informa
= our ability to comply with current laws and regidas and new or expanded regulatory schel
= our ability to properly handle and dispose of hdeas materials used in our business and biologiaate; anc
= our ability to use our net operating loss carryfarsls to offset future taxable incon
Due to the various factors mentioned above, anerstthe results of any prior quarterly or annualqals are not necessarily indicative of our
future operating performance.
We have a history of losses, and we may not achieve or sustain profitability in the future, on a quarterly or annual basis.

We have not been profitable in any quarterly pesimte we were formed. We incurred net losses af3illion, $28.4 million and

$35.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2@008 and 2009, respectively, and $27.0 milliontiie six months ended June 30, 2010.
As of June 30, 2010, our deficit accumulated dutimgdevelopment stage was $108.1 million. Baseousrturrent operating plans and
assumptions, we do not expect to achieve profitglih an annual basis in the near future. In dolditwe expect our cash expenditures to
increase significantly in the near term, includ@ignificant expenditures for the expansion of owumtain View, California sequencing facil
and the development of additional sequencing centesearch and development, sales and marketihgeareral and administrative expenses.
In order to continue operations, we must obtaintaddl debt or equity financingVe may encounter unforeseen difficulties, compidzet anc
delays in expanding our Mountain View sequenciraiifg or in establishing additional genome sequegaenters and other unforeseen
factors that require additional expenditures. Thexsts, among other factors, have had and willicoatto have an adverse effect on our
working capital and stockholders’ equity. We widlve to generate and sustain substantially increzseshue to achieve and maintain
profitability, which we may never do. If we are l&to achieve and then maintain profitability, tharket value of our common stock will
decline.

We may need substantial additional capital in the futurein order to maintain and expand our business.

Our future capital requirements may be substargaticularly as we further develop our businegpaad the sequencing and computing
capacity in our Mountain View and Santa Clara, fOdtiia leased facilities and establish additioreigme sequencing centers. Historically, we
have financed our operations through private plasemof preferred stock and convertible debt andolsdngs under our credit facility.

We believe that, based on our current level of afp@ns and anticipated growth, the net proceeds ftos offering, together with our cash and
cash equivalent balances and interest income weogathese balances, will be sufficient to meetanicipated cash requirements through at
least the next 12 months. However, we may neediaddi capital if our current plans and assumpticmasnge. Our need for additional capital
will depend on many factors, including:

= the financial success of our genome sequencingéss
= our ability to increase the sequencing and comgutapacity in our Mountain View and Santa Claraéebfacilities:
= the rate at which we establish additional genongeieecing centers and whether we can find suitadnfmers to establish such cente
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= whether we are successful in obtaining paymentsa ftostomers

= whether we can enter into collaborations or esthldi recurring customer ba:

= the progress and scope of our research and devetamrojects

= the effect of any joint ventures or acquisition®tifer businesses or technologies that we may &riteor make in the future
= the filing, prosecution and enforcement of patédaines; anc

= lawsuits brought against us by third part

If our capital resources are insufficient to meet capital requirements, and we are unable to émtejoint ventures or collaborations with
partners able or willing to fund our developmeribgs or purchase our genome sequencing servieegyilvhave to raise additional funds. If
future financings involve the issuance of equitywsiies, our existing stockholders would suffdution. If we raise additional debt financing,
we may be subject to restrictive covenants thait lmar ability to conduct our business. We may b@table to raise sufficient additional funds
on terms that are favorable to us, if at all. Iffai to raise sufficient funds and continue touné&sses, our ability to fund our operations, take
advantage of strategic opportunities, further dgvelnd enhance our technology or otherwise resfipodmpetitive pressures could
significantly suffer. If this happens, we may beckx to:

= slow or halt the expansion of our Mountain Viewiliacand the establishment of additional genomgusacing center:
= slow the commercialization of our servic

= delay or terminate research or development progr

= curtail or cease operations;

= seek to obtain funds through collaborative anchireg arrangements, which may require us to relglgogommercial rights or grant
licenses on terms that are not favorable tc

The report of our independent registered public accounting firm has expressed substantial doubt asto our ability to continue as a going
concern.

In its report accompanying our audited financiatements for the year ended December 31, 2009ndependent registered public accounting
firm included an explanatory paragraph stating thatrecurring losses from operations and lackuéficent working capital raise substantial
doubt as to our ability to continue as a going esncA report with this type of explanatory parggraould impair our ability to finance our
operations through the sale of debt or equity seesior to obtain commercial bank loans. Our &pild continue as a going concern will
depend, in large part, on our ability to generaisitive cash flow from operations and obtain neassfnancing, neither of which is certain.

a result, the report of our independent registerdalic accounting firm for the year ending Decem®®r2010 may express substantial doubt
about our ability to continue as a going concerccakdingly, we may need to obtain sufficient fingagcin the short term, and the failure to do
so may adversely affect the value of our commoaoksto

Risks Related to Our Business
Our only source of revenue isour human genome sequencing service, which is a new business model in an emerging industry, and failure to
achieve market acceptance will harm our business.

Since our inception, all of our efforts have beecuksed on the creation of a technology platfornmofarhuman genome sequencing service,
which we have only just recently commercialized. #¥pect to generate all of our revenue from ourdnugenome sequencing service for the
foreseeable future. As a result, market acceptahoar human genome sequencing service is criticalir future success.

15



Table of Contents

Providing genome sequencing as a service is a ndwi@proven business model in a relatively newrapdlly evolving industry. We are usi
proprietary technology, involving multiple scieitiind engineering disciplines, and a novel sermoeel to bring complete human genome
sequencing to an unproven market. Historically, panies in this industry have sold sequencing insénis directly to customers, and the
customer performs the sequencing itself. We ddknotv if the purchasers and users of sequencingumgnts will adopt our service model.
For example, many potential customers want to semgieuman genomes for proprietary studies thatlesay/to discoveries which they would
seek to exploit, either commercially or through phublication of scientific literature. Accordinglihese potential customers may have
significant reservations about allowing a thirdtpdo control the sequencing processes for theippetary studies. Alternatively, other
potential customers may want to sequence only@utof human genomes, rather than complete humamges. There are many reasons why
our services might not become widely adopted, ran§iom logistical or quality problems to a failuvg our sales force to engage potential
customers, and including the other reasons statdds “Risk Factors” section. As a result, our gee sequencing service may not achieve
sufficient market acceptance to allow us to becproéitable.

Our success depends on the growth of markets for analysis of genetic variation and biological function, and the shift of these markets to
complete human genome segquencing.

We are currently targeting customers for our gensatgiencing service in academic and governmerdn@sanstitutions and in the
pharmaceutical and other life science industrias. €@dstomers are using our service for large-dwafean genome studies for a wide variety of
diagnostic and discovery applications. These market new and emerging, and they may not develgpiakly as we anticipate, or reach tt
full potential. The development of the market fomplete human genome sequencing and the succesas sérvice depend in part on the
following factors:

= demand by researchers for complete human genomerseqg;

= the usefulness of genomic data in identifying eating diseass

= the ability of our customers to successfully analyize genomic data we provic

= the ability of researchers to convert genomic d@tamedically valuable informatiol

= the capacity and scalability of the hardware stere@mponents necessary to store, manage, backaip, aed safeguard genomic data;
and

= the development of software tools to efficientlash, correlate and manage genomic ¢

For instance, demand for our genome sequencingceenay decrease if researchers fail to find meguolrcorrelations between genetic
variation and disease susceptibility through genarte association studies. In addition, factorgetihg research and development spending
generally, such as changes in the regulatory emwviemt affecting pharmaceutical and other life stlecompanies and changes in government
programs that provide funding to companies andareseinstitutions, could harm our business. If tauget markets do not develop in a timely
manner, demand for our service may grow at a sloaterthan we expect, or may fall, and we may obhteve profitability.

To date, relatively few complete human genomes baes sequenced, in large part due to the highofdastgescale sequencing. Our busin:
plan assumes that the demand for sequencing canfpletan genomes will increase significantly asctist of complete human genome
sequencing decreases. This assumption may prdeiteorrect, or the increase in demand may taj@fgiantly more time than we
anticipate. For example, potential customers maymok our cost reductions are sufficient to pdrarijustify large-scale sequencing.
Moreover, some companies and institutions havesedwn sequencing targeted areas of the genomaréhbelieved to be primarily associe
with disorders and diseases, as opposed to the gainome. Demand for sequencing complete humasngEsimay not increase if these
targeted sequencing strategies, such as exomersgogiewhere selected regions containing key postiof genes are sequenced, prove to be
more cost effective or are viewed as a more effiaeethod of genetic analysis than complete hunesmoige sequencing.
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We face significant competition. Our failure to compete effectively could adversely affect our sales and results of operations.

We currently compete with companies that develognufacture and market genome sequencing instrurnept®vide genome sequencing
services. We expect competition to increase asompetitors develop new, improved or cheaper ins&nts or expand their businesses to
include sequencing services, and as new companiestbe market with innovative technologies.

The market for genome sequencing technology islhigbmpetitive and is served by several large camgsawith significant market shares.
For example, established companies such as Illurhiea Life Technologies Corporation and Rocheddiastics Corporation are marketing
instruments for genetic sequencing that are diyextmpetitive with our services, and these comah#ve significantly greater financial,
technical, marketing and other resources than we dlovest in new technologies and have substaintiellectual property portfolios and
substantial experience in product development agdlatory expertise. Also, there are many smaterganies, such as NABsys, Inc., Oxford
Nanopore Technologies, Ltd., Pacific Biosciencas, &nd Helicos Biosciences Corporation, that aselbping sequencing technology t
would compete with ours. Moreover, large establisb@mpanies may acquire smaller companies, suttieas, with emerging technologies
and use their extensive resources to develop ameaheocialize such technologies or incorporate sachrtologies into their instruments and
services. For example, Life Technologies recentlycauinced that it entered into a definitive agreernteacquire lon Torrent Systems, Inc., a
chip-based sequencing technology startup.

In addition, there are many research, academio#ret nonprofit institutions that are pursuing new sequegdecthnologies. These institutic
often have access to significant government anerdtmding. For example, BGI (formerly known asjBegj Genomics Institute) in the
People’s Republic of China offers a service thainsilar to ours and is funded by the governmerZioina. In the United States, agencies such
as the National Human Genome Research Institutedgadunding to institutions to discover new seqtieg technology. We may compete
directly with these institutions, or these insiibats may license their technologies to third partiéth whom we would compete.

While many of our existing competitors primarilylsequencing instruments, they may also begirréwige sequencing services like us. Since
these competitors have already developed theirseguencing technology, they will not experiencaidigant technological barriers to entry
and can likely enter the sequencing services méalky quickly and with little additional cost. Fexample, lllumina has recently announced
that it will be providing individual genome sequergservices for as low as $9,500 per genome, dfiedTlechnologies has recently announced
a collaboration to build a genome sequencing fgcililumina also announced that it is pursuing@bgl program designed to provide
researchers with access to academic and commarstiaitions that can perform large-scale whole hurgenome sequencing projects using
lllumina’s technology. Furthermore, many of thesstiumentation companies have already establisisgghdicant market presence and are
trusted by customers in the industry. As estabtishstrumentation companies enter the sequencivices market, many potential customers
may purchase sequencing services from these coapisitead of us, even if we offer superior techgwland services.

For more information regarding our existing andgodil competitors, please see “Business—Compaetitio

The emergence of competitive genome sequencing technologies may harm our business.

The success of our genome sequencing servicedepi#nd, in part, on our ability to continue to emteathe performance and decrease the cos
of our genome sequencing technology. A number nbge sequencing technologies exist, and new metiodigmprovement to existing
methods are currently being developed, includihrielogy platforms developed by companies that xpeet will directly compete with us as
providers of sequencing services or instrumentesémew technologies may result in faster, moreeffsctive and more accurate sequencing
methods than ours. For example, our sequencingiédatly does not currently cover all of the nucldes in the genome. If competitive
technologies emerge that sequence portions ofgherge that our technology does not, our businesisl soffer if those portions contain
important genomic
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information. We expect to face competition from egig companies, including NABsys, Oxford Nanop®eehnologies and Pacific
Biosciences. As a result of the emergence of thesgetitive sequencing technologies, demand fossearice may decline or never develop
sufficiently to sustain our operations.

Our industry is rapidly changing, with emerging aatinually evolving technologies that increase éffficiency and reduce the cost of
sequencing genomes. As new technologies emergeeleve that the cost and error rates of, andithe tequired to, sequence human
genomes will eventually decrease to a level wherepetition in the industry will shift to other fact, such as providing related services and
analytical technologies. We may not be able to tagirany technological advantage over these newesaing technologies, and if we fail to
compete effectively on other factors relevant to@ustomers, our business will suffer.

Our order backlog may never be completed, and we may never earn revenue on backlogged contracts to sequence genomes.

In various sections of this prospectus, we havelaigd that, as of September 30, 2010, we hadlddgaef orders for sequencing over 800
genomes. This figure represents the number of geadar which customers have placed sequencing ©that we believe are firm and for
which we have not yet recognized revenue. We hbbeestated that we believe that our sequencingrsidebacklog as of September 30, 2010
will result in approximately $9.0 million of reveauwluring the 12 months following that date. We maybe able to convert order backlog into
revenue at the rate or times we anticipate, ol.aCansequently, the order backlog we report is firospectus and elsewhere from time to
may not be indicative of future revenue.

We may fail to complete backlog orders as we exfogahnany reasons. We are in the early stagesuoiclsing our services, and while we have
been increasing our throughput capacity rapidlyhaee in the past experienced growing backlog duwmit inability to keep pace with new
orders. Delays in sequencing for which we are nesitte could cause backlog orders to be canceflezlibtomers, which has happened to
least once. Even with sufficient throughput capaeite are not always in control of the rate at iahice complete orders and therefore convert
backlog to revenue. For example, customers ofteceplirm orders with us before providing us witmgmic samples, delaying our start of the
sequencing process. Additionally, once we receigestomer’s samples, we test them to assure tagtaite of sufficient quality and quantity
for sequencing. If not, we contact the customerragdest additional samples, resulting in furtreag. Also, customers may negotiate a pe

of time, measured in weeks or in some cases matlaEcept or reject our sequencing reports onlieetled. Customer acceptance in these
instances is a prerequisite for recording revepu¢hfose orders. For these reasons, you shouldaudi®n in adopting changes in, or the
absolute amount of, our backlog as a proxy for miaakcceptance of our sequencing services or awarator of future revenue.

We must significantly increase our production capabilitiesin order to meet expected demand.

We have only just recently commercialized our catgohuman genome sequencing service, and we hayémged experience in running a
commercial-scale production facility. We have oohe sequencing facility, and we project that factio have the capacity to sequence over
400 complete human genomes per month by the eB@1df. This capacity is significantly less than wivauld be required to achieve
profitability, if demand for our sequencing sendagrows as anticipated. Our business plan assuraewé will be able to increase our capa
multiple fold.

We plan to increase the capacity of our sequenfeiditity by installing additional sequencing maakdén improving our software and purchas
higher resolution cameras to image the DNA arr#ys.also plan to construct additional genome sedograenters in the United States and
elsewhere. We may encounter difficulties in expagdiur sequencing infrastructure, and we may nibd lund improve this infrastructure in
time to meet the volume, quality or timing requiearts necessary to be successful. Manufacturingapply quality issues may arise,
including due to third parties who provide the cam@nts of our technology platform. Implementing im@ments to our sequencing
technology may involve significant changes, whiclymesult in delays, or may not achieve expectedit® For example, we are
experimenting with increasing the density of tHesn wafers
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that we use for our DNA arrays by reducing the gri of those wafers and correspondingly reduttiegdiameter of our DNA nanoballs, or
DNBs, and the sticky spots on those wafers. Thegeraments may be unsuccessful and may not leé&hgible technological improvements
that increase the capacity or reduce the costsra$equencing services. If capacity or cost linotag prevent us from meeting our customers’
expectations, we will lose revenue and our potéatiatomers may take their business to our congstit

Our genome sequencing technology platform was developed for human DNA and is not currently optimized to sequence non-human DNA.

Our technology platform was developed and has be&mized for sequencing human DNA, and we do nt&rid to sequence non-human
DNA. We face significant competition from estabbshcompanies who sell genome sequencing instrurtfettsan sequence both human and
non-human DNA. Many of the academic and researsfitutions that are our target customers conductiss on both human and non-human
DNA. Prospective customers may choose to purchepgesicing instruments from a competitor becauskedf broader sequencing applicat
Our competitors may also choose to provide sequgrgarvices for non-human DNA. As a result, theasy mot be sufficient demand for our
human genome sequencing service, which will harmbaginess.

We depend on a limited number of suppliers, including single-source suppliers, of various critical components for our sequencing process.
Theloss of these suppliers, or their failure to supply us with the necessary components on a timely basis, could cause delays in the current
and future capacity of our sequencing center and adversely affect our business.

We depend on a limited number of suppliers, incigdiome single-source suppliers, of various ctitoaponents for our sequencing process.
We do not have long-term contracts with our suppla service providers. Because we do not havg-term contracts, our suppliers generally
are not required to provide us with any guarantagdmum production levels. As a result, we may lb@table to obtain sufficient quantities of
critical components in the future.

Although alternative suppliers exist for each df thitical components of our sequencing procesd,ffocess has been designed around the
functions, limitations, features and specificatiofishe components that we currently utilize. Fxaraple, the cameras in our sequencers are
supplied by Hamamatsu Photonics and the opticdpetgnt is supplied by Carl Zeiss, Inc. A failure dither or both of these companies to
supply these components would require us to integafternative cameras and optical equipment, atehgially integrate other components,
into future sequencing instruments. If we are regglito integrate new components into future seqersneve would experience a delay in the
deployment of these sequencers, and, as a resukfforts to expand our sequencing capacity wbeldielayed.

A delay or interruption by our suppliers may alsorh our business. For example, the wafers that dsmhe base of our sample slide are
fabricated by SVTC Technologies, L.L.C. We haveyeitqualified an alternative source for the supylyhese wafers, which are critical to -
sequencing process, and the custom manner in whédge wafers are made may make it difficult to dyather semiconductor suppliers to
manufacture them for us. We recently experiencgidmificant delay in the delivery, from one of auppliers, of certain components for our
sequencing system, which delayed our planned eigran§our Mountain View sequencing facility. Simnily, an interruption of services by
Amazon Web Services, on whom we rely to deliveisfiad genomic data to our customers, would reswdtir customers not receiving their
data on time.

In addition, the lead time needed to establisHaiomship with a new supplier can be lengthy, aedmay experience delays in meeting
demand in the event we must switch to a new supfilee time and effort to qualify a new supplieultbresult in additional costs, diversion of
resources or reduced manufacturing yields, anyroélmwould negatively impact our operating resulsr dependence on single-source
suppliers exposes us to numerous risks, includieddllowing:

= our suppliers may cease or reduce production dvet@és, raise prices or renegotiate ter
= delays by our suppliers could significantly limitraability to sequence customer data and delafiarts to increase our sequencing
capacity;
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= we may be unable to locate a suitable replacemenatoeptable terms or on a timely basis, if ataat)

= delays caused by supply issues may harm our réputétustrate our customers and cause them tottuonir competitors for future
projects.

If our Mountain View genome sequencing facility becomes inoperable, we will be unable to perform our genome sequencing services and
our business will be harmed.

We currently do not have redundant sequencingitiasilon a scale that could support our businessp@fform all of our commercial genome
sequencing in our facility located in Mountain Vie@alifornia. Mountain View is situated on or nearthquake fault lines. Our facility, the
equipment we use to perform our sequencing sereigdour other business process systems are ¢ostplace and could require substantial
time to repair or replace. The facility may be hadwor rendered inoperable by natural or man-maghestérs, including earthquakes, wildfires,
floods, acts of terrorism or other criminal actizd, infectious disease outbreaks and power outadesh may render it difficult or impossible
for us to sequence genomes for some period of timaddition, these events may temporarily interayr ability to receive samples from our
customers or materials from our suppliers and ooess to our various systems necessary to oparatrisiness. The inability to perform our
sequencing service would result in the loss ofausts and harm our reputation. While we currentiyntain approximately $40.0 million in
property insurance coverage, we do not currentielimsurance coverage for damage arising from ethegaake. Our insurance covering
damage to our property may not be sufficient toeca@ll of our potential losses and will not coverini the event of an earthquake, and may not
continue to be available to us on acceptable teomat all.

Failure to achieve expected sequencing process yields, or variability in our sequencing process yields, could harm our operating results and
damage our reputation.

Our sequencing process, like any other commercekgroduction process, is not flawless. For exapgur DNBs may not adhere to all of
the “sticky” spots on the surface of the siliconfeva we use to sequence DNA, or parts of the watferg be unreadable. We refer to the
efficiency of our sequencing process as its yi€lte sequencing process yields we achieve depetiteatesign and operation of our
sequencing process, which uses a number of comaplg@sophisticated biochemical, informatics, optacad mechanical processes. An
operational or technology failure in one of thesmplex processes may result in sequencing progegiitds that are lower than we anticipate
or that vary between sequencing runs. In additianare regularly evaluating and refining our segirenprocess. These refinements may
initially result in unanticipated issues that fathieduce our sequencing process yields or inctbaseariability of our sequencing yields. Low
sequencing yields, or higher than anticipated Wéitg, increases total sequencing costs and resltiiee number of genomes we can sequer

a given time period, which can cause variabilitpur operating results and damage our reputation.

We may have to resequence genomes due to contamination of DNA samplesin the sequencing process.

In the past, we have had to resequence variousngeeamples as a result of contamination occurriribé sample preparation and library
construction process. The sequencing process lidyhégnsitive, and the presence of any foreigntsimoes during the preparation of the slide
samples can corrupt the results of the sequenecaeps. Resequencing requires additional expeinge anhd capacity and delays the
recognition of revenue from the service. Sampleg beacontaminated in the future, which may damageeputation and decrease the den
for our service.

Mishandling or switching of DNA samples or genomic data may harm our reputation and result in litigation against us.

We may unintentionally mishandle DNA samples. Bareple, if customer samples or sequencing restétswaitched, our customers would
receive the wrong sequencing data, which could Baymficant consequences, particularly if thatadatused to diagnose or treat disease.
Mishandling customer samples or data would harnreputation and could result in litigation against
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If we are not successful in reducing the average cost of our sequencing service, demand for our services, and therefore our business, will
suffer.

Our ability to expand our customer base dependdyhimn our ability to reduce the average cost gusacing a human genome. For example,
certain academic or government-sponsored reseagelmiaations may forgo or delay whole genome-wideiss based on the cost required to
sequence complete human genomes, in favor of hgrexpensive studies. Additionally, certain of @uget customers may decide it is more
cost-effective to purchase sequencing instrumeats & competitor than contract for our sequencargise. To compete effectively with
competitors who sell and market sequencing instrugy@ur service must provide cost advantages reuggiality and time savings over the
purchase of sequencing instruments. In additiomeascompetitors enter the market or expand thesimess model to include sequencing
services, we expect increased pricing pressureshahiay force us to decrease the price of our gersmgeencing service. Our gross profit and
operating results will suffer if we are unable féset any reductions in our prices by reducing casts by developing new or enhanced
technologies or methods, or increasing our salksnes.

Reduction or delay in research and development budgets and government funding may adversely impact our sales.

We expect that for the foreseeable future, ourmeeewill be derived primarily from selling our gene sequencing service to a relatively small
number of academic, governmental and other reséastitutions, as well as pharmaceutical and ofifeescience companies. Our revenue may
decline substantially due to reductions and deilayssearch and development expenditures by theseroers, which depend, in part, on their
budgets and the availability of government fundifgctors that could affect the spending levelsusfaustomers include:

= weakness in the global economy and changing madgetitions that affect our custome

= changes in the extent to which the pharmaceutiwdliée science industry may use genetic infornraiad genetic testing as a
methodology for drug discovery and developm

= changes in government programs that provide funttirgpmpanies and research institutic

= changes in the regulatory environment affectingplageutical and life science companies and resg
= impact of consolidation within the pharmaceuticadi $ife science industry; ar

= cos-reduction initiatives of customel

Also, government funding of research and developrisesubject to the political process, which isdrémtly unpredictable. Any reduction in
funding of life science research and developmeiatetety surrounding the approval of government btigggposals may cause our customel
delay or forgo purchases of our services. A reduaabir delay in demand for our service will adveysafect our ability to achieve profitability.

The timing and extent of funding provided by the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 could adversely affect our business,
financial condition or results of operations.

In February 2009, the U.S. government enacted ther&an Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, vkie refer to as the Recovery Act,
to provide stimulus to the U.S. economy in the wakihe economic downturn. As part of the Recoviey, over $10 billion in research
funding was provided to the National InstitutedHafalth, or NIH, through September 2010 to supg@tadvancement of scientific research. A
portion of the stimulus funding supported the asalyf genetic variation and biological functiordanay have a significant positive long-term
impact on our business and the industry generallthe short-term, however, potential customers delgy or forgo their purchases of our
services as they wait to learn whether, and to whegnt, they will receive stimulus funding. If patial customers are unable to obtain stim
money, they may reduce their research and developbuelgets, resulting in a decrease in demanduoservice. In addition, even if potential
customers receive these stimulus funds, they mapurghase our services, and we may not benefit fte Recovery Act.
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Ethical, legal and social concernsrelated to the use of genetic information could reduce demand for our genome sequencing services.

Our genome sequencing services are intended titdeeiarge-scale human genome studies for a wadiety of diagnostic and discovery
applications. However, genetic testing has raigeita, legal and social issues regarding privany the appropriate uses of the resulting
information. Governmental authorities could, focisbor other purposes, limit or regulate the usgemetic testing or prohibit testing for
genetic predisposition to certain conditions, pattrly for those that have no known cure. Simjlathese concerns may lead individuals to
refuse to use genetics tests even if permissible.

In addition, we do not control how our customers tiee genomic data we provide. In most cases, wetlknow the identity of the individua
whose DNA we sequence, the reason why their DN#eiag sequenced or the intended use of the gerdettdcwe provide. If our customers
use our services or the resulting genomic datapomesibly or in violation of legal restrictions,raeputation could be harmed and litigation
may be brought against us.

Ethical and social concerns may also influence drfd. foreign patent offices and courts with regargatent protection for technology relev
to our business. These and other ethical, legakanil concerns may limit market acceptance otteciinology for certain applications or
reduce the potential markets for our technologyegiof which could have an adverse effect on ausirtess, financial condition or results of
operations.

We use biological and hazardous materials that require considerable expertise and expense for handling, storage and disposal and may
result in claims against us.

We work with materials, including chemicals, bidlka) agents and compounds and DNA samples, thdd d@ihazardous to human health .
safety or the environment. Our operations also predhazardous and biological waste products. Fedéate and local laws and regulations
govern the use, generation, manufacture, storagelling and disposal of these materials and waS@spliance with applicable
environmental laws and regulations is expensivd,a@mrent or future environmental laws and regatetimay restrict our operations. If we do
not comply with applicable regulations, we may bbjsct to fines and penalties.

In addition, we cannot eliminate the risk of acaitd injury or contamination from these materialsvastes. While our property insurance
policy provides limited coverage in the event ofitzonination from hazardous and biological prodactd the resulting cleanup costs, we do
not currently have any additional insurance coverfag legal liability for claims arising from theahdling, storage or disposal of hazardous
materials. Further, our general liability insuramacel workers’ compensation insurance policies daaeer damages and fines arising from
biological or hazardous waste exposure or contaimimaAccordingly, in the event of contaminationinjury, we could be liable for damages
or penalized with fines in an amount exceedingreaources and our operations could be suspendatiemvise adversely affected.

We have limited selling and marketing resources and may be unable to successfully commercialize our human genome sequencing service.

We currently have a small sales and marketing tdangrow our business as planned, we must expandades, marketing and customer
support capabilities. We may be unable to attratain and manage the specialized workforce nepetsgain market acceptance and
successfully commercialize our services. In addjtiteveloping these functions is time consuming expknsive.

The sale of genome sequencing services involvensixte knowledge about genomic research and seiqgetiechnology, including the
sequencing technology of our competitors. To beass&ful, our sales force and related personnel beustchnically proficient in a variety of
disciplines. For example, many of our existing spégsons have Ph.D. degrees in various scientfitst There are relatively few people that
have the necessary knowledge and qualificatiome tseuccessful salespersons or support personoat industry. We may not be able to
recruit a sufficient number of these people, mainytwom do not reside close to the locations of@xisting and planned future sequencing
centers.
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In certain regions or markets, we may seek to pastrith others to assist us with sales, marketimdy@stomer support functions. However,
may be unable to find appropriate third partiehwihom to enter into these arrangements. Furthernifoive do enter into these arrangements,
these third parties may not perform as expected.

Our software may incorrectly analyze the raw genomic data produced by our sequencing egquipment.

Our sequencing instruments generate raw genomécfoah various segments of the genome being seqdeiibis data must be arranged into
the correct order to reconstruct the original geieastructure of the sample. We have developed soéwalgorithms that facilitate this
reconstruction. However, these algorithms rely tatistical models that provide only relative asses and not absolute assurance, that the
original genomic structure has been reconstructed.

In addition, the genomic data we provide our cusianincludes a comparison of the sequenced gengaiesa a reference genome to help
identify possible mutations or variations. Thisareince genome is designed to approximate a “stdhtdaman genome. However, this
approximation may not be accurate.

If the algorithms we use to reconstruct genomi@datorrectly reconstruct the sequenced genomiépar reference genome is significantly
flawed, the genomic data we deliver could be ineateuand of little or no use to our customers.

An inability to manage our planned growth or expansion of our operations could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results
of operations.

Our business has grown rapidly, and we expecgiioiith to continue as we expand our sequencingodgp&or example, we had three
employees at the end of 2005 and 167 employeesSeptember 30, 2010. The rapid expansion of osiness and addition of new personnel
may place a strain on our management and operatigsigms. To effectively manage our operationsgoa/th, we must continue to expend
funds to enhance our operational, financial andagament controls, reporting systems and procecumg$o attract and retain sufficient
numbers of talented employees. If we are unabéxpand our genome sequencing capacity and impleim@nbvements to our control
systems efficiently and quickly, or if we encoundeficiencies in existing systems and controlsp tive will not be able to successfully expand
the commercialization of our services. In additiorenhancing our sequencing capacity, our futuezaipg results will depend on our
management’s ability to:

= implement and improve our sales, marketing andotnist support programs and our research and develapefforts;
= enhance our operational and financial control sgst:
= expand, train and manage our employee t
= integrate acquired businesses, if applicable;
= effectively address new issues related to our gr@stthey arise
We may not manage our expansion successfully, wdoahd adversely affect our business, financialdition or results of operations.

If we expand our operations outside of the United States, we will face risks that may increase our operating costs.

We plan to expand our operations to include aduitiggenome sequencing centers outside of the UBti@tes. Because the laws of certain
countries currently prohibit the export of DNA, wal have to establish local facilities to accelsege markets and establish a presence in othe
markets. To date, we have not expanded our opasatiotside the United States. Operating in inténat markets requires significant
resources and management attention and will subgetd regulatory, economic and political riskst thiee different from those
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in the United States. Because of our limited exgrex@ with international operations, our internatlaxpansion efforts may be unsuccessful. In
addition, we will face risks in doing business migtionally that could increase our operating ¢astduding the following:

= economic conditions in various parts of the wo

= unexpected and more restrictive laws and regulgtimeiuding those laws governing ownership ofllettual property, collection and
use of personal information and other privacy adesitions, hazardous materials and other activitipertant to our busines

= new and different sources of competiti

= multiple, conflicting and changing tax laws andukadgions that may affect both our international doedestic tax liabilities and resi
in increased complexity and cos

= the difficulty of managing and staffing additiorgggnome sequencing centers and the increased tirgvastructure and leg:
compliance costs associated with multiple inteoreti locations

= difficulties in enforcing contracts and collectiagcounts receivable, especially in developing aoest
= fluctuations in exchange rates; ¢

= tariffs and trade barriers, import/export contratsl other regulatory or contractual limitationsoum ability to sell or develop our
services in certain foreign marke

The success of the expansion of our business atienally will depend, in part, on our ability toticipate and effectively manage these and
other risks associated with international operati@ur failure to manage any of these risks sué@gssould increase our operating costs.

Certain of our potential customers may require that we become certified under the Clinical Laboratory | mprovement Amendments of 1988.

Although we are not currently subject to the Claticaboratory Improvement Amendment of 1988, or £lwe may in the future be required
by certain customers to obtain a CLIA certificati@LIA, which extends federal oversight over clalditaboratories by requiring that they be
certified by the federal government or by a fedgrapproved accreditation agency, is designed smenthe quality and reliability of clinical
laboratories by mandating specific standards iratleas of personnel qualifications, administradod participation in proficiency testing,
patient test management, quality control, qual#susance and inspections. If our customers requ@tlA certification, we will have to
continually expend time, money and effort to enshet we meet the applicable quality and safetyiregqnents, which may divert the attention
of management and disrupt our core business opesati

Because the market for genome sequencing is relatively new and rapidly evolving, we may become subject to additional future governmental
regulation, which may place additional cost and time burdens on our operations.

We are subject, both directly and indirectly, te #dverse impact of existing and potential futwweegnment regulation of our operations and
markets. The life sciences and pharmaceutical inésswhich are significant target markets for sarvices, have historically been heavily
regulated. There are comprehensive federal anel Istas regarding matters such as the privacy éémpeinformation and research in genetic
engineering. For example, if we inadvertently disel private patient information in the course aiting our sequencing services, we could
be prosecuted for violations of federal law.

Legislative bodies or regulatory authorities maggtcadditional regulation that adversely affects market opportunities. They could also
extend existing regulations to cover our serviées.example, medical diagnostic products may, déipgnon their intended use, be regulated
as medical devices by the Food and Drug Adminisimabr FDA, if they are:

= used in the diagnosis of disease or other condit
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= used in the cure, mitigation, treatment or preventf disease; ¢
= intended to affect the structure or any functionhef body.

Medical devices generally cannot be marketed witfficat receiving clearance or approval (dependinghe regulatory pathway) from the
FDA. We do not believe that our sequencing sendcescurrently subject to the FDA’s medical devieguirements because we do not intend
our services to be used for the diagnosis of desddswever, we cannot control how the genomic imfation we provide will be used by our
customers.

In addition, the FDA is focusing on our market, ethhas created uncertainty regarding the reguldémyscape. The FDA has recently taken
actions suggesting that it interprets the applieabgulations expansively to cover certain genaleigces and services, particularly those sold
directly to consumers. Since June 2010, the FDAskas numerous letters to certain companies imtlaiket, including 23andMe, Inc.,
deCODE Genetics, Knome, Inc., Navigenics, Inc. Rathway Genomics. In these letters, the FDA ndtatlit considers genetic tests mark
by these companies to be subject to FDA regulatiah accordingly, unapproved medical devices. TbA Fay extend this position to
services such as ours. In addition, the FDA mayément new regulations that may be broad enougbyer our operations. Changes to the
current regulatory framework, including the impmsitof new regulations, could arise anytime, andway be unable to obtain or maintain
FDA or comparable regulatory approval or cleargioc®ur services, if required. For example, the FDAy impose restrictions on the types of
customers to which we can market and sell our sesvand the types of persons whose DNA we may sequdlso, future legislation may
require that patients provide specific consentaeehtheir DNA sequenced. This could require outausrs to obtain new consents before they
can submit DNA samples to us for sequencing.

In any event, if we expand our business to inclsspuencing services intended to be used for tlgndgas of disease, we will likely become
subject to regulation by the FDA or other compagagencies of other countries, which may require wbtain regulatory approval or
clearance before we can market those services.

These regulatory approval processes may be exgersne-consuming and uncertain, and our failurelttain or comply with these approvals
or clearances could harm our business, financiadlition or operating results.
Disruption to or failure of our data center or other technical systems may disrupt our business and harm our operating results.

We rely on our network infrastructure, data centengerprise applications and technology systemthfodevelopment and support of our
sequencing service, including the preparation,yaigbhnd transmission of data from our sequencémger, as well as for the internal operation
of our business. These systems are susceptibisrigtion or failure in the event of natural digastsuch as a major earthquake, fire, flood,
cyber-attack, terrorist attack, telecommunicatitailsire, power outage or other catastrophic evieatther, our data center and our sequencing
facility, which houses certain of our technologgteyns, are located near major earthquake faulssuptions to or the failure of our data center
or any of these technology systems, including #tevark connection between our Mountain View fagiind our data center, and the resulting
loss of critical data, could cause delays in taegmission and analysis of the sequencing dateeptres from fulfilling our customers’ orders
and severely affect our ability to conduct normadibess operations.

Our credit facility containsrestrictions that limit our flexibility in operating our business.

In July 2008, we entered into a loan and secugtgement, which we refer to as our credit facil®ur credit facility contains various
covenants that limit our ability to engage in sfieditypes of transactions. These covenants linnitadility to, among other things:

= sell, transfer, lease or dispose of our as:
= create, incur or assume additional indebtedr
= encumber or permit liens on certain of our as¢
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= make restricted payments, including paying dividead, repurchasing or making distributions withpeseg to our common stoc
= make specified investments (including loans andcaades)

= consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise disposelafradubstantially all of our assets; &

= enter into certain transactions with our affilia

A breach of any of these covenants could resuwdtdefault under our credit facility. Upon the ocemce of an event of default under our credit
facility, our lenders could elect to declare allmamts outstanding under our credit facility to breviediately due and payable and terminate all
commitments to extend further credit. If we wer@bie to repay those amounts, the lenders undezredit facility could proceed against the
collateral granted to them to secure such indeleesinNVe have pledged substantially all of our asséer than our intellectual property, as
collateral under our credit facility.

If we fail to retain the services of our key executives or if we are unable to attract and retain skilled personnel, our ability to grow our
business and our competitive position would be impaired.

We believe our future success will depend in lggge upon our ability to attract, retain and mativhighly skilled personnel. In particular, we
depend highly on the contributions of Clifford Aeld, Ph.D., our President and Chief Executive @ffiand Radoje Drmanac, Ph.D., our C
Scientific Officer. The loss of either of these extves could make it more difficult to manage operations and research and development
activities, reduce our employee retention and regeand impair our ability to compete. If eithertloése key executives were to leave us
unexpectedly, we could face substantial difficuttyiring qualified successors and could experiemtess in productivity, both during the
search for, and integration of, any such successor.

Our research and development, operations and aatesarketing personnel represent a significartas®l serve as the source of our busi
strategy, scientific and technological innovatiamsl sales and marketing initiatives. As a resuit,saiccess substantially depends on our al
to attract additional personnel for all areas af anganization, particularly in our research andedepment department. Competition for
qualified personnel is intense, and we may notuseessful in attracting and retaining qualifiedgoemel on a timely basis or on competitive
terms, if at all. In addition, many qualified pemsel are located outside of Northern Californiagvehwe are located, and some qualified
personnel that we may recruit may not be intereistedlocating. If we are unable to attract an@irethe necessary personnel on a cost-
effective basis, our ability to grow our businesd aur competitive position would be impaired.

We may engage in joint ventures or acquisitionsthat could disrupt our business, cause dilution to our stockholders, reduce our financial
resources and result in increased expenses.

In the future, we may enter into joint venturesoguire other businesses, products or technoloBesause we have not entered into any joint
ventures or made any acquisitions to date, ouityhil do so successfully is unproven. We may reable to find suitable partners or
acquisition candidates, and we may not be ablengptete such transactions on favorable terms,aflabr successfully integrate any acquired
business, products or technologies into our opmratilf we do enter into any joint ventures or ctetgacquisitions, we may not strengthen
competitive position or achieve our goals, or thiegasactions may be viewed negatively by customensvestors. In addition, we may have
difficulty integrating and motivating personnelcimologies and operations from acquired businemsgsetaining and motivating key
personnel from those businesses. Joint venturea@qdsitions may disrupt our ongoing operatiomgerd management from day-to-day
responsibilities and increase our expenses. Fatgaisitions may reduce our cash available foratpmrs and other uses, and could result |
increase in amortization expense related to idabt# intangible assets acquired, potentially dikitssuances of equity securities or the
incurrence of debt. We cannot predict the numli@ing or size of future joint ventures or acquisits, or the effect that any such transactions
might have on our operating results.
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We will incur significant costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management will devote substantial time to new
compliance initiatives. We may fail to comply with the rules that apply to public companies, including section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

We will incur significant legal, accounting and etlexpenses as a public company, including costdtieg from public company reporting
obligations under the Securities Exchange Act &41%s amended, and regulations regarding corpgoaternance practices. The listing
requirements of The NASDAQ Global Market requirattive satisfy certain corporate governance requragrelating to director
independence, distributing annual and interim respatockholder meetings, approvals and votingcisiolg proxies, conflicts of interest and a
code of conduct. Our management and other persavitheleed to devote a substantial amount of timalt of these requirements. Moreover,
the reporting requirements, rules and regulatioifisnverease our legal and financial compliancets@nd will make some activities more time-
consuming and costly. These reporting requiremenlkss and regulations, coupled with the increageotential litigation exposure associated
with being a public company, could make it mordidiifit for us to attract and retain qualified pawrsdo serve on our board of directors or b
committees or to serve as executive officers.

After this offering, we will be subject to sectid@4 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and theedlatiles of the Securities and Exchange
Commission, which generally require our manageraadtindependent registered public accounting fameport on the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting. We expt@at our management and, depending on the siaargfublic float, independent registered
public accounting firm will have to provide thedirof such reports with our annual report for tisedl year ending December 31, 2011. To
date, we have never conducted a review of ourriaterontrol for the purpose of providing the repagquired by these rules. During the co!
of our review and testing, we may identify deficdess and be unable to remediate them before we pnogide the required reports. We or our
independent registered public accounting firm matylre able to conclude on an ongoing basis thatave effective internal control over
financial reporting, which could harm our operatiegults, cause investors to lose confidence ineported financial information and cause
the trading price of our stock to fall.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations.

In general, under Section 382 of the Internal ReesBode of 1986, as amended, or the Code, a ctigothat undergoes an “ownership
change” is subject to limitations on its abilityusee its pre-change net operating loss carryforsyandNOLSs, to offset future taxable income. If
the Internal Revenue Service challenges our arsallgat our existing NOLs will not expire beforeliatition due to previous ownership
changes, or if we undergo an ownership changennextion with or after this public offering, ourilly to use our NOLs could be limited by
Section 382 of the Code. Future changes in ouksiamership, some of which are outside of our aintrould result in an ownership change
under Section 382 of the Code. Furthermore, oditan use NOLs of companies that we may acquirthe future may be subject to
limitations. For these reasons, we may not be @hblse a material portion of the NOLs reflectecban balance sheet, even if we attain
profitability.

Unfavorable global economic conditions could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Our results of operations could be adversely affétly general conditions in the global economyiarttie global financial markets. The rec
global financial crisis caused extreme volatiliydadisruptions in the capital and credit marketsefere or prolonged economic downturn,
such as the recent global financial crisis, coekllt in a variety of risks to our business, inahgd reductions or delays in planned research anc
development and other expenditures by our custooretecreased funding of genomic research by govental entities. A weak or declining
economy could also put strain on our supplierssipbsresulting in supply disruption, or cause oustomers to delay making payments for
services. Any of the foregoing could harm our basi
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Risks Related to Intellectual Property
We currently are, and could in the future be, subject to litigation regarding patent and other proprietary rightsthat could harm our business.

Our commercial success depends in part on nohgifrg patents and proprietary rights of third gstiOn August 3, 2010, Illumina, Inc. and
Solexa, Inc. (an entity acquired by Illlumina) filaccomplaint in the U.S. District Court in Delawatieging patent infringement by us. The
complaint alleges that our Complete Genomics Anglptatform, and in particular our combinatoriablpe anchor ligation technology,
infringes upon three patents held by lllumina antega. The complaint seeks, among other thingseknginary and permanent injunction
against us from infringing these patents and uripdanonetary damages. We may incur substantia tand expense in defending against
complaint. If we were found to infringe one or meedid claims of a patent-in-suit and if the distreourt granted an injunction on that basis,
we may be forced to redesign portions of our segugmprocess, seek a license or cease the infgragitivity. Redesigning portions of our
sequencing process may take substantial time aodirees and may delay our ability to generate ngeelm addition, a license to the necessary
patent rights may not be available on commerci@sonable terms, if at all. In the event thatdisé&rict court grants an injunction and we are
unsuccessful in redesigning our sequencing pramesbtaining a license, we may be forced to ceass@quencing operations altogether. See
“Business—Legal Proceedings.”

As we enter our markets, it is possible other cditgre will claim that our services infringe théitellectual property rights as part of a
business strategy to impede our successful entimse markets. Such competitors and other gartles may have obtained and may in the
future obtain patents covering products or procetsa are similar to or may include steps or psees used in our sequencing technology,
allowing them to claim that the use of our techgas infringes these patents. In particular, weaavare of issued U.S. patents owned by
competitors and other third parties, includingriina, to which we do not have licenses that magteaio our sequencing technology and wi
pertain to, among other things:

= sample preparation technigu

= processes for making nucleic acid templa“library constructio”);

= processes for making DNBs from nucleic acid tengsi;

= nucleic acid arrays

= methods of making arrays of DNE

= sequencing methods, including those involving lmst

= identifying genomic sequences on nucleic acid &

= devices and apparatus used in nucleic acid detesgistems, including optical systems; i

= information processing systems including softwarebiase calling, sequence mapping and assel

Some of the third parties that own these paten¢fuding lllumina, have strong economic incentivaasd substantial financial resources, to
claim that we are infringing their patent rights.d patent infringement claim against us, we magrsas a defense, that we do not infringe the
relevant patent claims, that the patent is invatidoth. The strength of our defenses will depemthe patents asserted, the interpretation of
these patents, our ability to identify invalidatifpgior art” (that is, publication of the patentltier’s invention or technology prior to the stated
invention date) in order to invalidate the assepatknt and on other factors. However, we couldrseiccessful in advancing nafringement
and/or invalidity arguments in our defense. Inltheted States, issued patents enjoy a presumpfigalidity, and the party challenging the
validity of a patent claim must present clear aoavincing evidence of invalidity, which is a highrden of proof. Conversely, the patent
owner need only prove infringement by a preponderaf the evidence, which is a lower burden of froo

If we were found by a court to have infringed adi@atent claim, we could be prevented from usheggatented technology or be required to
pay the owner of the patent rights for the rigbtsige that technology. If we decide to pursueenbe to one or more of these patents, we may
not be able to obtain such a license on
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commercially reasonable terms, if at all, or tleettise we obtain may require us to pay substaoijalties or grant cross licenses to our patent
rights. For example, if the relevant patent is ovhg a competitor, that competitor may choose adicense patent rights to us, as it would be
under no obligation to do so. If we decide to depelternative technology, we may not be able tsa@on a timely or cost-effective manner, if
at all.

In addition, because patent applications can takesyto issue and are often afforded confidentifdit some period of time, there may
currently be pending applications, unknown to usicl later result in issued patents that processesr sequencing technology infringe.
Processes in our sequencing technology may alsagefexisting issued patents of which we are cilyainaware. Even though we own or
have other rights to patents, these patents dprostde us with the freedom to offer our sequenaaryices unimpeded by the patent rights of
others. For example, we may be required to pursulefend a patent infringement action in orderrmtert our intellectual property rights or
practice our sequencing technology.

It is possible that, in addition to our curreniglition, we may in the future receive, particulaaya public company, communications from
competitors and other companies alleging that we Imesinfringing their patents, trade secrets oepthtellectual property rights or offering
licenses to such intellectual property or threatgditigation. In addition to patent infringemeraims, third parties may assert copyright,
trademark or other proprietary rights against us.iay not be able to successfully defend agaiestldims asserted by lllumina, or future
claims, and our business may suffer if we are fawngave infringed upon the patents held by llluapior if future claims are brought against
us.

We may not be able to protect our patent rights or other intellectual property which could impair our ability to compete effectively.

We depend on proprietary technology for our suceesisability to compete. If others are able to eepice our technology, our business will
suffer significantly unless we can prevent thenmfrtompeting with us. To protect our proprietarnyhtemlogy, we rely on patents and other

intellectual property laws, as well as nondisclesagreements, licensing arrangements and confidiénfirovisions. U.S. patent, copyright ¢
trade secret laws afford us only limited protectiand the laws of some foreign countries do notgataproprietary rights to the same extent.

We have licensed, from Callida Genomics, Inc., &l international patents and patent applicatielaing to our business. Because the
issuance of a patent is not conclusive of its ¥glidr enforceability, our existing patent righ#sd rights we may obtain in the future, may not
provide us with meaningful protection. The pategihts on which we rely may be challenged and imh&i&d or may be interpreted not to be
broad enough to cover the critical components oftechnology. Our pending patent applications mayettheir claims limited or may not
result in issued patents. Moreover, our patentsiglecome more limited as owned or licensed patergs to expire in 2014. We will be able
to protect our technologies from unauthorized usthivd parties only to the extent that valid amfoeceable patents or other proprietary rights
cover them. Even if we have valid and enforceabtemts or other proprietary rights, competitors rnayable to design alternative methods or
devices that avoid infringement of those patentsghts.

Our key patent rights are licensed from Callidaiclhis owned by our chief scientific officer angipouse. If we breach the terms of these
licenses, or if our relationship with Callida os @wners deteriorates, Callida may seek to termitet licenses. If we lose our rights to use
these patents, we may be forced to re-design aureseing technology, which would be expensive aagt not be possible.

The patent positions of biotechnology companieduting us, can be highly uncertain and involve ptam and evolving legal and factual
guestions. No consistent policy regarding the hireaticlaims allowed in biotechnology patents harged to date in the United States. Legal
developments may preclude or limit the patent mtaia available for our sequencing technology.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary tgglattempts may be made to copy or reverse engasgects of our sequencing technology or
to obtain and use information that we regard apnpetary. Accordingly, we may be unable to protmat proprietary rights against unauthori
third-party copying or use. Furthermore, policihg tinauthorized use of our intellectual propertyificult. Litigation may be necessary in the
future to enforce
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our intellectual property rights, to protect olade secrets or to determine the validity and sobplee proprietary rights of others. Litigation
could result in substantial costs and diversioresburces and could harm our business.

We may incur substantial costs as a result of our current, or future, litigation or other proceedingsrelating to patent and other proprietary
rights.

The genomic sequencing industry includes severgélaompanies that have rights to many broad ispagzhts and pending patent
applications. Competitors in this industry haved@y litigated their patent positions and alleg&dingements by others. For example, lllurr
and Affymetrix were recently involved in long anxpbensive patent litigation relating to DNA sequergciechnology. This litigation resulted in
a settlement involving the payment of $90 milliondne party to the other.

Our involvement in intellectual property litigatiomncluding our current litigation with Illluminayr administrative proceedings could result in
significant expense. Some of our competitors, idiclg lllumina, Life Technologies and Affymetrix, & considerable resources available to
them. We, on the other hand, are an early-stagenssoial company with comparatively few resourcesilable to us to engage in costly and
protracted litigation. Intellectual property infgament claims asserted against us, whether witvitbout merit, could be costly to defend and
could limit our ability to use some technologieghe future. They will be time consuming, will div@ur management’s and scientific
personnels’ attention and may result in liability ubstantial damages. In addition, our standastbener contract requires us to indemnify our
customers for claims alleging that any of our prdumisappropriate or violate any third party pgteapyright, trade secret or other
intellectual property or proprietary rights.

If third parties file patent applications or arsusd patents claiming technology also claimed bin gending applications, we may be required
to participate in interference proceedings withlth8. Patent Office or in other proceedings outliideUnited States, including oppositions, to
determine priority of invention or patentabilityvén if we are successful in these proceedings, agintur substantial costs, and the time and
attention of our management and scientific persowiilebe diverted in pursuit of these proceedings.

We may not be able to enforce our intellectual property rights throughout the world.

The laws of some foreign countries do not protetliectual property rights to the same extenhadaws of the United States. Many
companies have encountered significant problenpsdatecting and defending intellectual property tigim certain foreign jurisdictions. The
legal systems of some countries, particularly depielg countries, do not favor the enforcement @épis and other intellectual property
protection, especially those relating to biotecbgygl This could make it difficult for us to stopetinfringement of our patents or the
misappropriation of our other intellectual propenights. For example, many foreign countries havapulsory licensing laws under which a
patent owner must grant licenses to third partreaddition, many countries limit the enforcealilitf patents against third parties, including
government agencies or government contractorhidset countries, patents may provide limited or evefit.

Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in for@igisdictions could result in substantial costd divert our efforts and attention from other
aspects of our business. Accordingly, our effastprotect our intellectual property rights in swduntries may be inadequate. In addition,
changes in the law and legal decisions by courtsén).S. and foreign countries may affect ourighiib obtain adequate protection for our
technology and the enforcement of intellectual prop

Confidentiality agreements with employees and others may not adequately prevent disclosures of our trade secrets and other proprietary
information.

We rely in part on trade secret protection to proteir confidential and proprietary information gmmdcesses. However, trade secrets are
difficult to protect. We have taken measures tdgumoour trade secrets and proprietary informatian these measures may not be effective.
We require new employees and consultants to exeoutiidentiality agreements upon the commencemiean @mployment or consulting
arrangement with
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us. These agreements generally require that afid=rtial information developed by the individualmade known to the individual by us
during the course of the individual’s relationshiph us be kept confidential and not disclosedhiadtparties. These agreements also generally
provide that inventions conceived by the individimathe course of rendering services to us wilbbeexclusive property. Despite these
measures, our proprietary information may be dgaidip third parties could reverse engineer our sexog technologies and others may
independently develop substantially equivalent fetary information and techniques or otherwisengaicess to our trade secrets. Costly and
time-consuming litigation could be necessary twerd and determine the scope of our proprietahtsigand failure to obtain or maintain trade
secret protection could adversely affect our coitipetbusiness position.

Risks Related to This Offering and Ownership of Our Common Stock

An active, liquid and orderly market for our common stock may not develop, our stock price may be volatile and you may not be able to resell
shares of our common stock at or above the price you paid.

Prior to this offering, there has been no publicketfor shares of our common stock, and an agtidgic market for our shares may not
develop or be sustained after this offering. We thedrepresentatives of the underwriters will deiae the initial public offering price of our
common stock through negotiation. This price wilt necessarily reflect the price at which investorthe market will be willing to buy and

sell our shares following this offering. In additiadhe trading price of our common stock followihgs offering could be highly volatile and
could be subject to wide fluctuations in respomsearious factors, some of which are beyond outrobrThese factors include those discussed
in this “Risk Factors” section of this prospectus @thers such as:

= quarterly variations in our results of operationstmse of our competitor
= changes in earnings estimates or recommendatiossduyities analyst:

= announcements by us or our competitors of new mtsdar services, significant contracts, commengkdtionships, acquisitions
capital commitments

= developments with respect to intellectual propedits;
= our commencement of, or involvement in, litigati

= changes in financial estimates or guidance, inolgidiur ability to meet our future revenue and ofxegeprofit or loss estimates or
guidance

= any major changes in our board of directors or mameent;
= changes in governmental regulations;
= a decrease in government funding of research avela@@nent or a slowdown in the general econc

In recent years, the stock market in general, hadrtarket for technology/life science companiegsdrticular, has experienced extreme price
and volume fluctuations that have often been utedlar disproportionate to the operating perforneasficthose companies. Broad market and
industry factors may seriously affect the markétgpof our common stock, regardless of our actperating performance. These fluctuations
may be even more pronounced in the trading madteidr stock shortly following this offering. In didion, in the past, following periods of
volatility in the overall market and the marketqeriof a particular comparg/securities, securities class action litigatioa dten been institutt
against these companies. This litigation, if ing&tl against us, could result in substantial castsdivert our management’s attention and
resources.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or if they issue an adverse or misleading opinion
regarding our stock, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will bduehced by the research and reports that industsgaurities analysts publish about us or
our business. We do not currently have and mayrrawain research
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coverage by securities and industry analysts. Bemurities or industry analysts commence coveo&gs, the trading price for our stock would
be negatively impacted. In the event we obtain istesi or industry analyst coverage, if any of #@malysts who cover us issue an adverse or
misleading opinion regarding us, business modehrtelogy or stock performance, our stock price wdikiely decline. If one or more of these
analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publipbrte on us regularly, we could lose visibilitytire financial markets, which in turn could ca
our stock price or trading volume to decline.

Our directors, executive officers and principal stockholders and their respective affiliates will continue to have substantial influence over us
after this offering and could delay or prevent a change in corporate control.

Certain of our principal stockholders and/or ttedfiliates have indicated an interest in purchasipgo an aggregate of $13.5 million of shares
of common stock in this offering, based upon theeeted initial public offering price of $9.00 pérase. However, because these potential
indications of interest are not binding agreementsommitments to purchase, any or all of thesek$tolders may elect not to purchase any
shares in this offering. If these stockholders pase all shares they have indicated interestsrithpging, the aggregate number of shares
beneficially owned by our directors, executive aéfis and holders of more than 5% of our commorkstogether with their affiliates, will be
approximately 80.9% of our outstanding common staskuming no exercise of the underwriters’ optimpurchase additional shares of our
common stock in this offering. If they do not puask such shares in this offering, our directorscetive officers and holders of more than 5%
of our common stock, together with their affiliatesll beneficially own, in the aggregate, approziely 75.1% of our outstanding common
stock, assuming no exercise of the underwriteribago purchase additional shares of our commocksin this offering. In either case, these
stockholders, acting together, would have signifiégafluence over the outcome of matters submittedur stockholders for approval, includ
the election of directors and any merger, constibdeor sale of all or substantially all of our etss In addition, these stockholders, acting
together, would have significant influence over management and affairs. Accordingly, this conegitn of ownership might harm the
market price of our common stock by:

= delaying, deferring or preventing a change in aan
= impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover or otheiness combination involving us;
= discouraging a potential acquiror from making alexroffer or otherwise attempting to obtain contrbus.

Future sales of shares by existing stockholders could cause our stock priceto decline.

If our existing stockholders sell, or if the markefieves our existing stockholders will sell, salpgial amounts of our common stock in the
public market, the trading price of our common ktoould decline significantly. Based on sharestamiding as of October 15, 2010, upon the
completion of this offering, we will have 25,8098d@utstanding shares of common stock, assumingutwnatic conversion, upon the
completion of this offering, of our preferred stamktstanding as of that date into shares of oumgomstock. Of these shares, 6,000,000 share:
of common stock, plus any shares sold pursuafetamderwriters’ option to purchase additional ekawill be immediately freely tradable,
without restriction, in the public market. UBS Irstment Bank and Jefferies & Company may, in thalie sliscretion, permit our officers,
directors, employees and current stockholdersltslsares prior to the expiration of the lock-upegments.

After the lock-up agreements pertaining to thigoffg expire and based on 25,809,078 shares odistpas of October 15, 2010, an additional
19,809,078 shares will be eligible for sale in plublic market. In addition, the following 8,622,78@ares may become eligible for sale in the
public market in the future, subject to certainalegnd contractual limitations, as of October 1&L@

= 2,814,636 shares subject to outstanding optionsrumat 2006 Equity Incentive Pla

= 642,607 shares remaining available for issuancemmar 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, which will bea@awvailable for issuance unc
our 2010 Equity Incentive Award Plan after commetof this offering
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= an aggregate of 3,200,000 shares reserved forefigsuance under our 2010 Equity Incentive AwagthRind Employee Stock
Purchase Plan, as well as any automatic increagbe number of shares of our common stock resdorddture issuance under these
benefit plans, which will become effective immedigtprior to the consummation of this offering; ¢

= 1,965,477 shares of common stock subject to warauitstanding as of October 15, 2010 that willexgiire upon completion of th
offering, with a weighte-average exercise price of $1.88 per sh

If these additional shares are sold, or if it isceéved that they will be sold, in the public matkae price of our common stock could decline
substantially.

Purchasersin this offering will experience immediate and substantial dilution in the book value of their investment.

The initial public offering price of our common stois substantially higher than the pro forma aegible book value per share of our comr
stock before giving effect to this offering. Accorgly, if you purchase our common stock in thiseoiffig, you will incur an immediate
substantial dilution of approximately $5.32 perrghdased on the expected public offering pric8300 per share and our pro forma net
tangible book value as of June 30, 2010. In addifiollowing this offering, and assuming the sayeus of 6,000,000 shares of our common
stock in this offering at the expected initial poldffering price of $9.00 per share, purchaseithis offering will have contributed
approximately 25.7% of the total gross considerafiaid by stockholders to us to purchase sharearofommon stock, through June 30, 2010,
but will own only approximately 23.3% of the shaodsommon stock outstanding immediately after tffering. Furthermore, if the
underwriters exercise their over-allotment optienputstanding options and warrants are exercigmdcould experience further dilution. For a
further description of the dilution that you wikgerience immediately after this offering, seegbetion titled “Dilution.”

We have broad discretion to determine how to use the funds raised in this offering, and may use them in ways that may not enhance our
operating results or the price of our common stock.

Our management will have broad discretion ovemuse of proceeds from this offering, and we coulehsithe proceeds from this offering in
ways our stockholders may not agree with or thatatoyield a favorable return, if at all. We curtlgrintend to use the net proceeds of this
offering for capital expenditures to expand theuseging and computing capacity in our Mountain Veawd Santa Clara leased facilities, to
finance the further development of our sequenaiepriology and services, for sales and marketirigites and for working capital and other
general corporate purposes, including the costscéded with being a public company. If we do motdst or apply the proceeds of this offel
in ways that improve our operating results, we ffig@lyto achieve expected financial results, whicluld cause our stock price to decline.

Provisionsin our charter documents and under Delaware law could discourage a takeover that stockholders may consider favorable and may
lead to entrenchment of management.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpmmaaind amended and restated bylaws that will leéféct immediately prior to the
consummation of this offering will contain provis®that could delay or prevent changes in contrehanges in our management without the
consent of our board of directors. These provisigitisnclude the following:

= a classified board of directors with th-year staggered terms, which may delay the abifistackholders to change the membershi
a majority of our board of director

= no cumulative voting in the election of directosich limits the ability of minority stockholders tlect director candidate

= the exclusive right of our board of directors teatla director to fill a vacancy created by theasgion of the board of directors or
resignation, death or removal of a director, wipckvents stockholders from being able to fill vatias on our board of directol
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= the ability of our board of directors to authorthe issuance of shares of preferred stock andt&rdae the price and other terms of
those shares, including preferences and votingsigtithout stockholder approval, which could bedito significantly dilute the
ownership of a hostile acquirc

= the ability of our board of directors to alter diylaws without obtaining stockholder appro\

= the required approval of at least 2/3% of the shares entitled to vote at an electiodit@ctors to adopt, amend or repeal our byl
or repeal the provisions of our amended and rebtadificate of incorporation regarding the elentand removal of director

= a prohibition on stockholder action by written cent which forces stockholder action to be takeanaannual or special meeting of
our stockholders

= the requirement that a special meeting of stocldrsidhay be called only by the chairman of the bo&irectors, the chief executive
officer, the president or the board of directorhjali may delay the ability of our stockholdersaock consideration of a proposal or to
take action, including the removal of directorsg.

= advance notice procedures that stockholders masplyowith in order to nominate candidates to ouaroloof directors or to propose
matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meatihith may discourage or deter a potential acquifcon conducting a solicitation
of proxies to elect the acqui’s own slate of directors or otherwise attemptinglitain control of us

We are also subject to the anti-takeover provismorgained in Section 203 of the Delaware Geneoap@ration Law. Under Section 203, a
corporation may not, in general, engage in a bgsigembination with any holder of 15% or more sftépital stock unless the holder has held
the stock for three years or, among other excegptitthve board of directors has approved the traiosadtor a description of our capital stock,
see the section titled “Description of Capital &t6c

We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our common stock, and, consequently, your ability to achieve a return on your investment will
depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.

We do not currently intend to pay any cash divideon our common stock for the foreseeable future.cWfrently intend to invest our future
earnings, if any, to fund our growth. Additionaltire terms of our credit facility restrict our afyilto pay dividends. Therefore, you are not
likely to receive any dividends on your common ktéar the foreseeable future.
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Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This prospectus contains forward-looking statem#rdsinvolve risks and uncertainties. The forwhlrdking statements are contained
principally in the sections entitled “ProspectusrBuary,” “Risk Factors,” “Management’s Discussiordaimalysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” and “Business.” These statgsrelate to future events or our future finaneisoperational performance and involve
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and othetofa that could cause our actual results, leviedetivity, performance or achievement to
differ materially from those expressed or impligdtbese forward-looking statements. These risksienogrtainties are contained principally in
the section entitled “Risk Factors.”

Forward-looking statements include all statememds &re not historical facts. In some cases, youdentify forward-looking statements by
terms such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “intend,” ‘ould,” “would,” “continue,” “expect,” “plan,” “anttipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “project,”
“predict,” “potential” or the negative of those tes, and similar expressions and comparable teromgydhtended to identify forward-looking
statements. These statements reflect our curremswivith respect to future events and are basessumptions and subject to risks and
uncertainties. Given these uncertainties, you shoat place undue reliance on these forward-looktagements. These forward-looking
statements represent our estimates and assumptignas of the date of this prospectus, and, exagpéquired by law, we undertake no
obligation to update or revise publicly any forwdodking statements, whether as a result of nearinétion, future events or otherwise after
the date of this prospectus.

This prospectus also contains estimates and atf@mation concerning our current and target markigat are based on industry publications,
surveys and forecasts, including those generatd®dfy Research and Scientia Advisors. These estinaate information involve a number of
assumptions and limitations, and you are cautiogédo give undue weight to these estimates aratnmdtion. These industry publications,
surveys and forecasts generally indicate that thearmation has been obtained from sources beli¢ode reliable. The industry in which we
operate is subject to a high degree of uncertantyrisk due to a variety of factors, includingg@alescribed in “Risk FactorsThese and oth
factors could cause actual results to differ matigrfrom those expressed in these publications/ests and forecasts.
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Use of Proceeds

We estimate that we will receive net proceeds pfaamately $47.0 million from the sale of 6,000006hares of common stock offered in this
offering, or approximately $54.5 million if the uexdvriters exercise their over-allotment optionuti,fbased on the expected initial public
offering price of $9.00 per share and after dedgcthe underwriting discounts and commissions atichated offering expenses payable by
Each $1.00 increase (decrease) in the expectéal mitblic offering price of $9.00 per share woirldrease (decrease) the net proceeds to us
from this offering, after deducting the underwrifidiscounts and commissions and estimated offenipgnses payable by us, by approxims
$5.6 million, assuming that the number of sharésrefl by us, as set forth on the cover page ofptuspectus, remains the same. We may also
increase or decrease the number of shares wefarangf An increase (decrease) of 1,000,000 imtimaber of shares we are offering would
increase (decrease) the net proceeds to us frenoffeiring, after deducting the underwriting disetsuand commissions and estimated offering
expenses payable by us, by approximately $8.4anjliassuming the initial public offering price stdfie same. An increase of 1,000,000 in the
number of shares we are offering, together with.@&increase in the expected initial public offgrprice per share, would increase the net
proceeds to us from this offering, after deductimgunderwriting discounts and commissions andnegéd offering expenses payable by us
approximately $14.9 million. A decrease of 1,000,@0the number of shares we are offering, togethr a $1.00 decrease in the expected
initial public offering price per share, would dease the net proceeds to us from this offeringr a¢ducting the underwriting discounts and
commissions and estimated offering expenses payahls, by approximately $13.0 million. In the etv#rat we change the offering price or
the number of shares, we anticipate that we wordg@qrtionately reduce each of our intended usdébeofiet proceeds from this offering, and it
may impact the time at which we may need to seelitiadal capital.

We currently intend to use approximately $20.0ionillof the net proceeds of this offering for capégpenditures to expand the sequencing
computing capacity in our Mountain View and Sankar&leased facilities. We intend to use approxatya$15.0 million of the net proceeds of
this offering to finance the further developmentaf sequencing technology and services, and ajppately $10.0 million for sales and
marketing activities. We intend to use the remairdehe net proceeds of this offering for workicapital and other general corporate
purposes, including the costs associated with beipgblic company.

The expected use of net proceeds of this offe@pgasents our current intentions based upon ogept@lan and business conditions. As o
date of this prospectus, we cannot specify withaiety all of the particular uses for the net pred®to be received upon the completion of this
offering. Accordingly, we will have broad discratiin the application of the net proceeds, and itorsswill be relying on our judgment
regarding the application of the proceeds of tfffierimg.

Until we use the net proceeds of this offering,imtend to invest the net proceeds in short-terter@st-bearing, investment-grade securities.
We cannot predict whether the proceeds investddyigid a favorable return, if any.
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Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ooa@umon stock and currently do not plan to dediwvelends on shares of our common
stock in the foreseeable future. In addition, #rens of our credit facility currently prohibit usofn paying cash dividends on our common
stock. We expect to retain our future earninganif, for use in the operation and expansion oboginess. The payment of cash dividends in
the future, if any, will be at the discretion ofrdaoard of directors and will depend upon suchdicts earnings levels, capital requirements,
requirements under the Delaware General Corporaton restrictions and covenants pursuant to ahgratredit facilities we may enter into,
our overall financial condition and any other fastdeemed relevant by our board of directors.
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Capitalization

The following table sets forth our capitalizationaf June 30, 2010:
= on an actual basi
= on a pro forma basis to give effect

= ourissuance and sale, during August, Septembe®ataber 2010, of an aggregate of 3,921,826 siudresr Series E preferred
stock;

= ourissuance and sale, during August and Septeli€), of warrants to purchase an aggregate of I732&hares of our commu
stock at an exercise price of $2.69 per share,wibsequently terminated and were no longer oulstg as of September 30,
2010;

= ourissuance and sale, in August 2010, of an agégerf $121,440 principal amount of convertibleasg

= the conversion of our convertible notes outstandimgf June 30, 2010, and the additional convertibtes we issued and sold
during August 2010, into 2,990,355 shares of ouieSeE preferred stock, which occurred during Ad@@.0 in connection with
our Series E preferred stock financil

= the conversion of all shares of our convertibl€gmed stock outstanding on June 30, 2010, togetitarthe shares of Series E
preferred stock we issued during August, SepterabdrOctober 2010, including shares issued in cdiumewith the related
conversion of our convertible notes, into an aggre@f 17,445,662 shares of our common stock, whitttbe effective
immediately prior to the consummation of this offr,

= the conversion of all of our warrants for convddipreferred stock into warrants for common steuknediately prior to the
consummation of this offering and the related resifécation of convertible preferred stock warrhability to additional paid-in
capital;

= the exercise, on a net issuance basis, of warcagsanding as of June 30, 2010, which will expipen completion of this offerin
if unexercised, to purchase shares of our comnarkstesulting in the issuance of 1,358,854 shafeemmon stock, based upon
the expected initial public offering price of $9.p6r share

= the exercise, on a net issuance basis, of warcamgsanding as of June 30, 2010, which will expipen completion of this offering
if unexercised, to purchase shares of our convertiteferred stock, and the conversion of thoseeshaf preferred stock
immediately prior to the consummation of this offigr resulting in the issuance of 44,491 shareafmon stock, based upon the
expected initial public offering price of $9.00 p&rare; an:

= the filing and effectiveness of our amended anthted certificate of incorporation, which will oadmmediately prior to the
consummation of this offering; al

= on a pro forma as adjusted basis to give furthfeccefo the sale of 6,000,000 shares of commorkstothis offering at the expecte
initial public offering price of $9.00 per shardtes deducting the underwriting discounts and cossions and estimated offering
expenses payable by
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You should read this table together with “Managetsebiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditeomd Results of Operations” and our
financial statements and the related notes appealsewhere in this prospectus.

As of June 30, 2010

Pro forma
Actual Pro forma as adjusted
(unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts )
Notes payable, net of current porti $ 1,192 $ 1,197 $ 1,197
Convertible note 17,30! — —
Convertible preferred stock warrant liabil 1,31¢ — —
Convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value peres, 9,288,222 shar
authorized, 7,819,758 shares issued and outstaratitgpl; no shares
authorized, no shares issued and outstandingopmefand pro forma as
adjustec 95,84« — —
Stockholder equity (deficit):
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share; n@steauthorized, issued &
outstanding, actual; 5,000,000 shares authorizedhares issued and
outstanding, pro forma and pro forma as adju — — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value per share; 17,293Bares authorized,
950,493 shares issued and outstanding, actuall@0000 shares authorize:
19,799,500 shares issued and outstanding, pro f@&a000,000 shares
authorized, 25,799,500 shares issued and outstnulioa forma as adjuste 1 20 26
Additional paic-in capital 11,67¢ 156,55 203,51!
Deficit accumulated during the development st (108,129 (108,61) (108,61)
Total stockholder equity (deficit) (96,45)) 47,95« 94,92
Total capitalizatior $ 19,20 $ 49,14¢ $ 96,11¢

A $1.00 increase (decrease) in the expected imtiblic offering price of $9.00 per share wouldresse (decrease) each of pro forma as
adjusted additional paid-in capital, stockholdeuity and total capitalization by approximately@hillion, assuming that the number of
shares offered by us, as set forth on the coves pathis prospectus, remains the same. We mayiraisease or decrease the number of shares
we are offering. An increase (decrease) of 1,0@Di0@he number of shares we are offering wouldease (decrease) each of pro forma as
adjusted additional paid-in capital, stockholdeuity and total capitalization by approximately4sgillion, assuming the initial public

offering price per share, as set forth on the cpagre of this prospectus, remains the same. Aeéaserof 1,000,000 in the number of share

are offering, together with a $1.00 increase ingkgected initial public offering price per sharmuld increase each of pro forma as adjusted
additional paid-in capital, stockholdeexjuity and total capitalization by approximately®lmillion. A decrease of 1,000,000 in the nuntuf
shares we are offering, together with a $1.00 @eserén the expected initial public offering prie ghare, would decrease each of pro forma a:
adjusted additional paid-in capital, stockholdeguity and total capitalization by approximatel\8€lmillion. The pro forma as adjusted
information is illustrative only, and we will adjuthis information if the expected initial publiffering price and other terms of this offering
change.

The outstanding share information in the table alexcludes:

= 2,251,093 shares of common stock issuable upoexékeise of options outstanding as of June 30, 201th a weighted-average
exercise price of $1.50 per shg

= 1,215,728 shares of common stock reserved forduissuance under our 2006 Equity Incentive Plaof dsne 30, 2010, a portion of
which will become available for issuance under 2Qt0 Equity Incentive Award Plan after completidnitos offering;

= an aggregate of 3,200,000 shares of common statkviti be reserved for future issuance under @r®@Equity Incentive Award Pl
and Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as well as aoynatic increase
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in the number of shares of our common stock resefmefuture issuance under these benefit plangwill become effectiv
immediately prior to the consummation of this offigr,

= 116,628 shares of common stock underlying prefesteck subject to warrants outstanding as of Jn@@10 that will not expire
upon completion of this offering, with a weigh-average exercise price of $7.97 per share;

= 1,848,849 shares of common stock subject to wariastied during April, May, June and August 20 ill not expire upon
completion of this offering, with a weight-average exercise price of $1.50 per st
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Dilution

If you invest in our common stock, you will experie dilution to the extent of the difference betwéee public offering price per share of our
common stock you pay in this offering and the aegible book value per share of our common stotk #fiis offering.

As of June 30, 2010, our net tangible book valus $(86.5) million, or $(101.47) per share of oumoaon stock. Our net tangible book value
per share represents total tangible assets |legditditilities and convertible preferred stock, dillided by the number of shares of common
stock outstanding on June 30, 2010. Our pro foretdangible book value at June 30, 2010, beformgigffect to this offering, was

$48.0 million, or $2.42 per share of our commorckt@ro forma net tangible book value, before #saance and sale of shares in this offe
gives effect to:

our issuance and sale, during August, Septembe®ataber 2010, of an aggregate of 3,921,826 sludresr Series E preferred stoc

our issuance and sale, during August and Septe?Wdd), of warrants to purchase an aggregate of [732&hares of our comm:
stock at an exercise price of $2.69 per share,wdudbsequently terminated and were no longer awdstg as of September 30, 20

our issuance and sale, in August 2010, of an aggeeyf $121,440 principal amount of convertibleasg

the conversion of our convertible notes outstandim@f June 30, 2010, and the additional convertibktes we issued and sold dur
August 2010, into 2,990,355 shares of our Seripseferred stock, which occurred during August 2Di€onnection with our Series
preferred stock financing

the conversion of all shares of our convertibldgnred stock outstanding on June 30, 2010, togetitarthe shares of Series
preferred stock we issued during August, SepterabdrOctober 2010, including shares issued in cdiumewith the related
conversion of our convertible notes, into an agate@f 17,445,662 shares of our common stock, wiititbe effective immediately
prior to the consummation of this offerir

the conversion of all of our warrants for convdgipreferred stock into warrants for common steuknediately prior to th
consummation of this offering and the related resifécation of convertible preferred stock warrhability to additional paid-in
capital;

the exercise, on a net issuance basis, of warca$sanding as of June 30, 2010, which will expipen completion of this offering if
unexercised, to purchase shares of our common,gtegldting in the issuance of 1,358,854 sharenofmon stock, based upon the
expected initial public offering price of $9.00 mrare; an

the exercise, on a net issuance basis, of warcaissanding as of June 30, 2010, which will expen completion of this offering
unexercised, to purchase shares of our convegilelerred stock, and the conversion of those sharpeeferred stock immediately
prior to the consummation of this offering, requdtin the issuance of 44,491 shares of common sbaded upon the expected initial
public offering price of $9.00 per sha
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After giving effect to the sale of 6,000,000 shasEsommon stock in this offering at the expectaitlal public offering price of $9.00 per she¢
and after deducting the estimated underwritingalists and commissions and estimated offering exgsemair pro forma as adjusted net
tangible book value at June 30, 2010 would hava b@proximately $94.9 million, or $3.68 per shdreis represents an immediate increase in
pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value d&per share to existing stockholders comparguiddorma net tangible book value per
share and an immediate dilution of $5.32 per stmrew investors. The following table illustratasstper share dilution:

Expected initial public offering price per shi $9.0C
Historical net tangible book value per share aduoie 30, 201 $(101.47)
Increase attributable to the pro forma adjustmdassribed abov 103.8¢
Pro forma net tangible book value per share asind 30, 2010, before the issuance and sale ofshatkis
offering 2.42
Increase per share attributable to the issuanceaedf shares in this offerit 1.2€
Pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value Ipgresafter this offerin 3.6¢
Dilution per share to investors in this offeri $5.32

A $1.00 increase (decrease) in the expected iqtiblic offering price of $9.00 per share wouldregsse (decrease) our pro forma as adjusted
net tangible book value as of June 30, 2010 diisraffering by approximately $5.6 million, or apgimately $0.22 per share, and would
increase (decrease) dilution to investors in tffisring by approximately $0.78 per share, assurtiiiag the number of shares offered by us, as
set forth on the cover page of this prospectusanesthe same, after deducting the underwritingaliats and commissions and estimated
offering expenses payable by us. We may also isereadecrease the number of shares we are offéimgpcrease of 1,000,000 in the
number of shares we are offering would increaseponforma as adjusted net tangible book valuef dsime 30, 2010 after this offering by
approximately $8.4 million, or approximately $04é&r share, and would decrease dilution to investottsis offering by approximately

$0.17 per share, assuming the initial public offgrprice per share remains the same, after deduttenunderwriting discounts and
commissions and estimated offering expenses payghlis. A decrease of 1,000,000 in the number afeshwe are offering would decrease
our pro forma as adjusted net tangible book vatuefdune 30, 2010 after this offering by approxiha$8.4 million, or approximately $0.19
per share, and would increase dilution to investothis offering by approximately $0.19 per shargsuming the initial public offering price
per share remains the same, after deducting therwmiting discounts and commissions and estimatfsting expenses payable by us. An
increase of 1,000,000 in the number of shares weffering, together with a $1.00 increase in thgeeted initial public offering price per
share, would increase our pro forma as adjustethngtble book value as of June 30, 2010 afterdffexing by approximately $14.9 million,

or approximately $0.42 per share, and would in@efisition to investors in this offering by approwtely $0.58 per share, after deducting the
underwriting discounts and commissions and estichatfering expenses payable by us. A decreased601000 in the number of shares we
offering, together with a $1.00 decrease in theeetgd initial public offering price per share, wabdlecrease our pro forma as adjusted net
tangible book value as of June 30, 2010 afterdfiexing by approximately $13.0 million, or apprmately $0.38 per share, and would decr
dilution to investors in this offering by approxitely $0.62 per share, after deducting the undemngriliscounts and commissions and
estimated offering expenses payable by us. Thégonoa as adjusted information is illustrative orapd we will adjust this information if the
expected initial public offering price and othemte of this offering change.

If the underwriters fully exercise their over-altegnt option, pro forma as adjusted net tangible&kh@due after this offering would increase to
approximately $3.84 per share, and there wouldnbienanediate dilution of approximately $5.16 perrghi®m new investors.

To the extent that outstanding options or warraitls an exercise price per share that is less thampro forma as adjusted net tangible book
value per share, before giving effect to the issaaand sale of shares in this offering, are exedcigou will experience further dilution. If all
our outstanding options and warrants
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described above were exercised, our pro formaanefihle book value as of June 30, 2010, beforengieffect to the issuance and sale of
shares in this offering, would have been approxatye$54.1 million, or approximately $2.26 per shaned our pro forma as adjusted net
tangible book value as of June 30, 2010 afterdfiexring would have been approximately $101.1 willior approximately $3.38 per share,
causing dilution to new investors of approximat&b62 per share.

In addition, we may choose to raise additional tedyiue to market conditions or strategic consitiena even if we believe we have sufficient
funds for our current or future operating plansti® extent that we raise additional capital thtotlge sale of equity or convertible debt
securities, the issuance of these securities aasldlt in further dilution to our stockholders.

The following table shows, as of June 30, 2010a @no forma as adjusted basis, after giving efi@the pro forma adjustments described
above, the number of shares of common stock puechisem us, the total consideration paid to usthaedaverage price paid per share by
existing stockholders and by new investors puretgasommon stock in this offering at the expectetiinpublic offering price of $9.00 per
share, before deducting the underwriting discoants commissions and estimated offering expenseabpaipy us.

Shares purchased Average
from us Total consideration to us
price per
Number Percent Amount Percent share
Existing stockholder 19,799,50 76.7%  $156,169,00 74.% $ 7.8
New investors 6,000,00! 23.c 54,000,00 25.7 9.0C
Total 25,799,50 100.(%  $210,169,00 100.(% $ 8.1F

The table above, and the information below, asstimaeour existing stockholders do not purchasesiiayes in this offering.

A $1.00 increase (decrease) in the expected imitiblic offering price of $9.00 per share wouldrease (decrease) total consideration paid by
new investors, total consideration paid by all kkmtders and the average price per share paidllsyogkholders by $6.0 million,

$6.0 million and $0.23, respectively, assumingribimber of shares offered by us, as set forth ordlker page of this prospectus, remains the
same. We may also increase or decrease the nurdlesres we are offering. An increase of 1,000j6d8e number of shares we are offering
would increase total consideration paid by new stees, total consideration paid by all stockholderd the average price per share paid by all
stockholders by $9.0 million, $9.0 million and $8.0espectively, assuming the initial public offeyiprice stays the same. A decrease of
1,000,000 in the number of shares we are offeriaglvdecrease total consideration paid by new iovestotal consideration paid by all
stockholders and the average price per share padl btockholders by $9.0 million, $9.0 million&80.04, respectively, assuming the initial
offering price stays the same. An increase of 1@@Win the number of shares we are offering, togretvith a $1.00 increase in the expected
initial public offering price per share, would iease total consideration paid by new investora) tminsideration paid by all stockholders and
the average price per share paid by all stockhsldgi$16.0 million, $16.0 million and $0.29, respesly. A decrease of 1,000,000 in the
number of shares we are offering, together with @& decrease in the expected initial public offggrice per share, would decrease total
consideration paid by new investors, total consitlen paid by all stockholders and the averageefar share paid by all stockholders by
$14.0 million, $14.0 million and $0.24, respectize€The pro forma as adjusted information is illaitre only, and we will adjust this
information based on the actual initial public oiffgy price and other terms of this offering detered at pricing.

The information and tables in this section are dase950,493 shares of common stock issued anthadiag as of June 30, 2010 and excl

= 2,251,093 shares of common stock issuable upoexéeeise of options outstanding as of June 30, 20ttDa weighte-average
exercise price of $1.50 per shs

= 1,215,728 shares of common stock reserved fordlissuance under our 2006 Equity Incentive Plaof dsne 30, 2010, a portion
which will become available for issuance under2@t0 Equity Incentive Award Plan after completidrtos offering;
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= an aggregate of 3,200,000 shares of common statkviti be reserved for future issuance under @r®@Equity Incentive Award Pl
and Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as well as aoynatic increases in the number of shares of ommeon stock reserved for future
issuance under these benefit plans, which will bexeffective immediately prior to the consummadmhis offering;

= 116,628 shares of common stock underlying prefesteck subject to warrants outstanding as of Jn@@10 that will not expir
upon completion of this offering, with a weigh-average exercise price of $7.97 per share;

= 1,848,849 shares of common stock subject to wariastied during April, May, June and August 202 ill not expire upon
completion of this offering, with a weight-average exercise price of $1.50 per st

If the underwriters exercise their over-allotmeption in full, the following will occur:

= the pro forma as adjusted number of shares of @mnmwn stock held by existing stockholders wouldrdase to approximately 74.2
of the pro forma as adjusted total number of shafesir common stock outstanding after this offgriand

= the pro forma as adjusted number of shares of @mnwon stock held by new investors would increassgproximately 25.8% of the
pro forma as adjusted total number of shares otoonmmon stock outstanding after this offeri
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Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data should bedremyether with our financial statements and acamgimg notes and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operationsippearing elsewhere in this prospectus. The seldictencial data i
this section is not intended to replace our finahsiatements and the accompanying notes.

We derived the statement of operations data foyé&aes ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 200%arizhtance sheet data as of
December 31, 2008 and 2009 from our audited firsstatements appearing elsewhere in this prospethe statement of operations data for
the cumulative period from June 14, 2005 (datenoéption) to December 31, 2005 and the year eneedmber 31, 2006 and the balance ¢
data as of December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 haredeived from our audited financial statementsmduded in this prospectus. The
statement of operations data for the six monthe@ddne 30, 2009 and 2010 and for the cumulatikiepp&om June 14, 2005 (date of
inception) to June 30, 2010 and the balance steatat of June 30, 2010 are derived from our utedifinancial statements appearing
elsewhere in this prospectus. The unaudited firdustitements have been prepared on a basis @msisth our audited financial statements
and include, in the opinion of management, all sitiiients, consisting only of normal recurring adjestts, necessary for the fair statement of
the financial information in those statements. @istorical results are not necessarily indicatiféhe results to be expected in any future
period, and the results for the six months endee B0, 2010 are not necessarily indicative of gsailts to be expected for the year ending
December 31, 2010.

Cumulative
period from .
Cumulative
June 14, 2005 Six months ended period from

(date of Year ended December 31, June 30, June 14, 2005
inception) to
Decepmbe)r 31, irsgs;io?lf)
to June 30,
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2009 2010 2010
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue $ — — 3 — — $ 622 % — $ 1428 $ 2,04¢
Operating expense

Star-up production cost® — — — — 5,03: 1,01z 8,98¢ 14,01¢

Research and developm¢«® — 3,732 10,30¢ 23,63: 22,42 10,44¢ 11,097 71,19

General and administrativ) — 951 1,89¢ 3,17¢ 4,95: 2,12( 4,862 15,84

Sales and marketir@® — — — 1,04¢ 1,79¢ 62C 2,53¢ 5,38

Total operating expens® — 4,68: 12,20 27,851 34,20¢ 14,20: 27,48: 106,43:

Loss from operation — (4,689 (12,207 (27,857) (33,585 (14,207 (26,059 (104,389
Interest expens — (1) (215 (974) (3,465 (2,057 (1,144 (5,809
Interest and other income (expense)

net — 12¢ 162 437 1,101 (70 23E 2,06t
Net loss $ —  $ (4565 9$(12,25Y) 9$(28,399 $(35,949 $(16,32Y) $(26,967) $ (108,129
Net loss per share, basic and dilu $(123.5¢) $(211.00 $(369.3¢) $(386.5¢) $(177.90 $ (45.09
Weighted-average shares outstanding

used in computing net loss per

share, basic and dilute 36,94 58,07 76,87 92,99¢ 91,72« 598,08(
Pro forma net loss per share of

common stock, basic and diluted

(unaudited'@ $ (6.59 $ (259
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Cumulative
period from )
Cumulative
June 14, 2005 Six months ended period from
(date of Year ended December 31, June 30, June 14, 2005
inception) to
December 31, .(date‘ of
inception)
to June 30,
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2009 2010 2010

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Net loss used in computing pro forma net loss
share of common stock, basic and diluted
(unaudited® $ (37,03) $ (27,209
Weighted-average shares of common stock
outstanding used in computing pro forma net
loss per share of common stock, basic and

diluted (unaudited@ 5,619,60! 10,763,51
(1) Includes stoc-based compensation expense as follc
Period from
June 14, 2005 Cumulative
Year ended Six months ended period from
(date of December 31, June 30, June 14, 2005
inception) to
December 31, . (dat_e of
inception) to
June 30,
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2009 2010 2010
(in thousands)
Star-up production cost $ — $— $— $— $ 81 $ 15 $ 10t $ 18€
Research and developmt — 10 78  24¢ 997 22t 41F 1,741
General and administrati\ — 2 22 a0 262 78 301 677
Sales and marketir i — — — 75 25 68 142
Total stocl-based compensation expel $ — $12 $10C $33€ $1,41C $ 34 $ 88 $ 2,747

(2) Netloss used in computing pro forma basic andtelilinet loss per share of common stock, and thdeuaf weighte-average common shares used in computing pro féx@sa and
diluted net loss per share of common stock, irtabke above assume the conversion of all of oustanting convertible preferred stock into commaisimmediately prior to the
consummation of this offering. See Note 2 to marftial statements for an explanation of the metnset to compute pro forma basic and diluted net fger share of common stock
and the number of shares used in computing thasshage amounts

December 31,

June 30,
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
(in thousands)

Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalel $ 2 $ 1,632 $ 4,26( $ 6,18¢ $ 7,76F $ 7,97-
Working capital (deficit 2 1,047 1,84t 741 2,96¢ (20,860
Total asset 2 2,74¢ 8,762 15,75¢ 30,27¢ 39,79¢
Current and lon-term notes payabl — 1,00 3,47: 11,69: 7,95( 23,17¢
Convertible preferred stock warrant liabil — 39 38¢€ 1,10C 1,55: 1,31¢
Convertible preferred stoc — 6,23¢ 20,22 45,62: 85,83: 95,84+
Total stockholder equity (deficit) 2 (4,852 (17,129 (45,159 (77,690 (96,45))
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should bad in conjunction with our financial
statements and related notes that appear elsewhehés prospectus. In addition to historical fir@al information, the following discussion
contains forward-looking statements that involeksi and uncertainties. Our actual results may diffaterially from those discussed below.
Factors that could cause or contribute to theséed#nces include those discussed below and elsevitnéhis prospectus, particularly und
the caption “Risk Factors.”

Overview

We are a life sciences company that has developg@d@mmercialized an innovative DNA sequencingfptat, and our goal is to become the
preferred solution for complete human genome sezjugrand analysis. Our Complete Genomics Analygifétm, or CGA Platform,
combines our proprietary human genome sequencitgedogy with our advanced informatics and dataagament software and our
innovative, end-to-end, outsourced service modplowide our customers with data that is immedjatehdy to be used for genome-based
research. We believe that our solution will provad@demic and biopharmaceutical researchers wittplte human genomic data and anal
at an unprecedented combination of quality, codtsmale without requiring them to invest in in-hesgquencing instruments, high-
performance computing resources and specializesbpeel. By removing these constraints and broautykng researchers to conduct large-
scale complete human genome studies, we believetinaolution has the potential to revolutionizedital research and expand understan
of the basis, treatment and prevention of compisgabes.

We were incorporated in Delaware in June 2005 agab operations in March 2006. From March 2006uidinamid-2009, our operations
focused on research and developing our sequereihgology platform. We recognized our first revefroen the sale of our genome
sequencing services in the fourth quarter of 2@3%f June 30, 2010, we were considered to be aldpment stage enterprise.

We have targeted our complete human genome seaquesmivice at academic, governmental and othearelsénstitutions, as well as
pharmaceutical and other life science companiesp®f®rm our sequencing service at our Mountainwi€alifornia headquarters facility,
which began commercial operation in May 2010. nrtear term, we expect to make significant expearettrelated to the expansion of our
Mountain View sequencing facility and our reseamoldd development initiatives, as well as to increagesales and marketing and general and
administrative expenses to support our commergiatations and anticipated growth. In future yeaesplan to construct additional genome
centers in the United States and in other strategidkets to accommodate an expected growing glitdrakand for high-quality, low-cost
complete human genome sequencing on a large scale.

Our ability to generate revenue, and the timingwfrevenue, will depend on the rate at which weaamvert our backlog of sequencing orc
into completed and delivered genomic data packagddhe price per genome contracted with the custowie define backlog as the number
of genomes for which customers have placed segogmcders that we believe are firm and for whichremenue has yet been recorded. As of
September 30, 2010, we had a backlog of ordersefguencing over 800 genomes. The speed with whécbamw convert orders into revenue
depends principally on:

= the rate at which our system can sequence a ger

= the number of sequencing lines we run at a giver;

= the speed with which our customers provide us githlified samples after submitting an order;

= the rate at which our delivered genomic data paekage accepted by our customers (where an acceptaniod has been negotiate

Changes in these variables will cause our restiligerations to fluctuate, perhaps significanttyatldition, we have only recently engaged in
commercial-scale manufacturing, so we have a venydd history to guide us in
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predicting variables like equipment failure, thrbpgt yield, customer compliance with providing giiedl genomic samples and other factors
that could affect revenue.

We have not been profitable in any quarterly pesimte we were formed. We incurred net losses af3nillion, $28.4 million and

$35.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2@008 and 2009, respectively, and $27.0 milliontiie six months ended June 30, 2010.
For the six months ended June 30, 2010, we recedmavenue of $1.4 million, and for the year endedember 31, 2009, we recognized
revenue of $0.6 million. As of June 30, 2010, oefiat accumulated during the development stage $&8.1 million. Although we do not
anticipate any material seasonal effects, giverlimited operating history as a revenue generatorgpany, our sales cycle is uncertain. Seven
customers accounted for all of the revenue we mgized for the year ended December 31, 2009. D@RQGP, University of Texas

Southwestern Medical Center accounted for 17% ofexenue, four customers, Pfizer Inc., The Browditlute, the Flanders Institute for
Biotechnology and Johns Hopkins University, eaatoanted for 16% of our revenue, and the InstitateSlystems Biology accounted for 13%
of our revenue. Thirteen customers accounted fafahe revenue we recognized for the six montided June 30, 2010, and Pfizer, Sichuan
University and The International Mesothelioma Pargrat Brigham and Women’s Hospital accounted f86205% and 11%, respectively, of
our revenue. If demand for our services expandaspscted, we do not anticipate that the loss ofcdrlie customers named above would have
a material adverse effect on our future resultspafrations.

Key Financial Measures
Revenue

Our revenue is derived from selling our human gemseqguencing service. We sell our service to ostocoers through a direct field sales and
support organization. Our customers enter intolpase orders, and, in some cases, genome servigaasiwith us. For most arrangements,
we recognize revenue upon shipment of genomictdatee customer. If the customer has a midivery acceptance right, which is atypical,
recognize revenue upon expiration of the acceptpaded or, if sooner, customer acceptance. Thg@eome price of our sequencing service
is based principally on the number of genomes tedugienced in the arrangement. We anticipate pegibdreducing the price per genome for
our service as the costs of sequencing decreadaanpetitive conditions change. We expect thatpoimary source of revenue for the
foreseeable future will be derived from our humanamne sequencing service.

Operating Expenses
Start-up Production Costs

Start-up production costs primarily consist of sagtlated to the acceptance testing of customesrgienrsamples, sample sequencing
preparation, sample sequencing, the processingtafgenerated by the prototype sequencing instrignesntinued validation of the
production process and optimization of instrumesrfgrmance. These costs primarily include personglated expenses and stock-based
compensation, chemical reagents and engineeringrialatand supplies, consultant fees, depreciati@guipment and facilities-related costs.
Prior to 2009, we were primarily involved in devgilog our sequencing technology platform, and, essalt, most of these expenses were
accounted for as research and development. In 2098ggan providing our genome sequencing sergicasgtomers and accounted for these
costs as start-up production costs.

Research and Development Exper

Research and development expenses consist ofagssisiated with scientific research activitiestwafe and hardware engineering
development efforts and process automation. Thests primarily include personnel-related expenisediding stock-based compensation,
chemical reagents and engineering materials anglisspdepreciation of equipment, consulting fees facilities-related costs.

In 2007, we were awarded a grant from the Natitmstitute of Science and Technology, or NIST, tlglowhich we are eligible to receive
reimbursement of a portion of our research and ldpweent expenses and certain administrative exgefseach of 2008 and 2009, we
recognized a $0.8 million reduction in research @ekelopment expenses for activities funded by NIST
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General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist pafigipf personnel-related expenses, including stoaged compensation for our finance,
human resources and certain executive personmédégsional services fees, such as consulting, aaditind legal fees, general corporate costs
and facilities-related costs. We are eligible toefee reimbursement for a portion of our administmexpenses pursuant to our NIST grant. In
each of 2008 and 2009, we recognized a $0.2 mitkduction in general and administrative expenseadtivities funded by NIST.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses consist principalhecfonnel-related expenses, including stoaked compensation for our sales and mark
personal, costs related to sales and marketingittedi marketing research and facilities-relatests.

Interest Expense
Interest expense consists of interest on our rEagable and issuance costs associated with oun\bioiys.

I nterest and Other I ncome (Expense), Net

Interest and other income (expense), net, corslistderest earned on our cash and cash equivaedtshanges in the fair value of our
convertible preferred stock warrant liability.

Income Taxes

As of December 31, 2009, we had federal and sktteperating loss carryforwards of approximatel9.$5million each and federal and state
research and development tax credit carryforwafdpproximately $1.9 million and $2.0 million, respively. Our federal net operating loss
and research and development tax credit carryfasvaegin expiring in 2026 unless used prior to tzeé. Our state net operating loss
carryforwards will begin to expire in 2016, if nated, and our state research and developmentddit carryforwards do not expire. Our
ability to use net operating loss and tax creditydarwards is subject to ownership change rulegrasided under the Internal Revenue Code
and similar state provisions. We have performedraalysis to determine whether an ownership chaagebcurred from inception to
December 31, 2009. Our analysis determined thabtwrership changes have occurred during that pebad to these ownership changes, the
use of these net operating losses and researatieaetbpment credits are subject to annual limitatidowever, we concluded that as of
December 31, 2009, no net operating losses ornesaad development credits will expire beforeizailion due to these ownership change
the event we have a subsequent change in ownergipperating loss and research and developmedit carryovers could be further limited
and may expire unutilized.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our financial statements have been prepared irocaity with generally accepted accounting princspie the United States, or GAAP. The
preparation of our financial statements requirasneanagement to make estimates, assumptions agohgmds that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of corgimigassets and liabilities at the date of the firdrstatements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the applicable pehNtaisagement bases its estimates, assumptionsidgohgnts on historical experience and
on various other factors that it believes to besoeable under the circumstances. Different assomptind judgments would change the
estimates used in the preparation of our finarat@tements, which, in turn, could materially chatigeresults from those reported. Our
management evaluates its estimates, assumptiorjs@gents on an ongoing basis. Historically, aitical accounting estimates have not
differed materially from actual results. Howevestual results may differ from these estimates uwiféerent conditions. If actual results differ
from these estimates and other considerationsinsestimating amounts reflected in the financiatetents, the resulting changes could hs
material adverse effect on our statements of oj@stliquidity and financial condition.
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The estimates described below represent our dramaunting estimates. For more information regpyaur critical accounting policies and
estimates, please see Note 2 of the notes to dliteddinancial statements included elsewhere igghospectus.

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue from selling our human gen@geesicing services under purchase orders or ctsmtRevenues are recognized when all
of the following criteria are met: persuasive evide of an arrangement exists, title has transfethedprice is fixed or determinable and
collectability is reasonably assured. Upon comgietf the sequencing process, we ship the reseaatty genomic data to the customer. We
use shipping documents and third-party evidenaetiy shipment of the data. In order to determivieether collectability is reasonably
assured, we assess a nhumber of factors, includisigtansaction history with the customer and thditworthiness of the customer. If we
determine that collectability is not reasonablyuasd, we defer the recognition of revenue untilemibbility becomes reasonably assured. We
also receive down payments from customers pritheaccommencement of the genome sequencing process.

For revenue generated under purchase orders, wedstablished standard terms and conditions teatacified for all orders. We use the
purchase order to establish persuasive evidenar afrangement and whether there is a fixed arardetable price for the order. Revenue is
recognized based upon the shipment of genomictdatastomers and satisfaction of all terms and itimms contained in the purchase order.
Any down payments received are recorded as defeeremhue until we meet all revenue recognitioreciat

For revenue generated under contracts, we conséddr contract’s terms and conditions to determimenbligations associated with the
contract. We will defer revenue until all signifiteobligations, as defined in the contract, havenbmet. Any down payments received are
recorded as deferred revenue, and revenue is reeagapon shipment of genomic data and satisfacti@il remaining obligations.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We currently do not have any significant accouat®ivable balances, and receipt of payment onxstireg receivables has been reasonably
assured such that we do not believe that an allogvéor doubtful accounts is currently requirecodf revenue increases as expected and our
accounts receivable balance grows, we intend tmperegular evaluations of our customers’ creditivimess and continuously monitor
collections and payments to estimate an allowaocddubtful accounts that is based on the agirnthefinderlying receivables and our
experiences with regard to specific collection éssu

Estimated Useful Lives of Property and Equipment

We depreciate our property and equipment usingaggsit line method over its estimated useful liv@ar property primarily consists of lease
improvements, and our equipment primarily consi$tsur sequencing instruments and computer equipossd in the sequencing process.
While we use our best judgment to determine théulibees of our sequencing instruments and competglipment, a significant change in
technology or the emergence of an advanced techyalould result in a shorter useful life than witiatly anticipated. Our equipment
represents the largest asset on our balance simelet, subsequent reduction in the useful livegjofgnent could have a material impact on
statement of operations.

Convertible Preferred Stock Warrants

Freestanding warrants to purchase shares of owedilsie preferred stock are classified as lialeiliton our balance sheets at fair value becaus
the warrants may conditionally obligate us to rexdlee underlying convertible preferred stock at sgmint in the future. The warrants are
subject to remeasurement at each balance sheetddtany change in fair value is recognized asngponent of interest and other income
(expense), net, in the statements of operationsesimated the fair value of these warrants atébpective balance sheet dates using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model. We use a nunab@ssumptions to estimate the fair value inclgdime remaining contractual terms of the
warrants, risk-free interest rates, expected
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dividend yield and expected volatility of the prigithe underlying common stock. These assumptoadighly judgmental and could differ
significantly in the future.

For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 arfy] 2@0recorded a charge of $0.2 million and gafr&0ol million and $1.1 million to
interest and other income (expense), net, respdgtito reflect the change in the fair value of #eerrants. During the six months ended June
30, 2009 and 2010, we recorded a charge of $75068@& gain of $0.2 million, respectively, to inttrand other income (expense), net,
respectively, to reflect the change in fair valfi¢ghe warrants.

We will continue to record adjustments to the failue of the warrants until they are either exetjsonverted into warrants to purchase
common stock or expire, at which time the warravitsno longer be remeasured at each balance slaet Immediately prior to the
consummation of this offering and the conversiothefunderlying preferred stock to common stock,auistanding preferred stock warrants
will automatically convert into warrants to purchashares of our common stock. The then-currenteggge fair value of these warrants will be
reclassified from liabilities to additional paid-@apital, and we will cease to record any relatedoglic fair value adjustments.

I nventory

Inventory consists of the raw materials we useunsequencing process, work in process and finigloeds. Inventories are stated at the lower
of cost or market value. Cost is determined ustagdard costs, which approximate actual costs, fostan, first-out basis. Market value is
determined as the lower of replacement cost oreaizable value. We regularly review inventory nitees on hand for excess and obsolete
inventories, giving consideration to potential desoence, our product life cycle and developmeaniql product expiration and quality issues.
To date, these factors have not been significantiagnventory amounts have been immaterial. Howewe anticipate that these estimates will
become more significant if our sequencing volunmesdase as expected.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets

We assess our long-lived assets for impairment ev@mevents or changes in circumstances indicatdtie carrying amount of a long-lived
asset may not be recoverable. These indicatoramehyde, but are not limited to, significant de@es in the market value of an asset and
significant changes in the extent or manner in Wiaio asset is used. If these or other indicat@pasent, we test for recoverability by
measuring the carrying amount of the assets agitise net cash flows which the assets are exgeotgenerate. If these assets are consit
to be impaired, the impairment recognized is mesasby the amount by which the carrying amount efdksets exceeds the projected
discounted future net cash flows arising from tbsets. We make estimates and judgments about furdiscounted cash flows and fair val
Although our cash flow forecasts are based on agans that are consistent with our plans, themggsificant exercise of judgment involved
in determining the cash flow attributable to a ldivgd asset over its estimated remaining usefel Our estimates of anticipated cash flows
could be reduced significantly in the future. Aeault, the carrying amounts of our long-lived ésseuld be reduced through impairment
charges in the future. There have been no suchiimeats of long-lived assets to date. However, nticgpate that a future impairment could
have a material impact on our financial statemanligiht of the dollar significance of the long-#id assets carried on our balance sheet.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize compensation expense related to thedawg of employee stock options, based on thenastid fair value of the awards granted
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Wepalse the Black-Scholes option-pricing model teweine the fair value of non-employee
stock option grants. In accordance with authoritaguidance, the fair value of non-employee stquioa grants is re-measured as they vest,
and the resulting increase in value, if any, iDgeized as expense during the period the relatsitses are rendered.
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The Black-Scholes option-pricing model requiresitiput of our expected stock-price volatility, tbepected life of the options, risk-free
interest rate and expected dividends. Determirtiege assumptions requires significant judgmentdéfermined the expected life and
volatility rate of the employee stock-option grab&sed on that of publicly traded companies inDN& sequencing, diagnostics or
personalized medicine industries. When selectiegtiblic companies in these industries to be usdade volatility calculation, we selected
companies with comparable characteristics to wdding enterprise value and financial leverage, iamoved companies with significantly
higher enterprise values, lower risk profiles dabBshed positions within their applicable indysiWe also selected companies with historical
share price volatility information sufficient to etethe expected life of our stock options. Thedristl volatility data was computed using the
daily closing prices for the selected compangwires during the equivalent period of the caledlaxpected term of our stock options. We
continue to analyze the historical expected terthstack price volatility assumptions as more histdrdata for our own options and common
stock, respectively, becomes available. The expdifeeof the non-employee option grants was basetheir remaining contractual life at the
measurement date. The risk-free interest rate ggsumwas based on U.S. Treasury instruments wterses were consistent with the option’s
expected life. The expected dividend assumptionbaasd on our history and expectation of dividesygbpts. The following table sets forth
these assumptions for our employee stock optionthéoperiods provided:

Six months ended

Year ended December 31, June 30,
2008 2009 2010
(unaudited)
Expected volatility 82.05-84.79% 74.03-92.44% 80.54- 80.79%
Expected life (in years 6.08 5.32-6.10 5.50
Risk-free interest rat 2.79- 3.62% 1.80-2.72% 2.57-2.80%
Expected dividend yiel 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

In accordance with the authoritative guidance oclstompensation, we only record stock-based cosgiem expense for awards that are
expected to vest. As a result, judgment is alsaired in estimating the amount of stock-based as#rdt are expected to be forfeited.
Although we estimate forfeitures based on histbeeperience, actual forfeitures may differ. If @aitresults differ significantly from these
estimates, stock-based compensation expense arsthtements of operations could be materially irtgghevhen we record a true-up for the
difference in the period that the awards vest.

The following table summarizes the options graritech May 2, 2008 through September 24, 2010 widirtbxercise prices, the fair value of
the underlying common stock and the intrinsic vglee share, if any. We did not grant any optioosifdanuary 1, 2008 through May 1, 2008.

Fair value of
Number of common stock Intrinsic
options Exercise price value

Grant date granted per share (1) per share per share
May 2, 200€ 13,371 $ 35.4( $ 35.4( $ =
July 23, 200¢ 2,86: 35.4(C 35.4( —
November 11, 200 21,85( 76.2( 76.2( —
January 21, 200 4,00¢ 76.2( 76.2( —
March 13, 200¢ 6,54¢ 76.2( 76.2( —
November 13, 200 1,235,57! 1.5C 1.82 0.3z
November 19, 200 17,49¢ 1.5C 1.85@ 0.3t
December 28, 200 199,99¢ 1.5C 2.0z 0.5Z
January 28, 201 104,89! 1.5C 2.1€@ 0.6€
February 24, 201 619,16¢ 1.5C 2.2€2) 0.7¢
March 19, 201( 63,12¢ 1.5C 2.3¢@ 0.8¢
March 22, 201( 128,00( 1.5C 2.3¢@ 0.8¢
April 8, 2010 20,00( 2.4%50) 2.4 0.0z
July 16, 201( 473,75t 2.6€ 2.6¢€ —
July 27, 201( 50C 2.6¢ 2.6¢€ —
September 21, 201 122,75( 6.8t 6.8t —
September 24, 2010

12,00( 6.8t 6.8t —
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(1) InJanuary 2010, we approved a stock option maatific, pursuant to which all outstanding unexerdisptions that were granted prior to January 281@@nder our 2006 Equit
Incentive Plan and had an exercise price greatantti1.50 per share were modified to decrease thecise price of these stock options to $1.50 parestFor more information se
“—Stock Option Modificatic” below.

(2) We reassessed the fair value of our common stdideguent to the grant date of these opti

(3) The exercise price of these grants was amehgexir board of directors to reflect the fair valaethe date of grant following our board’s contesrgmeous valuation of our common
stock as of March 31, 201

All options granted by our board of directors oa ttates noted above were intended to be exerciaatile fair value of our stock at the time

grant, based on information known at that time d&termine the fair value of our common stock, aearld of directors considered input from

management based on several factors, as descebma. B-or the purposes of recording stock-basedpemsation expense, we have reassesse
the fair value of our common stock for the optignanted from November 13, 2009 through June 300 2B&cause no single event or factor
caused a change in the fair value of our commorksdaring this period, we reassessed the fair vafueir common stock for each grant date
and linearly increased the fair value on each giate based on the differences between the orifdiralalue determinations and subsequent
increases to the fair value of our common stocttedsrmined by our board of directors. The intringitue of options to purchase our common
stock on these grant dates represents the differteetoveen the original fair value determination enag our board of directors on the date of
option grant and the fair value applied retrospetyi for accounting purposes, in light of subseddein value determinations by our board of
directors.

The fair values of the common stock underlying stock options were estimated by our board of dimscivith input from management based
on several factors, including progress and milestattained in our business, projected sales anéhga for multiple future periods and
estimated probabilities of various financing arggildation events. In the absence of a public tigdiarket for our common stock, our board of
directors has determined the fair value of the comsstock using methodologies, approaches and asEunsgonsistent with the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants Practi®aide,Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Secestissued as Compensatioor

the AICPA Practice Guide. In addition, our boardlo&ctors considered numerous objective and stibpgefactors, including, among others,
the following factors:

= the prices of preferred stock issued by us to stighited investors in ari-length transaction:

= the rights, preferences and privileges of our pretestock issued in financings relative to our own stock
= the execution of customer contracts and receiptisfomer purchase orde

= the hiring of key personne

= the status of development and implementation ofseguencing proces

= our stage of development and business stra

= the lack of an active public market for our comnamrd preferred stocl

= trends in the genome sequencing industry and pe#ioce of specific competitors; a

= the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event fdra shares of common stock underlying these stotikrag such as an initial publ
offering or sale of the company, in light of thett-prevailing market condition:

For our contemporaneous valuations, our boardrettbrs used the option pricing model, or OPMh# valuation date approximated the close
of recent financings by third parties and, in otsiéwations, the probability-weighted expected metmethod, or PWERM. To ensure the
reasonableness of the results of either method tisedesults of the OPM allocation method wer@mneded to the results of the PWERM
allocation method, and the PWERM results were reiéeeh to the OPM results, if appropriate.

Under the PWERM method, the value of the commocksimestimated based on an analysis of futureegdior the company assuming various
future outcomes. Stock value is based on the pilityalveighted present value
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of expected future investment returns, consideeiagh of the possible future outcomes availableyedsas the rights of each class of stock.
future outcomes we considered were:

= initial public offering;

= merger or sale

= liquidation; anc

= continuing operations as a viable private comp.

The OPM model treats the rights of the holdersrefgsred and common stock as equivalent to thaalyoptions on any value of the enterp
above certain break points of value based on thugdation preferences of the holders of prefertedks as well as their rights to participation
and conversion. Accordingly, the value of the commatock is determined by estimating the valueopiirtion of each of these call option
rights. In order to determine the break pointsmagle estimates of the anticipated timing of a g@kliquidity event and estimates of the
volatility of our equity securities. The anticipdteming was based on our plans toward the liquiditent and on our board of directors’
judgment. Estimating the volatility of the stockqer of a privately held company is complex becahsee is no readily available market for
shares. We estimated the volatility of our stockdshon available information on volatility of steosf publicly traded companies in the
industry.

Discussion of Specific Valuation Factors from Fedgu2008 through June 20:

We granted stock options in 2008, 2009 and 201h asikrcise prices between $1.50 and $76.20 pee sNarsingle event caused the valua
of our common stock to increase or decrease from 2088 to June 2010. Rather it has been a combmafithe following factors that led to
the changes in the fair value of the underlying ommn stock.

February 28, 2008 to July 23, 20. Our board of directors determined the faiueabf our common stock to be $35.40 per share aadf
grant date between February 28, 2008 and July®®,2primarily based on the OPM allocation methidte OPM allocation method assumed
an enterprise value of $65 million, which was basedhe recent closing of our Series C preferredksin February 2008 at a price of $159.30
to several venture capital and private equity firBased on this enterprise value, we determinediinenum and maximum ranges of value
which our debt and preferred and common equitydrslevould receive value, or the break points. Wgiag the Black-Scholes option model
with option strike prices equal to the break poams the current stock price equal to our entegpradue. The expected term of the debt and
preferred and common equity was defined as theageegxpected holding period of the investors inst®urity until a liquidity event and was
determined to be 2.1 years. The volatility was Hamethe average volatility over the expected tBymour peer companies and was determined
to be 53%. The risk-free interest rate was 1.89%86et on U.S. Treasury Securities matching the ¢éggeéerm. Based on this information, we
determined the total value of each security. Wdiag@ discount of 25.2% for lack of marketabilitythe value of the common stock. This
valuation indicated a fair value of $35.40 per shfar our common stock. Between February 28, 20@BJaly 23, 2008, there were no factors
that changed, or events that occurred to leaccttaage in, the fair value of our common stock.

July 24, 2008 to September 29, 2C No options were granted, and our board of dirsodid not make any determination of the faitueabf
our common stock.

September 30, 2008 to March 13, 20090ur board of directors determined the faiueabf our common stock to be $76.20 per share as of
each grant date between September 30, 2008 anchNIdar@009, primarily based on the PWERM allocatiwethod. The common stock
valuation was performed following the successfgjusmcing of our first genome in September 2008. FWEERM allocation method used a
risk-adjusted discount of 35%, a marketability disat of 29.9% and a weighted-average estimatedttnaa initial public offering or a
strategic merger or sale of 2.6 years. The expamnietbmes were weighted toward the respectivediguevents as follows:

= 5% toward an initial public offering in 201
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= 10% toward a strategic merger or sale in 2(

= 20% toward a strategic merger or sale in 2(

= 30% toward a dissolution of us with no value to coom stock holders; ar
= 35% toward remaining a private compa

This valuation indicated a fair value of $76.20 pleare for our common stock. After September 20@Btarough March 13, 2009, there was a
significant negative change in the financial cdpitarkets and a macro-economic downturn. Howewathar the extent of the change nor the
duration of the economic downturn was known toAgordingly, we continued to grant stock optiongha first quarter of 2009 at an exercise
price of $76.20 per share.

March 14, 2009 to August 30, 20. No options were granted, and our board ofottirs did not make any determination of the falugaof
our common stock.

August 31, 2009 to March 30, 20100ur board of directors determined the fair valuewf common stock to be $1.50 per share as of each
grant date between August 31, 2009 and March 3),2fased on the OPM valuation method. Prior tousu@1, 2009, as a result of the se
macro-economic downturn we temporarily reduced dpgnby reducing employee compensation and delagiygstart-up and pre-production
related expenditures. This delay in spending slotlieccompletion of our sequencing production fdesi As a result, our sales efforts and
related revenue projections were also delayed.bblaed of directors did not consider the PWERM alta method for this valuation as the
method seemed inappropriate given our stage ofla@wvent and the uncertainty surrounding the prabéquidity exits for us. The OPM
allocation method assumed an enterprise value DhdiBion, which was based on the recent closingwf Series D preferred stock in August
2009 at a price of $7.56 per share to several verapital and private equity firms, which repreasdronly a small increase in our enterprise
value from July 2008. Based on this enterpriseejalke determined the minimum and maximum rangesloies at which our debt and
preferred and common equity holders would recedlae; We applied the Black-Scholes option modehwittion strike prices equal to these
break points and the current stock price equaltoeaterprise value. The expected term until liguidias determined to be 1.6 years. The
volatility was based on the average volatility otler expected term for our peer companies and e@srdined to be 85%. The risk-free
interest rate was 0.74%, based on U.S. Treasumyriies matching the expected term. Based on tticgnation, we determined the total value
of each security. We applied a discount of 21.2¢4dok of marketability to the value of the comnsinck. This valuation indicated a fair va
of $1.50 per share for our common stock.

In connection with the preparation of our finanatdtements for the three months ended March 30 28d our valuation at March 31, 2010,
we decided to revise our estimate of the fair vaiueur common stock for the period between Au@ist2009 and March 31, 2010. Between
August 31, 2009 and March 31, 2010, we signifigaddveloped our sequencing operation, includingrivegg the implementation of our
production sequencing instruments, generatingicgtrrevenue in December 2009 and publishing tealte of our sequencing collaborations
with the Institute for Systems Biology. Based uporeview of the events during this period, we deteed that no single factor changed, or
single event occurred that led to a change infalevalue of our common stock. As a result, théged fair value as of each of the grant dates
between August 31, 2009 and March 30, 2010 wasettihased on a linear increase of our valuatiowdse August 31, 2009 and March 31,
2010.

March 31, 2010 to April 8, 201.  Our board of directors determined the faitueabf our common stock to be $2.43 per share &aoth 31,
2010 and April 8, 2010, primarily based on the PWE&Iocation method. The common stock valuation waormed following an addition
closing of our Series D preferred stock financihg arice of $7.56 per share to several venturéalegnd private equity firms in March 2010.
The PWERM allocation method used a risk-adjustedaiint of 25%, a marketability discount of 15% angleightedaverage estimated time
an initial public offering or a strategic mergersale of 1.9 years. The expected outcomes werehtegidoward the respective liquidity events
as follows:

= 17.5% toward an initial public offering in 201
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= 17.5% toward an initial public offering in 201

= 5% toward a strategic merger or sale in 2(

= 5% toward a strategic merger or sale in 2(

= 35% toward a dissolution of us with no value to ceom stock holders; ar

= 20% toward a dissolution of us in which creditors @epaid and preferred investors will receiveap.6x of their original investme!
from the liquidation of assets and no value willdvailable to common stockholde

The increase in the probability of an initial pabdiffering from prior valuations was primarily redd to the commencement of commercial
operations and the achievement of revenue in thieHa@uarter of 2009 and first quarter of 2010. ldger, substantial uncertainty still existed
regarding our ability to sequence genomes on aeftesttive basis and at a scale that could suppaybing commercial operations. This
valuation indicated a fair value of $2.43 per sHareour common stock. Following its fair value wation, our board of directors modified the
option grants approved on April 8, 2010 to adjhst éxercise price to $2.43 per share, which itrdeteed to be the fair value of our common
stock as of the date of grant.

In connection with the preparation of our finanatdtements for the six months ended June 30, 20d®ur valuation at June 30, 2010, we
decided to revise our estimate of the fair valuewafcommon stock as of April 8, 2010. Based uendontinued development of our
sequencing operations during the second quart201® and the commencement of efforts related tgablic offering in the second half of t
guarter, we determined that no single factor chdngesingle event occurred that led to a changtfair value of our common stock. As a
result, the revised fair value as of April 8, 2048s derived based on a linear increase of our tratubetween March 31, 2010 and June 30,
2010.

April 9, 2010 to June 29, 201 No options were granted, and our board of tiirsadid not make any determination of the faitueabf our
common stock.

June 30, 2010 to July 27, 201 Our board of directors determined the fair eatdl our common stock to be $2.69 per share aaaf grant
date between June 30, 2010 and July 27, 2010, plynhased on the PWERM allocation method. The camrstock valuation was performed
in anticipation of the closing of our Series E preéd stock financing and in light of the executed-binding term sheet for that financing. The
initial closing of our Series E preferred stockafiting subsequently occurred in August 2010 aic f $7.56 per share to several venture
capital and private equity firms. The PWERM allacatmethod used a risk-adjusted discount of 25%agketability discount of 15% and a
weighted-average estimated time to an initial pubffering or a strategic merger or sale of 1.6rye@he expected outcomes were weighted
toward the respective liquidity events as follows:

= 20% toward an initial public offering in 201
= 20% toward an initial public offering in 201
= 5% toward a strategic merger or sale in 2(
= 5% toward a strategic merger or sale in 2(
= 30% toward a dissolution of us with no value to coon stockholders; ar

= 20% toward a dissolution of us in which creditors eepaid and preferred investors will receiveap.6x of their original investmel
from the liquidation of assets and no value willdyailable to common stockholde

The increase in the probability of an initial pebdiffering from prior valuations was primarily redd to the commencement of efforts related to
the filing of a registration statement with the Géies and Exchange Commission for our initial mibffering. Specifically, on May 10, 2010,
we held an organizational meeting with investmetkers to underwrite our initial public offeringycapreparation of our registration staten
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commenced after that time. However, despite ouran@nt towards an initial public offering, we hadygnst begun the reconfiguration of all
of our sequencers to increase their throughput Aesult of the uncertainty around the timing amctess of the full reconfiguration of all of
our sequencers and the resulting uncertainty arountbusiness’ success, we determined that andseref only 2.5% in the probability for
each initial public offering scenario over the pn@luation was warranted. This increase in théabdity of an initial public offering, and the
decrease in the probability of a dissolution scended to an increased valuation of $2.69 peresiiar our common stock.

July 28, 2010 to September 20, 2(.  No options were granted, and our board ofotlirs did not make any determination of the falugaof
our common stock.

September 21, 2010 to September 24, 2010ur board of directors determined the fair @abfi our common stock to be $6.85 per share as of
September 21, 2010 and September 24, 2010, printerded on the PWERM allocation method. The comstock valuation was performed
following a period of significant growth in our hness and movement towards an initial public offgriSpecifically, in the third quarter of
2010, the following factors led to the increaseum valuation:

= we filed our initial registration statement wittetBecurities and Exchange Commission on July 300 206d an amendment to tl
registration statement on September 10, 2

= our genome sequencing operation scaled significantth that we anticipated shipping genomic data¥er 300 genomes in the thi
quarter of 2010; an

= we closed our Series E preferred stock financingugust 2010 and had a subsequent closing in Séete®10, pursuant to which
sold and issued an aggregate of $39.9 million neSd preferred stoc

During August and September 2010, we completedabenfiguration of all of our sequencers to inceetieir throughput. Notably, between
July 27, 2010, the date of our last fair value dateation, and August 27, 2010, we sequenced aippati genomic data for approximately
100 genomes and approximately an additional 50 gesavere sequenced and the resulting genomic agetahpped by September 15, 2010.

The PWERM allocation method used a risk-adjustsdailint of 20%, a marketability discount of 6% amiedghted-average estimated time to
an initial public offering or a strategic mergersale of 0.9 years. As a result of the signifiagguawth in our business and the movement
towards an initial public offering following ourdaivaluation, we substantially revised the probities associated with future liquidity events as
of these valuation dates. Specifically, we incrdabe probability percentage for the initial puldifering scenarios, and decreased the
probability of the dissolution scenarios. As sutle, expected outcomes were weighted toward thecésp liquidity events as follows:

= 50% toward an initial public offering in 201
= 20% toward an initial public offering in 201
= 10% toward a strategic merger or sale in 2(
= 10% toward a dissolution of us with no value to coon stockholders; ar

= 10% toward a dissolution of us in which creditors gepaid and preferred investors will receiveap.6x of their original investment
from the liquidation of assets and no value willawvailable to common stockholde

The increase in the probability from 20% to 50%anfinitial public offering in 2010 from the subseqt valuation, was primarily due to the
filing of our registration statement with the Seéties and Exchange Commission, including the ameriitiag in September 2010, and our
continuing efforts for our initial public offeringVe also determined that the expansion of our sexjug operation and the substantial increase
in the scale of our commercial genome sequenciegadipn warranted the increase in the probabikgoaiated with the initial public offering

in 2010 scenario. This probability increase wasntiost significant factor that led to the increasatliation of $6.85 per share for our common
stock. In addition, the decreases in the probgbilit
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associated with the dissolution scenarios, reguftiom the significant scaling of our commerciakogtions and the additional capital received
in the Series E preferred stock financing, alsardonted to the increase in the fair value of coimenon stock.

While our expected initial public offering price $9.00 per share is greater than the most recéumti@n of our common stock of $6.85 per
share determined by our board of directors in cotioie with the grant of stock options in Septemb@1t0, there are three primary factors that
account for the increase. The first is the diffeemnin valuation methodology our board of directditized prior to this offering compared to
the methodology utilized in consultation with thederwriters for purposes of this offering. In pautar, because the PWERM analysis is a
probability-weighted approach, the resulting comratotk valuation reflects the potential for liqwydevents other than an initial public
offering, which inherently decreases the commonlst@luation due to both discounting for preserti@and the mix of other expected
business equity values that are lower than thalmgtblic offering scenarios. In contrast, outiedipublic offering price range necessarily
assumes that the initial public offering has ocedythat a public market for our common stock heenicreated and that our preferred stocl
converted into common stock in connection withittigal public offering. Accordingly, this price nge excludes any marketability or
illiquidity discount for our common stock, which veeappropriately taken into account in our boafdismarket value determination in
September 2010. The second factor that accountkifoincrease is the continued development and emtuim of growth in our business. In
determining our price range, we, in consultatiothveiur underwriters, considered our demonstratedngss in obtaining and fulfilling genome
orders and shipping genomic data during the thirarigr, as well as the apparent increase in deffiosurodir service, as suggested by the
increase in order backlog at September 30, 2010.

The third factor that accounts for the increasth@price range of our initial public offering oviae prior common stock valuation is a result of
new comparable valuation data available after mard's September 2010 valuation determination. fipalty, one of our potential

competitors, Pacific BioSciences, filed a pre-effecamendment to its registration statement oroet 5, 2010, disclosing an estimated range
for its initial public offering price, which reflég a significant implied value of Pacific BioSciescon a pre-offering basis. In addition, Life
Technologies announced a definitive agreementdaiee lon Torrent, one of our potential competitdos $375 million in cash and stock, w

the possibility of $350 million in additional caahd stock consideration to be paid upon the achiem of certain milestones. Although the
consideration to be paid in the acquisition of Tamrrent was known in August 2010, our board belietiat the underlying valuation
represented a significant strategic premium, asguah, our board believed that it could not relyttee lon Torrent valuation as a comparable
data point in isolation. However, these two complraaluations, when analyzed in combination, repnéed very significant comparable
valuation data points for determining our initialtic offering price range.

Stock Option Modification

In January 2010, our board of directors approvetdification of outstanding unexercised stock apdibeld by then-current employees and
consultants to decrease the exercise price of 8tesk options to $1.50 per share. Other than acextiexercise price, the terms and conditions
of the stock options remained the same. All 85 diT&@xercised options that were granted under ous Fafuiity Incentive Plan on or before
January 28, 2010 and which had an exercise prestgrthan $1.50 per share were modified. The nental stock-based compensation
expense due to the modification was immaterialuofimancial statements.

Income Taxes

We are subject to income taxes in the United Stated we use estimates in determining our provigioincome taxes. We use the asset and
liability method of accounting for income taxes.dén this method, deferred tax asset or liabilitgoamt balances are calculated at the balance
sheet date using current tax laws and rates ictefide the year in which the differences are expedb affect taxable income.
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Recognition of deferred tax assets is appropridtenarealization of such assets is more likely thain \We recognize a valuation allowance
against our net deferred tax assets if it is mikedyl than not that some portion of the deferredassets will not be fully realizable. This
assessment requires judgment as to the likelihaddaanounts of future taxable income by tax jurigdic At December 31, 2009, we had a
valuation allowance against all of our deferreddagets.

Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted the new ait#tive guidance to account for uncertain tax poss. None of our currently unrecognized
tax benefits would affect our effective income tate if recognized, due to the valuation allowathze currently offsets our deferred tax assets.
We do not anticipate the total amount of unrecogghimcome tax benefits relating to tax positionisting at December 31, 2009 will
significantly increase or decrease in the next batims.

We assess all material positions taken in any irectar return, including all significant uncertaiositions, in all tax years that are still subject
to assessment or challenge by relevant taxing &ti#s Assessing an uncertain tax position beuwiitls the initial determination of the
position’s sustainability and is measured at thhgdat amount of benefit that is greater than 5@%yito be realized upon ultimate settlement.
As of each balance sheet date, unresolved unceabajpositions must be reassessed, and we wilfrdéte whether:

= the factors underlying the sustainability assertiame changed; ar
= the amount of the recognized tax benefit is stpr@priate.

The recognition and measurement of tax benefitsires significant judgment. Judgments concernimgrétognition and measurement of a tax
benefit might change as new information becomegahla.

As of December 31, 2009, we had federal and setteperating loss carryforwards in each case of @B8llion. The federal net operating loss
carryforwards will begin to expire in 2026, and 8tate net operating loss carryforwards will begiexpire in 2016. In addition, as of
December 31, 2009, we had federal and state résaatcdevelopment tax credit carryforwards of $tilion and $2.0 million, respectively.
The federal research and development tax credigfoawards will expire in 2026, if not used, ancthtate research and development tax credi
carryforwards do not expire. Because of the netaip® loss and credit carryforwards, all of ow y&ars, dating to inception in 2005, remain
open to federal tax examinations. Most state tegdictions have four open tax years at any pairiime.

Under federal and similar state tax statutes, smlisi changes in our ownership, including as altes this offering, may limit our ability to
use our available net operating loss and tax coadiyforwards. The annual limitation, as a restih change-in-control, may result in the
expiration of net operating losses and creditsfigetidilization. We conducted an analysis througleddeber 31, 2009 to determine whether
ownership changes occurred. We concluded that tweecship changes had occurred. However, as of Disee81, 2009, no net operating
losses or tax credits will expire unused as a teguhese changes.

Results of Operations

During the year ended December 31, 2009, our eslibperations were impacted by the following @gewhich should be considered when
reading the discussion of our results of operatammparing the years ended December 31, 2008 a0 &t the six months ended June 30,
2009 and 2010:

= |n 2009, we initiated start-up production actistiesing resources from our research and developongahization. Using these
research and development resources for productitvitees decreased research and development ezpehsing 2009 by
approximately $4.7 millior

= In the second quarter of 2009, we implemented tearpaos-reduction initiatives to conserve cash in lightdcr-economic
conditions. The temporary costeuction initiatives included a salary reductiondll company employees that averaged approxim
50%. The impact of the temporary cost-reductiofidatives on our 2009 operating results was appratéfy $3.4 million, including
reductions in employee salaries and benefits ofagmately $2.0 million, consulting and outside evggring services by
approximately $0.6 million and prototype equipmexpenses by approximately $0.4 million. In
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second quarter of 2009, as a result of thesereduction initiatives, research and developmentegd and administrative and sa
and marketing expenses decreased $2.7 million,i$i0libn and $0.2 million, respectively, comparexithe first quarter of 200!

= During the fourth quarter of 2009, we reevaluatezléxpected useful lives of our equipment and deterd that for certain of our
equipment, the useful life should be shortened.ofdiogly, we accelerated depreciation of this emqept, resulting in an additional
$1.0 million in depreciation expense in the fougtharter of 2009. Of this $1.0 million charge, apgnmately $0.5 million was recorded
as stal-up production costs and approximately $0.5 millicas recorded as research and development exg

Comparison of Six Months Ended June 30, 2009 and 2010

The following table shows the amounts of the ligteths from our statements of operations for thiéogs presented, showing period-over-
period changes (in thousands, except for percesjage

Six months ended

June 30, 2010 vs. 2009
2009 2010 $ Change % Change
Revenue $ — $ 142¢ $ 142¢ *%
Operating expense
Star-up production cost 1,01z 8,98t 7,972 781%
Research and developme 10,44¢ 11,09% 64¢ 6%
General and administrati 2,12C 4,86z 2,742 12¢%
Sales and marketir 62C 2,53¢ 1,91¢ 31C%
Total operating expens: 14,20: 27,48: 13,28 94%
Loss from operation (14,207 (26,059 (11,85¢) 83%
Interest expens (2,057 (1,144 907 (44)%
Interest and other income (expense), (70) 23E 30& (43€)%
Net loss $(16,327) $(26,967) $(10,644) 65%

* Percentage not meaningfi

Revenue

We recognized revenue of $1.4 million in the fgst months of 2010, which represented sales teettnir customers. We did not recognize
revenue during the first six months of 2009.

Start-up Production Costs

During the first six months of 2010, we incurredG#nillion of start-up production costs to suppmut genome sequencing service, compared
to $1.0 million in the first six months of 2009. 83e activities include the acceptance testing stiocner genomic samples, sample sequencing
preparation, sample sequencing, the processingtafgenerated by our prototype sequencing instrtsneontinued validation of the
production process and optimization of instrumesrfgrmance. The increase in stap-production costs was primarily due to employadarge:
and benefits and stock-based compensation expeh$&s7 million and $0.1 million, respectively, depiation expense of $1.5 million,
facilities and maintenance costs of $1.3 millioatadcommunication charges of $0.8 million, reagentgerials and supplies expenses of $0.8
million and consulting expenses of $0.3 million. iA2009, we continued to incur considerable startosts in excess of revenue during the
first six months of 2010 to initiate and bring dwman genome sequencing production process to caeiahscale. We continued to commit
significant personnel and equipment resources t@mduction process in advance of our achievitigchmmercial production volume. As
only a portion of our production expenses variegfhwur revenue, our production costs will be gretitan our revenue until we achieve
significant product volume and revenues.
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We anticipate that our start-up production costsdeicrease as we continue to improve and automatbuman genome sequencing processes
and increase the throughput of our sequencing tdogy. Conversely, we anticipate that our costproliding sequencing services will
increase if we sequence additional genomes antkwanue grows as we anticipate.

Research and Developme

Research and development expenses were $11.1mmlliong the six months ended June 30, 2010, cardpar$10.4 million during the six
months ended June 30, 2009, representing an ircog&.6 million, or 6%. The increase in reseact development expenses was
principally due to an increase in salaries and fisnexpense and stock-based compensation expéfdedomillion and $0.2 million,
respectively, and an increase in facilities andntegiance costs of $0.6 million associated withetkigansion of our facilities in 2009. The
increase in salaries and benefits expense was fiiyirdae to the temporary cost-reduction initiagvienplemented during the second quarter of
2009, which caused a lower overall salaries anefitsrexpense for the six months ended June 3(®,206set by a charge associated with an
equity grant to one of our founders. The overaltéase in research and development expenses vgas loff a reduction in depreciation expe

of $1.1 million, a reduction in communication expes of $0.3 million and a decrease in consultingease and outside engineering services of
$0.1 million.

We expect to continue to invest in research anéldement activities as we seek to enhance our seqgeprocesses, components and sys
to improve the yield and throughputs and reducetst of our sequencing service. We believe th#témear future, our research and
development expenses will increase.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses were $4.9omiftir the six months ended June 30, 2010 compar$d.1 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2009, representing an increase bh@lion, or 129%. The increase in general andhiaistrative expenses was due to
increases in employee salaries and benefits anli-bised compensation expense of $2.0 million andd@lidn, respectively. The increase
salaries and benefits expense was primarily dileetdemporary cost-reduction initiatives implemendering the second quarter of 2009,
which caused a lower overall salaries and benefitense for the six months ended June 30, 2008alpaoffset by charges associated with
equity grants to two of our founders. In additioapsulting expense increased by $0.4 million, amndide services expenses for legal and
accounting support increased by $0.3 million. Therall increase in general and administrative egpemwas offset by a decrease in facilities
and maintenance costs of $0.3 million.

We expect that general and administrative expengemcrease in 2010 and beyond as we increasédlaelcount of our finance and
administrative staff as we operate as a public @mpWe anticipate that we will incur increasedenges related to audit, legal, regulatory
tax-related services associated with maintainingp@nce with exchange listing and Securities ardhange Commission requirements,
directors’ and officers’ insurance and investoatiein programs.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses were $2.5 milliomdute six months ended June 30, 2010 compare@.6odillion during the six months
ended June 30, 2009, representing an increase®h@llion, or 310%. The increase in sales and etk expenses is due primarily to an
increase in employee salaries and benefits of Blllibn associated with the growth of our sales amatketing organization, an increase in
marketing research and public relations expens&6.8f million and an increase in facilities and mb@nance costs of $0.2 million as a result of
an increase in headcount.

We expect that sales and marketing expenses wikase significantly in 2010 as we increase oudbt@ant for sales, marketing and service
personnel to support our expected growth in revemakexpansion of our customer base.
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Interest Expens

During the first six months of 2010, we incurretkirest expense of $1.1 million compared to $2.lionilduring the first six months of 2009.
The decrease in interest expense was a resulbofea amortization of the debt discount relatethi® initial value of our Series D preferred
stock warrants versus our common stock warrants.Séries D preferred stock warrants were issuékifirst quarter of 2009 while the
common stock warrants were issued during the segoader of 2010, resulting in a shorter perio@miortization in 2010.

Interest and Other Income (Expense),
The increase in interest and other income (expensg)of $0.3 million between the first six montif2010 and the first six months of 2009
was due primarily to the change in the valuatioowf convertible preferred stock warrants.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009

The following table shows the amounts of the listeths from our statements of operations for théople presented, showing period-over-
period changes (in thousands, except percentages).

Years ended December 31, 2008 vs. 2007 2009 vs. 2008
2007 2008 2009 $ Change % Change $ Change % Change
Revenue $ — 3 — $ 628 3 — —% $ 62¢ *%
Operating expense
Star-up production cost — — 5,03: — —% 5,03: *0%
Research and developme 10,30¢ 23,63 22,424 13,32¢ 12%% (1,209 (5)%
General and administrati 1,89¢ 3,17¢ 4,95 1,28: 68% 1,774 56%
Sales and marketir — 1,04¢ 1,79¢ 1,04 *% 752 72%
Total operating expens 12,20! 27,851 34,20¢ 15,65¢ 12&% 6,351 23%
Loss from operation (12,20)) (27,85) (33,589 (15,65¢) 12&% (5,72¢) 21%
Interest expens (215) (974) (3,465 (759 353% (2,497 256%
Interest and other income (expense), 163 437 1,101 274 16&% 664 152%
Net loss $(12,259)  $(28,399  $(35,949 $(16,14) 132%  $ (7,555 27%

* Percentage not meaningfi

Revenut
We recognized our first revenue of $0.6 milliorttie fourth quarter of 2009, which represented dalsgven customers.

Start-up Production Costs

During 2009, we incurred $5.0 million of start-upguction costs to support our genome sequencimicse These activities include the
acceptance testing of customer genomic samplegleamaquencing preparation, sample sequencingrduessing of data generated by our
prototype sequencing instruments, continued vatidaif the production process and optimizationnstiument performance. These costs
primarily consisted of employee salaries and bé&nafid stock-based compensation expense of $llidmahd $0.1 million, respectively,
depreciation expense of $1.5 million, facilitieslanaintenance costs of $0.6 million, reagents, ri@seand supplies expense of $0.3 million,
data communication charges of $0.2 million, equiptexpense of $0.2 million and consulting expemgek0.2 million. We incurred
considerable start-up production costs in excessw#nue during 2009 to initiate and bring our harganome sequencing production process
to commercial scale. We committed significant pared and equipment resources to our productionga®® advance of our achieving full
commercial production volume. Only a portion of puoduction expenses varies with our service regeAgcordingly, unless we approach
significant production volume and revenue, our picthn costs will be greater than our revenue.
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Research and Developme

Research and development expenses decreased $iba,rar 5%, from 2008 to 2009 as we used resaifgaEm our research organization to
initiate commercial operations and implemented teragy cost-reduction initiatives in the second ¢graof 2009. This decrease reflects a
reduction in equipment, reagents, materials anglmgand prototype equipment expense of $1.5anillThe reduction in equipment, reage
materials and supplies expenses primarily refldets usage in start-up production activities. Té@uction in prototype equipment expense
reflects our transition to developing productiomipment as well as cost-reduction measures inghersl quarter of 2009. In addition, the
decrease in research and development expenseseflegduction in licensing arrangements expen$d @ million, of which, $1.0 million
represents a one-time payment to Callida Genorricsjn 2008 pursuant to our intellectual propditgnse arrangement. The decrease in
research and development expense also reflecthuatien in consulting expense and outside engingeservices of $0.9 million and the
disposal of obsolete equipment in 2008 of $0.5iaml These decreases in research and developmeensxwere offset by increased
equipment depreciation expense of $0.9 milliontegldo investments in computing and other equipraedtsoftware and acceleration of
depreciation expense for certain equipment, ine@asnployee salaries and benefits of $0.6 millaated to increased headcount. The
decrease in research and development expense silaar foffset by increased stock-based compensatipanse of $0.7 million, increased
facilities and maintenance costs of $0.6 milliosaxsated with the expansion of our facilities ir02@nd increased data communication cos
$0.5 million related to the expansion of our offgilata center.

Research and development expenses increased $ill®8,mr 129%, from 2007 to 2008 reflecting inased salaries and benefits of $4.7
million relating to increased headcount, increasmgloyee recruiting fees of $0.6 million and inaed stock-based compensation expense of
$0.2 million. In addition, the increase in reseaacll development expenses reflects increased cqtisumof reagents, materials and supplies
and prototype equipment of $2.1 million, increadegreciation expense of $2.0 million primarily tethto investments in computing and
storage equipment, increased facilities and maamtea costs of $1.2 million related to occupyingragér facility beginning in September 2007,
increased license fees of $1.0 million relatedupintellectual property license arrangement witlli@a Genomics, increased consulting
expense and outside engineering services of $0libménd the disposal of obsolete equipment ob$fillion.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increasedn§illi8n, or 56%, from 2008 to 2009 primarily reftény increased facilities and maintena
costs of $1.1 million. During 2009, significant gons of our facility were renovated to accommodaie genome sequencing center. During
the period of renovation, the space being renovasiunoccupied, and associated costs were recasdgeineral and administrative expense.
In addition, general and administrative expensBaateincreased employee salaries and benefitsauk-based compensation expense of $0.1
million and $0.2 million, respectively, legal expas of $0.2 million, primarily related to intellaet property matters and patent prosecution,
increased consulting expenses of $0.1 million eelab financial and human resources consultantsremeased payroll and benefits servicing
fees of $0.1 million.

General and administrative expenses increasednilli@n, or 68%, from 2007 to 2008 reflecting inased employee salaries and benefits and
stockbased compensation expense of $0.5 million anddlibn, respectively, related to increased heanitdo support our growing resea
and development organization, legal expenses df ®@lion primarily related to intellectual propgnnatters and patent prosecution, increased
facilities and maintenance expenses of $0.1 milliocreased financial and human resources conssiléaspenses of $0.1 million and increased
payroll and benefits servicing fees of $0.1 million

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses increased $0.8 mitlior2%, from 2008 to 2009 reflecting increasegleyee salaries and benefits and stock-
based compensation expense of $0.7 million and®libn, respectively, related to increased heanhtpincreased facilities and maintenance
costs of $0.1 million and increased travel
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expenses $0.1 million. The increase in sales an#latiag expenses was partially offset by decreasaiketing research and public relations
expenses of $0.3 million. Our sales and marketieeses in 2008 reflects our initial investmentiarketing activities and primarily consists
of marketing research and public relations ac#sitiWe did not incur any sales and marketing exseims2007.

Interest Expens

Interest expense increased by $2.5 million, or 2568t 2008 to 2009 primarily due to $1.0 milliohioterest expense on higher loan balal
under our new credit facility and $1.5 million oftérest charges related borrowings under converibtes issued in 2009.

Interest expense increased $0.8 million, or 353&mMf2007 to 2008. During 2007, we had two creditlitees under which we had outstanding
borrowings of $4.0 million. In 2008, we enterecdbiat new credit facility for $13.0 million, a ponti@f which was used to repay in full the then-
outstanding balances on the credit facilities. iHoeease in interest expense in 2008 is primarilgsalt of the larger loan balance and the costs
associated with the prepayment of the two creditifees.

Interest and Other Income (Expense),

The increase in interest and other income (expensg)of $0.7 million from 2008 to 2009 was prithadue to the change in valuation of our
convertible preferred stock warrants in 2009, dffgelower interest income due to lower cash argh@guivalents balances, as well as lower
effective rates of interest earned on our cashvadgnts balance.

The increase in interest and other income (expensg)of $0.3 million from 2007 to 2008 was prithadue to the change in the valuation of
our convertible preferred stock warrants.
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Selected Quarterly Results of Operations

The following table presents our unaudited quartebults of operations for the eight fiscal quartended June 30, 2010. This unaudited
quarterly information has been prepared on the dzamis as our audited financial statements anddesl all adjustments, consisting of only
normal recurring adjustments, necessary for threstatement of the information for the quarterssprged. You should read this table in
conjunction with our financial statements and tlated notes thereto included in this prospecths.r&sults of operations for any quarter are
not necessarily indicative of the results of operet for any future period.

Fiscal 2008, quarter ended Fiscal 2009, quarter ended Fiscal 2010, quarter ended

Sept. 30 Dec. 31 Mar. 31 Jun. 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31 Mar. 31 Jun. 30

(in thousands)

Statements of Operations Data
Revenue $ —  $ - $ — $ — $ — $ 62t % 33 $ 1,08¢
Operating expense

Star-up production cost® — — 32¢ 687 1,25¢ 2,76 4,07 4,90¢
Research and developm¢® 5,44( 8,44¢ 6,74¢ 3,70: 5,63¢ 6,331 6,16¢ 4,92¢
General and administrativ® 704 1,031 1,29¢ 827 1,352 1,481 3,09¢ 1,76:
Sales and marketir® 511 30C 427 192 36€ 812 1,22¢ 1,31:
Total operating expens® 6,65¢ 9,78 8,79 5,40t 8,614 11,39: 14,57! 12,910
Loss from operation (6,655 (9,789 (8,797) (5,405 (8,619 (10,769 (14,235 (11,829
Interest expens (325) (392) (679 (1,372 (1,079 (341 (311) (833)
Interest and other income (expense), 31 62 (22) (48) 43¢ 732 21C 25
Net loss $ (6,949 $ (10,119 $(9,499 $(6,825) $(9,24¢ (10,379 $ (14,33 $ (12,63)
(1) Includes stoc-based compensation expense as follc
Fiscal 2008, quarter ended Fiscal 2009, quarter ended Fiscal 2010, quarter ended
Sept. 30 Dec. 31 Mar. 31 Jun. 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31 Mar. 31 Jun. 30
(in thousands)
Star-up production cost $ — $ — $ 4 $ 11 $ 12 $ 54 $ 61 $ 44
Research and developmt 54 101 11€ 10¢ 10C 667 25C 165
General and administrati\ 15 53 39 39 42 14z 20C 101
Sales and marketir — — 14 11 12 38 29 39
Total stocl-basec
compensation expen $ 69 $ 154 $ 17% $ 17C $ 16€ $ 901 $ 54C $ 34¢

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception, we have generated operatisgein every quarter, resulting in a deficit acalated during the development stage of
$108.1 million as of June 30, 2010. We have findrmer operations to date primarily through privplcements of preferred stock and
convertible debt and borrowings under our crediilitees. Through June 30, 2010, we have receivedonoceeds of $95.4 million from the
issuance of preferred stock and convertible debtofAJune 30, 2010, we had negative working capft&(20.9) million, consisting of $12.4
million in current assets and $33.2 million in @nt liabilities. As of December 31, 2009, workirapital was $3.0 million, consisting of $15.0
million in current assets and $12.1 million in @nt liabilities. Our cash is invested primarilymmoney market funds. Cash in excess of
immediate operating requirements is invested im@@nce with our investment policy, primarily withe goals of capital preservation and
liquidity maintenance.
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Summary Statement of Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows far years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 200® @ik months ended June 30, 2009
and 2010.

Six months ended

Years ended December 31, June 30,
2007 2008 2009 2009 2010
(unaudited)
(in thousands)
Net cash used in operating activit $(9,98)  $(24,3079)  $(26,66:)  $(11,37H  $(14,17))
Net cash used in investing activiti (3,729 (7,419 (9,659 (1,607) (15,700
Net cash provided by financing activiti 16,34 33,64¢ 37,89¢ 10,13¢ 30,07¢
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis $ 2,62¢ $ 1,92¢ $ 1,57¢ $(2,846) $ 207

Cash Flowsfor the Six Months Ended June 30, 2009 and 2010
Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities was $14.8anibluring the six months ended June 30, 2010camdisted of a net loss of $27.0 millic
offset by noncash items of $6.3 million and a netéase in operating assets and liabilities of #@lkon. Noncash items for the six months
ended June 30, 2010 consisted primarily of deptieciand amortization expense of $3.0 million, cemgation expense for common stock
issued to our founders of $1.8 million, stdz&sed compensation expense of $0.9 million andasininterest expense related to our convel
notes and notes payable of $0.6 million. The sigaift items in the changes in operating assetdiaidties include a decrease in prepaid
expenses of $4.6 million and increases in defamednue, inventory, accounts payable and accraédities of $2.2 million, $1.9 million, $1.
million and $0.5 million, respectively. The decreas prepaid expenses was due to the use of fefiyndable short-term deposits to order
components used in the construction of sequendeosevspecifications were validated during the sixtins ended June 30, 2010. The incr

in deferred revenue was due to advance billinghgements during the first six months of 2010. Theease in inventory was due to inventory
purchases and work-in process in the first six mewof 2010 to support customer orders. The increagecounts payable was a result of
inventory purchases to support an increase in mttatu The change in accrued liabilities was prihgatue to accrued incentive compensation
as a result of sales in 2010.

Net cash used in operating activities was $11.4#anitluring the six months ended June 30, 2009camdisted of a net loss of $16.3 millic
offset by noncash items of $3.9 million and a netéase in operating assets and liabilities of $iillon. Noncash items for the six months
ended June 30, 2009 consisted primarily of deptieciand amortization expense of $2.0 million, resitinterest expense related to our
convertible notes and notes payable of $1.3 miliind stock-based compensation expense of $0.2millihe significant changes in operating
assets and liabilities include increases in deflereat of $1.0 million and accounts payable of $@illion, offset by increases in accounts
receivable and other assets of $0.2 million each.

Investing Activitie:

Net cash used in investing activities was $15.Tioniland $1.6 million for the six months ended J80e2010 and 2009, respectively. 1
amounts related entirely to purchases of propertiyequipment. The purchases of property and equiptheing the first six months of 2010
were primarily for sequencing equipment used irdpation, while the purchases of property and eqeipnauring the first six months of 2009
were for equipment used in our research and deredopactivities and leasehold improvements reltdeulr facilities.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities during #ix months ended June 30, 2010 of $30.1 millmmsisted primarily of net proceeds fr
the issuance and sale of promissory notes in géffidancing and net proceeds from the issuancesaledof Series D convertible preferred
stock of $22.1 million and $10.0 million,
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respectively, offset by repayment of equipment Ibarrowings of $2.2 million. Net cash provided liyaincing activities during the six months
ended June 30, 2009 of $10.1 million consisted ariiy of proceeds from the issuance and sale ahmsory notes of $12.1 million, offset by
repayment of notes payable of $2.0 million.

Cash Flowsfor the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009
Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities was $26.¥Wanifor the year ended December 31, 2009 and stetsbf a net loss of $35.9 million, off:
by noncash items of $8.0 million and a net incréasgperating assets and liabilities of $1.3 millilNoncash items for the year ended
December 31, 2009 consisted primarily of depremmsind amortization expense of $5.2 million, nohdaterest expense related to our
convertible notes and notes payable of $2.1 miliind stock-based compensation expense of $1.4mibiffset by the change in fair value of
our convertible preferred stock warrant liability®i.1 million. The significant items in the chasga operating assets and liabilities include
increases in deferred rent, deferred revenue atmbats payable of $5.0 million, $1.3 million and Binillion, respectively, offset by increases
in prepaid expenses and accounts receivable offidlian and $1.3 million, respectively. The sigodnt change in deferred rent is due to the
difference between rent amounts paid and amoumsresed during 2009 on our facility, while the sfigaint increase in prepaid expenses is
due to making fully refundable short-term depokitscomponents used in the construction of sequsngbose specifications were
undetermined. The increase in accounts payablagl@f09 is due to increased purchases associatiedheistart-up of our production
facilities during the fourth quarter of 2009. Timerieases in accounts receivable and deferred reweere due to revenue recognized in the
fourth quarter of 2009 and advance billing arrangets with customers.

Net cash used in operating activities was $24.8anifor the year ended December 31, 2008 and stetsbf a net loss of $28.4 million, off:
by noncash items of $3.8 million and net increaseperating assets and liabilities of $0.3 millibdoncash items for the year ended
December 31, 2008 consisted mainly of depreciaimhamortization expense of $2.8 million, a losshendisposal of property and equipment
of $0.5 million and stock-based compensation expefi$0.3 million. Changes in operating assetslafiities consisted of an increase in
accrued liabilities of $0.7 million, offset by ireases in prepaid expenses of $0.2 million and aiveent assets of $0.2 million.

Net cash used in operating activities was $10.0anifor the year ended December 31, 2007 and stetsbf a net loss of $12.3 million, off:

by noncash charges of $1.1 million and a net ire@éa operating assets and liabilities of $1.1iomll Noncash items for the year ended
December 31, 2007 consist of depreciation and anatiin expense of $0.8 million, a change in thievalue of our convertible preferred st
warrant liability of $0.2 million and stock-basednspensation expense of $0.1 million. The net inseéa the changes in operating assets and
liabilities was primarily due to increases in a@uiabilities and accounts payable of $0.8 millaaxd $0.6 million, respectively, as a result of
our increased research and development activitigagithe year ended December 31, 2007, offsehtreases in prepaid expenses and other
assets of $0.2 million and $0.1 million, respedsive

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities were $9.7iom) $7.4 million and $3.7 million for the yearsded December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2!
respectively, relating entirely to purchases ofgemty and equipment. Purchases of property ancpawgrit during 2009 consisted primarily
leasehold improvements made to our facility in Mtaim View, California and equipment to support sit@rt-up of our production facilities.
Purchases of property and equipment during 200880@ were primarily for equipment to support eeseaarch and development activities.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities during trear ended December 31, 2009 of $37.9 milliorsisbed primarily of net proceeds from
issuance of Series D preferred stock in August 26327.2 million and net
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proceeds from the issuance of convertible promysaotes of $14.7 million, offset by repayment obigonent loan borrowings of $4.0 million.

Net cash provided by financing activities during trear ended December 31, 2008 of $33.6 milliorsisbed primarily of net proceeds from
issuance of Series C preferred stock in Februadg 20 $25.4 million and proceeds from equipmenhlbarrowings of $13.2 million, offset by
repayment of equipment loan borrowings of $5.0iomill

Net cash provided by financing activities during trear ended December 31, 2007 of $16.3 milliorsisbed primarily of net proceeds from
issuance of Series B preferred stock in March 2§f0#12.9 million, proceeds from equipment loan baings of $2.8 million and proceeds
from the issuance of convertible promissory nofe®100 million, offset by repayment of equipmentioavings of $0.3 million.

Operating and Capital Expenditure Requirements

To date, we have not achieved profitability on arterly or annual basis. We expect our cash expenedito increase significantly in the near
term, including significant expenditures for thgparsion of our Mountain View sequencing facilitydaghe possible development of additional
sequencing centers, research and development,ssalasarketing and general and administrative esggerSpecifically, we intend to expand
our current sequencing and supporting computinga@apin our Mountain View and Santa Clara leasgddlities in 2011 at an estimated caf
expenditure of $20.0 million. As a public compamg will also incur significant legal, accountingdasther expenses that we did not incur as a
private company. We anticipate that we will conérta incur net losses for the foreseeable futur@easontinue to expand our business and
build our infrastructure.

We believe that, based on our current level of afj@ns and anticipated growth, net proceeds framdfiering, together with our cash and c
equivalent balances and interest income we eathese balances, will be sufficient to meet ourcpdited cash requirements through at least
the next 12 months. If our available cash balaacgsnet proceeds from this offering are insuffictensatisfy our liquidity requirements, we
may seek to sell additional equity or convertibddtdsecurities or enter into another credit facilithe sale of additional equity or convertible
debt securities may result in dilution to our stoaklers. If we raise additional funds through tmuance of convertible debt securities, these
securities could have rights senior to those ofoaummon stock and could contain covenants thaticestr operations. We may require
additional capital beyond our currently forecastetbunts and additional capital may not be availahleeasonable terms, if at all.

Our forecast of the period of time through which fimancial resources will be adequate to supportaperations and the costs to support our
general and administrative, sales and marketing@seharch and development activities are forwaoltitay statements and involve risks and
uncertainties. Actual results could vary materialhd negatively as a result of a number of faciaduding the factors discussed under the
caption “Risk Factors.” We have based these estisnat assumptions that may prove to be wrong, andowld use our available capital
resources sooner than we currently expect.

Our future capital requirements will depend on méagtors, including, but not limited to, the follavg:
= the financial success of our genome sequencingéss
= our ability to increase the genome sequencing égpacour Mountain View facility;
= whether we are successful in obtaining paymentsa frostomers
= whether we can enter into collaborations and eistall recurring customer ba:
= the progress and scope of our research and devetagrojects
= the filing, prosecution and enforcement of patéaines;
= the rate at which we establish satellite genomeesggjng centers and whether we can find suitabi@@es to establish those cente
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= the effect of any joint ventures or acquisitionstfer businesses or technologies that we may &riteor make in the future; ar
= lawsuits brought against us by third part

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following summarizes the future commitmentsiag from our contractual obligations at Decemikr2D09 (in thousands):
Payment due by period

Less than

o More than

Contractual obligations Total 1year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years
Debt obligations® $ 7,707 $ 4,44C $ 3,261 $ — $ =
Interest expense paymei 1,27¢ 617 65¢ — —
Operating lease obligatiol® 17,88¢ 2,61(C 5,09¢ 5,41t 4,76:
Purchase obligatior® 6,972 6,13: 42¢ 411 —
Total $33,84: $13,80( $ 9,452 $ 5,82¢ $ 4,768

(1) Represents our outstanding debt under our creditifia as of December 31, 20C

(2) Represents interest payments on our outstandingwheter our credit facility as of December 31, 2@0®1 termination payments related to our crediiligcdue on the maturity date
the notes

(3) Consists of contractual obligations under -cancellable office space operating leas

(4) Consists of purchase obligations related to ouradznter and related connectivity and -cancellable orders for sequencing compone

Credit Facility

In July 2008, we entered into loan and securityagrent with various financial institutions to prwifor a term loan of $8.0 million and an
equipment credit line of up to $5.0 million. Ourrkmwings under this credit facility have been seduby substantially all of our assets, other
than our intellectual property. Payments of acclingglest and principal are due on the first dagafth month, and one final payment of the
remaining unpaid balance of principal and accrugerest is due on the maturity of each of the ¢mxtensions. Outstanding borrowings,
including the accreted portion of the terminati@yment, under the credit facility were $8.0 milliand $5.9 million as of December 31, 2009
and June 30, 2010, respectively, and no furthemlongs under our credit facility are availabletelrest accrues at an annual rate between
10.50% and 11.04%, as determined at the time odtée-down.

The credit facility includes various covenants. W&re in compliance with all required covenantsun eredit facility as of December 31, 2009
and June 30, 2010.
Indemnification

In the normal course of business, we enter intdraots and agreements that contain a variety oésgmtations and warranties and provide for
general indemnifications. Our exposure under tlaggeements is unknown because it involves claimisntay be made against us in the fut
but have not yet been made. To date, we have bapg claims or been required to defend any aactdated to our indemnification
obligations. However, we may record charges irftligre as a result of these indemnification obligad.

In accordance with our certificate of incorporatamd bylaws, we have indemnification obligation®tw officers and directors for specified
events or occurrences, subject to some limits,enthiy are serving our request in such capacifieste have been no claims to date, and we
have director and officer insurance that may enabl® recover a portion of any amounts paid feureipotential claims.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Since our inception, we have not engaged in anpalfince sheet arrangements, including the useunftsred finance, special purpose entities
or variable interest entities.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Stand&dard, or FASB, issued a hew accounting standetidhanges the accounting for reve
arrangements with multiple deliverables. Specilicahe new accounting standard requires an etdigllocate arrangement consideration a
inception of an arrangement to all of its delivéestbased on their relative selling prices. In iddj the new standard eliminates the use of the
residual method of allocation and requires thetinadeselling-price method in all circumstances inigh an entity recognizes revenue for an
arrangement with multiple deliverables. In OctoP@09, the FASB also issued a hew accounting stdrtiat changes revenue recognition for
tangible products containing software and hardwedgments. Specifically, if certain requirementsaet, revenue arrangements that contain
tangible products with software elements that aseastial to the functionality of the products azeped out of the existing software revenue
recognition accounting guidance and will be accedrior under these new accounting standards. Ratidards will be effective for us in the
first quarter of 2011. Early adoption is permittéde are currently assessing the impact that thptamoof these standards will have on our
financial statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued an amendment &@e@ounting standard which requires new disclosiarefair value measures and provides
clarification for existing disclosure requiremeripecifically, this amendment requires an entitgiszlose separately the amounts of
significant transfers in and out of Level 1 and &k fair value measurements and to describe teores for the transfer. This amendment also
requires an entity to disclose separately inforamatibout purchases, sales, issuances and settieiméiné reconciliation for fair value
measurements using significant unobservable inputsevel 3 inputs. This amendment clarifies erigtdisclosure requirements for the level
of disaggregation used for classes of assets ahilities measured at fair value and requires dgale about the valuation techniques and
inputs used to measure fair value for both recgrand nonrecurring fair value measurements usingl22and Level 3 inputs. This guidanc
effective for interim and annual reporting periddginning after December 15, 2009, except for gettavel 3 activity disclosure requireme
that will be effective for reporting periods afteecember 15, 2010. Accordingly, we adopted thisradmeent on January 1, 2010, except for
additional Level 3 requirements, which will be atigpin 2011. Other than requiring additional discle@s, adoption of this new guidance did
not have a material impact on our financial stateisie

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Mark et Risk

Our exposure to market risk is principally limitedexposure to interest rate risk related to osha@nd cash equivalent balances. Due to the
fixed interest rates of the borrowing under ouddrécility, we do not currently have any expostoehanges in our interest expense as a |
of changes in interest rates. In addition, we ateesmposed to material foreign exchange risk bexaakes to customers located outside of the
United States are denominated in U.S. dollars.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The primary objectives of our investment activitg & preserve principal, provide liquidity and rimaize income without significantly
increasing risk. By policy, we do not enter inteestments for trading or speculative purposes. Safitige securities in which we invest,
however, may be subject to interest rate risk. Tiégns that a change in prevailing interest rageg cause the principal or stated amount o
investment to fluctuate. To minimize this risk, imgest primarily in money market funds. Due to tfaure of these investments, we believe
that we do not currently have any material exposmehanges in the fair value of our investmentfptio as a result of changes in interest
rates.
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Business

Overview

We are a life sciences company that has developg@d@mmercialized an innovative DNA sequencingfptat, and our goal is to become the
preferred solution for complete human genome sezjugrand analysis. Our Complete Genomics Analygifdtm, or CGA Platform,
combines our proprietary human genome sequencitgpédogy with our advanced informatics and dataagament software and our
innovative, end-to-end, outsourced service modplowide our customers with data that is immedjatehdy to be used for genome-based
research. We believe that our solution will provad@demic and biopharmaceutical researchers wittplte human genomic data and anal
at an unprecedented combination of quality, codtsmale without requiring them to invest in in-hesgquencing instruments, high-
performance computing resources and specializesbpeel. By removing these constraints and broautykng researchers to conduct large-
scale complete human genome studies, we believetinaolution has the potential to revolutionizedital research and expand understan
of the basis, treatment and prevention of compisaakes.

We believe that our complete human genome sequgtedmnology, which is based on our proprietary D&rays and ligation-based read
technology, is superior to existing commercialaigable complete human genome sequencing methadsms of quality, cost and scale. In
the DNA sequencing industry, complete human gensageencing is generally deemed to be coverageledsit 90% of the nucleotides in the
genome. Because we have optimized our technolagfopin and our operations for the unique requirasehhigh-throughput complete
human genome sequencing, we are able to achieueaagdevels of 99.999% at a total cost that isi§icantly less than the total cost of
purchasing and using commercially available DNAusgring instruments. We believe that we will beeablfurther improve our accuracy
levels and reduce the total cost of sequencingaaaty/sis, enabling us to maintain significant cotitipe advantages over the next several
years. Because our technology resides only in emiralized facilities, we can quickly and easilypiement enhancements and provide t
benefits to our entire customer base. Our goa Betthe first company to sequence and analyzeduglity complete human genomes, at si
for a total cost of under $1,000 per genome.

From the earliest days of the field of genomic sgping to the present, companies and organizati@idave achieved sequencing milestones
in quality, cost and scale have immediately annedrand/or published these sequencing results. Weanty and actively monitor all
publications and have compared the parametersrafemuencing process and the sequencing resudtsgetitive commercially available
technologies announced in these various publicstidfe are currently unaware of any scientific pedilions by competitors publicly
announcing superior sequencing results. Basedeoalibve, we believe that our complete human gersemeencing technology provides a
superior combination of quality, cost and scale nvb@mpared to existing commercially available catglgenome sequencing methods, when
taking into consideration the total cost of pur¢hgsoperating and maintaining the instruments sgaey for complete human genome
sequencing.

While our competitors primarily sell DNA sequenciingtruments and reagents that produce raw seqdelate, requiring their customers to
invest significant additional resources to prodéss raw data into a form usable for research, ffiexr our customers an end-to-end, outsourced
solution that delivers research-ready genomic dgahe cost of complete human genome sequencitimes, we believe the basis of
competition in our industry will shift from the dosf sequencing to the value of the entire sequeensolution. We believe that our integrated
advanced informatics and data management servidlemmwerge as a key competitive advantage as thfs@ccurs.

Our genome sequencing center, which began comrepszations in May 2010, combines a high-througlgample preparation facility, a
collection of our proprietary high-throughput seqciag instruments and a large-scale data centerc@iomers ship us their samples via
common carrier services such as Federal Expresbaiteld Parcel Service. We then sequence and angigse samples and provide our
customers with finished, research-ready data, émathem to focus exclusively on their single highgriority, discovery.
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As of March 31, 2010, there had been approxim&élpublished and 200 unpublished complete humaarges sequenced worldwide, as
reported in the April 2010 edition dfature. As of September 30, 2010, we have sequencedd@decomplete human genomes year-to-date,
including more than 300 in the third quarter of @04nd have an order backlog of over 800 genomassc@stomers include some of the
leading global academic and government researdierseand biopharmaceutical companies. By the el2®d®, we expect our facility to have
the capacity to sequence and analyze over 400 edenpliman genomes per month. We expect this cggadiicrease between two- and three-
fold in 2011 as we deploy additional sequencersiacrease the throughput of our sequencing pratessgh software refinements and
component upgrades. In future years, we plan tstooct additional genome centers in the UnitedeStahd other strategic markets to
accommodate an expected growing global demanddbrduality, low-cost complete human genome segingnen a large scale.

Market Overview
Background

Every organism has a genome that contains thedtlbf biological instructions required to builddamaintain a living example of that
organism. The information contained in a genoms&adsed, or encoded, in deoxyribonucleic acid, orADA nucleic acid that is found in each
cell of the organism. DNA is divided into discreteits called genes, which carry specific informatieecessary to perform a particular
biological function, such as instructions for makproteins. The chemical building blocks that makeeach gene are the molecules adenine,
cytosine, guanine and thymine, labeled as A, Chn&Ta respectively, which are known as nucleotideds. Human DNA has approximately
three billion nucleotide bases, and their preciskeiois commonly known as the DNA or genetic segeen

Studying how genes and proteins differ betweeniespend among individuals within a species, or enariations, helps scientists to
determine their functions and roles in health aisdake. These genetic variations can have impartadical consequences. Genetic variations
may, for example, cause an individual to have dipp®sition to certain diseases or to respond riffity to certain drug treatments.
Accordingly, improving our understanding of the gare and its functions has driven and, we expeditcamtinue to drive advancements in
medical research and diagnostics.

Genetic Analysis Market

Genetic analysis products comprise instrumentscandumables, as well as associated hardware, sefawma services directly involved in the
study of DNA and RNA. Scientia Advisors, a thirddgaresearch firm, estimated genomic revenue ird2de approximately $5.8 billion and
projects the market to grow to approximately $9lilon by 2014. Scientia Advisors further estimathat human genomics research will grow
from $4.6 billion in 2009 to $7.3 billion in 201%Fhe medical research market consists of labora@dmerally associated with universities,
medical research centers and government instisitesm well as biotechnology and pharmaceutical emieg. In the longer term, we believe
genetic analysis tools will likely play a criticale in molecular diagnostics. By detecting smalljvidual genetic differences, we believe
molecular diagnostic tests could be used to idgptiédisposition to or the presence of a diseasselect appropriate medication and dosage
and to monitor disease progression and resportseatonent.

Genetic Analysis Technologies

Since the development of the first genetic engingelechniques in the 1970s, there has been anmmgweolution toward more accurate, faster
and less expensive methods to conduct geneticsinalthe primary analysis methods traditionallyculsg genetic researchers fall into three
categories:

= DNA Sequencing. DNA sequencing is the process of determining trecearder, or sequence, of the individual nuclesstich a DNA
strand so that this information can be correlatethé genetic activity influenced by that segmdrdNA. Complete human genome
sequencing is currently the most comprehensive fufrgenetic analysis, in which every base is corap&o a reference genome to
determine possible mutations or variatic
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= Genotyping. Genotyping is the process of examining certain kmavutations or variations in the DNA sequence ofageto determine
whether the particular variant can be associatéld avspecific disease susceptibility or drug respc

= Gene Expression Analysis. Gene expression analysis is the process of exagithénmolecules that are produced when a gene is
activated, or expressed, to determine whetherticpkar gene is expressed in a specific biologissiue.

The first major breakthrough in genetic technolegs the development of the automated DNA sequendéd86. Subsequent versions of
commercial first-generation DNA sequencers improvedpeed and throughput, eventually becoming gowvenough to enable the first
mapping of the human genome through the Human Gernaject, which was completed in 2003 at an olveosit of over $3 billion. The
prohibitive cost of first generation sequencinghterogies forced scientists to use the other pgnganetic analysis technologies, genotyping
and gene expression analysis. While these targeteetic analysis technologies address the codslimms of DNA sequencing, they generally
provide only limited information to the user.

More recently, innovations in DNA sequencing hase to the development of high-throughput sequentdnignologies, commonly referred to
as next-generation or second-generation sequenghigh produce thousands to millions of sequentesiee. These high-throughput
sequencing technologies have led to a signifioagitiction in the time and cost required for DNA sstping. Next-generation sequencing
technologies are supplanting not only the oldeusaging methods but also less comprehensive methodssessing gene expression, protein
binding and other biological information. Scienfidvisors estimated that the next-generation sequgremmpanies had sales approaching
$600 million for 2009, with an installed base ie theighborhood of 1,300 to 1,500 instruments. Sieiekdvisors expects these suppliers to
generate more than $1.5 billion in sales in 2014.

The I mportance of Complete Human Genome Sequencing and the Limitations of General Purpose Sequencing Technologies

One of the most difficult challenges facing the gmresearch and analysis industry is improvingunderstanding of how genes contribute to
diseases that have a complex pattern of inheritdfrmemany diseases, multiple genes each maketke swimtribution to a person’s
predisposition or susceptibility to a disease spomse to a drug treatment protocol. Accordingly believe that unraveling this complex
network will be critical to understanding human ltteand disease. We believe that sequencing compleanan genomes is the most
comprehensive and accurate method by which to eeleese objectives and improve our understandihgiman disease. However, the cost
and complexity associated with complete human genseguencing have been prohibitively high for retesrs and have slowed our progress
in understanding the genetic underpinnings of disea

Although second-generation sequencing technoldgige led to dramatic reductions in cost and impmosmsts in quality and throughput for
complete human genome sequencing, they were desagggeneral-purpose instruments for sequencinBMi#e or RNA of plants, animals,
bacteria and viruses. In particular, these secemeéigtion sequencing technologies were not desifgmesstquencing large numbers of comp
human genomes. We believe the key limitations ofgisecond-generation technologies for sequenairggelnumbers of complete human
genomes include the following:

= High Cost. Commercially available DNA sequencing instrumerasnot sequence complete human genomes at a prianlough tc
make larg-scale complete human genome sequencing projecisiaffle to researche

= |nsufficient Scale and Speed. Commercially available DNA sequencing instrumemggsdally require weeks to sequence a complete
human genome, which translates into months or yteassquence all of the genomes for large proj&ttsle the timeline can be
accelerated by purchasing and operating multipl&BBquencing instruments in parallel, the capitet és prohibitive for all but the
largest research centers. Many researchers ardéeuoagenerate the complete human genome datantey from inRouse instrumen
in an acceptable period of tinr
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= Difficulty of Data Management. Sequencing a large number of complete human gengaeresates a substantial amount of data that
must be managed, stored and analyzed. Many usewmrofercially available DNA sequencing instruméatk the costly computing
resources, storage capacity, network bandwidthspedialized personnel to process and analyze thassive data sel

Due to these limitations, many researchers have bsi@g an alternative approach in which a smatigo of the genome, referred to as the
exome, is targeted, enriched and sequenced, whdglires less than 5% of the sequencing comparseleencing of a complete genome.
However, important areas of the genome lie outsfdee exome, such as the promoter regions thataayene expression and other consel
regions of the genome that are believed to perfegmlatory functions. Moreover, current exome d@acechnologies are inefficient,
typically enabling sequencing of less than 80%heféxome, compared to complete human genome séngeachnologies that can capture
over 90% of the exome. Within the next several yeae believe that the cost of sequencing completean genomes will be low enough and
the process simple enough that the added costedfteg) exomes will make complete human genomesesezing less expensive overall and
more widely used.

Complete Genomics’ Solution

We have developed a novel approach to complete hg@maome sequencing. We combine our proprietaryanugenome sequencing
technology, which achieves accuracy levels of 9989with our advanced informatics and data managésuadtware and our innovative, end-
to-end service model, to deliver research-readpgégn data at a total cost that is significantlyslésan the total cost of purchasing and using
commercially available DNA sequencing instrumelife believe this novel outsourced solution overcotheskey limitations of other
sequencing technologies and addresses the unnus okthe complete human genome research market.

Proprietary Sequencing Technology

There are two primary components of our proprietamnan genome sequencing technology: DNA nanairalDNB, arrays and combinatorial
probeanchor ligation, or cPAL, reads. Our patterned Dadiays, due to their small size and biochemicatattaristics, enable us to pack D
very efficiently on a silicon chip. We have deveddp proprietary process that causes the DNA teradio desired spots on the chip, while
conversely preventing the DNA from adhering to dnea between these spots. This enables us taradfiidual particles of DNA to over 90%
of these spots, leading to increased efficienayainoarray assembly. In addition, we have develapaidhly accurate cPAL read technology,
which enables us to read the DNA fragments effityemsing small concentrations of low-cost reagenitde retaining extremely high single-
read accuracy.

We believe this unique combination of our propmgtaNB and cPAL technologies is superior in botfalify and cost to other commercially
available approaches and provides us with sigmificampetitive advantages. As reported in the J3n2@10 edition ofScience we sequence
a complete human genome at a consumables cospahdamately $1,800 and with a consensus errorahpproximately 1 error in 100,000
nucleotides. Our read accuracy was further val@tlateone of our customers, the Institute for Syst&iology, or ISB, as published 8cience
Expressin March 2010. To our knowledge, based on our eaéscientific publications in the genome sequegdield announcing
sequencing results, there are no commercially abvigiltechnologies that have achieved results dftgw@and cost comparable to our sequent
results. We have identified and are developingtauitil performance enhancements to our core teolies that we believe will enable us to
maintain significant competitive advantages overriext several years. As we implement these teobjiwal enhancements, our goal is to be
the first company to sequence and analyze highityuamplete human genomes, at scale, for a tatstl @f under $1,000 per genome.

Advanced Informatics and Data Management Software

Sequencing complete human genomes generates didisaarounts of data that must be managed, storddaalyzed. While many users of
instrument-based sequencing systems have histgrazaiducted their own in-house data analysis tmiged number of genomes, many of
these users lack the computing, storage and
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network bandwidth necessary to manage the masateesdts generated by larger scale complete huarante studies. In response to this
need by our customers, we have built a genomic glakzessing facility with computing infrastructdce managing both small- and large-scale
genomic sequencing projects.

There are two major components of our complete aaaagement solution: assembly software and asapéiware. Assembly is the process
of using computers to organize all of the overlagpiO-base nucleotide sequences to reconstrucbthplete human genome. Our proprietary
assembly software uses advanced data analysisthigerand statistical modeling techniques to adelyaeconstruct over 90% of the
complete human genome from approximately two billf@-base reads. After assembling the genomic detaise our analysis software to
identify and annotate key differences, or variaimsach genome.

By using our analytical tools and data managemefivare, our customers can significantly reducér tilvestments in computing
infrastructure. Our customers are provided witfalBé access to assembled and annotated sequdnda daultiple formats to ease data
sharing and comparative analyses. In additiondatet storage options provide flexibility and alloustomers to customize their data
management strategy based on their particular éssiand scientific requirements. We have also dpedla suite of open source analytical
tools, called CGATools, designed to enable ouramasts to rapidly analyze the data we generate thain samples. As the reagent cost of
sequencing declines, we believe that the cost amplexity of data analysis and management will gaexrs the primary limiting factor for
conducting complete human genome analysis.

I nnovative, End-to-End, Outsourced Solution

While our competitors primarily sell DNA sequenciimgtruments and reagents that produce raw seqdetata, requiring their customers to
invest significant additional resources to prodéss raw data into a form usable for research, ffer our customers an end-to-end, outsourced
solution that delivers research-ready genomic data.genome sequencing center combines a highghput sample preparation facility, a
collection of our proprietary high-throughput segciag instruments and a large-scale data centerc@iomers ship us their samples via
common carrier services such as Federal Exprestaiteld Parcel Service. We then sequence and anttigse samples and provide our
customers with finished, research-ready genomia, gatabling them to focus exclusively on their Ertgghest priority, discovery.

Our customers are not required to purchase expessigquencing instruments and high-performance congpresources to sequence and
analyze large sets of complete human genomes. @swwurced service model enables our customerdltadfto us the complex processes of
sample preparation, sequencing, computing andstatage and management. We believe our serviceexp&nd the potential addressable
market by enabling a broad base of researcherawalydack sufficient capital and the specializedspanel necessary to build and operate a
sequencing laboratory, or who have historicallyrbeenstrained by the high total cost of sequendmgpnduct large-scale complete human
genome studies.

Customer Benefits
Our end-to-end solution provides the following asheges to our customers:
= High-Quality Data. Our technology delivers what we believe is the Btdy's highest quality complete human genome ¢

= Cost-Savings. Our customers are not required to purchase expessiquencing instruments and high-performance ctingpu
resources or hire the necessary specialized pesstmeequence and analyze large sets of completam genome dat

= Speed at Scale. Our customers can complete their le-scale projects more quickly by using our servitestby using commercial
available sequencing instrumer

= Easeof Use. Our customers can avoid the difficulty and t-consuming process of purchasing and operating thngirsequencin
instruments and can outsource the entire procass, toom sample preparation to delivery of reds-ready data
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= Operational Flexibility. By outsourcing their large-scale complete humarogensequencing projects to us, our customers earufp
the capacity of i-house instruments to run smaller or more targetgdencing projects and applicatio

= Technological Flexibility. As DNA sequencing technology improves, our custenaeoid the risk of their expensive instruments
becoming technologically obsole

= Enables Customersto Focus on Discovery. Outsourcing offloads the operational burdens of agarg larg-scale genome sequenci
projects and enables our customers to focus ths@urces on research, which can reduce the timis¢overy.

Competitive Strengths
We believe that our competitive strengths are Hevis:

= Proprietary Human Genome Sequencing Technology. Our proprietary sequencing technology achievesracguevels of 99.999% i
a total cost that is significantly less than th&ltgost of purchasing and using commercially aldd DNA sequencing instruments.
We believe that our quality improvement and codimion initiatives will allow us to maintain ouuglity and cost advantages over
competing sequencing technologies for the nextratyears

= Fully Integrated Advanced | nformatics and Data Management Software. Our solution incorporates powerful informatics, lggs anc
data management software that enable our custdmaranage and gain useful information from the iwvasgata sets generated in
complete human genome sequencing. Our informatiteare allows us to provide research-ready datanfthe billions of nucleotide
sequences we identify and is optimized to refleetdharacteristics of the genomic data our sequeigemerate. Unlike software
solutions offered by instrument manufacturers adtparty providers, we are able to continuousRnes our informatics and data
management software because of our significantreeqpee in sequencing and analyzing large numbecsmwiplete human genomes
our customers. As the reagent cost of sequencidgds, we believe that the cost and complexitindfiouse data analysis and
management will emerge as the primary limiting daéor researchers conducting complete human geraoralysis

= Highly Scalable and Capital-Efficient Business Model. Consolidating volume across our entire customee leasibles us to run a lar
number of genomes through our sequencing proce#s awoiding the cost and complexity of employintaage field installation and
support organization. By implementing a high degreautomation, we have reduced the possibilithurhan errors that could
adversely affect quality and increase costs. Omwice-based model allows us to reduce cost and improaétgas volume increase

= Unique Insight into Customer Needs. Because of our unique, end-to-end service modeinteeact directly with our customers on
their discovery projects. This interaction enahieto develop and enhance our analysis softwamreett our customers’ specific needs
while expanding our understanding of variationhiea human genom

= Fast and Efficient Deployment of Operational and Technological Enhancements. Because our sequencing operations and data ¢
are centralized, we can rapidly upgrade our tedgyand deliver the benefits to our customersdiitéon, our access to genomic ¢
allows our software engineers to continually refamel improve our software with each genome we gazpu

= Expanded Market Opportunity. We believe our outsourced model will expand theeptial addressable market by providing acade
and biopharmaceutical researchers who lack suffidiedgets or the specialized personnel necessdmyild and operate a sequencing
laboratory with access to high-quality, low-costmgete human genome data. In addition, we beliexewil be able to service
customers who require rapid sequencing of largebaumof complete human genom
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Customers and Applications
Customers

As of September 30, 2010, we have sequenced odecatiplete human genomes year-to-date, including ri@n 300 in the third quarter of
2010, and have an order backlog of over 800 genowleshave more than 30 past and current custoinetgding the following:

= Academic Medical Center University = Flanders Institute for Biotechnology = |nstitute for Systems Biology
of Amsterdam = Genentech, Inc. = Ontario Institute for Cancer

= Brigham & Women'’s Hospital = HudsonAlpha Institute for Research

= Broad Institute of MIT and Harvard Biotechnology = Pfizer Inc.

= Children’s Hospital of Philadelphia = Institute of Cancer Research United =  SAIC-Frederick, Inc., National

= Eli Lilly and Company Kingdom Cancer Institute

= Erasmus Medical Centre in = |nstitute of Molecular Medicine at tl = University of North Carolina
Rotterdam, the Netherlands University of Texas Health Science = University of Texas Southwestern

Center at Housto Medical Center

Selected Customer Examples
SAIC-Frederick, Inc., National Cancer Institute —-ediatric Cancer Study

Our project with SAIC-Frederick, Inc., the primentactor for the National Cancer Institute’s resbaand development facility in Frederick,
Maryland, involves sequencing and analyzing 50 tun@ymal pairs, or 100 complete human genomes, @set-month period, to identify
patterns relating to the genesis of cancerous tanitris study may potentially lead to improved diasjs and treatment of pediatric cancers.
This project forms part of the National Cancerilngt’s Therapeutically Applicable Research to GateEffective Treatments, or TARGET,
Initiative. TARGET seeks to use genomic technolsgcerapidly identify valid therapeutic targetscinildhood cancers so that new, more
effective treatments can be developed. It is ctiydacusing on five childhood cancers: acute lymblastic leukemia, acute myeloid leuken
neuroblastoma, osteosarcoma and Wilms tumor. Ouraaxt with SAIC-Frederick contains an option f@xlS-Frederick to engage us to
sequence 564 additional cancer cases, or 1,128letarfpuman genomes, over an additional 18-montiogher

Institute for Systems Biolo— Miller Syndrome Study

Our project with Dr. Leroy Hood of the ISB involvedquencing the complete genomes of a four-memizgear family, including two healthy
parents and their two children who suffer from tyemetic disorders: Miller Syndrome and primaryeeifi dyskinesia. The data we provided
allowed ISB researchers to pinpoint the causal geesubsequently confirm that gene’s role in MiBgndrome, a disease in which the
genetic basis had evaded detection. The results pudlished irBcience Expreds March 2010 and have led to a follow-on projedtvhe

ISB to sequence an additional 122 genomes.

Genentech, Inc. — Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Study

Our project with Genentech, Inc. (a member of tbet® Group) compared the complete human genomesegsi of a primary non-small cell
lung tumor with nearby non-tumor tissue taken ftbi lung of a long-term smoker. This project wasfitst complete human genome
sequence of a primary non-small cell lung tumor lsradched normal tissue. Comparison of these seggargealed both known (KRAS
G12C) and novel mutations in numerous oncogeneseahid the discovery of numerous somatic mutatidihe data we delivered allowed
Genentech to measure the rate of smoking-inducedtions accumulated over time and resulted in digation in Naturein May 2010.
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University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center ypédrcholesterolemia Study

Our project with Dr. Jonathan Cohen of UniversityTexas Southwestern involved sequencing the camplenome of an 11 month old breast-
fed girl with cholesterol-laden deposits and veightblood cholesterol levels. Doctors ruled ouiagdosis of a disease called sitosterolemia,
based on certain test results. However, sequemnditite girl's genome revealed a mutation in a raté\gene. This finding indicated that the
infant definitely has sitosterolemia, despite thiepcontradictory test results. The major findiofthis study is that complete genome
sequencingdentified the culprit mutations and provided ainigiize diagnosis in a patient who did not have thassical hallmark features of-
disease in question. This finding demonstratesdbatplete genome sequencing can be a valuable didgnose and treat genetic diseases,
even in individual patients. These results werdiphed by theDxford University Press August 2010.

Applications
Potential applications for our complete human gemseqguencing service include:

= Cancer Research. Researchers are sequencing cancer genomes androwrtham to normal genomes, which are referreasttumo-
normal pairs, to identify the mutations in cancengmes. We believe understanding these mutatidhgwide development of new
cancer therapeutics and diagnostics and ultimatedple doctors to select the best course of thdrapgd on the specific mutations
found in a tumor

= Mendelian Disease Research. There are thousands of Mendelian diseases, ors#iseéhat have been found to run in families, ae«
accordingly likely to have a significant genetiargmonent. However, the genetic cause of most ottleseases is currently unknown.
By sequencing the complete genomes of the affdatadies, we believe the genetic causes of theseddian diseases can be
discovered, which could lead to the developmemtasfel diagnostics and therapeuti

= Rare Variant Disease Research. Diseases such as central nervous system disomdediac disease and certain metabolic disordet:
appear broadly in the population are thought tediesed by rare variants. Large-scale studies et individuals may help to
identify the disrupted pathways and lead to theettgyment of novel diagnostics and therapeu

= Clinical Trial Optimization. We believe that selecting or stratifying patiemstlee basis of their genetic profiles could enabée
preferential admission of high responders intoi@adl trial. This stratification could enable ttré@al to reach its conclusion with fewer
patients and lower costs and result in fasteradinirials and drug commercializatic

In addition to these research studies, we expeateiclinical applications to include:

= Companion Diagnostics. We believe that therapeutics that are not firg-tirratments for the general population may beagdeito
first-line treatments or used in combination théagor subsets of the population that share a comgenetic profile. Complete
human genome studies may unlock new market opgtesifior these therapies or combination theraj

= Cancer Pathology. We believe that analyzing complex cancer genonegsirtirolve large and unpredictable structural clesngill be
most reliably and economically implemented usingptete human genome sequencing. According to thieiNd Cancer Institute
SEER Cancer Statistics, there are approximatelynlllbn new cases of cancer diagnosed each yeteitnited State:

= Universal Diagnostics. As medical records technology and public healtlicgaddvance, we believe that large numbers of peol
have their complete human genomes sequenced aed stcheir electronic medical records for usehmir physicians in managing
their health care decisior
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Our Strategy

We intend to become the leading complete humanrgersequencing and analysis company and the prefelagform for human genome
discovery by:

= Continuing to Deliver the Highest Quality Genomic Data and Analysis at a Low Total Cost. By continuing to deliver the highe
quality research-ready data and by enabling ouoousrs to avoid the cost, complexity and risks eisged with purchasing and
operating the instruments and computing resouesired to undertake complete human genome seaqugrmir goal is to become
the preferred solution for our custome

= Maintaining and Strengthening our Technology. We plan to continue to conduct research and prodiesglopment activities 1
further improve quality, reduce costs, increaseughput and reduce our turnaround time. We pldartber develop the biochemist
informatics, instrumentation and software that wédve together make up the industry’s most robahkttion. We will also seek to
continually improve our operational processes aralyasis software

= Capitalizing on our Scalable Model. Due to the highly scalable nature of our servicelehowe believe we are well positioned to se
customers looking to sequence a small number afrges as well as customers who are looking to ragiejuence a very large
number of genome

= Establishing Ourselves as the Leader in Outsourced Complete Human Genome Sequencing. We intend to continue to focus
exclusively on complete human genome sequencingbé&lieve that this focus will put us in a strongipion to become the preferred
platform for complete human genome sequenc

= Expanding Globally to I ncrease Capacity and Reach New Markets. We expect to enter into partnership agreements ddathestic and
international organizations to build additional gere sequencing centers around the world. Thesengesequencing centers will
increase our sequencing capacity, provide us wighroved access to global markets and expand oanuevopportunities

= Exploring Strategic Partnerships and Collaborations. We expect to explore opportunities for strategidmxships and collaboratio
with commercial and research organizations to Eyerour genome sequencing technology with thegitnerof these organizations to
further develop and expand the applications forsmguencing technolog

= Expanding Applications for the Use of our Technology. While our current focus is on providing completertan genome solutions

primarily to academic and biopharmaceutical reseas; we believe that as we sequence and delivex acoonplete human genomes
our customers, our growing understanding of theetiemasis of human disease may lead to futurdcgiins in areas such as cancer
pathology.

Our Human Genome Sequencing Platform Technology

Our proprietary human genome sequencing platfomsists of three major technologies: our proprietargnan genome sequencing

technology, our high-throughput process automatehnology and our complete data management solutio

Proprietary Sequencing Technology

There are two primary components of our proprietamnan genome sequencing technology: DNB arraysBAd. reads.

DNB Arrays

We have developed a novel approach to preparimggneated DNA for reading on our sequencing instruddsing a biochemical process for
copying DNA, we reproduce each DNA fragment in anrmex that connects all of the copies togetherhiead-to-tail configuration, forming a
long single molecule of connected nucleotides. \Aleetdeveloped proprietary techniques for causich &g single molecule to consolidate,
or ball up, into a
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small particle of DNA that we call a DNB. The DNBee approximately 20800 nanometers in average diameter. Each DNB cwntaindred
of copies of the 70 bases of DNA we are seekingad in each fragment.

The small size and biochemical characteristicsuofl@NBs enable us to pack them together very tyotitl a silicon chip. We use established
photolithography processes developed in the serdigtinr industry to create a silicon chip that hasid pattern of small spots. The small
spots are approximately 300 nanometers in diamatekrthe center of each spot is separated by aippaitely 700 nanometers from
neighboring spots. Each silicon chip has approxége2.8 billion spots in an area 25 millimeters ighd 75 millimeters long. We have
developed a proprietary process that cause the N#here to these spots, which we refer to askisspots,’while conversely preventing t
DNA from adhering to the area between the sticlotsp/NVhen a solution of DNBs is spread across hiifg, the DNBs adhere to the sticky
spots, with one DNB per spot. We have also develgpeprietary techniques to fill over 90% of thielsy spots with exactly one DNB. We
refer to the silicon chip filled with DNA as a DNAanoball array. Each finished DNA nanoball arragtams up to 180 billion bases of
genomic DNA prepared for imaging.

cPAL Read

To read the sequence of nucleotides in each DNByawve developed a highly accurate proprietary égamsed DNA reading technology called
cPAL. Our cPAL technology uses the naturally odogrtigase enzyme, which accurately distinguishetsvben the A, C, T and G nucleotides,
to attach fluorescent molecules that light up wittlifferent color for each of the four nucleotidBg.imaging the color lights of a DNB array
and decoding the color images, we can determinegfaence of nucleotides in each DNB. A key charistic of our cPAL technology is its
high accuracy of reading very short five-base seqeg of DNA. We have developed a proprietary tepimior preparing the DNA fragments
so that we can read seven five-base segments fiomad the two ends of the DNA fragment for a tataf0 bases from each fragment. We
have also developed proprietary software that gdiyeneconstructs over 90% of the complete humarogees from these 70 base reads from
each fragment.

Advantages of our DNB arrays and our cPAL technploger other commercially available DNA sequendiechnologies include:

= High Accuracy. Our cPAL technology has very high sin-read accuracy due to the intrinsic nature (highueary) of the ligas
enzyme. By reading each nucleotide multiple timesachieve a consensus error rate equal to appatedynl error in 100,000
nucleotides

= No Accumulation of Errors. Many other DNA sequencing methods employ sequept@desses that cause errors to accumulate as
each successive nucleotide is read, which resulishigher potential error rate for each succegsimteotide. Our cPAL technology
reads each nucleotide independently, and as & thst is no accumulation of errors, which enabke#o read successive bases
without increasing our error ral

= Low Reagent Cost. Our cPAL technology uses low concentrations of mvgt commodity reagents. Our DNB arrays achieverg v
high density of DNA on each array, which reducesdbantity, or volume, of reagents we use comptrether DNA array
approaches. The combination of low concentratiolowfcost reagents and smaller quantities resaltsvver reagent costs compared
to other commercially available DNA sequencing mdth As reported iSciencgublished in January 2010, we sequenced a corr
human genome at a consumables cost of approxintsite®p0.

High Throughput Process Automation

There are five major components of our high-thrqudlprocess automation technology: high-througlspmtple preparation, high-throughput
sequencing instruments, high-performance compunifigstructure, workflow automation software andveee delivery technology.
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High-Throughput Sample Preparation

Our high-throughput sample preparation technolagyststs of step-by-step protocols for preparing DiAsequencing and pipetting robots
that automatically execute these protocols. Wegmegenome samples in batches of 88 and load thelesiinto a 96-well plate (the other
eight wells in the plate contain known, or refendNA that we use to monitor the quality of thenpée preparation process). A sample
preparation run processes four 88-sample plates fotal of 352 genomes per run. We are buildimgitistruments and staffing capacity to
perform two runs in parallel for a total of 704 geres prepared for sequencing. The result of a gsaprpparation run is up to 352 genomes
loaded onto flow slides, ready to be loaded on segimg instruments. Our sample preparation capaeitybe scaled by adding additional
sample preparation instruments and staff as needed.

High-Throughput Sequencing Instruments

Our sequencing instruments consist of a fluididgstdhat pipettes multiple types of chemical reagé¢imcluding fluorescent molecules) onto
the flow slides and an imaging system that recordges of the fluorescent molecules attached t®tha. Each sequencing instrument
processes 18 flow slides at a time. The 18 flodesliare robotically moved back-and-forth from thélfcs robot to the imaging system. While
one flow slide is being imaged, the other 17 fldides are prepared with reagents or waiting forith@ger to become available. A sequencing
run takes approximately 12 days. Currently, ouuseging instruments can generate between 50 agiy@bases of usable data from each
slide in a 12-day run. To sequence a complete higaaome at an average redundancy of 40 times esqLBR0 gigabases of usable data. We
expect to make continued enhancements in our témimto further increase the amount of usable detaet from each flow slide.

High-Performance Computing Infrastructure

We have built a genomic data processing faciligt ttonsists of approximately 5,000 core processodsl, 750 terabytes (a terabyte is one
thousand gigabytes) of high-speed disk storage.seguencing instruments are connected to our @ataicby a network connection that
transfers data at a rate of 30 gigabits per sedonddata center has the capacity to perform atefrequired computation, starting with the
images generated by the sequencing instrumentsratidg with sequencing complete human genomesgfegral hundred genomes per
month. We plan to expand our data center as neadéddye expect to make continued enhancements wofiware to further increase the
efficiency of our data center.

Workflow Automation Software

Our workflow automation software tracks each sanfyam arrival at our facility to delivery of resedw-ready data to the customer. Sample
tracking is accomplished through bar codes. Eaetvélbplate of samples has a bar code, and eaehdliole has a bar code. The instruments
that process plates and flow slides have bar cealeers attached to them. User interfaces to oukflsar automation software allow us to tre
the progress of each sample throughout sample faté@a sequencing and computing. We are also dpirej a web-based customer portal to
enable customers to track their projects real-timeughout the sequencing process.

Service Delivery Technology

Our cloud-based data delivery system is based pmemdor relationship with Amazon Web ServicesA@'S. We upload our customers’
finished genomic data to AWS, who copies the datsard disks and ships the hard disks to our custen®ur customers also can pay AWS to
store their data on an ongoing basis. As we devadilitional analytical tools, we plan to host themAWS so that customers can rapidly
analyze their genomic data as soon as it is availab

Complete Data Management Solution

There are two major components of our complete al@iaagement solution: assembly software and asadgsgiware.
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Assembly Softwal

Assembly is the process of using computing methodsganize the overlapping 70-base nucleotide esecps to reconstruct the complete
genome. We have developed a proprietary approaassembly that uses a combination of advancedaghatgsis algorithms and statistical
modeling techniques to reconstruct over 90% oftthraplete human genome from approximately two hillf@-base reads. We have designed
our assembly software to run in parallel acrossange network of Linux computers.

As reported irSciencgpublished in January 2010, we generated high-guadise calls in as much as 95% of the genomes seegie
identifying between 3.2 million and 4.5 million semce variants per genome processed. Detailedatialidof one genome dataset
demonstrated a consensus error rate of approxiynhiror in 100,000 nucleotides.

Analysis Softwar

After assembling the genomic data, we use our aisabpftware to identify key variants in each gea@nd automatically annotate the genc
data. We have developed a suite of open sourcgtamséitools, called CGATools, designed to enahle @istomers to rapidly analyze the data
we generate from their samples. For example, wer aftool facilitating the comparison of two genamenabling the quick determination of
where the genomes differ. We are also developiditiadal analytical tools, such as a tumor-norn@hparison tool designed to allow cancer
researchers to compare a cancer genome to the Ingem@me from which it was derived, a family an@ytsol designed to enable researchers
to compare parental genomes with the genomes fdhiédren and a large-scale genome browser desdigm allow researchers to compare the
hundreds of genomes sequenced in a large-scale stud

Technology Strategy
We plan to continue to advance our complete huneamige sequencing and analysis technology in fojomaseas:

= Array Density. Our unique grid patterned arrays currently corist 700 nanometer grid. We may reduce the griel 250
nanometers and correspondingly reduce the diarétke sticky spots and DNA nanoballs. If successhis improvement will
increase the density of the DNA on an array bycéofeof eight, which will decrease the reagent edstequencing a given amount of
DNA by a factor of eight

= |nstrument Speed. Our unique grid patterned arrays enable us to aligrgrid pattern of the DNA on the array with tre pattern of
the pixels in the detector, allowing us to image auays with very short exposure times. We mayease the speed of our instrume
by acquiring and deploying new cameras that talkeges and transfer data at approximately six titnespeed of our existing
cameras. We may also increase the number of camperagquencing instrument from two to fc

= Process Automation. As our instruments get faster, we intend to improuesample preparation, process automation arad dat
management technologies to process and delivercaeasing number of genomes to our customers withaed turnaround tim

= Analytic Software. We continue to improve and extend our analytic bdji@s through the development of software desijto
decrease genome assembly time and address spgaification requirements of our customers. Forrinst, we are developing
software that identifies and assembles the comgilerxctural variants found in cancer genon

As we implement a combination of these technolagyamcements, our goal is to be the first comparsgtpience and analyze high-quality
complete human genomes, at scale, for a totalodastider $1,000 per genome.

Sales, Marketing and Customer Support

We sell our complete human genome sequencing settwiough our direct field sales and support orztions. Our sales process with each
new customer typically involves undertaking a srpadiject, or pilot program, which
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enables the customer to become familiar with ois@urced solution and research-ready data. Wewtloek with our customers to expand the
relationship to larger projects.

Sales

We have assembled a highly experienced and tedlynigalified sales team, with most sales managetding a Ph.D. in a relevant scientific
field. Each of these sales managers brings a nktef@xtensive contacts in our targeted customgmsats. The sales group develops business
opportunities and obtains orders for our complet®én genome sequencing service by proactivelyifgerg, qualifying and visiting well-
funded prospects at major companies, institutiorsumiversities.

Marketing

Our marketing group has developed and maintain€tireplete Genomics brand, increases market awar@mesgenerates demand for our
solution through a variety of methods. First, weéhareated and continue to maintain a clear mawisepmce via our website, press releases,
interviews and articles that reinforce our marketspnce and scientific credibility. Second, we gateedemand by promoting the company via
marketing programs and by attending and exhibiihigelevant tradeshows and conferences. Third,oméraie to evolve our marketing
strategy by tracking market trends, understandirsgoener needs and developing appropriate prodadt@@grams. The marketing group also
fulfills traditional product management requirengrstuch as defining our service and applicaticatestyy and roadmap, including partnering
strategies, and developing sales tools, trainingerizds and competitive analyses for the salespgrou

Customer Support

We are committed to supporting our customers thiaugetwork of scientific applications staff bagethoth Mountain View and locations n
our most concentrated customer bases. This teamantlyrconsists mostly of Ph.D.-level scientistshwéxtensive bioinformatics experience.
Our scientific applications team works with custes#® address technical questions related to owuicgeoffering and provide detailed training
and support.

Most of the training and support efforts are foclsa helping customers understand and use the demgents of data that are delivered as part
of multi-human genome sequencing projects. In28tE0, we intend to supplement these efforts witlewa team of Mountain View-based
bioinformatics support specialists that we expeebtpand quickly as the number of sequencing pi®jacreases.

Research and Development

Our research and development team brings togethariety of technical disciplines required for thevelopment of a high-throughput
sequencing system for commercial human genome seigeservices and includes DNA engineers, biock&nimolecular biologists,
chemists, mathematicians, statisticians and etet¢tnnechanical, optical and software engineersofAkine 30, 2010, we had approximately
employees engaged in research and developmenidingl29 scientists and engineers with Ph.D.s. & lpegfessionals apply their skills in
disciplines including:

= biochemistry (sample preparation, DNA array prepana DNA sequencing assa)

= hardware (optics, fluidics, mechanical design, filides);

= software (algorithms, instrument software, genostusncing software, bioinformatic:
= information technology (hi¢-performance data center manageme

= semiconductors (mask design, surface chemistry)

= process automatio

The research and development teams are engagetrnzation and automation of our human genome segng processes, components and
systems to improve the performance of our humaomensequencing
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technologies, including increasing accuracy andgleteness, reducing cost and increasing througimiaible research and development
accomplishments in this area include:

DNA engineering of four directional adapters inedrin genomic DNA segments, providing DNA subssdte unchained DNA
sequencing of 35+35 mi-pair bases

clonal DNA replication in solution to create coraraers with 300-500 DNA copies folded in DNBs of apimately 200-300
nanometers in diamete

high density (700 nanometer pitch) patterned DNyar on a 25mm x 75mm silicon slide with over 21Bdm spots and a single DN
on over 90% of the spot

reaction flow slide suitable for gravity loadingysencing chemistry by direct pipetting without @spressure or tubing that enah
the processing of up to 18 slides per run on osgument;

unchained DNA sequencing chemistry using cPAL tetdgy that allows reading 10 bases from each adapig, or up to 80 bases
DNA spot, using a-adapter library

high-throughput, two-camera DNA sequencing instmintleat processes 18 flow slides in parallel byotabtransfer of slides from
biochemistry station to imaging station that empl@yp| imaging at 30 frames per seco

probability-based primary DNA base calling, read mapping ambge sequence and sequence variants determinggamittams anc
software for fast and accurate sequence analysisasfje number of human genomes using up to 2fbgses of unchained base
reads per genome; a

long fragment read technology for phasing the tareptal chromosomes and reducing the final erterbrg one to two orders of
magnitude

In addition, our research and development teamsragaged in developing new applications for ouhtetogies, including:

Cancer Genomes. We are developing new methods for sequencing thephex structural variations found in cancer genarsash as
duplications, deletions and translocations in tugmmomes. We believe these methods will enablesearch community to better

understand the genetic basis for cancer. BCC Raseathirdparty research firm, estimates that genomics aigkaptics/methylatio
technologies will make up $27.4 billion of the awtited $47.0 billion total market for cancer profiitechnologies in 201

Diploid Sequencing. We have invented and are developing a method @gandently sequencing the maternal and paternal
chromosomes. We believe this independent chromosepgencing will be required for many moleculagdiastics, because multiple
variants within a gene may or may not affect batpies of the gent

Human Methylomes. We are researching possible methods of sequertoinguman methylome, which we believe will be impottin
understanding cancer genom

Human Transcriptomes. We are researching possible methods of sequertoinguman transcriptome, which, when combined
complete human genomes, we believe will shed bighthe genetic basis of human disease and drugnss,

In the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2@0Spent $10.3 million, $23.6 million and $22.#lion, respectively, on company-
sponsored research and development activities.

Intellectual Property

Our success depends in part upon our ability tainl#nd maintain intellectual property rights wigspect to our products, technology and
know-how, to prevent others from infringing thestellectual property rights and to operate withinftinging the proprietary rights of others.
Our policy is to seek to protect our proprietary
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position by, among other methods, filing patentl@ggions related to our proprietary technologyentions and improvements that are
important to the development and conduct of ouinass. We also rely on trade secrets and know-batetelop and maintain our proprietary
position.

Our patent strategy is to seek broad patent pioteonh new developments in genome sequencing témimcand also file patent applications
covering new implementations of our technology. #iddally, we file new patent applications direcidequipment and software that are used
in conjunction with our genome sequencing technplog

Our core genome sequencing technology originat&hHida Genomics, Inc., or Callida, in the laborgtof Radoje (Rade) Drmanac, Ph.D.,
our Chief Scientific Officer and one of our co-falers. Dr. Drmanac played an important role in hHigloughput sequencing of whole genor
using ligation-based sequencing reactions perforomeahicroarrays. In March 2006, we entered intcenise agreement with Callida pursuant
to which we exclusively licensed from Callida tledevant patent filings relating to the use of taehhology in random arrays, or arrays of
genomic DNA fragments wherein the position of apgdfic fragment on the array is not predetermirgedi probe anchor ligation, which we
utilize in our commercial sequencing technologydenthis license agreement, we also obtained axctrsive license under additional patent
filings owned by Callida that permits us to use tlwedom array technology without infringing sucldiidnal patents. In exchange for the
licenses, we issued to Callida 13,333 shares oftommon stock, paid $1.0 million in cash for repaytnof certain promissory notes held by
Callida and agreed to pay $250,000 each year thetiéarlier of (a) March 28, 2012 and (b) such tEmeur common stock is traded on a
national exchange and the shares issued to Callelizeely tradeable and have a minimum fair markéte of $2.0 million. The license
agreement remains in effect until each of the keghpatents has either expired or has been abahdoneled invalid. Either party may
terminate the agreement for a material breach d@0ndays’ notice (or 30 days’ notice if the bre&ctue to failure to make a payment under
the license agreement). Pursuant to the licensseawnt, Callida retains the rights to use the aiadly licensed technology for research
purposes only.

As of July 17, 2010, we have licensed from CalBdaissued U.S. patents and six issued interndtjmatents that will expire between 2014 and
2027. As of July 17, 2010, we own or have licer@egending patent applications, including 54 inlttheted States, 30 international
applications and 13 applications filed under theeRaCooperation Treaty.

In addition to pursuing patents on our technolagg,have taken steps to protect our intellectugbgry and proprietary technology by entet
into confidentiality agreements and intellectuaperty assignment agreements with our employe@suttants, corporate partners and, when
needed, our advisors.

The patent positions of companies like ours areegdly uncertain, and the validity and breadthlafras in DNA sequencing technology
patents may involve complex factual and legal isfoewhich no consistent policy exists. Our pateand licenses may not enable us to obtain
or keep any competitive advantage. Our pending &h8 .foreign patent applications may not issueadsns or may not issue in a form that
will be advantageous to us. Patents we have olstaindo obtain in the future may be challengeddsgxamination, opposition or other
administrative proceeding, or may be challengddigation, and such challenges could result iregedmination that the patent is invalid.

Our licensed patents may be successfully circunegeby competitors. In addition, the patent lawfoogign countries differ from those in the
United States, and the degree of protection affbfieforeign patents may be different from the gectiobn offered by U.S. patents.

Our commercial success depends in part on our moimgement of the patents or proprietary rightshifd parties. For a description of the
risks we face relating to intellectual propertyegde see “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Intellé&raperty.”
Competition

Competition among organizations developing or coneiabizing sequencing instruments and servicestinise. The sequencing industry is
dominated by large, established companies thaigedastruments and reagents, mostly for expresaiatysis and genotyping. These
companies include lllumina, Inc., Life Technologies
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Corporation and Roche Diagnostics Corporation. €loesnpetitors are large and well-established, aetl enaintains a significant market
share. Although historically these companies hale imstruments and reagents, some of these cotogetiave made recent forays into the
sequencing services market. For example, llluméeamtly announced that it will be providing indival genome sequencing services for as
low as $9,500 per genome, and Life Technologiesmié announced a collaboration to build a genoeggiencing facility. lllumina also
announced that it is pursuing a global programgihesi to provide researchers with access to acaderdicommercial institutions that can
perform large-scale whole human genome sequencajgagbs using lllumina’s technology. Additionallyew competitors may enter the whole
genome sequencing market, either by providing setjng services like we do or by selling less expanand more powerful sequencing
instruments. We expect to face more intense comigeif our service-based model is successful.dditon, future competitors may include
smaller companies, like NABsys, Inc., Oxford Nanep®echnologies, Ltd., Pacific Biosciences, Ind &felicos Biosciences Corporation,
which have developed or are developing sequenetiynblogies that may compete with ours in the &ituarge, established companies may
acquire smaller companies, such as these, withgingetechnologies and use their extensive resouecdsvelop and commercialize or
incorporate these technologies into their instrusi@nd services. For example, Life Technologiesréyg announced that it entered into a
definitive agreement to acquire lon Torrent Systelms., a chip-based sequencing technology startup.

A number of these and other organizations are dpugl methods for DNA sequencing using single mdkeor long-read sequencing
technologies. To date, the developers of singleemwé technologies have not demonstrated thatesmglecule sequencing can achieve the
quality required for complete human genome discppeojects at a reasonable cost. While long-reaglmtically important forde novo
sequencing, or sequencing organisms which havpregtously been sequenced, they are not requineskfuencing high quality complete
human genomes.

In addition to commercial companies, there aredagpvernment-funded or research-sponsored orgamizasuch as the Broad Institute of
MIT and Harvard, the Genome Center at Washingtoivéssity, the Baylor College of Medicine Human Ger®Sequencing Center, the
Wellcome Trust Sanger Institute and BGI (formempilvn as Beijing Genome Institute), that purchaseroercial DNA sequencing
instruments and offer DNA sequencing services tmlamic and commercial customers.

For a description of the risks we face relatedampetition, please see “Risk Factors—Risks Reladgdur Business—We face significant
competition. Our failure to compete effectively tadversely affect our sales and results of opmrat and “—The emergence of competitive
genome sequencing technologies may impact our éssih

Operations

We have established laboratory operations for iostr genome center in Mountain View, Californiadame have additional laboratory
operations in Sunnyvale, California. Our Tier lértified data center is located in Santa Claraif@aia. We expect to deploy additional
sequencing centers in the future, and it is likbbt these will be located in other regions, inglgdoutside of the United States.

Genomic samples arrive at our facilities by comroarrier, such as FedEx or UPS, and are testedrfarmder of pre-defined quality
acceptance criteria. Samples that pass acceptestoggtare prepared for sequencing, loaded onnadliole and sequenced on a sequencing
instrument. After the sequencing process, datargéreby the sequencing instrument is processedrihigh performance computing cente
generate the final customer data deliverable. Weagpour customers’ finished genomic data to AWBowopies the data to hard disks and
ships the hard disks to our customers. Our cust®@also can pay AWS to store their data on an ogglodtsis.

The time to deliver, from sample receipt to dat@sient, typically takes 90 to 120 days. Our gengeguencing center has a finite capacity,
and time to delivery will increase if demand exceedr capacity. In the future, we expect to redime to delivery though technical and
procedural improvements. Our sequencing capacftyiisarily determined by the equipment, automatod personnel we deploy.
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Facilities

We lease approximately 67,000 square feet of offitet laboratory space at our headquarters in Moukiaw, California, under a lease that
expires in August 2016. We lease approximatelydait@mnal 11,000 square feet of office and labarg8pace in Sunnyvale, California, under
a lease that expires in June 2011. These facititesain laboratory and non-laboratory personned.B#lieve that our current facilities are
adequate for our first genome center over the wextyears. We may need to acquire additional spacge deploy additional genome centers,
either in Mountain View or in other locales, and may need to expand our Mountain View non-labosaspace for other uses. We believe
additional non-laboratory expansion space neaMmuntain View facility is readily available.

We also lease approximately 2,200 square feettaf @nter space in Santa Clara, California, undeméract that expires in May 2011. Our
computing capabilities are principally locatedhistfacility, which is sufficient for our currenperations. As our operations expand, we will
need to acquire additional data center space,rethhis location, or in other regional facilities

Manufacturing and Supply

We have adopted a manufacturing strategy of puiichasost components we use to conduct our sequgseirvices, including silicon wafers,
optical microscopes and various other imaging camepts, sophisticated cameras and chemicals andnsadgrom third party suppliers. This

allows us to maintain a more flexible infrastruetuvhile focusing our expertise on deploying thesaponents and supplies to provide high-

quality, lower-cost whole genome sequencing sesvigea large scale.

We currently rely on single-source suppliers fataie key materials used in our sequencing prodagzarticular, we rely on SVTC
Technologies L.L.C. to provide us with the siliodips that are the base of the flow slide useduinsequencing process. We also rely on
Hamamatsu Corporation for the cameras used inegurencing instruments. We are in the process atifgeng and qualifying additional
suppliers, although we cannot predict how long thatlification process will last, and the time negdo establish a relationship can be lenc

Delays, quality issues or interruptions by our digep may harm our business, and we may be forwedtablish relationships with new
suppliers. However, because the lead time neededdage a new supplier can be lengthy, we may Exper delays in meeting demand if we
must switch to a new supplier. For more informatiegarding risks related to our supply chain, pesee “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our
Business—We depend on a limited number of suppliectuding single-source suppliers, of variousicail components for our sequencing
process. The loss of these suppliers, or theurailo supply us with the necessary componentstonedy basis, could cause delays in the
current and future capacity of our sequencing cearid adversely affect our business.”

Government Regulations

We believe our sequencing service is not curresndlyject to FDA regulation, clearance or approvawever, if we expand our service to
encompass products that are intended to be useldefaliagnosis of disease, such as molecular d&ignaroducts, regulation by governmental
authorities in the United States and other cousitiigl be a significant factor in the developmemesting, production, and marketing of such
products.

Our laboratory is subject to federal, state, regi@md local regulations relating to the handling disposal of hazardous materials and
biohazardous waste, including chemicals, biologiggnts and compounds and blood and other hunsaretig/e utilize qualified third party
vendors for waste disposal and handling, and thesdors are contractually obligated to comply vaitty applicable regulations. Our cost of
waste disposal has historically not been mateaiad, we expect this to be true in the future.

Due to the nature of our current operations, weehat sought accreditation for our facilities untler Clinical Laboratory Improvement
Amendments, or CLIA. In addition, because the geinatata we provide generally neither identifies pmvides a reasonable basis to identify
an individual, we are not currently subject to tealth
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Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of B3®r HIPAA. However, once provided to certain af gustomers, the genomic data and the
activities of those customers may be regulated ubdih HIPAA and the Genetic Information Nondisdnation Act of 2008.

Given the evolving nature of this industry, legisla bodies or regulatory authorities may adoptitaital regulation or expand existing
regulation to include our service. For examplethim future, our service could be subject to FDAutation or we may be required to seek Cl
accreditation for our facilities. Changes to therent regulatory framework, including the impositiof additional or new regulations, could
arise at any time, and we may be unable to obtamaintain FDA or comparable regulatory approvatlearance of our service, if required.
These regulations and restrictions may materiadty @alversely affect our business, financial coadiind results of operations. For more
information regarding the risks of future governinesgulation, please see “Risk Factors—Risks RelaieOur Business—Because the market
for genome sequencing is relatively new and rapedigiving, we may become subject to additionalfeitgovernmental regulation, which may
place additional cost and time burdens on our djperR”

Backlog

We define order backlog as the number of genonresticch customers have placed sequencing ordersvinbelieve are firm and for which
we have not yet recognized revenue. Estimatingltiiar value of backlog that will be fulfilled with the current fiscal year, or any other
particular period, requires significant judgments @stimates, as the mix of customer orders amihgrterms varies between arrangements
depending on the number of genomes covered byrthagement. It also requires estimating the tinghthe receipt of qualified samples from
our customers, over which we have no control, &editming of the sequencing of the genomes. Unigratied delays in obtaining and fulfilling
sequencing orders would result in a delay in retzigg associated revenue.

Given the revenue variance resulting from this arid the rapidly evolving nature of the sequencivttystry, we do not believe that backlog as
of any particular date is necessarily indicativéudiire results. However, we do believe that otwhrklog is an indication of our customers’
willingness to utilize our solution. We believe tloaur sequencing order backlog as of Septembe2@I) will result in approximately

$9.0 million in revenue in the 12-month period dwling that date. We did not have any commerciatagns as of September 30, 2009, and,
as a result, we did not have any backlog. See “Riskors—Risk Related to Our BusinesSu+ order backlog may never be completed, an
may never earn revenue on backlogged contracegieesice genomes.”

Segment and Geographical Information

We operate in one reportable business segmentyaidve derived a majority of our revenue from aomrs located in the United States. As
of June 30, 2010, we have derived approximately B8%ur revenue since inception from customerstetin Asia, Canada and Europe. Sales
to customers located outside of the United Stateslanominated in U.S. dollars. We expect thatssalénternational customers will be an
important and growing source of revenue, partidylas we construct additional genome sequencinteceoutside of the United States. All of
our long-lived assets are located in the UnitedeSta

Employees

As of September 30, 2010, we had a total of 167l@yeps, 49 of whom hold Ph.D. degrees and 66 ofmvae engaged in full-time research
and development activities. We plan to expand oodyction, our sales and marketing and our resesmdidevelopment programs, and we
plan to hire additional staff as these initiatiaes implemented. None of our employees is repreddmt a labor union, and we consider our
employee relations to be in good standing.

Legal Proceedings

On August 3, 2010, a patent infringement lawsui filed by lllumina, Inc. and Solexa, Inc. (an gnacquired by lllumina), or the plaintiffs,
against us in the U.S District Court in Delawarke Tase caption 1umina, Inc.
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and Solexa, Inc. v. Complete Genomics, Ji@ivil Action No. 10-649. The complaint allegesttour Complete Genomics Analysis Platform,
and in particular our combinatorial probe anchgation technology, infringes upon three patentd bgllllumina and Solexa. The plaintiffs
seek unspecified monetary damages and injunctlief.r we are found to infringe one or more vatithims of a patent-in-suit and if the
district court grants an injunction, we may be &xatdo redesign portions of our sequencing prosesk a license or cease the infringing
activity. On September 23, 2010, we filed our anstweghe complaint as well as our counterclaimdregdhe plaintiffs. On November 9, 2010,
the U.S. District Court in Delaware granted our imoto transfer the case to the Northern DistrfaCalifornia. We believe that we have
substantial and meritorious defenses to the pftghtlaims and intend to vigorously defend our jtios. However, a negative outcome in this
matter could have a material adverse effect orfinancial position, results of operations, cashkvBcand business. For more information
regarding the risk of this litigation and futurédation, please see “Risk Factors—We currently anel could in the future be, subject to
litigation regarding patent and other proprietaghts that could harm our business” and “—We mayirsubstantial costs as a result of our
current, or future, litigation or other proceedimgkating to patent and other proprietary right¥/& are not currently able to estimate the
potential loss, if any, that may result from thigation.

From time to time, we may become involved in oflegal proceedings and claims arising in the ordimaurse of our business. Other than as
described above, we are not currently a party yoegal proceedings the outcome of which, if deieed adversely to us, we believe would
individually or in the aggregate have a materialaade effect on our business, operating resultanfiial condition or cash flows.
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Management

Executive Officers, Key Employees and Directors
The following table sets forth certain informatiabout our executive officers, key employees anelatlirs, as of September 30, 2010.

Name Age Position
Executive Officer

Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D. 51 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Off
Ajay Bansal 49  Chief Financial Officel

Radoje Drmanac, Ph.l 52  Chief Scientific Officel

Bruce Martin 45  Senior Vice President of Product Developir
Mark J. Sutherlan 53  Senior Vice President of Business Developn
Key Employee

Dennis Ballinger, Ph.C 55  Vice President of Genomit

William Banyai, Ph.D 55  Vice President of Hardwal

Robert J. Curso 67  Vice President of Financial Operatic

Alan Dow, Ph.D 55  Vice President of Intellectual Property and Leg#hks
Ken Prokusk 60 Vice President of Operatiol

Aaron Solomor 45  Vice President of Sale

Jennifer Turcott 40  Vice President of Marketin

Directors

Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D. 51 President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc
Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.I0@ 63  Director

C. Thomas Caskey, M.I 72  Director

Carl L. Gordon, Ph.D., CF® 45  Director

Michael P. Rubin, M.D 35 Director

Andrew E. Senyei, M.C® 60  Director

Lewis J. Shuste® 55  Director

Charles P. Waite, JO@ 55  Director

Robert T. Wall(®@ 65  Director

(1) Member of the compensation commit
(2) Member of the nominating and corporate governarararoittee
(3) Member of the audit committe

Executive Officers and Key Employees

Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D., is our co-founder and Chairman and has servedraBresident and Chief Executive Officer since 2095 and as a
member of our board of directors since July 2006nFMarch 2003 to September 2005, Dr. Reid was Yi@sident of Collaborative Solutic
at Open Text Corporation, a software company. B51®r. Reid co-founded Eloquent, Inc., a digitaleo communications company, and
served as its Chief Executive Officer until 1999 @s its Chairman until 2003, when it was acquing®pen Text. In 1988, Dr. Reid co-
founded Verity, Inc., an enterprise text searchirmgompany, and served as its Vice President girteering from 1988 to 1992 and as its
Executive Vice President from 1992 to 1993. Dr.dReiceived a B.S. in Physics from the Massachubwitidute of Technology, an M.B.A.
from Harvard University and a Ph.D. in Managemeriefce and Engineering from Stanford University.ols President, Chief Executive
Officer and co-founder, Dr. Reid brings expertiad &nowledge regarding our business and operat@osr board of directors. He also brings
to our board of directors an extensive backgrounthé technology industry and in leadership rgtesyiding both strategic and operational
vision and guidance.

Ajay Bansal has served as our Chief Financial Officer since @%0. From June 2009 to January 2010, Mr. Barsgkd as Chief Financial
Officer and Executive Vice President of Businessé@pment at Lexicon
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Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a biopharmaceutical compamym December 2007 to October 2008, Mr. Bansakskas Chief Financial Officer and
Executive Vice President of Finance of Tercica,,|laciopharmaceutical company acquired by theni@&®up in October 2008. He also
served as Chief Financial Officer and Senior VicesiRient of Finance of Tercica from March 2006 lun&cember 2007. From February 2003
to January 2006, Mr. Bansal served as Vice Preddrinance and Administration and Chief Financiffic@r of Nektar Therapeutics, a
biopharmaceutical company. From July 2002 to Felgr@@03, Mr. Bansal served as Director of Operatidnalysis at Capital One Financia
bank holding company. From August 1998 to June 2002Bansal was at Mehta Partners LLC, a finana@lisory firm, where he was namr
partner in January 2000. Prior to joining MehtatRens, Mr. Bansal spent more than ten years in gemant roles at Novartis, a
pharmaceuticals company, and in consulting at ArbhwLittle, Inc., McKinsey & Company, Inc. and Z&sociates. Mr. Bansal received a [
in Mechanical Engineering from the Indian InstitofeTechnology (Delhi) and an M.S. in Operationsidgement and an M.B.A. from
Northwestern University

Radoje Drmanac, Ph.D. s our co-founder and has served as our Chief 8fiee@fficer since July 2005. In 2001, Dr. Drmanea-founded
Callida Genomics, Inc., a DNA sequencing company, served as Callida’s Chief Scientific Officerfr@001 to 2004 and has served as its
President since 2004. In 1994, Dr. Drmanadarorded Hyseq, Inc., a DNA array technology comptuay became Hyseq Pharmaceuticals,
and later merged with Variagenics, Inc. to becomedlb, Inc., and served as its Senior Vice PresideResearch from 1994 to 1998 and a
Chief Scientific Officer from 1998 to 2001. Priar that, Dr. Drmanac served as a group leader atrrg National Laboratory. Dr. Drmanac
received a B.S., M.S. and Ph.D. in Molecular Bigidigpm the University of Belgrade.

Bruce Martin has served as our Senior Vice President of Prddexcelopment since March 2010. From May 2007 to M&@10, Mr. Martin
was our Vice President of Product Development. F2O@5 to May 2007, Mr. Martin served as Vice Presidf Product Strategy at PSS
Systems, Inc., an internet software company. Fro@22o0 2003, Mr. Martin served as Chief Technictider of Openwave Systems Inc., a
software company. Mr. Martin received a B.S. in Qoier Science and Electrical Engineering from timéversity of California, Davis.

Mark J. Sutherland has served as our Senior Vice President of BusiDeselopment since March 2010. From October 2008aeember
2009, Mr. Sutherland served as Senior Vice PresiofieBusiness Development at GenVault Corporat#BoBNA storage company. From
November 2005 to September 2007, Mr. Sutherlancedeais Chief Business Officer for Flashpoint Tedbgyp, Inc., a digital conter
management company. Beginning in August 1988, Mth&land served for 17 years in roles of increps@sponsibility at Molecular
Dynamics, a manufacturer of molecular biology aedegic engineering equipment, and its successopanias, Amersham Biosciences and
GE Healthcare. Mr. Sutherland served as Vice Peasidf Genomics at Amersham from 1998 to 2001 andRy, Strategic Alliances, at
Amersham and for the Discovery Systems busine@&FoHealthcare from 2001 to 2005. Mr. Sutherlaneiresd a B.S. in Chemistry with
Honors from Stanford University.

Dennis Ballinger, Ph.D. has served as our Vice President of Genomics §hteber 2008. From 2002 to 2008, Dr. Ballinger edras Vice
President of Genomics at Perlegen Sciences, lnieyaloper of genetic tests. From 1999 to 200kenmeed as Director of Product
Development at Ingenuity Systems, Inc., a softwarapany. From 1998 to 1999, he served as Seniecir of Functional Genomics at
Hyseq, Inc. From 1994 to 1998, he served as Direxft€ardiovascular Disease Research at Myriad Genea developer of molecular
diagnostic products. From 1989 to 1994, Dr. Ballingias an Assistant Professor of molecular bioktghe Sloan-Kettering Institute and
Cornell University Graduate School. Dr. Ballingeceived a B.S. in molecular cell biology from Unisiey of Colorado, Boulder and a Ph.D
cellular and developmental biology from the Massaeltts Institute of Technology and completed histghactoral training at the California
Institute of Technology.

William Banyai, Ph.D., has served as our Vice President of Hardware sinlge2006. From March 2000 to February 2006, DnyBéwas a
founder and the Chief Technical Officer of Glimmlags Networks, an optical networking company. Fiebruary 1996 to February 2000,
Dr. Banyai served as a staff physicist at the
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Lawrence Livermore National Lab. From November 1898lovember 1995, Dr. Banyai served as the Chéehfologist of Silicon Light
Machines, a high-resolution display company. Frapt&mber 1992 to October 1994, Dr. Banyai serveddrasearch engineer at Stanford
University’s Ginzton Laboratory. From January 138August 1992, Dr. Banyai served as a researemssi at the Sandia National Lab’s
Compound Semiconductor Research Facility. Dr. Bargeeived a B.S. in physics and an M.S. in eleatrscience from the University of
Michigan, an Engineer of Electrical Engineeringnfrthe University of Southern California and a PhirDoptical sciences from the University
of Arizona.

Robert J. Cursonis our co-founder and has served as our Vice Reasif Financial Operations since May 2010. Frotg 2005 to May

2010, he served as our Chief Financial Officernk#gpril 2003 to July 2005, Mr. Curson was a partoeNeon Partners, an investment
partnership focusing on special turn-around situresti From July 1999 until its acquisition by OpexfTCorporation in April 2003, Mr. Curson
served as Chief Financial Officer of Eloquent, Jrecdigital video communications company. From 1893 to July 1999, Mr. Curson served
as Chief Financial Officer of RasterOps Inc., atdigmaging and peripherals company which, dutifig Curson’s tenure, was re-incorporated
as Truevision Inc., a digital video company. Mrr€an received a B.S. in Mechanical Engineeringami1.A. in Operations Research and
Economics from the University of Leeds, U.K., amd\M.B.A. from the University of California, Los Aegges.

Alan Dow, Ph.D.,has served as our Vice President of Intellectuap@rty and Legal Affairs since September 2008. F&aptember 2004 to
September 2008, Dr. Dow worked as an attorneyiiratg practice at BioTechnology Law Group in Saedgi, California, specializing in
patent prosecution and intellectual property-relatansactions. From June 2001 to July 2004, Dw Berved as Vice President and General
Counsel of Vical Incorporated, a biopharmaceuticahpany. Dr. Dow received a B.S. in Chemistry fritve University of Maine at Orono, a
Ph.D. in Genetics from Harvard University and a. Jrfbm Stanford Law School.

Ken Prokuski has served as our Vice President of Operationg slaouary 2010. From August 2009 to January 2010PMkuski served as
an independent consultant to us. From October 1®9anuary 2009, Mr. Prokuski served as Seniordioreof Manufacturing Operations at
Applied Biosystems, a life sciences company anivigidn of Life Technologies. From September 1985eptember 1993, Mr. Prokuski
served as Material Manager at Arico Coating Tecbgl a thin film deposition equipment manufactuFgom September 1991 to September
1992, Mr. Prokuski served as Director of Materatl3 oshiba America, Inc., an electronics compamgnJanuary 1990 to August 1991,

Mr. Prokuski served as Operations Manager at MitipCorporation, a life sciences company. Mr. Pskveceived a B.A. in Psychology frc
Northeastern lllinois University and an ExecutiveBVA. from Golden Gate Universit

Aaron Solomon,has served as our Vice President of Sales sinceRVE09. From April 2008 to March 2009, Mr. Solonsanved as Vice
President of Business Development at Tethys Bioseiea developer of diagnostic tests. From Oct@béb to April 2008, Mr. Solomon serv
as Director of Western Region Industrial Sales latel as Vice President of Industrial Sales at Aigyrix, a leading DNA microarray compa
From February 2004 until its acquisition by Affymietin October 2005, Mr. Solomon served as Viceskient of Business Development at
ParAllele, a targeted genotyping company. Mr. Saomeceived a B.S. in Biological Sciences fromUméversity of California, Irvine.

Jennifer Turcotte has served as our Vice President of Marketing sBetember 2008. From November 2007 to August 28 served as
our Senior Director of Product Marketing. From J@087 to October 2007, Ms. Turcotte served as $&irector, Marketing Solutions, at
SAP, Inc., a business management software compaosn March 2004 to May 2007, Ms. Turcotte serve&asior Director of Product
Marketing at Siperian, Inc., a software companyuiregl by Informatica in March 2010. Prior to joigisiperian, Ms. Turcotte held senior
product marketing positions at Rearden Commerbtegtanology-based personal assistance company,,Anba a software and information
technology company, Nuance Communications, a softwampany, and BEA Systems, Inc., a software comfaat was acquired by Oracle
Corporation. Ms. Turcotte received a B.Eng. in nattal engineering from Carleton University in @ttg Canada.
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Directors

Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.D. has served as a member of our board of directocg $vlarch 2007. In 1997, Dr. Barkas co-founded firos
Venture Partners, a venture capital firm, and aulyeserves as a Managing Director at that firnorrr1991 to 1997, Dr. Barkas was a Partner
at Kleiner Perkins Caufield & Byers, a venture ¢airm. Prior to that, Dr. Barkas was a Founded &hief Executive Officer of BioBridge
Associates, a healthcare industry consulting fibm.Barkas has served as Chairman of Geron Colipara biopharmaceutical company, si
1993 and as a member of the board of directore<if82. Dr. Barkas has also served as a directamiéus Therapeutics, Inc., a
biotechnology company, since 2004. From May 200Q¢tober 2008, Dr. Barkas served as a directoreofita, and as its Chairman from
August 2003 to October 2008. Dr. Barkas receiveth®. in Biology from New York University and a B.& Biology from Brandeis
University, where he currently is Chairman of theivérsity Science Advisory Council and serves anBoard of Trustees. As a venture
capitalist, Dr. Barkas brings to our board of dices broad experience in advising and managingstifence and biotechnology companies f
early-stage to mature companies, including expemtisapital raising, strategic transactions, fiahbudgeting and reporting, strategy and
operations, recruiting and compensation. In addljtidr. Barkas brings insight on compensation-relabatters to the compensation committee
based on his breadth of exposure to life scienogpemies.

C. Thomas Caskey, M.D.has served as a member of our board of directocg hugust 2009. Since January 2006, Dr. Caskegdragd as
Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Brownundation Institute of Molecular Medicine for theelPention of Human Diseases, part of
the University of Texas Health Science Center aidtion. Since 2003, Dr. Caskey has served as amétdRartner at Essex Woodlands Health
Ventures, a venture capital firm. Dr. Caskey seagdlanaging Director of Cogene Biotech Venturdd,,la venture capital firm, from March
2005 to October 2005 and as President and Chiefuiixe Officer from April 2000 to March 2005. Herged as Senior Vice President,
Research, at Merck Research Laboratories, a divigidderck & Co., Inc., a pharmaceutical compamgnf 1995 to 2000 and as President of
the Merck Genome Research Institute from 1996 @D2Before joining Merck, Dr. Caskey served 25 gestrBaylor College of Medicine in a
series of senior positions, including Chairman, &&pent of Human and Molecular Genetics, and Dire¢iuman Genome Center. He is a
member of the National Academy of Sciences. Drk€aserved as a director of Lexicon Genetics Inoafed, a biopharmaceutical company,
from April 2000 to April 2006 and as Chairman frépril 2000 to March 2005. Dr. Caskey served asraaior of Luminex Corporation, a
developer of biological testing technologies, fréamuary 2001 to May 2005. Dr. Caskey received a Boi the University of South Carolina
and an M.D. from Duke University. Dr. Caskey bringghe board an extensive scientific and operatibackground gained as a research
scientist, executive and venture capital advisou$ed on life science and pharmaceutical companies.

Carl L. Gordon, Ph.D., CFA, has served as a member of our board of directocg fAugust 2009. In 1998, Dr. Gordon co-foundedikdell
Advisors LLC, an asset management firm, and hasdes a General Partner since that time. From ®%997, Dr. Gordon served as a
Senior Biotechnology Analyst at Mehta & Isaly, firedecessor firm to OrbiMed. From 1993 to 1995,&urdon served as a Fellow at The
Rockefeller University. Since May 2008, Dr. Gorduas served as a director of Amarin Corporatiorippiarmaceutical company. From
March 2004 to May 2007, Dr. Gordon served as actbreof Biocryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a pharmécalicompany. Dr. Gordon received
A.B. from Harvard University and a Ph.D. in moleaubiology from the Massachusetts Institute of Tedtbgy. As a venture capitalist focused
on life science companies who sits on numerousdso®r. Gordon provides financial and operationxglegtise regarding our industry. In
addition, Dr. Gordon provides substantial experitisthe particularly relevant scientific field ofatecular biology.

Michael P. Rubin, M.D., has served as a member of our board of directoce ghugust 2010. Since January 2010, Dr. Rubirbbas a
financial analyst at Sands Capital Managementsaatananagement firm. Prior to beginning his empkayt with Sands Capital Management,
Dr. Rubin was a graduate business student at theetsity of Massachusetts, Amherst. From July 2006ugh September 2007, Dr. Rubin
completed a fellowship at Harvard Medical Schoal Massachusetts Eye and Ear Infirmary, where hdwted genetic research in macular
degeneration. From July 2003 through June 2006RDbin was a resident physician in
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ophthalmology at the University of Chicago. Frorm@2002 through June 2003, Dr. Rubin completechtmmriship in internal medicine at
Harvard Medical School and Mount Auburn Hospital. Rubin received a B.S. in electrical engineefiogn the University of California, Los
Angeles, an M.B.A. from the University of Massac#ttis, Amherst, and an M.D. from the University dfi€ago Pritzker School of Medicine.
Dr. Rubin’s experience as a financial analyst pesiour board with substantive knowledge in finaheiarkets and, coupled with his
background in genetic research and medical trajvalgiable insight into the life science industry.

Andrew E. Senyei, M.D. has served as a member of our board of directoce $¥larch 2006. Since 1987, Dr. Senyei has sersed\danagin
Director and a General Partner of Enterprise Pestr@eventure capital firm. In 1989, Dr. Senyeifconded Molecular Biosystems, Inc., a
biotechnology company acquired by Alliance Pharmécal Corp. in 2000. Prior to joining Enterprisariers, Dr. Senyei served as a
practicing clinician and Adjunct Associate ProfeassbObstetrics and Gynecology at the Universityalfifornia, Irvine. Dr. Senyei has served
as Chairman of Genoptix, Inc., a specialized médidmratory service provider, since April 2000. Benyei served as a director of Adeza
Biomedical Corporation, a healthcare products campfiom 1987 until Adeza was acquired by Cytyc @wation in April 2007. Dr. Senyei
has served on the Board of Trustees of Northwe&laiversity since 2005 and on the Advisory Coun€ithe Jacobs School of Engineering at
the University of California, San Diego, since 20D2. Senyei received a B.S. from Occidental Calegd an M.D. from Northwestern
University Medical School, and he completed hisdescy training at the University of Californiayine, Medical Center. Dr. Senysimedica
and business expertise, including his experien@e\esnture capitalist building and serving on tbhard of directors of more than 25 public and
private emerging life sciences and healthcare comepacombined with his extensive prior experieas@n inventor and practicing clinician,
give him valuable insight into our industry. Hispexience provides the seasoned business judgmeriraad strategic vision which enables
him to serve as an effective and valuable direatal to have the qualifications and leadership dhdrcskills to serve on our board of directors.

Lewis J. Shusterhas served as a member of our board of directoce ghpril 2010. In 2002, Mr. Shuster founded Shu€@pital, a strategic
and operating advisor to and angel investor inddience companies, and has served as its Chieliixe Officer since that time. From June
2003 to November 2007, Mr. Shuster served as Exetutive Officer of Kemia, Inc., a drug discoveryd development company. From
February 2000 to December 2001, Mr. Shuster halidws operating executive positions at Invitrogerfdration, a biotechnology company
that merged with Applied Biosystems Inc. and becaifeeTechnologies Corporation. From 1994 to 1999, Shuster served as Chief
Financial Officer of Pharmacopeia, Inc., a drugdigery product and service company, and later @&sfCiperating Officer of Pharmacopeia
Labs, a division of Pharmacopeia, Inc. Mr. Shugtigred Human Genome Sciences as its first employ&eptember 1992 and as Executive
Vice President of Operations and Finance and hejpétk the development and operation of what wasvbrld’s leading gene sequencing
operation in 1994. Mr. Shuster served as a diragt&@pitomics, Inc., a private monoclonal antibdolgn, from 2002 until May 2010, and a
director of Sorrento Therapeutics, Inc., a biopherautical company, from September 2009 to Febr2@ty and has served as a director of
Retrotope, a privately held biotechnology compayce April 2008. Mr. Shuster received a B.A. immBomics from Swarthmore College and
an M.B.A. from Stanford University. Mr. Shuster pigies the board with an extensive background iarfaial and strategic planning, auditing
and accounting and financial leadership experfiseChairman of the Audit Committee, Mr. Shustepdteeps the board abreast of current
audit issues and collaborates with our independsgistered public accounting firm and senior managyg team.

Charles P. Waite, Jr.,has served as a member of our board of directocg dilarch 2006. Mr. Waite has been a General Rarfr@VP
Venture Partners Il and a Vice President of Nortdtwéenture Services Corp. since 1987, a Generah@&anf OVP Venture Partners Il since
1994, a General Partner of OVP Venture Partnersinde 1997, a General Partner of OVP Venture Parieince 2000 and a General Par
of OVP Venture Partners VI since 2001, all of whiak venture capital firms. He currently servestenboard of directors of eight private
companies. Mr. Waite received an A.B. in Historyrfr Kenyon College and an M.B.A. from Harvard Ungigr. Mr. Waite brings to the board
significant operational and leadership experiersca genture capital investor who sits on a numbéoards. Mr. Waite’s investment focus on
life science companies also provides substantigdrise in our industry.
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Robert T. Wall has served as a member of our board of directoce September 2010. Since August 1984, Mr. Walblezs the Founder a
President of On Point Developments, LLC, a ventnamagement and investment company. Mr. Wall wasiader and, from November 2000
to December 2006, the Chairman of the Board ofd@ms of Airgo Networks, Inc., a Wi-Fi wireless netrrking systems company that was
acquired by QUALCOMM, Inc. in December 2006. Frommd 1997 to November 1998, he was Chief Executifieed and a member of the
board of directors of Clarity Wireless, Inc., a&dband wireless data communications company thatasquired by Cisco Systems, Inc., a
network and communications company, in NovembeB18&. Wall was Chairman of the Board, Presidert @hief Executive Officer of
Theatrix Interactive, Inc., a consumer educaticodiware publisher, from April 1994 to August 199M. Wall has also served as a director of
NetApp, Inc., a computer storage and software coppsince January 1993. Mr. Wall has been a mewiidwe Board of Trustees of the Fi
Arts Museums of San Francisco since June 2007 anehaber of the Visiting Committee, Arts of Afric@ceania and the Americas at the
Metropolitan Museum of Art in New York since Mar2Q07. He received an AB degree in economics frofadbdev University and an M.B.A.
degree from Harvard Business School. Mr. Wall sitaythe board over 30 years of experience leaalimfounding several technology
companies. As a result of Mr. Wallservice on the boards of other public compamiésvaried strategic mergers and acquisition expeeghe
is familiar with a full range of corporate and bobdunctions. Additionally, Mr. Wall's service asaihman of the compensation committee of a
public company provides our board with valuableegignce and leadership in developing and implemgrdur compensation policies.

Scientific Advisory Board

We maintain a scientific advisory board consistifignembers with experience and expertise in tHd 6 genomics and genetics who provide
us with consulting services. Our scientific advisboard consists of the following members:

Mark Chee, Ph.D.,is an internationally recognized expert in genomiitss presently serves as Chief Executive Officet @hief Scientific
Officer of Prognosys Biosciences, Inc. Previoukly co-founded Illumina, Inc., and was Director @n@tics Research at Affymetrix, Inc. He
has published scientific papers on microarray teldgy and applications and is an inventor on ovkis4ued patents. He also serves on the
External Scientific Committee of The Cancer Gend\tias project. Dr. Chee received his B.Sc. in Bietistry from the University of New
South Wales and his Ph.D. in Molecular Biology frtira University of Cambridge.

George Church, Ph.D.js Professor of Genetics at Harvard Medical Sclaoal Director of the Center for Computational GergetiVith

degrees from Duke University in Chemistry and Zgglche co-authored research on 3D-software & RNécstire with Sung-Hou Kim. His
1984 Ph.D. from Harvard in Biochemistry & MolecuBiology with Wally Gilbert included the first dice genomic sequencing method. He co-
initiated the Human Genome Project a few monthey las a Research Scientist at newly formed Biogenadnd was a Monsanto Life Sciences
Research Fellow at UCSF. He invented the broadbiegh concepts of molecular multiplexing and tdgsnologous recombination methods
and array DNA synthesizers. Technology transfeautbmated sequencing and software to Genome Therep€orp. resulted in the first
commercial genome sequence (the human pathogeylati, 1994). He has served in advisory rolesifaijournals, five granting agencies and
22 biotechnology companies. His current researchdes on integrating biosystems-modeling with peakgenomics and synthetic biology.

Leroy Hood, M.D., Ph.D.,is currently President of the Institute for SysteBin@ogy. His research has focused on the studpagcular
immunology, biotechnology and genomics. His prafess career began at the California Institute e€fAnology where he and his colleagues
pioneered four instruments, the DNA gene sequesmngisynthesizer and the protein synthesizer angesegr, which comprise the
technological foundation for contemporary molectd@aiogy. In particular, the DNA sequencer has fetionized genomics by allowing the
rapid, automated sequencing of DNA, which playeduzial role in contributing to the successful magpof the human genome during the
1990s. In 1992, he moved to the University of Wiagtin as founder and Chairman of the cross-disap}i Department of Molecular
Biotechnology. In 2000, he co-founded the InstifoteSystems Biology in Seattle, Washington to pensystems approaches to biology and
medicine. He is a member of the National Academ8aénces, the American Philosophical Society, the
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American Association of Arts and Sciences and tiséitute of Medicine. He has also played a rol®eimding numerous biotechnology
companies, including Amgen, Inc., Applied Biosysseimc., Systemix Institute, Darwin Molecular Cognd Rosetta Inpharmatics LLC.
Dr. Hood received an M.D. from Johns Hopkins ScladdVedicine and a Ph.D. in Biochemistry from thali@rnia Institute of Technology.
He has published more than 600 peer-reviewed pagdisted as an inventor on 14 issued patentshasco-authored textbooks in
biochemistry, immunology, molecular biology and ggcs.

Douglas A. Lauffenburger, Ph.D.,is the Uncas & Helen Whitaker Professor of Bioeeghing and Director of the Biological Engineering
Division at the Massachusetts Institute of Techggland also holds appointments in the DepartmeBiabgy and the Department of
Chemical Engineering. Dr. Lauffenburger receive8.Band Ph.D. degrees in chemical engineering flteruniversity of lllinois in 1975 and
the University of Minnesota in 1979, respectivétys major research interests are in cell engingetime fusion of engineering with molecular
cell biology. A central focus of his research peogris in receptor-mediated cell communication anichcellular signal transduction, with
emphasis on development of predictive computatioradels derived from quantitative experimental &sidon cell cue/signal/response
relationships. These models have applicationsug discovery and development.

Larry Smarr, Ph.D., is the founding Director of the California Instiéutor Telecommunications and Information Technolagpartnership
between the University of California, San Diegod &miversity of California, Irvine, created in 2QdDr. Smarr also holds the Harry E. Gruber
professorship in the Jacobs School’'s Departme@oofiputer Science and Engineering at the Univedditalifornia, San Diego. Dr. Smarr
was the founding director of the National CenterSapercomputing Applications, a position he heltll2000. From 1997 until 2005,

Dr. Smarr served on the Advisory Committee to tlre®@or of the National Institutes of Health. Piausly, he was a professor in the
Astronomy and Physics departments of the Univerditjlinois at Urbana-Champaign from 1979 until ih 2000. Dr. Smarr received a B.A.
and a M.S. in physics from the University of Misgpa M.S. in physics from Stanford University aaéh.D. in physics for the University of
Texas, Austin. Dr. Smarr was a member of the FiSlwggntific Biotechnology Council from 1993 throu$98, has been a member of the
InterWest MedTech Advisory Committee since 1999 laasl been Advisor to the CEO, MedExpert Internatioimc. since 2000. Dr. Smarr is a
pioneer in the field of biomedical computing and Inamerous publications in the field, including fiedtions and quotations f&cience,
Nature,the New York Times, Wall Street Journal, Time, NewswW&@led, Fortune, Business Wetle Sydney Morning Heraldhe Ageand

the Australian Broadcasting Company.

Leadership Structure of the Board

Our board of directors is currently chaired by fresident and Chief Executive Officer of the Conypddr. Reid. Our board has combined the
positions of Chief Executive Officer and Chairmarhelp ensure that the board and management dcawibmmon purpose and to facilitate
the flow of information between management andbiberd. Our board believes that the combinatiomefGhairperson and Chief Executive
Officer position will provide a single, clear chaihcommand to continue to develop our businesseaedute our strategic and business plans.
In addition, our board also believes that it isathageous to have a Chairman with an extensiveriigtith and knowledge of the company :
our industry, as is the case with Dr. Reid, who was of our founders.

Board Composition
I ndependent Directors

Our board of directors currently consists of ninermbers. Effective immediately prior to the consurtiameof this offering, Dr. Rubin will
cease to be a member of our board of directoroantboard of directors will consist of eight direkt. Our board of directors has determined
that all of our directors, other than Dr. Reid, lifyas “independent” directors in accordance wiite NASDAQ listing requirements. Dr. Reid
is not considered independent because he is arogegbf Complete Genomics. The NASDAQ independéedimition includes a series of
objective tests, such as that the director isarod, has not been for at least three years, oner@roployees and that neither the director noi
of his family members has engaged in various
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types of business dealings with us. In additiormeggiired by NASDAQ rules, our board of directoes iImade a subjective determination as to
each independent director that no relationshipstewihich, in the opinion of our board of directomould interfere with the exercise of
independent judgment in carrying out the respoli@s of a director. In making these determinasioour board of directors reviewed and
discussed information provided by the directors amavith regard to each director’s business andqgmetl activities and relationships as they
may relate to us and our management.

Classified Board of Directors

In accordance with our amended and restated oattfiof incorporation to be in effect immediatetiopto the consummation of this offering,
our board of directors will be divided into thrdasses with staggered, three-year terms. At eachadmeeting of stockholders, the successors
to directors whose terms then expire will be elétteserve from the time of election and qualifieatuntil the third annual meeting following
election. Effective upon the completion of thisesffig, our directors will be divided among the thotasses as follows:

= the Class | directors will be Carl L. Gordon, Ph.OFA, Lewis J. Shuster and Charles P. Waiteadd,their terms will expire at the
annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2!

= the Class Il directors will be Alexander E. Barkiah,D. and Andrew E. Senyei, M.D., and their temilsexpire at the annual meetir
of stockholders to be held in 2012; ¢

= the Class lll directors will be C. Thomas CaskeyDM Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D. and Robert T. Wall,catheir terms will expire at th
annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpamatiill provide that the authorized number of dices may be changed only by resolution of
the board of directors. Any additional directorshipsulting from an increase in the number of dinescwill be distributed among the three
classes so that, as nearly as possible, eachvaléssnsist of one-third of the directors. The idion of our board of directors into three classes
with staggered three-year terms may delay or ptewvehange of our management or a change-in-cooftiir company.

Voting Arrangements

The election of the members of our board of dinecte governed by the amended and restated vodiregment that we entered into with
certain holders of our common stock and certaidésl of our convertible preferred stock and thateel provisions of our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation. Pursuartht®voting agreement and these provisions:

= the holders of our Series A Preferred Stock, vosiegarately as a single class, have the rightetd &lo directors to our board of
directors, one of whom is designated by OVP VenRagners VI, L.P. and its affiliates, for which M¥aite has been designated, and
one of whom is designated by Enterprise Partner& Y. and its affiliates, for which Dr. Senyei Heen designate:

= the holders of our Series B Preferred Stock, vasieygarately as a single class, have the righetd ehe director to our board of
directors, who is designated by Prospect Venturtn®es I, L.P., for which Dr. Barkas has beenigeated;

= the holders of our Series C Preferred Stock, vategarately as a single class, have the righetd ehe director to our board of
directors, who is designated by Highland Capitah&gement, L.P., for which Mr. Shuster has beergdesed;

= the holders of our Series D Preferred Stock, vosieyarately as a single class, have the righetd &ko directors to our board
directors, one of whom is designated by Essex WaatHl Health Ventures Fund VIII, L.P., for which Braskey has been designated,
and one of whom is designated by OrbiMed AssocikitelsP and its affiliates, for which Dr. Gordorak been designate

= the holders of our Series E Preferred Stock, vagiparately as a single class, have the righetd ehe director to our board of
directors, who is designated by S-CG, LLC, for which Dr. Rubin has been designa
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= the holders of our common stock, voting separaslg single class, have the right to elect onetiréo our board of directors, who
the thel-current chief executive officer, currently Dr. Re&hd

= the holders of our preferred stock and common steating together as a single class, have the tmhtect the remaining director,
who is currently Mr. Wall

The holders of our common stock and preferred siduk are parties to our voting agreement are otgdiyto vote for such designees indicated
above. The provisions of this voting agreement teilminate upon the completion of this offering anudl certificate of incorporation will be
amended and restated, after which there will beurtber contractual obligations or charter provwsigegarding the election of our directors.
Our directors hold office until their successorgénbeen elected and qualified or appointed, oetltéier of their death, resignation or removal.
Board Diversity

Upon completion of our initial public offering, onpbminating and corporate governance committeebeiltesponsible for reviewing with the
board of directors, on an annual basis, the ap@@pcharacteristics, skills and experience requioe the board of directors as a whole and its
individual members. In evaluating the suitabilifyiredividuals candidates (both new candidates amdeat members), the nominating and
corporate governance committee, in recommendindidates for election, and the board of directargpproving (and, in the case of
vacancies, appointing) such candidates, will take account many factors, including the following:

= personal and professional integri

= ethics and value!

= experience in corporate management, such as seaasiag officer or former officer of a publicly heddmpany

= experience in the industries in which we comp

= experience as a board member of another publidty d@mpany:

= diversity of expertise and experience in substammatters pertaining to our business relative heroboard member
= conflicts of interest; an

= practical and mature business judgm

Currently, our board of directors evaluates, adldfang the completion of our initial public offerg will evaluate, each individual in the
context of the board of directors as a whole, whihobjective of assembling a group that can bestimnze the success of the business and
represent stockholder interests through the exedfisound judgment using its diversity of expeciein these various areas.

Board Committees

Our board of directors has an audit committee , rapsmsation committee and a nominating and corpg@ternance committee. Our board of
directors may establish other committees to fatdithe management of our business. The compositidriunctions of each committee are
described below.

Audit Committee

Our audit committee oversees our corporate acaogiatind financial reporting process. Among othertenst the audit committee:
= appoints our independent registered public accogritim;
= evaluates the independent registered public acowufitm’s qualifications, independence and performa
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= determines the engagement of the independent eeglspublic accounting firn
= reviews and approves the scope of the annual andithe audit fee

= discusses with management and the independentaeggipublic accounting firm the results of thewadraudit and the review of our
guarterly financial statement

= approves the retention of the independent regidteudlic accounting firm to perform any proposedmissible no-audit services
= monitors the rotation of partners of the independegistered public accounting firm on our engageineam as required by la

= is responsible for reviewing our financial statetseand our managemrs discussion and analysis of financial conditiod eesults o
operations to be included in our annual and qugrteports to be filed with the SE!

= reviews our critical accounting policies and estesaanc
= annually reviews the audit committee charter ardcthmmitte’s performance

The current members of our audit committee are Gartlon, Ph.D., CFA, Andrew E. Senyei, M.D. and isW Shuster. Mr. Shuster serves as
the chairman of the committee. All members of awdiscommittee meet the requirements for finanktiefacy under the applicable rules and
regulations of the SEC and NASDAQ. Our board oécliors has determined that Mr. Shuster is an aodiimittee financial expert as defined
under the applicable rules of the SEC and hasettpeisite financial sophistication as defined urtierapplicable rules and regulations of The
NASDAQ Stock Market. Under the rules of the SECmhers of the audit committee must also meet heigliténdependence standar
However, a minority of the members of the audit odttee may be exempt from the heightened audit ctteenindependence standards for
one year from the date of effectiveness of thestegfion statement of which this prospectus formard Our board has determined that each of
Dr. Senyei and Mr. Shuster meet these heighterdapandence standards. Due to his relationship@uitiiMed Advisors LLC and its affiliate
funds, which may be deemed to be an affiliate adussto the size of its holdings in our securitl®s,Gordon does not currently meet the
heightened independence requirements under Rule3ldfAhe Exchange Act but may following our initeublic offering. If necessary, our
board intends to appoint a new director meetingaheightened independence standards to replacgofton as a member of our audit
committee in reliance on the phase-in exemptiosymmt to Rule 10A-3(b)(1)(iv)(A)(2) under the Exoba Act. Upon expiration of this phase-
in exemption one year from the effectiveness ofrtfugstration statement of which this prospectus jgrt, each of our audit committee
members must meet the heightened independenceeasgarits under Rule 10A-3(b)(1) under the Exchangte Phe audit committee operates
under a written charter that satisfies the appleatandards of the SEC and NASDAQ.

Compensation Committee

Our compensation committee reviews and recommeolitsgs relating to compensation and benefits afafficers and employees. The
compensation committee reviews and approves cagpgaals and objectives relevant to compensatiamupfChief Executive Officer and ott
executive officers, evaluates the performance edétofficers in light of those goals and objectiard sets the compensation of these officers
based on such evaluations. The compensation coengitso recommends to our board of directors taitce of stock options and other
awards under our stock plans. The compensation éeemvill review and evaluate, at least annualhg performance of the compensation
committee and its members, including compliancéhieycompensation committee with its charter. Theett members of our compensation
committee are Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.D., Charl&¥/#te, Jr. and Robert T. Wall. Mr. Wall servestas chairman of the committee. Each of
the members of our compensation committee is inudget under the applicable rules and regulatiolthefNASDAQ Global Market, is a
“non-employee director” as defined in Rule 16b-8mulgated under the Exchange Act and is an “outdiigketor” as that term is defined in
Section 162(m) of the U.S. Internal Revenue CodEd86, as amended, or Section 162(m). The compgensadimmittee operates under a
written charter.
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Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The nominating and corporate governance commisteesponsible for making recommendations to ourcdbofdirectors regarding candidates
for directorships and the size and compositionwflmard of directors. In addition, the nominatargl corporate governance committee is
responsible for overseeing our corporate governpntieies and reporting and making recommendatiormur board of directors concerning
governance matters. The current members of ourmetting and corporate governance committee are AtiakE. Barkas, Ph.D., Charles P.
Waite, Jr. and Robert T. Wall. Dr. Barkas servethashairman of the committee. Each of the membieosir nominating and corporate
governance committee is an independent directoeuting applicable rules and regulations of The NA®DGlobal Market relating to
nominating and corporate governance committee imi@gnce. The nominating and corporate governarmenditee operates under a written
charter.

There are no family relationships among any ofditectors or executive officers.

Oversight of Risk Management

Our board of directors has an active role, as aevaod also at the committee level, in oversediegmnanagement of our risks. The board of
directors is responsible for general oversightigks and regularly reviews information regarding Bsks, including credit risks, liquidity risks
and operational risks. Our compensation commigeesponsible for overseeing the management of radkting to our company’s executive
compensation plans and arrangements. Our audit gteens responsible for overseeing the managewfemir risks relating to accounting
matters and financial reporting and legal and raguy compliance. Our nominating and corporate guaece committee is responsible for
overseeing the management of our risks associatadive independence of our board of directors aoténtial conflicts of interest. While ea
committee is responsible for evaluating certaiksriand overseeing the management of such riskgntine board of directors is regularly
informed through committee reports about such ri€kg board of directors believes its administratdd its risk oversight function has not
affected the board of directors’ leadership strrectu

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Parti cipation

During 2009, our compensation committee consistedlexander E. Barkas, Ph.D., Carl L. Gordon, Ph@FA, and Charles P. Waite, Jr.

Dr. Barkas served as Chairman of the Compensationndttee. None of the members of the compensatiomdittee is currently, or has been
at any time, one of our officers or employees. Noheur executive officers currently serves, or sasred during the last completed three fi
years, as a member of the board of directors opemisation committee of any other entity that hasaok one or more executive office

serving as a member of our board of directors anpensation committee. In July 2010, Dr. Gordongmsd from the compensation commit

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a code of business conduct aras eltat applies to all of our employees, officerd directors, including those officers
responsible for financial reporting. Following tbempletion of this offering, the code of businessduct and ethics will be available on our
website at www.completegenomics.com. We expectadhgptamendments to the code, or any waivers oéisirements, will be disclosed on
our website.

Director Compensation

Our directors do not currently receive any cashmamsation for their services as members of ourdofdirectors or any committee of our
board of directors. Directors are reimbursed fasomable travel, lodging and other expenses ingumreonnection with their attendance at
board of directors or committee meetings. In 2@28,nonemployee directors, Drs. Barkas, Caskey, GordonSamyei and Messrs. Hukill a
Waite, did not receive any compensation in conoeatiith their service on our board of directorsaoy committee of our board of directors.
Mr. Hukill resigned from our board of directorsedfive January 7, 2009.
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None of our directors held any unvested restristedk or stock options as of December 31, 2

In April 2010, our board of directors granted eatidr. Caskey and Mr. Shuster an option to purcH#5800 shares of our common stock for
$1.50 per share, which our board of directors deitexd to be the fair market value of our commomrlstan the date of grant. In July 2010, the
compensation committee of our board of directorergted each of the option grants to Dr. Caskey andRuster to increase the exercise
price of these stock options to $2.43 per sharé&wte compensation committee determined to bésaihenarket value of our common stock
on the date of grant following a valuation of oomamon stock as of March 31, 2010. At a subsequeseting of our board of directors in July
2010, our board granted each of Dr. Caskey andSkuster an option to purchase 2,500 shares ofamamon stock for $2.69 per share, which
our board of directors determined to be the fairkmavalue of our common stock on the date of graath of the stock options vestin 12 e
monthly installments measured from the respecteating commencement dates of August 12, 2009 fo€Bskey and April 8, 2010 for

Mr. Shuster, which correspond to their dates ofoagment to our board of directors.

Our board of directors has approved a compensptibay for our non-employee directors to be effeetin connection with the consummation
of this offering, or the Non-Employee Director Coengation Policy. Pursuant to the Non-Employee Bare€Compensation Policy, our non-
employee directors will receive cash compensat®ofobows:

= Each no-employee director will receive annual cash compimsan the amount of $30,000 per ye

= The chairperson of the audit committee will receadelitional annual cash compensation in the amo$15,000 per year for sut
chairperson’s service on the audit committee. Eexirchairperson member of the audit committee nedkive additional annual cash
compensation in the amount of $5,000 per yeardoh snembe’s service on the audit committe

= The chairperson of the compensation committeerediéive additional annual cash compensation imtheunt of $10,000 per year 1
such chairperson’s service on the compensation dtte@nEach non-chairperson member of the compemsedmmittee will receive
additional annual cash compensation in the amou$%,000 per year for such mem’s service on the compensation commit

= The chairperson of the nominating and corporateegance committee will receive additional annuahceompensation in the amo
of $10,000 per year for such chairperson’s sergitéhe nominating and corporate governance comeniach non-chairperson
member of the nominating and corporate governaonedttee will receive additional annual cash congagion in the amount of
$5,000 per year for such mem'’s service on the nominating and corporate govemaommittee

In addition, at the first meeting of our board gkdtors following the consummation of this offegiand thereafter upon initial election or
appointment to our board of directors, each aoployee director will be granted a stock optioptiochase 10,000 shares of our common ¢
with an exercise price equal to the closing tragirige of our common stock on the date of granictviwill vest as to one-third of the shares
underlying the stock option on the one-year ansiagr of the date of grant, and the remaining shaiégest on a monthly basis over the
following 24 months. Each non-employee directot alo receive 5,000 restricted stock units, whidhvest as to one-third of the restricted
stock units on each anniversary of the date oftggach that the award will be fully vested on thied anniversary of the date of grant.

Effective in connection with our annual meetingstifckholders in 2012, each non-employee directar ads served as director since the
preceding year’'s annual meeting of stockholderkheilgranted a stock option to purchase 8,000 shareur common stock with an exercise
price equal to the closing trading price of our coom stock on the date of grant, which will vest@a4/36th of the shares on a monthly basis
over three years, and 4,000 restricted stock umhg;h will vest as to one-third of the restric&tdck units on each anniversary of the date of
grant such that the award will be fully vested loa third anniversary of the date of grant.
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Executive Compensation

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

This section discusses the principles underlyingpalicies and decisions with respect to the corspan of our executive officers who are
named in the Summary Compensation Table that appetow and the most important factors relevamint@nalysis of these policies and
decisions. These officers, whom we refer to asnamed executive officers, consist of Clifford A.ilRePh.D., President and Chief Executive
Officer, Robert J. Curson, Chief Financial Officand Radoje Drmanac, Ph.D., Chief Science Offidéz.did not have any executive officers
other than the named executive officers duringafigear 2009.

Objectives and Philosophy Regarding our Executive Compensation

We recognize that the ability of our business toeéxlepends on the integrity, knowledge, imagimatgkill, diversity and teamwork of our
employees. To this end, we strive to create arrenrient of mutual respect, encouragement and tegkrnivat rewards commitment and
performance and that is responsive to the needaredmployees. The principles and objectives ofcampensation and benefits programs for
our named executive officers are to:

= attract, engage and retain individuals of supexhility, experience and managerial talent to leadoammpany

= align compensation decisions with our corporatategies, business and financial objectives antbtigterm interests of our
stockholders

= motivate and reward executives whose knowledgéls gid performance are the foundation for our ioaetd collective succes
= ensure that the elements of compensation, indillidaad in the aggregate, do not encourage exceswsk-taking; anc
= ensure that total compensation is fair, reasonafdecompetitive

The compensation components described below argnaéekto simultaneously fulfill one or more of tegxinciples and objectives.

Components of our Executive Compensation
The individual components of our executive compgosaonsist primarily of:
= base salary
= performance bonuse
= equity incentives
= pos-termination benefits; an
= various other employee benefi

We view each of these components as related hincisreviewing them each individually, as wellaslectively, to ensure that the total
compensation paid to our executive officers meeobjectives as set forth above. Not all elemarggrovided to all named executive
officers. Instead, we determine the appropriatellésr each compensation component based in patriydi exclusively, on our understanding
of the market based on the experience of our Rres@hd Chief Executive Officer and members oftmard of directors and consistent with
our recruiting and retention goals, our view otimtal equity and consistency, the length of serefagur executives, our overall performance
and other considerations we deem relevant.
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Historically, except as described below, we haveadopted any formal or informal policies or guidek for allocating compensation between
long-term and currently paid out compensation, ketwcash and noncash compensation or among differems of noncash compensation.
However, our philosophy is to make a greater peeggnof our executive officer compensation tiedttxkholder returns and to keep cash
compensation to a nominally competitive level wigiteviding the opportunity to be wakkwarded through equity if we perform well over éi
To this end, we use stock options as a significantponent of compensation because we believehbgttest tie an individua’compensatio
to the creation of stockholder value. While we pffempetitive base salaries, we believe stock-basetpensation is a significant motivator in
attracting employees in our field.

Each of the primary elements of our executive campgon is discussed in more detail below. Whileharee identified particular
compensation objectives that each element of execabmpensation serves, our compensation progeaendesigned to be flexible and
complementary and to collectively serve all of éxecutive compensation objectives described absseordingly, whether or not specifically
mentioned below, we believe that, as a part ofowarall executive compensation policy, each indieidelement, to a greater or lesser extent,
serves each of our objectives.

Compensation Determination Process

Compensation for our named executive officers hstetically been highly individualized, as competiza levels were often the result from
arm’s-length negotiations and were based on atyasfeinformal factors including, in addition togHactors listed above, our financial
condition and available resources, evaluation hyboard of directors of the competitive market lobse the experience of our directors with
other companies and the compensation levels obihar executive officers, each as of the time efapplicable compensation decision.

Previously, our President and Chief Executive @ffi@and, with respect to our President and Chiefchtive Officer, our board of directors, |
reviewed the performance of each named executfieeof This process generally occurred on an anbasis, though we do not set a
predetermined time for such review. Historicallye hhave not used relevant market compensation Waketting compensation levels for our
named executive officers. Instead, our PresidedtGinief Executive Officer, based on his experiemrel in light of the factors described
above, made recommendations regarding our exeatgivgpensation packages for our named executiveensj other than for himself, to our
board of directors for review. The factors we hesleed upon in making these decisions include tregany’s performance and an evaluation
of each named executive officer’s performance dutire year, leadership qualities, operational perémce, business responsibilities, career
with us, current compensation arrangements andtemg potential to enhance stockholder value. Kalig this analysis, our board of
directors, based in part on the recommendatiomsioPresident and Chief Executive Officer, setdbmpensation levels for all of our named
executive officers, including our President andeERixecutive Officer.

In March 2009, our board of directors approvednagierary reduction in annual base salaries in cdiorewith a company-wide coséduction
initiative, pursuant to which we reduced the badarges of our named executive officers and othepleyees by approximately 50% and
granted them additional stock options. This deaisias designed to reduce the cash demands on myacy in light of the then-existing
macro-economic climate while continuing to provaleg named executive officers with adequate incestiv

In September 2009, our compensation committee ¢oake responsibility of proposing compensatiorelevwo our board of directors for
adoption. The compensation committee began witgview of the primary aspects of our compensati@ym@mms for our named executive
officers, including base salaries, performance Beawand equity incentive targets. As part of thie@ss, the compensation committee directly
engaged Radford, a compensation consulting compamypvide compensation surveys and a generalratzseling of current compensation
practices. The 2008 Radford Global Life SciencesIPO Survey compiled compensation data from glofeasciences companies without
publicly traded securities that have raised att|$86 million in invested capital, and the 2009 fad Benchmark Survey compiled
compensation data for technology companies with lean 200 employees and operations in the SariBcanBay Area. The surveys provided
by Radford
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reported statistics on the total compensation tisosand responsibilities of executives. While oampensation committee reviewed the
statistical compensation data and elements defireed this supplemental industry information, thevays did not include, nor was our
compensation committee aware of, the identity gf @fithe surveyed companies. As a result, our corsgion committee did not benchmark
executive compensation against any single compaay adentifiable select group of companies. In laber 2009, as a result of our
compensation committee’s review, the compensatonneittee recommended, and our board of directgoscaed, adjustments to executive
compensation.

In December 2009, our board of directors revieviedequity holdings of our named executive offidarkght of the significant dilutive effect
of our Series D preferred stock financing. In ordeoffset our named executive officers for a mortof the dilutive effect of the financing and
to continue to incentivize their efforts for oumepany, our board of directors approved a progragraat equity awards to our named
executive officers, as well as the payment of dastuses to mitigate the tax effects of certairhose grants. See “— Long-Term Equity
Incentives” below.

Following the completion of this offering, our coersation committee will take on the responsibiityecommending executive compensa
for all of our named executive officers, and ouatubof directors will retain primary authority redang the determination and approval of
compensation.

Base Salaries

In general, base salaries for our executive offigee initially established through arm’s-lengtigatéation at the time the executive is hired,
taking into account such executive’s qualificatioegperience and prior salary. Historically, baaskages of our named executive officers were
approved and reviewed periodically by our Presi@dent Chief Executive Officer or, in the case of Buesident and Chief Executive Officer’s
base salary, by our board of directors. In SepterB®@9, our compensation committee took over resipdity for conducting reviews of the
base salaries of our named executive officers aakimg adjustments based on the scope of the exetutiesponsibilities, individual
contribution, prior experience and sustained petforce. Decisions regarding salary increases mayitdé account the named executive
officer’s current salary and equity ownership. lakimg decisions regarding salary increases, weatstydraw upon the experience of
members of our board of directors or compensatommmittee with other companies and may also considemal equity. Base salaries are .
reviewed in the case of significant changes inaasibility. No formulaic base salary increases@mvided to our named executive officers.
This strategy is consistent with our intent of dfig compensation that is cost-effective, competitind linked to performance.

In April 2009, in response to the maaoenomic climate and in order to preserve our casburces, our board of directors temporarily red
annual base salary compensation for Dr. Reid, Bmdhac and Mr. Curson by over 50% from $240,00Q0$100 and $195,000 to $95,200,
$89,908 and $83,050, respectively. Our named execafficers were granted additional stock optitmpartially offset the reduced salaries
further described under “— Long-Term Equity Inceas” below.

In June 2009, our compensation committee determenedithe board of directors approved, the restoratf our named executive officers’
salaries to their previous levels in light of thetieipated improved cash position of the compaiynfits Series D preferred stock financing and
the outlook of the greater economy as a wholedtiteon, the compensation committee reviewed a @amation survey provided by Radford
which indicated that our named executive officexseived base salaries at levels below the 25 pelecefexecutives in similar positions at
the companies included in the surveys. In Novern2B80, upon recommendation of the compensation cttesniour board of directors
authorized increases to the annual base salary.&®é&d, Dr. Drmanac and Mr. Curson to $320,00G05200 and $230,000, respectively. A
giving effect to these base salary increases, dse balaries of Dr. Reid and Mr. Curson remainvbéihe 25 percentile of the companies that
participate in the Radford compensation survey@ndrmanac’s base salary is between thé 25 aritpgcentile.
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Performance Bonuses

Historically, our named executive officers have patticipated in a performance bonus program. &ustere have relied on stock option grants
to provide performance-based incentives to our mb@xecutive officers.

In November 2009, upon the recommendation of oorpgensation committee following its review of alpasts of our executive compensation
program, our board of directors approved a targeiopmance bonus amount for each of our named éxeafficers. For 2010, the annual
target amount for Dr. Reid, Dr. Drmanac and Mr.<ouris $100,000, $70,000 and $70,000, respecti@ly.compensation committee
recommended the level of the target bonus amowstsdon its review of the Radford compensationesuand based on the experience of the
members of the compensation committee with sintitarus programs. In March 2010, our named execoffieers each agreed to forgo these
target bonus amounts and instead receive cash é@guanted to offset taxes in connection with tbeksgrants described under “— Long-
Term Equity Incentives” below.

Long-Term Equity I ncentives

The goal of our long-term, equity-based incentiwels is to align the interests of our named exeeutfficers with the interests of our
stockholders by focusing our executives on longitebjectives. In addition, because vesting is basedontinued employment, our equity-
based incentives also encourage the retentionrafi@med executive officers through the vestingqaedf the awards.

Our board of directors approves all equity graatsur employees, including our named executiveeerfi. In determining the number of shares
of our common stock to be subject to long-term gguicentives awarded to our named executive afficeur board of directors has taken into
account a number of internal factors, such asefaive job scope, the value of existing long-ténoentive awards, individual performance
history, prior contributions to us and the sizgoér grants. Historically, our board of directdras not referred to competitive market data in
determining long-term equity incentive awards, @ltgh it has drawn upon the experience of its meswwéh other companies. Based on these
factors, our board of directors determines the gfabe long-term equity incentives at levels ihsiolers appropriate to create a meaningful
opportunity for reward based on the creation ofkerm stockholder value. Following the completadrihis offering, we expect our
compensation committee to oversee our long-terntyeucentive program.

We use stock options to compensate our executficeos both in the form of initial grants in contiea with the commencement of
employment and periodic grants aimed at both reingreixceptional performance and continuing to itieere the executive officers. To date,
there has been no set program for the award o thesodic grants, and our board of directors nstdiscretion to make stock option awards to
employees at any time, including in connection wiith promotion of an employee, to reward an emppfa@ retention purposes or in other
circumstances. From time to time, our board ofadoes conducts a review of the stock option egpdsitions of those employees who may be
nearing the end of the vesting periods of theistutding options. As a part of this review, therbaz directors will make grants based on
considerations including, among other factors a@meaunt of vesting remaining for the particular eoypke’s stock options as well as any
management recommendations regarding the emplogegaermance or role in the company’s future openat

The exercise price of each stock option grantesfaéliir market value of our common stock on the gdate, as determined by our board of
directors. Initial stock options granted to our mahexecutive officers typically vest over a fouayeeriod as follows:

= 25% of the shares underlying the option vest orfitebanniversary of the date of the vesting comogment date, which is typically
the date of hire; an

= the remainder of the shares underlying the opt&st in equal monthly installments over the nextfths.

Our periodic grants will typically vest in equal ntbly installments over four years from the vestimgnmencement date. We believe these
vesting schedules appropriately encourage long-éanployment with our company while allowing our extives to realize compensation in
line with the value they have created for our shmitters.
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In November 2009, our board of directors made stgtion grants to each of our named executive effidollowing the completion of our
Series D preferred stock financing. Our board ofctors granted Dr. Reid, Dr. Drmanac and Mr. Caitao option to purchase 3,090, 2,864
2,510 shares of our common stock, respectivelys&loption grants were intended to partially ofteetreductions in the officers’ base salaries
related to the company-wide cost reduction measaragril 2009. Our board of directors determinéeé humber of shares for each of the
named executive officers’ option grants by caldatathe percentage reduction in base salary thaedaexecutive officer had experienced
relative to all employees and applied that perggta a predetermined option pool to derive the sizhe option grant. These options had a
per share exercise price equal to $1.50, whictboard of directors determined equaled the per dharenarket value of our common stock on
the date of grant, and vest as to 1/48th of the tatmber of shares on each monthly anniversa®paoif 1, 2009.

In connection with our Series D preferred stoclaficing, Dr. Reid, Dr. Drmanac and Mr. Curson eagiedenced substantial dilution with
respect to their common stock holdings and outstgnstock option grants. In December 2009, our tda@didirectors implemented a plan to
offset a portion of this dilution with a seriesegfuity grants to our named executive officers. @ednber 28, 2009, our board of directors
granted each of Dr. Reid, Dr. Drmanac and Mr. Qui&o option to purchase 66,666 shares of our constumk. These options have a per
share exercise price of $1.50, which our boardreictbrs determined to be the per share fair mar&kete of our common stock on the date of
grant, are immediately exercisable and vest a#i@ill of the total number of shares on each morghhiversary of August 12, 2009, the
completion date of our Series D preferred stocéarfizing.

In February 2010, our board of directors approwditaoonal equity grants to the executive officeypartially offset the dilutive effect of the
Series D preferred stock financing. Dr. Reid, Dm2nac and Mr. Curson were granted options to @sel341,667, 218,501 and 59,001 st

of our common stock, respectively, for a per skeeercise price equal to $1.50, which our boardirefotiors determined to be the per share fair
market value of our common stock on the date afitgfBhese stock options vest with respect to ¥48thetotal number of shares subject to
the options on each monthly anniversary of Aug2st2D09. In addition, in March 2010, Dr. Reid, Drmanac and Mr. Curson received
285,867, 395,333 and 105,333 fully vested sharesioEommon stock, respectively, to partially offge dilutive effect of the Series D
preferred stock financing. Our board of directdsoapproved cash bonuses to Dr. Reid, Dr. DrmanddMVr. Curson in the amounts of
$361,615, $500,087 and $133,244, respectivelyffsethe incremental taxes incurred by our namestetive officers in connection with the
stock grants.

As a result of our board of directors’ assesmenheffair market value of our common stock followihe Series D preferred stock financing,
our board of directors approved a stock option ffication in January 2010. The exercise price obalistanding stock options granted before
January 28, 2010 that were held by then-curreni@meps and consultants and had a per share exeraisegreater than $1.50 per share were
modified to decrease the exercise price to $1.5GIpare, which our board of directors determinebeahe fair market value of our common
stock on January 28, 2010. Other than a reducedisgeprice, the terms and conditions of the stumions remained the same. Our board of
directors determined that the modification was appate in light of the significant decrease in tae market value of our common stock.

We do not have any formal security ownership regqagnts for our named executive officers. As a pelyaowned company, there has been no
market for our common stock. Accordingly, in 200& had no program, plan or practice pertainindiétiming of stock option grants to
executive officers coinciding with the release afterial non-public information. We intend to adagdbrmal policy regarding the timing of
grants after the completion of this offering.

Severance Arrangements

Our board of directors has provided ptatmination severance benefits to our named exexofficers, as it determined that such benefite
necessary to retain our named executive officeus.t€mination benefits are intended and desigoediéviate the financial impact of an
involuntary termination and maintain a stable work
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environment. In determining the severance bengfitee payable pursuant to the agreements entei@avith our named executive officers, we
relied on the experience of the members of ourdoédirectors to determine the level of severdmerefits sufficient to retain our named
executive officers. In connection with certain térations of employment, our named executive offcqaay be entitled to receive severance
payments and benefits pursuant to their respestiverance agreements, as further described in ‘ver&ece Arrangements” below.

We have routinely granted and will continue to graur named executive officers stock options urmerequity incentive plans. For a
description of the change-in-control provision®ur equity incentive plans applicable to theselstitions, see “— Employee Benefit and
Stock Plans — 2010 Equity Incentive Award Plan” &r€ 2006 Equity Incentive Plan” below. The estinttalue of these benefits, along
with the benefits payable upon the terminationropyment of certain named executive officersgisferth below in the section entitled
“Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change-amébl.”

Employee Benefits

We provide standard employee benefits to our faletemployees in the United States, including amed executive officers, including
health, disability and life insurance and a 405(&n, as a means of attracting and retaining oyrl@yees.

Tax Considerations

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 188@Gmended, or the Code, generally disallowg daduction for compensation in excess
of $1.0 million paid to our Chief Executive Officand our Chief Scientific Officer. Qualifying perfoance-based compensation is not subject
to the deduction limitation if specified requirenieare met. We generally intend to structure théopmance-based portion of our executive
compensation, when feasible, to comply with exeom#tiin Section 162(m) so that the compensationirentax deductible to us. However, |
board of directors may, in its judgment, authodaenpensation payments that do not comply with #egrgtions in Section 162(m) when it
believes that such payments are appropriate tacatind retain executive talent.

2009 Summary Compensation Table

The following table summarizes the compensatiobweapaid to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief &irtial Officer and Chief Scientific
Officer, who were our only executive officers dyithe year ended December 31, 2009. We refer s thfficers in this prospectus as our
named executive officers.

Option
All other
Salary awards compensation Total

Name and principal position Year $) ($) W ($) ($)
Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D. 200¢ $215,78: $96,71: $ 5,40( $317,89:

President and Chief Executive Offic
Robert J. Curso(?) 200¢ 171,49 96,00¢ 5,40( 272,90:

Chief Financial Office
Radoje Drmanac, Ph.l 200¢ 191,36( 96,43t 5,40( 293,19¢

Chief Scientific Officer
(1) Amounts represent the grant date fair value focktoptions granted in fiscal 2009 calculated in @ctance with ASC Topic 718 and exclude the impbestimated forfeitures relate

to servic-based vesting conditions. See Note 10 to our fiahstatements included in this prospectus forscdssion of assumptions made in determining thetghate fair value
(2) Mr. Curson served as our Chief Financial OfficetilMay 2010.

Grants of Plan-based Awards in 2009

All options granted to our named executive offiaar@009 were incentive stock options, to the exgammissible under the Code. The exercise
price per share of each option granted to our naewedutive officers
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in 2009 was determined by our board of directose@qual to the fair market value of our commailson the date of the grant. All options
identified below were granted under our 2006 Eqlitientive Plan as described in the section edtittanployee Benefit and Stock Plans —
2006 Equity Incentive Plan.”

The following table shows information regardingrgsaof equity awards during the year ended Decer®bg2009 to each of our named
executive officers.

All other option

Exercise
awards;
number of or base
securities price of Grant date fair
Board underlying option value of stock and
approval options awards
Name Grant date date (#) ($/share) option awards ($)
Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D. 11/13/200! 11/6/200¢ 3,09( $ 1.5C $ 3,151
12/28/200! 12/28/200! 66,66¢ 1.5C 78,07
Robert J. Curso 11/13/200! 11/6/200¢ 2,51( 1.5C 2,55(
12/28/200! 12/28/200! 66,66¢ 1.5C 78,07
Radoje Drmanac, Ph.I 11/13/200! 11/6/200¢ 2,86¢ 1.5C 2,91t
12/28/200! 12/28/200! 66,66¢ 1.5C 78,07

Narrative to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-based Award Table

Employment Agreements, Offer Letters and Arrangements
We do not currently have employment agreementdfer [etter agreements with any of our named exeeudfficers.

Equity Compensation

As described under “— Compensation Discussion amalysis” above, the compensation committee appregeity compensation awards in
the form of stock options to each of our named ettee officers in November and December 2009. Foraninformation regarding the equity
compensation awards and our equity award pracfitease see the section titled “— Compensationu3sion and Analysis — Long-Term
Equity Incentives.” In addition, the named execaitdfficers’ equity compensation awards may, un@etain circumstances, be subject to
accelerated vesting in the event that a named &xeafficer is terminated or in the event of a ghe-in-control. For more information
regarding the accelerated vesting provisions agatritent of the equity compensation awards in tleatear named executive officer is
terminated or a change-in-control of the compaag,the sections titled “— Severance Arrangemefis,Potential Payments upon
Termination or Change-in-Control” and “— Employeerifit and Stock Plans” below.

Other Ben€fits

For a description of the other elements of our eftee compensation program, see the section titedCompensation Discussion and Analy
— Employee Benefits.”
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Outstanding Equity Awards at 2009 Fiscal Year-End

The following table shows grants of stock optionsstanding on December 31, 2009, the last daysbiclampleted fiscal year, to each of our
named executive officers. None of our named exeewfficers have received grants of unvested stoekrds.

Option Awards @

Number of
securities Number of
underlying securities Option
unexercised underlying exercise
unexercised Option
options (#) options (#) price expiration
Name exercisable unexercisable (%) date
Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D. 51t@ 2,57¢ $ 1.5C 11/12/201!
66,66¢® — 1.5C 12/27/201!
Robert J. Curso 41€ 2,092 1.5C 11/12/201!
66,66(® — 1.5C 12/27/201!
Radoje Drmanac, Ph.I 477 2,381 1.5C 11/12/201!
66,66¢® — 1.5C 12/27/201!

(1) Each stock option was granted pursuant to our 2Bg6ity Incentive Plan. The vesting schedule andcisability of each stock option is described ie footnotes belov

(2) This award vests over a fc-year period as to 1/4th of the shares subject to the stock option on a hiphisis following the vesting commencement dygisl 1, 2009.

(3) This award vests over a four-year period ag/8th of the shares subject to the stock option orathly basis following the vesting commencematet, dugust 12, 2009. This award
contains an early exercise provisic

Option Exercises and Stock Vested in 2009
None of our named executive officers exercisedksttions during 2009 and none of our named exeewtficers hold stock award

Pension Benefits
We do not maintain any defined benefit pensionglan

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation
We do not maintain any nonqualified deferred conspéion plans.

Severance Arrangements

In March 2006, we entered into severance arrangeméth each of our named executive officers. Thasangements set forth the terms of
each named executive officer’'s severance in thatedehis termination of employment under specifi@@d@umstances. Under the arrangements,
if a named executive officer's employment is teratéd at any time without cause or he experiencemnstructive termination (as each term is
defined in his severance agreement), the compalhpnoivide continuation of his base salary for signths following the termination date, as
well as six months’ vesting acceleration for stopkions and restricted stock. In addition, sevezarenefits would include reimbursement for
group health continuation coverage premiums fohesned executive officer and his eligible depetslander the Consolidated Omnibus
Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended ifonwonths.

However, if the termination occurs within 12 montbkowing a change-in-control, all stock optiomestricted stock and other equity awards
outstanding automatically vest in full and becomlé/fexercisable. A named executive officer mustivide a general release of claims against
our company in order to be eligible for any seveeapayments.
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Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change-in-Co  ntrol
The following table illustrates the potential payrtseto each of our named executive officers in eation with:

= his termination without cause outside the contéx@ change-in-control of us, assuming such terrmonatccurred on December 31,
2009;

= his termination without cause, or constructive feation, within 12 months following a char-in-control of us, assuming su
termination in connection with a change-in-contbls occurred on December 31, 2009 and his optiere assumed or substituted
by the acquiring entity; ar

= the acceleration of his equity awards in connecatith a change-in-control of us, where the potémttauiring entity does not assume
or substitute the options held by him and his emplent is continued with us and/or the acquiringtgnassuming such change-in-
control occurred on December 31, 20

Potential payments in connection with:

Termination Equity awards are
without cause or not assumed or
within 12 months substituted in

Termination following a connection with a

Name Type of benefit without cause change -in-control change -in-control
Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D. Salary $ 160,00 $ 160,00(® $ =
Benefits 8,791 8,791@ —
Equity Award Acceleratia 65,391 477,64'@ 477,64'®
Total 234,18« 646,43t 477,64!
Robert J. Curso Salary 115,00(® 115,00(@ —
Benefits 9712 9712 —
Equity Award Acceleratic 64,843 474,024 474,02:@®
Total 180,81¢ 589,99 474,02:
Radoje Drmanac, Ph.I Salary 125,00(® 125,00(@ —
Benefits 7,9322 7,932 —
Equity Award Acceleratic 65,181 476,23'@ 476,23!@
Total 198,11! 609,16° 476,23!

(1) Represents six mon’ of base salary. See discussion ur“ — Severance Arrangemer”

(2) Represents six mon’ of health care benefits. See discussion u“— Severance Arrangemer”

(3) Represents the value of six months of vesting e@tin of the unvested option awards subject tebaration, calculated based upon the expectealmtiblic offering price of $9.0
price per share minus the exercise pri

(4) Represents the value of the vesting acceleratid®@% of the the-unvested option awards subject to acceleratioigutated based upon the expected initial publiewfiy price of
$9.00 price per share minus the exercise pi

Risk Analysis of Our Compensation Plans

The compensation committee has reviewed our conagiengpolicies generally applicable to our emplasy/aad believes that our policies do
not encourage excessive and unnecessary risk-takmagthat the level of risk that they do encouriaget reasonably likely to have a material
adverse effect on us. Our compensation policiegpaograms are designed to encourage our emplogaesain focused on both the shantc
long-term goals of us. For example, while our dashus plans are intended to measure performanee annual basis, our equity awards
typically vest over a number of years, which waéwd encourages our employees to focus on sustatnekholder appreciation and limits the
potential value of excessive risk-taking. The cotigei believes that the mix of long-term equity imidee, short-term cash incentive bonus and
base salary appropriately balances both the simarteang-term performance goals of us without enaging excessive risk-related behavior.
While the compensation committee regularly evakidgecompensation programs, the committee belithatsts current balance of incentives
both adequately compensates its employees anchdb@somote excessive risk taking.
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Confidentiality Information, Secrecy and Invention Agreements

Each of our named executive officers has enteredarstandard form agreement with respect to cenfidl information, secrecy and
inventions. Among other things, these agreemenriigaib each named executive officer to refrain frdistlosing any of our proprietary
information received during the course of employtrand, with some exceptions, to assign to us avgritions conceived or developed during
the course of employment.

Employee Benefit and Stock Plans

2010 Equity I ncentive Award Plan

In September 2010, our board of directors adogted, in October 2010, our stockholders approver2€i10 Equity Incentive Award Plan, or
the 2010 Plan, which will become effective immeelafprior to the consummation of this offering. Tméncipal purpose of the 2010 Plan is to
attract, retain and motivate selected employeeassudtants and directors through the granting aflsttased compensation awards and cash-
based performance bonus awards. The 2010 Plasoislabigned to permit us to make cash-based aaaddsquity-based awards intended to
qualify as “performance-based compensation” un@eti®n 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1@8Gmended, or the Code. The
principal features of the 2010 Plan are summarisddw. This summary is qualified in its entirety t@ference to the text of the 2010 Plan,
which is filed as an exhibit to the registratioatstnent of which this prospectus is a part.

Share Reserve. Under the 2010 Plan, 2,450,000 shares of our constamk will be initially reserved for issuance puast to a variety of stock-
based compensation awards, including stock opt&insk appreciation rights, or SARSs, restrictedlstawards, restricted stock unit awards,
deferred stock awards, dividend equivalent awastdgk payment awards and performance awards aed stitck-based awards, plus the
number of shares remaining available for futureraeander our 2006 Equity Incentive Plan as ofcttrapletion of this offering. The number
of shares initially reserved for issuance or tranplursuant to awards under the 2010 Plan wilhbeesed by (i) the number of shares
represented by awards outstanding under our 2008yHgcentive Plan that are forfeited or lapsexereised and which, following the
effective date of the 2010 Plan, are not issuecutite 2006 Equity Incentive Plan and (ii) an athimerease on the first day of each fiscal
year, beginning in 2011 and ending in 2020, equé#hé¢ least of

= 7,000,000 share
= 4% of the shares of our common stock outstandintherast day of the immediately preceding fisedty anc
= such smaller number of shares of stock as detedtig@ur board of director

Up to the aggregate share reserve may be issuedtbp@xercise of incentive stock options.

The following counting provisions will be in effefdr the share reserve under the 2010 Plan:

= to the extent that an award terminates, expiréapses for any reason or an award is settled im witbout the delivery of shares, a
shares subject to the award at such time will lzglavle for future grants under the 2010 P

= to the extent shares are tendered or withheldtisfgshe grant, exercise price or tax withholdlgligation with respect to any awe
under the 2010 Plan, such tendered or withheldeshaill be available for future grants under th&é @@lan;

= to the extent that shares of our common stock gdanhder the 2010 Plan are repurchased by, antheeltto, us prior to vesting, such
shares will be available for future grants under2010 Plan

= the payment of dividend equivalents in cash in gogijion with any outstanding awards will not be iima against the shares available
for issuance under the 2010 Plan; :
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= to the extent permitted by applicable law or angtenge rule, shares issued in assumption of, substitution for, any outstanding
awards of any entity acquired in any form of conalbion by us or any of our subsidiaries will notdmeinted against the shares
available for issuance under the 2010 P

Administration. The compensation committee of our board of directal administer the 2010 Plan unless our boardiafctors assumes
authority for administration. The compensation cdttea must consist of at least two members of @art of directors, each of whom is
intended to qualify as an “outside director,” withhe meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code, a “employee director” for purposes of Rule
16b-3 under the Exchange Act and an “independeecttir” within the meaning of the rules of The NASDAQ Glbbtarket, or other princip:
securities market on which shares of our commocksaoe traded. The 2010 Plan provides that the eosgtion committee may delegate its
authority to grant awards to employees other thattive officers and certain senior executivethefcompany to a committee consisting of
one or more members of our board of directors er@mmmore of our officers.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the 201@,Rlee administrator has the authority to seleetgérsons to whom awards are to be made, to
determine the number of shares to be subject todsweand the terms and conditions of awards, amaktice all other determinations and to take
all other actions necessary or advisable for teimidtration of the 2010 Plan. The administratoalso authorized to adopt, amend or rescind
rules relating to administration of the 2010 Planr board of directors may at any time remove tragensation committee as the
administrator and revest in itself the authorityatbminister the 2010 Plan. The full board of dioestwill administer the 2010 Plan with respect
to awards to non-employee directors.

Eligibility. Options, SARs, restricted stock and all other stoaked and cash-based awards under the 2010 P{albengmanted to individuals
who are then our officers, employees or consultantge the officers, employees or consultantsdiin of our subsidiaries. Such awards also
may be granted to our directors. Only employeassadr certain of our subsidiaries may be grantedritive stock options, or ISOs.

Awards. The 2010 Plan provides that the administrator mraptgor issue stock options, SARSs, restricted stoeitricted stock units, deferred
stock, dividend equivalents, performance awaragkspayments and other stock-based and cash-basedsa or any combination thereof.
Each award will be set forth in a separate agreémigh the person receiving the award and will cade the type, terms and conditions of the
award.

= Nonqualified Stock Options, or NQSOs, will provide for the right to purchadeares of our common stock at a specified pricéghwh
may not be less than fair market value on the dbggant, and usually will become exercisable lfatdiscretion of the administrator)
in one or more installments after the grant datbjext to the participant’s continued employmensenvice with us and/or subject to
the satisfaction of corporate performance targetsiadividual performance targets established lyatiministrator. NQSOs may be
granted for any term specified by the administr#tat does not exceed ten ye:

= |ncentive Stock Options, or ISOs, will be designed in a manner intendecbtoply with the provisions of Section 422 of thedg and
will be subject to specified restrictions containedhe Code. Among such restrictions, ISOs muselan exercise price of not less
than the fair market value per share of commorksbocthe date of grant, may only be granted to eyg#s and must not be
exercisable after a period of ten years measued the date of grant. In the case of an ISO gratateeh individual who owns (or is
deemed to own) at least 10% of the total combiragthg power of all classes of our capital stocle, #8010 Plan provides that the
exercise price must be at least 110% of the faiketavalue per share of common stock on the datganft and the ISO must not be
exercisable after a period of five years measurath the date of gran

= Restricted Stock may be granted to any eligible individual and madeject to such restrictions as may be determigetie
administrator. Restricted stock, typically, mayfbeeited for no consideration or repurchased bgtuhe original purchase price if the
conditions or restrictions on vesting are not riregeneral, restricted stock may not be sold oewtiise transferred until the
restrictions are removed
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expire. Purchasers of restricted stock, unlikepieaits of options, will have voting rights and wikve the right to receive dividends
any, prior to the time when the restrictions lap$ewever, extraordinary dividends will generally fdaced in escrow, and will not be
released until the restrictions are removed orrex

= Restricted Stock Units may be awarded to any eligible individual, typigallithout payment of consideration, but subjecteésting
conditions based on continued employment or sewtia@n performance criteria established by the agstrator. Like restricted stock,
restricted stock units may not be sold, or othesviiansferred or hypothecated, until vesting comatt are removed or expire. Unlike
restricted stock, stock underlying restricted stooks will not be issued until the restricted $tomits have vested, and recipients of
restricted stock units generally will have no vgtior dividend rights prior to the time when vestaanditions are satisfie:

= Deferred Stock Awards represent the right to receive shares of our comstmek on a future date. Deferred stock may natde or
otherwise hypothecated or transferred until issederred stock will not be issued until the dederstock award has vested, and
recipients of deferred stock generally will havevating or dividend rights prior to the time whéretvesting conditions are satisfied
and the shares are issued. Deferred stock awangsajly will be forfeited, and the underlying sheud deferred stock will not be
issued, if the applicable vesting conditions arfteotestrictions are not me

= Stock Appreciation Rights, or SARs, may be granted in connection with stotions or other awards, or separately. SARs gdainte
connection with stock options or other awards tgjycwill provide for payments to the holder basgmbn increases in the price of our
common stock over a set exercise price. The exeprise of any SAR granted under the 2010 Plan tmeisit least 100% of the fair
market value per share of our common stock on #te df grant. Except as required by Section 162fntfle Code with respect to a
SAR intended to qualify as performance-based cosgieon under Section 162(m) of the Code, thereanestrictions specified in
the 2010 Plan on the exercise of SARs or the amafugin realizable therefrom, although restrictianay be imposed by the
administrator in the SAR agreements. SARs unde2@® Plan will be settled in cash or shares ofcounmon stock, or in a
combination of both, at the election of the adntrai®r.

= Dividend Equivalents represent the value of the dividends, if any, pare paid by us, calculated with reference to tmaber of
shares covered by the award. Dividend equivaleatg lbe settled in cash or shares and at such tisméstarmined by the
compensation committee or board of directors, giicgble.

= Performance Awards may be granted by the administrator on an individugroup basis. Generally, these awards will &gelol upon
specific performance targets and may be paid ih oasn common stock or in a combination of botbrfBrmance awards may include
“phantom” stock awards that provide for paymentsellaupon the value of our common stock. Performan@ds may also include
bonuses that may be granted by the administratandndividual or group basis and which may be psya cash or in common sto
or in a combination of botl

= Stock Payments may be authorized by the administrator in the fofrnommon stock or an option or other right to fiage commo
stock as part of a deferred compensation or otliengement in lieu of all or any part of comper@atincluding bonuses, that would
otherwise be payable in cash to the employee, ¢tamswr nol-employee directol

Change-in-Control. If a change-incontrol occurs where the acquiror does not assumeptace awards granted under the 2010 Plan farithre
consummation of such transaction, then such awaittse subject to accelerated vesting such th@4@f such awards will become vested
and exercisable or payable, as applicable. In iaddithe administrator will also have complete di$ion to structure one or more awards under
the 2010 Plan to provide that such awards will beeeested and exercisable or payable on an actsddrasis if such awards are assumed or
replaced with equivalent awards but the individsigairvice with us or the acquiring entity is sulbserly terminated within a designated pel
following the change in control event. The admiigir may also make appropriate adjustments todsuamder the 2010 Plan and is author

to provide
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for the acceleration, cash-out, termination, assiompsubstitution or conversion of such awardghmevent of a change in control or certain
other unusual or nonrecurring events or transastiomder the 2010 Plan, a change in control is igdigedefined as:

= the transfer or exchange, in a single or seriegglafed transactions, by our stockholders of mioa@ 50% of our voting stock to a
person or groug

= achange in the composition of our board of dinectaver a two-year period such that 50% or morma@imembers of the board were
elected through one or more contested elect

= amerger, consolidation, reorganization or busicessbination in which we are involved, directlyindirectly, other than a merge
consolidation, reorganization or business comhamatvhich results in our outstanding voting secesiimmediately before the
transaction continuing to represent a majorityhef toting power of the acquiring company’s outstagdoting securities and after
which no person or group beneficially owns 50% arenof the outstanding voting securities of thesstimg entity immediately after
the transactior

= the sale, exchange, or transfer of all or substytll of our assets; ¢
= stockholder approval of our liquidation or dissaat

Adjustments of Awards. In the event of any stock dividend, stock splitntination or exchange of shares, merger, consaitaspin-off,
recapitalization, distribution of our assets tocktmlders (other than normal cash dividends) orathgr corporate event affecting the number
of outstanding shares of our common stock or tlaeesprice of our common stock that would requirgistchents to the 2010 Plan or any
awards under the 2010 Plan in order to prevendilliéon or enlargement of the potential benefitehded to be made available thereundel
administrator will make appropriate, proportionatgustments to:

= the aggregate number and type of shares subj#uot 2010 Plan

= the number and kind of shares subject to outstgnalivards and terms and conditions of outstandirgy@sv(including, without
limitation, any applicable performance targetsriteda with respect to such awards); ¢

= the grant or exercise price per share of any auistg awards under the 2010 Pl

Amendment and Termination. Our board of directors or the committee (with boapgroval) may terminate, amend or modify the 2Bl at
any time and from time to time. However, we mustagally obtain stockholder approval to:

= increase the number of shares available under@h@ Rlan (other than in connection with certairpooate events, as described
above);

= grant options with an exercise price that is bel®®% of the fair market value per share of our camstock on the grant dai
= extend the exercise period for an option beyond/éams from the date of grant;
= the extent required by applicable law, rule or tagion (including any applicable stock exchange)t

Notwithstanding the foregoing, an option may be iadeel to reduce the per share exercise price bélewwer share exercise price of s
option on the grant date, and options may be gdantexchange for, or in connection with, the cdlatien or surrender of options having a
higher per share exercise price, without receiddditional stockholder approval.

Expiration Date. The 2010 Plan will expire on, and no option or ottsard may be granted pursuant to the 2010 Pten, #fie tenth
anniversary of the effective date of the 2010 Phary award that is outstanding on the expiratiotedad the 2010 Plan will remain in force
according to the terms of the 2010 Plan and théicgipe award agreement.
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Securities Laws. The 2010 Plan is intended to conform to certairvisions of the Securities Act and the Exchangeahut related regulations
and rules promulgated by the SEC thereunder, inmojudithout limitation, Rule 16b-3. The 2010 Plaiillwe administered, and options will be
granted and may be exercised, only in such a mastr conform to such laws, rules and regulations.

Section 409A of the Code. Certain awards under the 2010 Plan may be considamnqualified deferred compensation” for purposés
Section 409A of the Code, which imposes certairitaacl requirements regarding the payment of defecompensation. Generally, if at any
time during a taxable year a nonqualified defemachpensation plan fails to meet the requiremeneation 409A, or is not operated in
accordance with those requirements, all amouneroef under the 2010 Plan and all other equityritice plans for the taxable year and all
preceding taxable years by any participant witpeesto whom the failure relates are includiblgiioss income for the taxable year to the
extent not subject to a substantial risk of fotfiestand not previously included in gross income. dieferred amount is required to be included
in income under Section 409A, the amount also ligesi to interest and an additional income tax. ifberest imposed is equal to the interes
the underpayment rate plus one percentage poirdsetpon the underpayments that would have occhaddhe compensation been includible
in income for the taxable year when first defermad jf later, when not subject to a substantigk 6f forfeiture. The additional U.S. federal
income tax is equal to 20% of the compensationirequo be included in gross income. In additicertain states, including California, have
laws similar to Section 409A, which impose additibstate penalty taxes on such compensation.

Section 162(m) of the Code. In general, under Section 162(m) of the Code, irete deductions of publicly held corporations rbaylimited

to the extent total compensation (including, butlmoited to, base salary, annual bonus and incattrébutable to stock option exercises and
other nonqualified benefits) for certain executificers exceeds $1,000,000 (less the amount of‘@xgess parachute paymengs' defined ir
Section 280G of the Code) in any taxable year efctbrporation. However, under Section 162(m), #gudtion limit does not apply to certain
“performance-based compensation” established bgdependent compensation committee that is addgudiselosed to and approved by
stockholders. In particular, stock options and SARksatisfy the “performance-based compensatiexéeption if the awards are made by a
qualifying compensation committee, the 2010 Plas 8& maximum number of shares that can be graotady person within a specified
period, and the compensation is based solely ancaease in the stock price after the grant dgtecBically, the option exercise price must be
equal to or greater than the fair market valuehefdtock subject to the award on the grant datdetJa Section 162(m) transition rule for
compensation plans of corporations which are pelydteld and which become publicly held in an alipublic offering, the 2010 Plan will not
be subject to Section 162(m) until the earlier of:

= a material modification of the 2010 Pl
= the issuance of all of the shares of our commocksteserved for issuance under the 2010 F
= the expiration of the 2010 Plan; a

= the first meeting of our stockholders at which menstof our board of directors are to be electetidbeurs after the close of the third
calendar year following the calendar year in whach initial public offering occurs

After the transition date, rights or awards grantader the 2010 Plan, other than options and Saiflspot qualify as “performance-based
compensation” for purposes of Section 162(m) undesh rights or awards are granted or vest upomrsgtablished objective performance
goals, the material terms of which are discloseant approved by our stockholders. Thus, aftetriresition date, we expect that such other
rights or awards under the plan will not constitpgeformance-based compensation for purposes ¢ib8ekb2(m).

We intend to file with the SEC a registration sta¢ést on Form S-8 covering the issuance of sharesroéommon stock under the 2010 Plan.
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2006 Equity I ncentive Plan

Our board of directors adopted, and our stockheldeproved, the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan in M&@@6. The 2006 Equity Incentive Plan
provides for the grant of ISOs, NQSOs and stockipase rights. As of September 30, 2010, optiopsitohase 2,816,645 shares of our
common stock at a weighted average exercise peicehare of $1.96 remained outstanding under thé EQuity Incentive Plan. No stock
purchase rights have been granted under the 200iByHncentive Plan. As of September 30, 2010, agito purchase 640,598 shares of our
common stock remained available for future issugnosuant to awards granted under the 2006 Equitgritive Plan. Following the
completion of this offering, no further awards wi# granted under the 2006 Equity Incentive Plawever, all outstanding awards will
continue to be governed by their existing terms.

Administration. Our board of directors, or a committee thereof ampted by our board of directors, has the authddatgdminister the 2006
Equity Incentive Plan and the awards granted uitder

Stock Options. The 2006 Equity Incentive Plan provides for thengjaf ISOs under the federal tax laws or NQSOs.d&@y be granted only
employees. NQSOs and stock purchase rights mayalgegl to employees, directors or consultants.eXeecise price of ISOs granted to
employees who at the time of grant own stock repraisg more than 10% of the voting power of alksks of our common stock may not be
less than 110% of the fair market value per shoeibcommon stock on the date of grant, and tlegase price of ISOs granted to any other
employees may not be less than 100% of the faiketaalue per share of our common stock on the afageant. The exercise price of NQSOs
to employees, directors or consultants who atithe bf grant own stock representing more than 10%evoting power of all classes of our
common stock may not be less than 110% of therfanket value per share of our common stock on #te df grant, and the exercise price of
nonstatutory stock options to all other employe@gctors or consultants may not be less than 1608te fair market value per share of our
common stock on the date of grant. Shares sulijegtions under the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan galhevest in a series of installments over
an optionee’s period of service, with a minimumtiresrate of at least 20% per year over five ydams the date of grant, except with respect
to options granted to officers, directors and cdtasts.

In general, the maximum term of options grante@tisyears. The maximum term of options grantechtof@ionee who owns stock represen
more than 10% of the voting power of all classeswfcommon stock is five years. If an optiorsegérvice relationship with us terminates ¢
than by disability or death, the optionee may eiserthe vested portion of any option in such pedabtime as specified in the optioneeiptior
agreement, but in no event will such period be teas 30 days following the termination of serviden optionee’s service relationship with
us terminates by disability or death, the optiormeehe optionee’s designated beneficiary, as apble, may exercise the vested portion of any
option in such period of time as specified in tiianee’s option agreement, but in no event widrsperiod be less than 12 months following
the termination of service. Shares of common stepkesenting any unvested portion underlying th@opmn the date of termination will
immediately cease to be issuable and will becoradable for future issuance under the 2006 Equitehtive Plan. If, after termination, the
optionee does not exercise the option within theetperiod specified, the option will terminate @hd shares of common stock covered by :
option will become available for future issuanceenthe 2006 Equity Incentive Plan.

Stock Purchase Rights. The 2006 Equity Incentive Plan provides that we risaye stock purchase rights alone, in additioor io tandem with
options granted under the 2006 Equity Incentiven Rlad/or cash awards made outside of the 2006 JEmgientive Plan. Each stock purchase
right will be governed by a restricted stock pusgagreement. We will have the right to repurclsasees of common stock acquired by the
purchaser upon exercise of a stock purchase rig the termination of the purchaser’s status ean@ployee, director or consultant for any
reason. The repurchase price for shares acquiréselyyurchaser upon exercise of a stock purchgbkewill be the original price paid by the
purchaser. Except with respect to shares purchasefficers, directors and consultants, the repasehoption lapses at a rate of at least
20% per year over five years from the date of paseh However, this lapsing does not apply to spagkhase rights granted to individuals v
are tax residents of Germany. Once the stock paectight is exercised, the purchaser will havetsigiquivalent to those of our other
stockholders.
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Corporate Transactions. In the event of a proposed dissolution or liquidatithe administrator of the 2006 Equity Incenfilan has the
discretion to take one or more of the followingiaics:

= provide that any option or stock purchase righirfagle exercisable until ten days prior to such @etisn; anc

= provide that our option to repurchase any shareshpged upon exercise of an option or stock puechight will lapse as to all suc
shares

To the extent options and stock purchase rights nat been previously exercised, all such optioksstock purchase rights will terminate
immediately prior to the consummation of the preggbyansaction.

In the event of certain corporate transactionsattrainistrator of the 2006 Equity Incentive Plafi adljust the number of shares of common
stock that may be delivered under the 2006 Equitgmhtive Plan and/or the number, class and prichafes of common stock covered by each
outstanding option or stock purchase right.

Change-in-Control. If we undergo a change-in-control, and any surgwnorporation does not assume options or stockhpgecrights under
the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, or substitute amedent option of the successor corporation oaiept or subsidiary of the successor
corporation, then the vesting of options or stogkchase rights held by participants in the 2006itgdocentive Plan will be accelerated and
the options or stock purchase rights will beconily fexercisable during the 15-day period specifietbw. The holder of such options or stock
purchase rights not assumed or substituted witidigied by the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan admiragdr that the option or stock purchase
right is fully exercisable for a period of 15 ddyem the date of such notice and will be terminatewt exercised within such 15 day period.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In September 2010, our board of directors adogted, in October 2010, our stockholders approve@naployee stock purchase plan, or the
ESPP, which will become effective upon the filifgaaregistration statement on Form S-8 coveringstieres of common stock initially
reserved for issuance under the ESPP. The ESRRIigneéd to allow our eligible employees and thgildik employees of our participating
subsidiaries to purchase shares of common stoslenaitannual intervals, with their accumulated pfyteductions.

Share Reserve. 750,000 shares of our common stock are initialbereed for issuance under our ESPP. The numbéranés of common stock
reserved under our ESPP will automatically increaséhe first trading day of each year, beginnim@®11 and ending in 2020, by an amount
equal to the least of:

= 2,800,000 share
= 2% of the number of shares of our common stocktaudng on the last day of the immediately precgdiscal year; an
= alesser amount determined by our board of dirsc

Offering Periods. The ESPP is administered through a series of ssiveesffering periods, with a new offering periogginning on May 1%
and November 18 of each year. Unless otherwiserdated by the compensation committee, each offguirgod has a duration of six
months.

Eligible Employees. Our employees, and any employees of our subsidi#ite the compensation committee designatesgiblelto participat:
in the ESPP, who are scheduled to work more thamo2@s per week for more than five calendar mop#rsyear may join an offering period
on the start date of that period.

Payroll Deductions. A participant may contribute from 1% to 15% of bisher compensation through payroll deductionsoupl2,500 per
offering period, and the accumulated deductionsheilapplied to the purchase of shares on each-@emial purchase date. The purchase |
per share will be equal to 85% of the fair markatie per share of our common stock on the firglitigaday of an offering period in which a
participant is enrolled or, if lower, 85% of therfenarket value per share on the semi-annual psecdate. Semi-annual purchase dates will
occur on the last trading day of each offering geerHowever, not more than 3,000 shares may bénpsea in total by any participant during
any offering period. Our compensation committeethasauthority to change these limitations for angsequent offering period.
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Changein Control. If we are acquired by merger or sale of substdptél of our assets or we merge with another comgpéhen all

outstanding purchase rights may either be assumétebacquirer or be exercised at an early purctiaseprior to the effective date of the
acquisition. The purchase price in effect for epatticipant will be equal to 85% of the fair marketue per share of our common stock on the
first trading date of the offering period in whittie participant is enrolled at the time the acdjoisioccurs or, if lower, 85% of the fair market
value per share on the purchase date prior todtpeisition.

Plan Provisions. Our board may at any time amend, suspend, termaratiscontinue the ESPP. However, certain amentsmeay require
stockholder approval.

401(k) Plan

We maintain a defined contribution employee retigatrplan, or 401(k) Plan, for our employees. Owrceitive officers are also eligible to
participate in the 401(k) Plan on the same basmiasther employees. The 401(k) Plan provideseahah participant may contribute up to the
statutory limit, which is $16,500 for calendar y@@d 0. Participants that are 50 years or olderatsmmake “catch-up” contributions, which in
calendar year 2010 may be up to an additional $6sb@ve the statutory limit. In 2009, we did note@any contributions to the 401(k) Plan
behalf of eligible employees. The 401(k) Plan teided to qualify under Section 401 of the Codéhabcontributions by employees to the 401
(k) Plan, and income earned on the 401(k) Planrittions, are not taxable to employees until wittveh from the 401(k) Plan. The trustees
under the 401(k) Plan may, at the direction of gaatticipant, invest the 401(k) Plan employee gatiferrals in selected investment options.

Limitation on Liability and Indemnification Matters

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpmmativhich will become effective immediately priorthe consummation of this offering,
contains provisions that limit the liability of odirectors for monetary damages to the fullestrespermitted by Delaware law. Consequently,
our directors will not be personally liable to usoarr stockholders for monetary damages for angdiref fiduciary duties as directors, except
liability for:

= any breach of the direc’s duty of loyalty to us or our stockholde
= any act or omission not in good faith or that imas intentional misconduct or a knowing violatidriaw;

= unlawful payments of dividends or unlawful stockuechases or redemptions as provided in Sectiorol #e Delaware Gener
Corporation Law; o

= any transaction from which the director derivedraproper personal benef

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpmmeaind amended and restated bylaws, which will imeceffective immediately prior to the
consummation of this offering provide that we aquired to indemnify our directors and officerseach case to the fullest extent permitte:
Delaware law. Our amended and restated bylawspatsgde that we are obligated to advance expemsesried by a director or officer in
advance of the final disposition of any action orqeeding, and permit us to secure insurance oalbehany officer, director, employee or
other agent for any liability arising out of hislwer actions in that capacity regardless of whetleewould otherwise be permitted to indemnify
him or her under Delaware law. We have enteredeapeéct to continue to enter into agreements tonmdy our directors, executive officers
and other employees as determined by our boardexftdrs. With specified exceptions, these agredsnerovide for indemnification for
related expenses including, among other thingstragys’ fees, judgments, fines and settlement atsdaonourred by any of these individuals in
any action or proceeding. We believe that thesawylrovisions and indemnification agreements aoesgary to attract and retain qualified
persons as directors and officers. We also maimtiagcttors’ and officers’ liability insurance.

The limitation of liability and indemnification pwisions in our amended and restated certificaieadrporation and amended and restated
bylaws may discourage stockholders from bringihgvesuit against our directors and officers for loteaf their fiduciary duty. They may also
reduce the likelihood of derivative litigation agsi our directors and officers, even though aroacif successful, might benefit us and our
stockholders. Further, a stockholder’s investmeay e adversely affected to the extent that wetlpayosts of settlement and damage
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awards against directors and officers as requiyetthése indemnification provisions. Insofar as mdédication for liabilities arising under the
Securities Act may be permitted to our directofficers and controlling persons pursuant to thedaing provisions, or otherwise, we have
been advised that, in the opinion of the SEC, sndamnification is against public policy as expegsi the Securities Act and is, therefore,
unenforceable. At present, there is no pendinggliton or proceeding involving any of our directarfficers or employees for which
indemnification is sought, and we are not awaramf threatened litigation that may result in clabmrsindemnification.

Rule 10b5-1 Sales Plans

Our directors and executive officers may adopttemifplans, known as Rule 10b5-1 plans, in whicly thid contract with a broker to buy or
sell shares of our common stock on a periodic basider a Rule 10b5-1 plan, a broker executes srpadesuant to parameters established by
the director or officer when entering into the plasithout further direction from the director officEr. The director or officer may amend or
terminate the plan in limited circumstances. Ouectors and executive officers may also buy orasdlitional shares of our common stock
outside of a Rule 10b5-1 plan when they are npbssession of material, nonpublic information.
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Certain Relationships and Related Party Transaction s

We describe below each transaction, since Jany&§Qdl7, to which we were a party or will be a paitywhich:
= the amounts involved exceeded or will exceed $10),8nd

= a director, executive officer, holder or group ofders known to us to beneficially own more than &Rany class of our voting
securities or any member of their immediate farhdyl or will have a direct or indirect material irgst in the transactiol

The share numbers and purchase prices disclosed balve been adjusted to reflect the 30:1 reveosdk split that occurred on November 13,
2009.

Participation in this Offering

Certain of our principal stockholders and/or ttedfiliates have indicated an interest in purchasipgo an aggregate of $13.5 million of shares
of common stock in this offering, based upon thgeeted initial public offering price of $9.00 pdrase. However, because these potential
indications of interest are not binding agreementsommitments to purchase, any or all of thesekstolders may elect not to purchase any
shares in this offering.

Preferred Stock Issuances

2010 Bridge Financing

In April, May, June and August 2010, we sold cotitdé promissory notes, or the 2010 Notes, to aebour existing investors for an
aggregate purchase price of $22.2 million. The 20ates accrued interest at a rate of 8% per anmgarhad a maturity date of the earliest of
(i) a corporate reorganization as defined in the®2Rotes, (ii) the closing of the initial publicfefing of our stock, (iii) an event of default
pursuant to the terms of the 2010 Notes or (iv)il&#, 2011. In August 2010, in connection with @eries E preferred stock financing
described below, the full principal amount of tf8Q Notes, along with accrued but unpaid intetresteton of $364,266, were automatically
converted into an aggregate of 2,990,355 shareard$eries E preferred stock at a conversion @id&y.56 per share. In addition, each
investor who purchased 2010 Notes also receivedawtsrto purchase a number of shares of our constomk equal to (a) the product of (i)
5% of the principal amount of 2010 Notes purchdseduch investor and (ii) the number of months leevthe date of issuance of the warrant
and the date of our next financing (up to five ntait divided by (b) $1.50, resulting in the issu@mntwarrants to purchase an aggregate of
1,848,849 shares of common stock.

The table below sets forth the participation inshée of the 2010 Notes by our directors, execudffieers and 5% stockholders and their
affiliates.

Number of shares of
common stock underlying
Principal amount of
warrants received in

2010 Notes connection with

Name purchased purchase of 2010 Notes

Caduceus Private Investments Ill, @) $ 3,291,191 294,37¢
Essex Woodlands Health Ventures VIII, LO®) $ 3,291,191 294,38(
C. Thomas Caskey, M.[4® $ 4,78¢ 252
Enterprise Partners VI, L.I[5)®) $ 2,144,83 191,84
Highland Crusader Offshore Partners, 1™ $ 2,049,633 176,49¢
OVP Venture Partners VI, L.I&)©@) $ 2,144,82! 191,84:
Prospect Venture Partners IlI, L0 $ 2,078,34 185,89°
SCV-CG, LLC $ 7,000,001 501,66°

(1) Includes $31,050 in 2010 Notes and warrants to lpase 2,777 shares of common stock purchased byvi@dohssociates Ill, LP, an affiliate of Caduceus/Rte Investments Ill, LF
(2) Carl L. Gordon, Ph.D., is one of our directors aisca partner of OrbiMed Advisors, LL!
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(3) Includes $215,050 in 2010 Notes and warrants tapase 19,235 shares of common stock purchaseddex Bgoodlands Health Ventures Fund - A, L.P. and $93,500 in 2010
Notes and warrants to purchase 8,364 shares of ecamstock purchased by Essex Woodlands Health Enkun«—B, L.P., each of which is an affiliate of Esse)odfands Health
Ventures VIII, L.P

(4) C. Thomas Caskey, M.D., is one of our directorsiarah adjunct partner in Essex Woodlands Healtht\/ies.

(5) Includes $74,417 in 2010 Notes and warrants to lpase 7,856 shares of common stock purchased bypErseePartners Management, LLC and $690,167 in®Rbtes and warrant
to purchase 55,808 shares of common stock purcHas€&shterprise Partners V, L.P., each of whichnsa#filiate of Enterprise Partners VI, L.|

(6) Andrew E. Senyei, M.D., is one of our directors &na managing director and a general partner ofdtprise Partners

(7) Includes $600,672 in 2010 Notes and warrants t@hase 51,725 shares of common stock purchaseddbyard Credit Opportunities CDO, L.P., an affiliaté Highland Crusade
Offshore Partners, L.P. Highland Crusader OffshBegtners, L.P. beneficially owns more than 5% af @utstanding common stoc

(8) Includes $35,418 in 2010 Notes and warrants to pase 3,167 shares of common stock purchased byMD¥Rtrepreneurs Fund, L.P., an affiliate of OVPnitlee Partners VI, L.F

(9) Charles P. Waite, Jr., is one of our directors and general partner of OVP Venture Partne

(10) Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.D., is one of our directamsl is a managing member of Prospect ManagementiiCbLC, the general partner of Prospect Ventlartners Ill, L.P.

I ssuance of Series E Preferred Stock and Warrants to Purchase Common Stock

In August, September and October 2010, we issu@P6181 shares of Series E preferred stock ata pfi$7.56 per share for gross proceeds
of approximately $52.3 million. The table belowsskirth the number of shares of Series E prefesteck sold to our directors, executive
officers and 5% stockholders and their affiliatesd includes the shares of Series E preferred $$sakd in connection with the conversion of
the 2010 Notes, including the consideration paidstech shares by cancellation of the 2010 Notefisatosed above.

Number of

Shares of Aggregate

Series E Purchase
Name Preferred Stock Price
Caduceus Private Investments Ill, @) 1,279,13i $9,670,28:
Essex Woodlands Health Ventures VIII, LO®) 1,279,13 $9,670,27!
C. Thomas Caskey, M.[4 1,84« $ 13,94(
Enterprise Partners VI, L.[5)®) 833,60: $6,302,02:
Highland Crusader Offshore Partners, 1 796,42( $6,020,93!
OVP Venture Partners VI, L.I&)©@) 833,59¢ $6,301,98I
Prospect Venture Partners Ill, L0 807,76( $6,106,66!
SCV-CG, LLC

938,95 $7,098,51!

Wall Family Investment Partnership, L1 50,00( $ 378,00(

(1) Includes 12,068 shares held by OrbiMed AssocidtekP, an affiliate of Caduceus Private Investneelit, LP.

(2) Carl L. Gordon, Ph.D., is one of our directors aisca partner of OrbiMed Advisors, LL!

(3) Includes 83,580 shares purchased by Essex Woodkealsh Ventures Fund VI—A, L.P. and 36,339 shares purchased by Essex \&fudslHealth Ventures Fund—B, L.P., each of
which is an affiliate of Essex Woodlands Healthtuess VIII, L.P.

(4) C. Thomas Caskey, M.D., is one of our directorsiarah adjunct partner of Essex Woodlands Healtht¥fes.

(5) Includes 27,049 shares purchased by EnterpriserfeastManagement, LLC and 259,458 shares purchagémhterprise Partners V, L.P., each of which isaffiliate of Enterprise
Partners VI, L.P

(6) Andrew E. Senyei, M.D., is one of our directors &na managing director and a general partner oféprise Partners

(7) Includes 233,402 shares purchased by Highland €@gdportunities CDO, L.P., an affiliate of Highlai@tusader Offshore Partners, L.P. Highland Crusa@éfshore Partners, L.F
beneficially owns more than 5% of our outstandingimon stock

(8) Includes 4,767 shares purchased by OVP VI EntrearenFund, L.P., an affiliate of OVP Venture Pargn¥l, L.P.

(9) Charles P. Waite, Jr., is one of our directors and general partner of OVP Venture Partne

(10) Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.D., is one of our directnsl is a managing member of Prospect ManagementiiCbLC, the general partner of Prospect Ventlartners Ill, L.P.

(11) Robert T. Wall is one of our directors and mainsagispositive power over the shares held by thd Réahily Investment Partnership, Lt

2009 Bridge Financing

In February 2009, April 2009, June 2009 and Au@@§t9, we sold convertible promissory notes, or2B@9 Notes, to certain of our existing
investors for an aggregate purchase price of $libn. The 2009 Notes
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accrued interest at a rate of 8% per annum andc maadturity date of the earliest of (i) a changeaitrol as defined in our certificate of
incorporation, (ii) an event of default pursuantte terms of the 2009 Notes or (iii) on or aftexcBmber 31, 2009, within five business days
after our receipt of written notice from the inv@stholding at least 51% of the principal amounthaf 2009 Notes. In August 2009, in
connection with our Series D preferred stock finnagaescribed below, the full principal amount loé 2009 Notes, along with accrued but
unpaid interest thereon of $329,393, were autorllticonverted into an aggregate of 1,991,325 shafeur Series D preferred stock at a
conversion price of $7.56 per share. In additiomestors who purchased 2009 Notes also receivedmtarto purchase up to an aggregate of
278,165 shares of our Series D preferred stochk akarcise price of $7.56 per share.

The table below sets forth the participation ind$hée of the 2009 Notes by our directors, execuiffieers and 5% stockholders and their
affiliates.

Number of
shares of
Number of Series D
shares of preferred
Series D stock
preferred underlying
stock warrants
issued received in
upon connection
Principal conversion with
amount of purchase of
2009 Notes of the
Name purchased 2009 Notes 2009 Notes
Enterprise Partners VI, L.(D@) $4,000,45! 541,72( 79,31¢
Highland Crusader Offshore Partners, | $3,027,53! 407,29° 46,057
OVP Venture Partners VI, L.I®@ $4,000,45! 541,72( 79,31¢
Prospect Venture Partners Ill, L® $3,621,54! 490,42. 71,87:

(1) Includes $1,234,762 in 2009 Notes purchased byrfige Partners V, L.P., an affiliate of EnterpriBartners VI, L.P., which converted into 166,70@rsls of Series D preferre
stock. In connection with its purchase of the 2N@%es, Enterprise Partners V, L.P. received warsantpurchase up to 25,639 shares of Series D pegfestock at an exercise price
$7.56 per share

(2) Andrew E. Senyei, M.D., is one of our directors &na managing director and a general partner ofdtprise Partners

(3) Includes $59,811 in 2009 Notes purchased by OVErifepreneurs Fund, L.P., an affiliate of OVP VeatRartners VI, L.P., which converted into 8,14&rs of Series D preferre
stock. In connection with its purchase of the 2B@%es, OVP VI Entrepreneurs Fund, L.P. receivedrars to purchase up to 1,423 shares of Seriesdfepred stock at an exercise
price of $7.56 per shar

(4) Charles P. Waite, Jr., is one of our directors and general partner of OVP Venture Partne

(5) Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.D., is one of our directamsl is a managing member of Prospect ManagementiiCbLC, the general partner of Prospect Ventlartners Ill, L.P.

I ssuance of Series D Preferred Stock

Between August 2009 and March 2010, we sold 7,3B0sBares of Series D preferred stock at a pri&¥ &6 per share for gross proceeds of
approximately $55.3 million. The table below setgH the number of shares of Series D preferreckssold to our directors, executive officers
and 5% stockholders and their affiliates and inetuthe shares of Series D preferred stock issueahinection with the conversion of the 2009
Notes, including the consideration paid for sucérehl by cancellation of the 2009 Notes as disclabede.

Number of

shares of Aggregate

Series D purchase
Name preferred stock price
Caduceus Private Investments Ill, W@ 2,274,35. $17,194,11
Essex Woodlands Health Ventures VIII, LE@ 2,274,35. $17,194,11
C. Thomas Caskey, M.[® 3,307 $ 25,00!
Enterprise Partners VI, L.[5)©) 731,66¢ $ 5,531,38!
Highland Crusader Offshore Partners, 1™ 588,66 $ 4,450,30
OVP Venture Partners VI, L.I&)®) 731,66: $ 5,531,36!
Prospect Venture Partners Ill, L0 674,42¢ $ 5,098,66!

(1) Includes 21,456 shares held by OrbiMed AssocidtekP, an affiliate of Caduceus Private Investneelit, LP.
(2) Carl L. Gordon, Ph.D., is one of our directors aisca partner of OrbiMed Advisors, LL!
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(3) Includes 148,608 shares purchased by Essex Woadtedlth Ventures Fund V—A, L.P. and 64,612 shares purchased by Essex \AfmslHealth Ventures Fund—B, L.P., each of
which is an affiliate of Essex Woodlands Healthtuess VIII, L.P.

(4) C. Thomas Caskey, M.D., is one of our directorsiarah adjunct partner of Essex Woodlands Healtht¥fes.

(5) Includes 66,138 shares purchased by EnterpriserfeastManagement, LLC and 176,737 shares purchagémhterprise Partners V, L.P., each of which isaffiliate of Enterprise
Partners VI, L.P

(6) Andrew E. Senyei, M.D., is one of our directors &na managing director and a general partner oféprise Partners

(7) Includes 52,969 shares purchased by Highland Cr@gdportunities CDO, L.P., an affiliate of Highla@tusader Offshore Partners, L.P. Highland Crusa@éfshore Partners, L.F
beneficially owns more than 5% of our outstandingimon stock

(8) Includes 9,477 shares purchased by OVP VI EntrearenFund, L.P., an affiliate of OVP Venture Pargn¥l, L.P.

(9) Charles P. Waite, Jr., is one of our directors and general partner of OVP Venture Partne

(10) Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.D., is one of our directnsl is a managing member of Prospect ManagementiiCbLC, the general partner of Prospect Ventlartners Ill, L.P.

I ssuance of Common Stock Warrants

In August and September 2010, we issued warramsarithase up to 1,318,719 shares of our commoR ataan exercise price of $2.69 per
share to certain existing investors who purchabades in our Series E preferred stock financings€hwarrants subsequently terminated and
were no longer outstanding as of September 30,.2Zl®table below sets forth the number of shafesmmon stock that were issuable upon
the exercise of these warrants, prior to their tieation, that were issued to our directors, exeeutifficers and 5% stockholders and their
affiliates.

Number of
Shares of
Common Stock

Initially
Issuable Upon

Exercise of
Name Warrants
Caduceus Private Investments Ill, @) 234,10
Essex Woodlands Health Ventures VIII, LO®) 234,10
C. Thomas Caskey, M.[® 33€
Enterprise Partners VI, L.[5)®) 152,56
Highland Crusader Offshore Partners, 1) 145,74¢
OVP Venture Partners VI, L.I&)®) 152,56:
Prospect Venture Partners IlI, L0 147,83:
SCV-CG, LLC 234,73¢

(1) Includes warrants to purchase 2,209 shares of comstmck held by OrbiMed Associates IlI, LP, anliaf# of Caduceus Private Investments lIl, |

(2) CarlL. Gordon, Ph.D., is one of our directors aisca partner of OrbiMed Advisors, LL!

(3) Includes warrants to purchase 15,297 shares of comstock held by Essex Woodlands Health Venturad Mlil—A, L.P. and warrants to purchase 6,651 share®ofroon stock
held by Essex Woodlands Health Ventures B, L.P., each of which is an affiliate of Essex Wands Health Ventures VI, L.I

(4) C. Thomas Caskey, M.D., is one of our directorsiarah adjunct partner of Essex Woodlands Healtht¥fes.

(5) Includes warrants to purchase 3,835 shares of comstack held by Enterprise Partners Management, bh@ warrants to purchase 48,330 shares of comrtank $ield by Enterpris
Partners V, L.P., each of which is an affiliateEwfterprise Partners VI, L.F

(6) Andrew E. Senyei, M.D., is one of our directors &na managing director and a general partner oféprise Partners

(7) Includes warrants to purchase 42,713 shares of comstock held by Highland Credit Opportunities COCR ., an affiliate of Highland Crusader Offshorarkhers, L.P. Highlanc
Crusader Offshore Partners, L.P. beneficially owmsre than 5% of our outstanding common st

(8) Includes warrants to purchase 1,192 shares of comstmck purchased by OVP VI Entrepreneurs Fund,, la® affiliate of OVP Venture Partners VI, L

(9) Charles P. Waite, Jr., is one of our directors and general partner of OVP Venture Partne

(10) Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.D., is one of our directnsl is a managing member of Prospect ManagementiiCbLC, the general partner of Prospect Ventlartners Ill, L.P.
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In August 2009, we issued warrants to purchas® @mtaggregate of 1,630,629 shares of our comnoak st an exercise price of $1.50 per
share to certain existing investors who purchaséshat $1.0 million more than their pro rata pamtdf our Series D preferred stock financing.
The table below sets forth the number of share®ofmon stock issuable upon the exercise of warissiied to our directors, executive
officers and 5% stockholders and their affiliates.

Number of
shares of
common stock

issuable upon

exercise of
Name warrants
Enterprise Partners VI, L.I0@ 447,72«
Highland Crusader Offshore Partners, 1® 329,63t
OVP Venture Partners VI, L.I®®) 447,72t
Prospect Venture Partners Ill, L® 405,54

(1) Includes warrants to purchase 308,930 shares ofnsomstock held by Enterprise Partners V, L.P., fiitiate of Enterprise Partners VI, L.

(2) Andrew E. Senyei, M.D., is one of our directors &na managing director and a general partner ofétprise Partners

(3) Highland Crusader Offshore Partners, L.P. beneflgiawns more than 5% of our outstanding commonks:

(4) Includes warrants to purchase 3,134 shares of comstack purchased by OVP VI Entrepreneurs Fund.,, la® affiliate of OVP Venture Partners VI, L

(5) Charles P. Waite, Jr., is one of our directors and general partner of OVP Venture Partne

(6) Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.D., is one of our directans is a managing member of Prospect ManagementiiCbLC, the general partner of Prospect Ventiartners Ill, L.P.

I ssuance of Series C Preferred Stock

In February 2008, we sold 166,346 shares of S€ripeeferred stock at a price of $159.30 per shargrioss proceeds of approximately $26.5
million. In March 2008, we issued 1,004 sharesaies C preferred stock valued at approximately0FI®0 to a professional consulting
services firm in exchange for their services. Tdidd below sets forth the number of shares of S&ipreferred stock sold to our directors,
executive officers and 5% stockholders and théiliags.

Number of

shares of Aggregate

Series C purchase
Name preferred stock price
Enterprise Partners VI, L.I® 21,48¢ $ 3,423,033
Highland Crusader Offshore Partners, 1@ 100,43¢ $15,999,77
OVP Venture Partners VI, L.I®® 21,48¢ $ 3,423,03!
Prospect Venture Partners Ill, L® 19,48: $ 3,103,48:

(1) Andrew E. Senyei, M.D., is one of our directors &na@ managing director and general partner of Eptese Partners

(2) Includes 43,941 shares held by Highland Credit Opputies CDO, L.P., an affiliate of Highland Cruder Offshore Partners, L.P. Highland Crusader OffighPartners, L.P
beneficially owns more than 5% of our outstandinghmon stock

(3) Includes 429 shares held by OVP VI Entrepreneursdi-u.P., an affiliate of OVP Venture Partners VP.

(4) Charles P. Waite, Jr., is one of our directors and general partner of OVP Venture Partne

(5) Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.D., is one of our directansl is a managing member of Prospect ManagementiiCbLC, the general partner of Prospect Ventlartners Ill, L.P.

2007 Bridge Financing

In February 2007 and March 2007, we sold converfisbmissory notes, or the 2007 Notes, to certhoupexisting investors for an aggregate
purchase price of $1.0 million. The 2007 Notes aedrinterest at a rate of 6% per annum and hadurityadate of May 31, 2007. In March
2007, in connection with our Series B preferredistinancing described below, the full principal @mt of the 2007 Notes, along with accr
but unpaid interest thereon of $2,712, were autimalft converted into an aggregate of 14,492 shafesir Series B preferred stock at a
conversion price of $69.00 per share. In additiovestors who purchased 2007 Notes also receivexdhnta to purchase up to an aggregate of
393 shares of our Series B preferred stock at arcese price of $69.00 per share.
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The table below sets forth the participation ind$hée of the 2007 Notes by our directors, execuiffieers and 5% stockholders and their
affiliates.

Number of
shares of Series B
Series B preferred
preferred stock
stock warrants
Principal issued received in
amount of upon connection
conversion with
2007 purchase of
Notes of the
Name purchased 2007 Notes 2007 Notes
Enterprise Partners VI, L.I® $500,00( 7,24¢ 197
OVP Venture Partners VI, L.I@®) $500,00( 7,24¢ 19¢

(1) Andrew E. Senyei, M.D., is one of our directors &na managing director and a general partner ofétprise Partners

(2) Includes $10,000 in 2007 Notes purchased by OVEnitepreneurs Fund, L.P., an affiliate of OVP VeatRartners VI, L.P., which converted into 145 sfwof Series B preferre
stock. In connection with its purchase of the 2B@fes, OVP VI Entrepreneurs Fund, L.P. receivedrars to purchase up to three shares of SerieseBepred stock at an exercise
price of $69.00 per shar

(3) Charles P. Waite, Jr., is one of our directors and general partner of OVP Venture Partne

I ssuance of Series B Preferred Stock

In March and September 2007, we sold 203,620 sludhrgsries B preferred stock at a price of $69.€@0ghare for gross proceeds of
approximately $14.0 million. The table below setgh the number of shares of Series B preferreckstold to our directors, executive officers
and 5% stockholders and their affiliates.

Number of

shares of Aggregate

Series B purchase
Name preferred stock price
Enterprise Partners VI, L.I® 43,47¢ $2,999,98:
OVP Venture Partners VI, L.I®) 43,47 $2,999,91
Prospect Venture Partners Ill, L® 101,44¢ $6,999,98:

(1) Andrew E. Senyei, M.D., is one of our directors &na managing director and a general partner ofdtprise Partners

(2) Includes 869 shares held by OVP VI Entrepreneursdi-u.P., an affiliate of OVP Venture Partners VP.

(3) Charles P. Waite, Jr., is one of our directors and general partner of OVP Venture Partne

(4) Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.D., is one of our directamsl is a managing member of Prospect ManagementiiCbLC, the general partner of Prospect Ventlartners Ill, L.P.

Investor Rights Agreement

We have entered into an investors’ rights agreeméhtthe purchasers of our outstanding prefertedksand certain holders of common stock
and warrants to purchase our common stock andrpeefstock, including entities with which certaihowr directors are affiliated. As of
October 15, 2010, the holders of 21.7 million skareour common stock, including the shares of comistock issuable upon the conversion
of our preferred stock and shares of common stegikeild upon exercise of warrants, are entitledytdgiwith respect to the registration of their
shares under the Securities Act. For a more ddtdiéscription of these registration rights, seestiption of Capital Stock—Registration
Rights.” The investor rights agreement also prawifite rights of first refusal and a requiremenbbdain the consent of certain stockholders
before we may incur indebtedness exceeding $50QiQ0s not already included in a board-approvedget, other than trade credit incurred
in the ordinary course of business. We have obdiaivesvers so that the rights of first refusal widt apply to, and will terminate upon
completion of, this offering.

Voting Agreement

We have entered into an amended and restated \emjirgment with certain holders of our common stouk holders of our convertible
preferred stock. Upon the closing of this offeritigg amended and restated voting agreement witlitete. For a description of the amended
and restated voting agreement, see the sectied titflanagement—Board composition—Voting Arrangeragént

125



Table of Contents

Right of First Refusal and Co-sale Agreement

We have entered into an amended and restatedofifinst refusal and co-sale agreement with certailiers of our common stock and holders
of our preferred stock. This agreement providesitgits of first refusal and co-sale relating te #hares of our common stock and common
stock issuable upon conversion of the shares éépesl stock held by the parties thereto. Uporcthsing of this offering, the amended and
restate right of first refusal and co-sale agreegmalhterminate.

Indemnification Agreements

We have entered into indemnification agreements wéich of our directors and executive officers.seh@greements, among other things,
require us to indemnify each director and executiffieer to the fullest extent permitted by Delawdaw, including indemnification of
expenses such as attorneys’ fees, judgments,dimgsettlement amounts incurred by the direct@xecutive officer in any action or
proceeding, including any action or proceeding binaight of us, arising out of the person’s sees as a director or executive officer.

Stock Options and Stock Option Modification

We have granted stock options to our executiveeiffi. For more information regarding these stodlonp, see the section titled “Executive
Compensation — Compensation Discussion and Analysis

In January 2010, our board of directors approvstbek option modification. See “Management’s Distois and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations — Stock Ophtadification” for a description of our 2010 opti@xchange program.

Other Transactions

In March 2006, we entered into a licensing agregmth Callida Genomics, Inc., or Callida, for usiecertain patents, patent applications,
know-how and other intellectual property relatiogsequencing by hybridization. See “Business—Ilatllal property.” As partial
consideration for the rights acquired pursuanh#license agreement, we issued 13,333 shareg @famamon Stock to Callida. Callida is
owned by Radoje Drmanac, Ph.D., our Chief Scien@fificer, and his wife, Snezana Drmanac.

We have granted stock options to our executiveef§i and certain of our directors. For a descriptibthese options, see “Executive
Compensation — Compensation Discussion and Anakysiong-Term Equity Incentives.” In addition, in M 2010, we issued:

= 285,867 shares of common stock to our Presidenéf Executive Officer and director, Clifford A. REiPh.D., at a purchase price of
$1.50 per share

= 105,333 shares of common stock to Robert J. Curgba,was our Chief Financial Officer at the timegoént and is now our Vic
President of Financial Operations, at a purchaise pif $1.50 per share; a

= 395,333 shares of common stock to our Chief Sdier@ifficer, Radoje Drmanac, Ph.D., at a purchaseepof $1.50 per shar

Dr. Reid, Mr. Curson and Dr. Drmanac received besus $361,615, $133,244 and $500,087, respectiireonnection with these grants. !
“Executive Compensation — Compensation Discussi@hAnalysis — Long-Term Equity Incentives.”

In November 2007, we entered into a consultingement with Mrs. Drmanac, the wife of Dr. Drmanaar, €hief Scientific Officer and one
our founders. Mrs. Drmanac provides research amdldpment services related to our sequencing tdogp@s an independent contractor.
Mrs. Drmanac is compensated at a rate of $150 @arfor her services. In 2009, Mrs. Drmanac wasid p total of $150,930 for her services
pursuant to the consulting agreement. The conguitgreement is for a term of five years and cateburinated by either party with ten days
written notice.
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We have entered into indemnification agreementk eéich of our directors. Each of our directors witibremain on the board following the
completion of this offering, and each of our exaaibfficers, have entered into new indemnificatemreements, which will be effective
immediately prior to the consummation of this offigr See “Management — Limitation on Liability andlemnification Matters.”

Policies and Procedures for Related Party Transacti  ons

Our board of directors has adopted a written rdlatrson transaction policy to set forth the pebcand procedures for the review and appr
or ratification of related person transactions.sTpolicy will cover, with certain exceptions settfoin Item 404 of Regulation S-K under the
Securities Act, any transaction, arrangement @timiship, or any series of similar transactiomsaragements or relationships in which we v
or are to be a participant, where the amount iresblexceeds $120,000 and a related person hadldravé a direct or indirect material inter
including, without limitation, purchases of goodsservices by or from the related person or estitiewhich the related person has a material
interest, indebtedness, guarantees of indebte@messmployment by us of a related person.
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Principal Stockholders

The following table sets forth information knownus about the beneficial ownership of our commoglsat October 15, 2010, as adjusted to
reflect the sale of the shares of common stockimdffering, by:

= each person or group of affiliated persons knowastto be the beneficial owner of more than 5%uwfapmmon stock
= each named executive officer and each director.
= all of our executive officers and directors as augr.

The information in the table below is calculateddzhon 19,809,078 shares of common stock outstguhaifore this offering and 25,809,078
shares of common stock outstanding after this ioffeThe number of shares outstanding before aed this offering is based on the number
of shares of common stock outstanding on OctobeRQ¥0 as adjusted to give effect to:

= the conversion of all 14,731,939 shares of our editMe preferred stock outstanding on October2D8,0 into an aggregate
17,445,662 shares of our common stock, which veileffective immediately prior to the consummatidthis offering;

= the exercise, on a net issuance basis, of warcassanding as of October 15, 2010, which will expipon completion of this offering
if unexercised, to purchase shares of our commmkstesulting in the issuance of 1,358,854 shafe®mmon stock, based upon the
expected initial public offering price of $9.00 p&rare; an:

= the exercise, on a net issuance basis, of warcamgsanding as of October 15, 2010, which will expipon completion of this offerir
if unexercised, to purchase shares of our conventiteferred stock, and the conversion of thoseeshaf preferred stock immediately
prior to the consummation of this offering, resudtin the issuance of 44,491 shares of common shaded upon the expected initial
public offering price of $9.00 per sha

Certain of our principal stockholders and/or ttedfiliates have indicated an interest in purchasipgo an aggregate of $13.5 million of shares
of common stock in this offering, based upon thegeeted initial public offering price of $9.00 pdrase. However, because these potential
indications of interest are not binding agreementsommitments to purchase, any or all of thesekstolders may elect not to purchase any
shares in this offering. Accordingly, the figurestie table below do not reflect the purchase gfsirares in this offering by these potential
investors.

In computing the number of shares of common stexieficially owned by a person, entity or group #relcorresponding percentage
ownership of that person, entity or group, shafemmon stock underlying common stock or prefestatk options and warrants that are
held by that person, entity or group and that areenitly exercisable or exercisable within 60 dafy®ctober 15, 2010 are considered to be
outstanding. We did not deem these shares to Istanaing, however, for the purpose of computingpiieentage ownership of any other
person, entity or group.
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Unless otherwise noted below, the address of eackfizial owner listed on the table is c/o Compl&enomics, Inc., 2071 Stierlin Court,
Mountain View, CA 94043. We have determined bernafiawnership in accordance with the rules of tBECSExcept as indicated by the
footnotes below, we believe, based on the inforomatiirnished to us, that the persons and entitiesenl in the tables below have sole voting
and investment power with respect to all shareafmon stock that they beneficially own, subjecapplicable community property laws
where applicable.

Beneficial ownership after

Beneficial ownership prior to this offering this offering
Number of
shares Percentage Percentage
exercisable Number of Number of
shares of shares of
Common within 60 beneficially beneficial beneficially beneficial
stock days owned ownership owned ownership

5% Stockholders
Entities affiliated with OrbiMed Advisors LL«( 3,553,49: 294,37¢ 3,847,87. 19.1% 3,847,87. 14.7%
Entities affiliated with Essex Woodlands Health

Ventures@) 3,553,49. 294,38( 3,847,87. 19.1% 3,847,87. 14.7%
Entities affiliated with Enterprise Partne® 2,315,77. 720,05¢ 3,035,82 14.% 2,893,401 11.1%
Entities affiliated with OVP Venture Partne® 2,315,75! 720,04¢ 3,035,80: 14.&% 2,893,39! 11.1%
Prospect Venture Partners Ill, L® 2,243,98I 663,31: 2,907,29 14.2% 2,779,33. 10.7%%
Entities affiliated with Highland Capital

Management, L.F®) 2,212,80. 552,19: 2,764,99. 13.€% 2,671,36. 10.2%
SCV-CG, LLC®™ 938,95° 501,66° 1,440,62 7.1% 1,440,62 5.5%
Named Executive Officers and Directors
Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D® 319,20( 181,84: 501,04: 2.5% 501,04: 1.2%
Robert J. Curso® 116,99¢ 87,37¢ 204,37" 1.C% 204,37" *
Radoje Drmanac, Ph.[(0) 441,99¢ 140,69: 582,69: 2.9% 582,69: 2.2%
Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.laD 2,243,98! 663,31: 2,907,29 14.2% 2,779,33. 10.7%
C. Thomas Caskey, M.[12) 5,151 12,75z 17,90: * 17,90: *
Carl L. Gordon, Ph.D., CF#3) 3,553,49. 294,37¢ 3,847,87. 19.1% 3,847,87. 14.7%
Michael P. Rubin, M.D — — — — — —
Lewis J. Shuste4 — 8,332 8,332 * 8,332 *
Andrew E. Senyei, M.C15) 2,315,77. 720,05 3,035,82! 14.% 2,893,401 11.1%
Charles P. Waite, J@6) 2,315,75! 720,04¢ 3,035, 80:- 14.£% 2,893,39! 11.1%
Robert T. Wall1?) 50,00( 3,12¢ 53,12¢ * 53,12¢ *
All Executive Officers and directors as a groug.

(13 persons)i8)ae: 11,278,55 2,763,56! 14,042,12 62.2% 13,629,322 50.4%

*  Represents beneficial ownership of less than

(1) Includes: (i) 3,519,968 shares held, and 291,6G2ehthat may be acquired pursuant to the exemisearrants held prior to this offering, by Caduse®rivate Investments Ill, L

(“Caduceus”) and (ii) 33,524 shares held, and 2, &Hares that may be acquired pursuant to the egeraf warrants held prior to this offering, by Ovied Associates Ill, LP
(“OrbiMed Associates”). OrbiMed Capital GP Ill, LB the general partner of Caduceus, and Samues&lylis the general partner of OrbiMed Capital GR LP. OrbiMed Advisors
LLC (“OrbiMed Advisors”) is the general partner of Orbidl Associates, and Mr. Isaly is the managing mermb&rbiMed Advisors, and Carl L. Gordon, Ph.Dmamber of our
board of directors, is a member of OrbiMed Advisdfs. Isaly is deemed to have voting and dispasitiower over the shares held by Caduceus and Orbisociates. The address
of OrbiMed Advisors LLC is 767 Third Avenue,th Floor, New York, New York 1001

(2) Includes: (i) 3,220,352 shares held, and 266,7&rehthat may be acquired pursuant to the exemisearrants held prior to this offering, by Essewatilands Health Ventures Fui
VIII, L.P. (“Essex Woodlands Ventures Fund”); (832,188 shares held, and 19,235 shares that magtpeired pursuant to the exercise of warrants tpeldr to this offering, by
Essex Woodlands Health Ventures Fund—A, L.P. (“Essex Woodlands Fund A”) and (iii) 10819shares held, and 8,364 shares that may be asdjyursuant to the exercise of
warrants held prior to this offering, by Essex Wiaodls Health Ventures Fund VIII—B, L.P. (“Essex Waads Fund B"). Essex Woodlands Health Venturdk VIP. (“Essex
Ventures L.P.”) is the general partner of each ss& Woodlands Ventures Fund, Essex WoodlandsA-and Essex Woodlands Fund B. Essex WoodlandsHHéaiitures VIII, LLC
(“Essex Ventures LLC") is the general partner osEs Ventures L.P. James Currie, Ron Eastman, Jef@an, Ph.D., Guido Neels, Martin Sutter, Immantlengaraj, Petri Yaino,
M.D., Ph.D., and Steve Wiggans are managing dirsatd Essex Ventures LLC and are deemed to havedhating and dispositive power over the shardd hg Essex Woodlands
Ventures Fund, Essex Woodlands Fund A and Esseslsviais Fund B. Each of the managing directors dises beneficial ownership of the shares held bgehentities, except to the
extent of any pecuniary interest therein. The agsli@gf each of the entities affiliated with Essextlends Health Ventures is 335 Bryant Street, Pdlo, California 94301
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(3) Includes: (i) 1,786,390 shares held, and 491,9%¢tahthat may be acquired pursuant to the exemisearrants held prior to this offering, by Enteige Partners VI, LP“Enterprise
VI"); (i) 436,195 shares held, and 220,241 shatieat may be acquired pursuant to the exercise ofamas held prior to this offering, by Enterpris@aRners V, LP (“Enterprise V")
and (iii) 93,187 shares held, and 7,856 shares thay be acquired pursuant to the exercise of wasraeld prior to this offering, by Enterprise Pagts Management, LLC
(“Enterprise LLC"). Andrew E. Senyei, M.D., a membéour board of directors, is a managing directfrEnterprise Management Partners VI, LLC, theegahpartner of Enterprise
VI, a managing director of Enterprise Managemenitfers V, LLC, the general partner of Enterprisa™Ml a managing director of Enterprise LLC. Dr. Seinyogether with Carl Eib
J.D., are deemed to have shared voting and dispegibwer over the shares held by each of Entezpvis Enterprise V and Enterprise LLC. Each of Benyei and Mr. Eibl disclain
beneficial ownership of these shares, except tetitent of his pecuniary interest therein. The addrfor each of the entities affiliated with Entesp Partners is 2223 Avenida de la
Playa, Suite 300, La Jolla, California 920:

(4) Includes: (i) 2,286,516 shares held, and 712,3Gahthat may be acquired pursuant to the exemisearrants held prior to this offering, by OVP Vere Partners VI, L.P.“OVP
VI") and (ii) 29,242 shares held, and 7,742 shattest may be acquired pursuant to the exercise ofamas held prior to this offering, by OVP VI Enpreneurs Fund, L.P. (“OVP
Entrepreneurs Fur”). Charles P. Waite, Jr., a member of our boarddokctors, is a managing member of OVMC VI, LUI@ general partner of each of OVP VI and OVP
Entrepreneurs Fund. Mr. Waite, together with theestmanaging members of OVMC VI, LLC are deemédve shared voting and dispositive power over Heges held by OVP \
and OVP Entrepreneurs Fund. The address of eateoéntities affiliated with OVP Venture PartnesslD10 Market Street, Kirkland, Washington 98(

(5) Includes 2,243,986 shares held and 663,311 shaestay be acquired pursuant to the exercise ofavas held prior to this offering. Alexander E. Bas, Ph.D., a member of o
board of directors, is a managing member of Prospéanagement Co. lll, L.L.C., the general partnéPoospect Venture Partners Il, L.P. The managimgmbers of Prospect
Management Co. Ill, L.L.C., are deemed to haveethaoting and dispositive power over the shared bglProspect Venture Partners Ill, L.P., and edidtlaims beneficial
ownership of these shares, except to the extdns af her pecuniary interest therein. The addfessProspect Management Co. lll, L.L.C. is 435 TaSs#reet, Suite 200, Palo Alto,
California 94301.

(6) Includes: (i) 1,564,310 shares held, and 500,466eahthat may be acquired pursuant to the exemfisearrants held prior to this offering, by HighldrCrusader Offshore Partner
L.P. (‘Highland Crusader”) and (ii) 648,491 shares helalhd 51,725 shares that may be acquired pursuatitet@xercise of warrants held prior to this offeyimy Highland Credit
Opportunities CDO, L.P. (“Credit Opportunities”). ighland Capital Management, L.P. (“Highland”) acés investment adviser to certain funds, includinghthnd Crusader and
Credit Opportunities. Strand Advisors, Inc. (“StchAdvisors”) is the general partner of Highland.ndas Dondero is the President of Strand AdvisorsHigtiland. Highland, Strand
Advisors and Mr. Dondero may be deemed to haveeshasting and dispositive power over the shared hgleach of Highland Crusader and Credit Opportiesi The address f
Highland, Strand Advisors and Mr. Dondero is Twdl&#a Tower, 13455 Noel Road, Suite 800, Dallaaxds 7524C

(7) Includes 938,957 shares held and 501,667 sharasiiag be acquired pursuant to the exercise of wasdeld prior to this offering. Charles M. Prestidhis the manager of SGCG,
LLC and is deemed to have voting and dispositivegp@ver the shares held by S-CG, LLC. The address for S¢CG, LLC is 600 Congress Avenue, Suite 200, AuBtixas 78701

(8) Consists of: (i) 319,200 shares held by théf@iil A. Reid Living Trust, dated September 3, 1@Which Dr. Reid is trustee and (ii) 181,842 ssathat may be acquired pursuant to
the exercise of stock options within 60 days obBet 15, 2010

(9) Consists of: (i) 116,999 shares held by ThesGaramily Living Trust, dated July 30, 2001, ofchhMr. Curson is trustee and (ii) 87,378 shareattinay be acquired pursuant to the
exercise of stock options within 60 days of Octdl&r2010

(10) Consists of: (i) 428,666 shares held by thenBmac Family Trust, dated June 21, 2000, of whichDmanac is trustee; (ii) 140,692 shares that rbayacquired pursuant to the
exercise of stock options within 60 days of Octdl&r2010 and (iii) 13,333 shares held by Calliden@mics, Inc

(11) Consists of the shares described in Note f6ya. Dr. Barkas disclaims beneficial ownershiphef shares held by Prospect Venture Partners IR, las described in Note (5) above,
except to the extent of his pecuniary interestetime

(12) Consists of: (i) 5,151 shares, (ii) 252 shattest may be acquired pursuant to the exerciseasfamts held prior to this offering and (iii) 12,8Ghares that may be acquired pursuant to
the exercise of stock options within 60 days obBet 15, 2010

(13) Consists of the shares described in Note lfbya. Dr. Gordon disclaims beneficial ownershighef shares held by the entities affiliated with i®Hed Advisors LLC as described in
Note (1) above, except to the extent of his pecyimigerest therein

(14) Consists of 8,332 shares that may be acquired juntsto the exercise of stock options within 60 dz#ySctober 15, 201(

(15) Consists of the shares described in Note (8ya. Dr. Senyei disclaims beneficial ownershithefshares held by the entities affiliated withefptise Partners as described in Note
(3) above, except to the extent of his pecuniasrést therein

(16) Consists of the shares described in Note lgdya. Mr. Waite disclaims beneficial ownershiphaf shares held by the entities affiliated with OXéhture Partners as described in Note
(4) above, except to the extent of his pecuniasrést therein

(17) Consists of: (i) 50,000 shares held by thel\Wainily Investment Partnership, Ltd., over which M/all is deemed to having voting and disposifieaver and (ii) 3,125 shares that may
be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock aptisithin 60 days of October 15, 20.

(18) Includes 10,473,861 shares held, and 2,400,663eshtwat may be acquired pursuant to the exerciseaofants held prior to this offering, by entitiaffiliated with certain of ou

directors and 1,215,326 shares beneficially owngdlr executive officers and directors, which imigs 252 shares that many be acquired pursuanttexircise of warrants held
prior to this offering by a director and 365,523asbs may be acquired pursuant the exercise of siptikns within 60 days of October 15, 20

(19) Certain of our principal stockholders and/betr affiliates have indicated an interest in puasing up to an aggregate of $13.5 million of sharBsommon stock in this offering, based
upon the expected initial public offering price$&.00 per share. However, if any shares are puretdsy such stockholders, the number of shares ib&llgfowned and the
percentage of common stock beneficially owned #feepffering will differ from that set forth inehable above. If such stockholders purchase alteshthey have indicated interests
purchasing, the number of shares beneficially owmedll directors and executive officers as a greuifpincrease to 15,129,324, and the percentageoofimon stock beneficial
owned by them after this offering will increas&0%.
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Description of Capital Stock

General

Upon the completion of this offering, we will hagathorized under our amended and restated cetéfafencorporation 300,000,000 shares of
common stock, $0.001 par value per share, and B00&hares of preferred stock, $0.001 par valushmre. As of October 15, 2010, after
giving effect to the adjustments described beltwre were outstanding:

= 19,809,078 shares of our common stock held by appeaiely 34 stockholders of recot

= 1,965,477 shares of our common stock issuable aperctise of outstanding warrants that will not expipon completion of this
offering; and

= 2,814,636 shares of our common stock issuable agercise of outstanding stock optio
The number of shares of our common stock outstgrafiter this offering assumes:
= the filing and effectiveness of our amended anthted certificate of incorporatio

= the conversion of all 14,731,939 shares of our edilde preferred stock outstanding on October2D3,0 into an aggregate of
17,445,662 shares of our common stock, which veileffective immediately prior to the consummatidithis offering;

= the exercise, on a net issuance basis, of warcaésanding as of October 15, 2010, which will expipon completion of this offering
if unexercised, to purchase shares of our commmkstesulting in the issuance of 1,358,854 shafe®mmon stock, based upon the
expected initial public offering price of $9.00 rare; an

= the exercise, on a net issuance basis, of warcaésanding as of October 15, 2010, which will expipon completion of this offering
if unexercised, to purchase shares of our conventiteferred stock, and the conversion of thoseeshaf preferred stock immediately
prior to the consummation of this offering, resudtin the issuance of 44,491 shares of common shaded upon the expected initial
public offering price of $9.00 per sha

The following description of our capital stock gmabvisions of our amended and restated certifiohtacorporation and amended and restated
bylaws to be in effect upon the completion of thfifering are summaries. Copies of these documeais heen filed with the SEC as exhibit
our registration statement of which this prospeébuss a part. The descriptions of the common stouk preferred stock reflect changes to
capital structure that will occur upon the closafghis offering. Currently, there is no establidhmiblic trading market for our capital stock.
Common Stock

Voting Rights

Each holder of our common stock is entitled to woie for each share on all matters submitted tota of the stockholders, including the
election of directors. Our stockholders do not hewmulative voting rights in the election of direxd. Accordingly, holders of a majority of t
voting shares are able to elect all of the director

Dividends

Subject to preferences that may be applicable yatzen outstanding preferred stock, holders ofammmon stock are entitled to receive
dividends, if any, as may be declared from timért@ by our board of directors out of legally aggile funds. The terms of our credit facility
currently prohibit us from paying cash dividendsaam common stock.

Liquidation

In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or wing up, holders of our common stock will be eatitto share ratably in the net assets legally
available for distribution to stockholders aftee fayment of all of our debts and
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other liabilities and the satisfaction of any lidaiion preference granted to the holders of any thestanding shares of preferred stock.

Other Rights and Preferences

Holders of our common stock have no preemptiveyemsion, subscription or other rights, and theeerar redemption or sinking fund
provisions applicable to our common stock. Thetsghreferences and privileges of the holders ofcommon stock are subject to and may be
adversely affected by the rights of the holdershafres of any series of our preferred stock thathas designate in the future.

Fully Paid and Nonassessable

All of our outstanding shares of common stock argl the shares of common stock to be issued irotfasng will be, fully paid and
nonassessable.

Preferred Stock

Immediately prior to the consummation of this offigr all outstanding shares of our preferred stoitkbe converted into shares of our
common stock. See Note 6 to notes to our auditethiial statements for a description of our culyemitstanding preferred stock.
Immediately prior to the consummation of this offigr our amended and restated certificate of inm@ton will be amended and restated to
delete all references to such shares of prefetomtt.sUpon the completion of this offering, our bbaf directors will have the authority,
without further action by our stockholders, to issy to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock inoomeore series and to fix the rights,
preferences, privileges and restrictions therebése rights, preferences and privileges could dechlividend rights, conversion rights, voting
rights, terms of redemption, liquidation preferemcginking fund terms and the number of sharestitotisg, or the designation of, such series,
any or all of which may be greater than the riglitsommon stock. The issuance of our preferreckstoald adversely affect the voting power
of holders of common stock and the likelihood thath holders will receive dividend payments andhpeyts upon our liquidation. In addition,
the issuance of preferred stock could have theedfiedelaying, deferring or preventing a changeanitrol of our company or other corporate
action. Immediately after completion of this offegi no shares of preferred stock will be outstagdimd we have no present plan to issue any
shares of preferred stock.

Warrants

The following table sets forth information aboutsianding warrants to purchase shares of our stedf September 30, 2010. Immediately
prior to the consummation of this offering, the vaats to purchase shares of our preferred stodlcarilvert into warrants to purchase our
common stock based on the applicable conversiama&the preferred stock. In addition, certairtloé outstanding warrants contain a “net
exercise” provision, which provides that the watsanill net exercise on the expiration date or uponsummation of this offering, if not
exercised before that time.

Exercise price

Class of stock underlying warrants Nl;?;rirs()f per share Expiration date

Common Stock, par value $0.001 per shk® 1,630,62! $ 1.5C 8/12/201€

Common Stock, par value $0.001 per st 1,848,84! $ 1.5C Various dates between 4/12/2C
and 8/4/201"

Series A preferred stock, par value $0.001 peres@ 684 $ 43.8¢ 9/6/2016

Series B preferred stock, par value $0.001 pere<® 39¢ $ 69.0( Various dates between 2/21/2C
and 3/12/201:

Series B preferred stock, par value $0.001 peres® 1,73¢ $ 69.0( 8/3/2017

Series D preferred stock, par value $0.001 pere® 278,16 $ 7.5¢€ Various dates between 2/13/2C
and 8/5/201«

Series D preferred stock, par value $0.001 perex® 103,17: $ 7.5¢ 7/30/2018
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(1) Pursuant to the terms of these warrants, immedigigbr to the consummation of this offering, theserants will automatically net exercise (if notecised prior to that time
resulting in the issuance of 1,358,854 shares nfrmon stock, based upon the expected initial patffézing price of $9.00 per shar

(2) Immediately prior to the consummation of this offgr these warrants to purchase Series A prefestedk will convert into warrants to purchase an esgate of 3,156 shares of o
common stock

(3) Pursuant to the terms of these warrants, immedigtgbr to the consummation of this offering, theserants will automatically terminate (if not exésed prior to that time), base
upon the expected initial public offering price$8f.00 per share as the exercise price of theseamésrwill be greater than the initial public offag price.

(4) Immediately prior to the consummation of this offgr these warrants to purchase Series B prefestedk will convert into warrants to purchase an eggate of 10,299 shares of ¢
common stock

(5) Pursuant to the terms of these warrants, immedigigbr to the consummation of this offering, theserants will automatically net exercise (if notegcised prior to that time
resulting in the issuance of 44,491 shares of comstock, based upon the expected initial publierof§ price of $9.00 per shar

(6) Immediately prior to the consummation of this offgr these warrants to purchase Series D prefestedk will convert into warrants to purchase an eggate of 103,173 shares of ¢
common stock

Registration Rights

Under our amended and restated investor rightssagget, following the closing of this offering, thelders of 21.7 million shares of common
stock, including shares issuable upon exerciseaofamts, or their transferees, have the rightdaoire us to register their shares under the
Securities Act so that those shares may be pubkdgld, or to include their shares in any registrastatement we file, in each case as
described below.

Demand Registration Rights

Based on the number of shares outstanding as ob@xci5, 2010, after the completion of this offgrithe holders of approximately

20.8 million shares of our common stock, includéhgres issuable upon exercise of warrants, or titagisferees, will be entitled to certain
demand registration rights. Beginning six montHe®ing the consummation of this offering, the heild of at least 40% of these shares ca
not more than two occasions, request that we exgaditor a portion of their shares. Such requestdgistration must cover a number of shares
with an anticipated aggregate offering price, Hatralerwriting discounts and commissions, excee@®@ million. Additionally, we will not

be required to affect a demand registration duttiregperiod beginning 60 days prior to the filinglar80 days following the effectiveness of a
company-initiated registration statement relatim@ fpublic offering of our securities, providedtthe have complied with certain notice
requirements to the holders of these shares.

Piggyback Registration Rights

Based on the number of shares outstanding as ob@xci5, 2010, after the completion of this offgrim the event that we determine to
register any of our securities under the Securhiets either for our own account or for the accoahbther security holders, the holders of
approximately 21.7 million shares of our commorcktancluding shares issuable upon exercise ofamst or their transferees, will be entit
to certain “piggyback” registration rights allowitige holders to include their shares in such regish, subject to certain marketing and other
limitations. As a result, whenever we propose ldiregistration statement under the Securitigs @dther than with respect to a registration
related to employee benefit plans or corporategaurations, the holders of these shares areeghtitl notice of the registration and have the
right, subject to limitations that the underwritenay impose on the number of shares included imggistration, to include their shares in the
registration.

Form S-3 Registration Rights

Based on the number of shares outstanding as ob@ci5, 2010, after the completion of this offgrithe holders of approximately

20.8 million shares of our common stock, includégres issuable upon exercise of warrants, or tifagisferees, will be entitled to certain
Form S-3 registration rights. The holders of astea5% of these shares can make a written retussive register their shares on Form S-3 if
we are eligible to file a registration statementramm S-3 and if the aggregate price to the puiflitie shares offered exceeds
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$5.0 million. These stockholders may make an umdichhumber of requests for registration on Form Be&vever, we will not be required to
affect a registration on Form S-3 if we have prasig affected two such registrations in the 12-rhqueriod preceding the request for
registration. Additionally, we will not be requiréd affect a registration on Form S-3 during theqeebeginning 60 days prior to the filing and
180 days following the effectiveness of a companiijated registration statement relating to a prbffering of our securities, provided that
have complied with certain notice requirementhholders of these shares.

Expenses of Registration

We will pay the registration expenses of the haddrthe shares registered pursuant to the denpégglyback and Form S-3 registration rights
described above. In an underwritten offering, tleaging underwriter, if any, has the right, subjectpecified conditions, to limit the number
of shares such holders may include.

Expiration of Registration Rights

The demand, piggyback and Form S-3 registratidmsigescribed above will expire, with respect tp particular stockholder, five years after
our initial public offering or when that stockhotdzan sell all of its shares under Rule 144 ofSkeurities Act. In any event, all such
registration rights shall expire upon the earliefie years after the consummation of this offgrior the consummation of certain events,
including the sale of all of our assets or a changmntrol of our company in which our stockhokleeceive cash or marketable securities.

Anti-Takeover Provisions

Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws to be in Ef  fect Upon the Completion of This Offering

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpmmatd be in effect upon the completion of this dffg will provide for our board of directors
to be divided into three classes, with staggeregktlyear terms. Only one class of directors wilekected at each annual meeting of our
stockholders, with the other classes continuingtierremainder of their respective three-year teBesause our stockholders do not have
cumulative voting rights, our stockholders holdagajority of the shares of common stock outstagaliitl be able to elect all of our directo
Our amended and restated certificate of incorpomaaind amended and restated bylaws to be effagbiwe the completion of this offering will
provide that all stockholder action must be effdaea duly called meeting of stockholders andayod written consent, and that only our bc

of directors, chairman of the board, chief exeautifficer or president (in the absence of a chxetcative officer) may call a special meeting of
stockholders.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpmmatiill require a 662 % stockholder vote for the amendment, repeal orification of
certain provisions of our amended and restatedficate of incorporation and amended and restayéavis relating to:

= the classification of our board of directo
= the requirement that stockholder actions be efteatea duly called meeting; a
= the designated parties entitled to call a specedting of the stockholder

The combination of the classification of our boafdlirectors, the lack of cumulative voting and & 2 /3% stockholder voting requirements
will make it more difficult for our existing stocklders to replace our board of directors as wefbasnother party to obtain control of us by
replacing our board of directors. Because our bo&directors has the power to retain and dischargeofficers, these provisions could also
make it more difficult for existing stockholdersamother party to effect a change in managememiddiition, the authorization of undesigna
preferred stock makes it possible for our boardictors to issue preferred stock with voting tirep rights or preferences that could impede
the success of any attempt to change our control.

These provisions may have the effect of deterrigtile takeovers or delaying changes in our comrehanagement. These provisions are
intended to enhance the likelihood of continuediita in the composition of our board of directasd its policies and to discourage certain
types of transactions that may involve an actual
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or threatened acquisition of us. These provisioasglasigned to reduce our vulnerability to an ungel acquisition proposal. The provisions
also are intended to discourage certain tactidstiag be used in proxy fights. However, such priovis could have the effect of discouraging
others from making tender offers for our sharestberwise attempting to control of us, and, asressequence, they also may inhibit
fluctuations in the market price of our shares twatld result from actual or rumored takeover aftesmSuch provisions may also have the
effect of preventing changes in our management.

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law

Upon completion of this offering, we will be subjéc Section 203 of the Delaware General Corpondtiaw, which prohibits a Delaware
corporation from engaging in any business comimmatiith any interested stockholder for a periothoée years after the date that such
stockholder became an interested stockholder, sinles

= before such date, the board of directors of thpa@tion approved either the business combinatidheotransaction that resulted
the stockholder becoming an interested hol

= upon completion of the transaction that resultethéstockholder becoming an interested stockhptterinterested stockholder ow!
at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporatiatstanding at the time the transaction begarudig for purposes of determining
the voting stock outstanding (but not the outstagdioting stock owned by the interested stockhgltterse shares owned t

= persons who are directors and also officers;

= employee stock plans in which employee patrticipdntaot have the right to determine confidentiallyether shares held subject
the plan will be tendered in a tender or excharftgr;cor

= on or after such date, the business combinatiapgsoved by the board of directors and authorizeshannual or special meeting
of the stockholders, and not by written consenthgyaffirmative vote of at least 66 3% of the outstanding voting stock that is
owned by the interested stockholc

In general, Section 203 defines “business comhinatio include the following:
= any merger or consolidation involving the corparatand the interested stockhold

= any sale, transfer, pledge or other dispositiohG86 or more of the assets of the corporation anagrity-owned subsidiary that
involves the interested stockhold

= subject to certain exceptions, any transactionrémgults in the issuance or transfer by the cotfraf any stock of the corporation
the interested stockholde

= subject to certain exceptions, any transactionlinmg the corporation that has the effect of insieg the proportionate share of |
stock or any class or series of the corporatiorefieially owned by the interested stockholder

= the receipt by the interested stockholder of theelieof any loans, advances, guarantees, pledgether financial benefits by or
through the corporatiot

In general, Section 203 defines an “interestedkstolder” as an entity or person who, together whh person’s affiliates and associates,
beneficially owns, or is an affiliate or associafehe corporation and within three years priothte time of determination of interested
stockholder status did own, 15% or more of thetantding voting stock of the corporation.

Limitations of Liability and Indemnification Matter S
For a discussion of liability and indemnificatigpiease see “Management—Limitation on Liability dndemnification Matters.”

The NASDAQ Global Market Listing
Our common stock has been approved for listing lom NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “GNOM.”
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Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our commocksi®Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, N.A. The transfgent and registrar’'s address is
Shareowner Services, 161 North Concord ExchangghSgt. Paul, Minnesota 55075.
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Shares Eligible for Future Sale

Prior to this offering, there has been no publickeafor our common stock. Future sales of our camrstock in the public market, or the
availability of such shares for sale in the pubtiarket, could adversely affect market prices ofaammon stock prevailing from time to time.
As described below, only a limited number of shavédkbe available for sale shortly after this affeg due to contractual and legal restrictions
on resale. Nevertheless, sales of our common gtdtie public market after such restrictions lagethe perception that those sales may o
could adversely affect the prevailing market pe€®ur common stock and our ability to raise equyital in the future.

Based on the number of shares of common stockamalisty as of October 15, 2010, upon completiomisfdffering, 25,809,078 shares of
common stock will be outstanding, assuming no égeraf the underwriters’ over-allotment option aralexercise of options or warrants. All
of the shares sold by us in this offering will lbedly tradable unless purchased by our affiliafé& remaining 19,809,078 shares of common
stock outstanding after this offering will be résed as a result of securities laws or lock-upeagrents as described below. Following the
expiration of the lock-up period, all shares w# gligible for resale in compliance with Rule 144Rule 701. “Restricted securities” as defined
under Rule 144 were issued and sold by us in diam exemptions from the registration requiremehthe Securities Act. These shares may
be sold in the public market only if registeredoarsuant to an exemption from registration, sucR@e 144 or Rule 701 under the Securities
Act. Excluding the shares issued in this offeritig, remaining 19,809,078 shares of common stocstanding after this offering will generally
become available for sale in the public marketodlews:

Approximate

number of shares Date

146,687 Immediately.

17,360,449 Beginning 90 days after the effective date of #gistration statement of which this prospectus anpart, subject, in
certain cases, to the holding period, public infation, volume limitation, public notice and manmérsale requirements of
Rule 144,

2,301,942 At various times after the effective date of thgistration statement of which this prospectus foanpsrt.
The above does not take into consideration thekedfethe lock-up agreements described below.

Rule 144

Rule 144 provides an exemption from the registraind prospectus-delivery requirements of the $SsIAct. This exemption is available to
affiliates of ours that sell our restricted or n@stricted securities and also to raffiliates that sell our restricted securities. WReted securitie
include securities acquired from the issuer of éhemscurities, or from an affiliate of the issuaraitransaction or chain of transactions not
involving any public offering. The shares we arltirsg in this offering are not restricted securiti¢lowever, all the shares we have issued
before this offering are restricted securities, #ray will continue to be restricted securitiesilutiey are resold pursuant to Rule 144 or
pursuant to an effective registration statement.

In general, under Rule 144, as in effect on the déthis prospectus, a person who is, or at ang tluring the 90 days preceding the sale was,
an affiliate of ours generally may sell, within atfiyee-month period, a number of shares that doesxteed the greater of:

= 1% of the number of shares of common stock outstgnevhich will equal approximately 260,000 sharemediately after thi:
offering (or 269,000 shares if the underwri’ over-allotment is exercised in full); ¢

= the average weekly trading volume of our commonlstim The NASDAQ Global Market during the four gadar weeks immediately
preceding the date on which a notice of sale éslfikith the SEC

In addition, sales by these persons must alsdsatiguirements relating to the manner of sale Jliputotice, the availability of current public
information about us and, in the case of restristxlrities, a minimum holding
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period for those securities. All other persons medy on Rule 144 to freely sell our restricted sé@@s, so long as they satisfy both the
minimum holding period requirement and, until a-gear holding period has elapsed, the current publormation requirement.

Rule 144 does not supersede our security holdergtactual obligations under the lock-up agreemdascribed below.

Rule 701

Generally, an employee, officer, director or quetifconsultant of ours who purchased shares of@mmon stock before the effective date of
the registration statement relating to this progeor who holds options as of that date, purstaatwritten compensatory plan or contract
may rely on the resale provisions of Rule 701 urtderSecurities Act. Under Rule 701, of these peso

= those who are not our affiliates may generally elke securities, commencing 90 days after thectfe date of the registration
statement, without having to comply with the cutneablic information and minimum holding period vdgments of Rule 144; ar

= those who are our affiliates may generally selsthsecurities under Rule 701, commencing 90 dagstak effective date of the
registration statement, without having to complyhwRule 14’ s minimum holding period restrictio

Rule 701 does not supersede our security holdergtactual obligations under the lock-up agreemdasribed above.

Lock-Up Agreements

We, along with our directors, executive officersl@ubstantially all of our other security holddraye generally agreed with the underwriters
that for a period of 180 days following the datato$ prospectus, we or they will not offer, sebintract to sell, pledge, or otherwise dispose of,
directly or indirectly, any shares of common stoclany securities convertible into or exercisalslexchangeable for shares of common stock,
or enter into any swap or other arrangement thatters to another, in whole or in part, any ofébenomic consequences of ownership of the
common stock or any securities convertible intexercisable or exchangeable for shares of comnoahk stvhether any of these transactions
are to be settled by delivery of our common stactber securities, in cash or otherwise, or pljpliisclose the intention to effect any of th
transactions, subject to specified exceptions. UB8stment Bank and Jefferies & Company may, iiir tha@e discretion, at any time without
prior notice, release all or any portion of therglsdrom the restrictions in any such agreement.

If:

= during the period that begins on the date thabisalendar days plus 3 business days before thddgof the 180-day lock-up period
and ends on the last day of the -day locl-up period,

= We issue an earnings release
= material news or a material event relating to uucs; or

= prior to the expiration of the 1-day locl-up period, we announce that we will release eamiegults during the -day perioc
beginning on the last day of the -day locl-up period,

then the 180-day lock-up period described in tleeg@ding paragraph will be extended until the exioineof the date that is 15 calendar days
plus 3 business days after the date on which twaixe of the earnings release or the material oewsterial event occurs.
Registration Rights

Based on the number of shares outstanding as obéci5, 2010, after the completion of this offgrithe holders of 21.7 million shares of
common stock, including shares issuable upon esesiadi warrants, or their transferees, will, subjeciny lock-up agreements they have
entered into, be entitled to certain rights with
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respect to the registration of the offer and sékhase shares under the Securities Act. For arigi¢i®n of these registration rights, please see

the section titled “Description of Capital Stock—gR&ration Rights.” If the offer and sale of thedmres are registered, they will be freely
tradable without restriction under the Securities. A

Stock Plans

As soon as practicable after the completion of dfffisring, we intend to file a Form S-8 registratistatement under the Securities Act to
register the offer and sale of shares of our comstock subject to options outstanding or resereedssuance under our 2006 Equity Incen
Plan, our 2010 Equity Incentive Award Plan and Bmnployee Stock Purchase Plan. This registraticerstant will become effective
immediately upon filing, and shares covered by tagstration statement will then be eligible fatesin the public markets, subject limitations
applicable to affiliates and any lock-up agreemeffits a more complete discussion of our stock plaaes “Executive Compensation—
Employee Benefit and Stock Plans.”
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Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to No n-U.S. Holders

The following is a summary of material U.S. fedenglome tax consequences to non-U.S. holders fasedeelow) of the acquisition,
ownership and disposition of our common stock idsuersuant to this offering. This discussion isdabsn the Internal Revenue Code of 1986,
as amended, or the Code, Treasury Regulations pgated thereunder, judicial decisions and publistutidgs and administrative
pronouncements of the Internal Revenue ServiclR®y all as in effect as of the date of this praspe These authorities may change, possibly
retroactively, resulting in U.S. federal income tasequences different from those discussed bédlhis.discussion is not a complete analysis
of all of the potential U.S. federal income tax sequences relating thereto, nor does it addressstate and gift tax consequences or any tax
consequences arising under any state, local oigfotax laws or any other U.S. federal tax laws.riling has been or will be sought from the
IRS with respect to the matters discussed belod tlagre can be no assurance that the IRS willalk@t & contrary position regarding the tax
consequences of the acquisition, ownership or difpa of our common stock by a non-U.S. holderthat any such contrary position would
not be sustained by a court.

This discussion is limited to non-U.S. holders wpuwchase our common stock issued pursuant to tfeisrg and who hold our common stock
as a “capital asset” within the meaning of Secfi@@1 of the Code (property held for investment)sTiscussion does not address all of the
U.S. federal income tax consequences that mayléearg to a particular holder in light of such herfd particular circumstances. This
discussion also does not consider any specifis factircumstances that may be relevant to hokldngect to special rules under the

U.S. federal income tax laws, including, withouikation:

= U.S. expatriates or former lo-term residents of the United Stat

= partnerships or other pithrough entities classified as a partnership f@&.Jederal income tax purpos:
= real estate investment trus

= regulated investment compani

= “controlled foreign corporatior
U.S. federal income ta:

passive foreign investment compal” or corporations that accumulate earnings to a

= banks, insurance companies or other financialtingins;

= brokers, dealers or traders in securities, comrgsddr currencies
= tax-exempt organization:

= tax-qualified retirement plan:

= persons subject to the alternative minimum tay

= persons holding our common stock as part of a Imgdgii conversion transaction, straddle or a coosti sale or other ri-reduction
strategy.

PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS ARE URGED TO CONSULT THEIR XADVISORS REGARDING THE PARTICULAR U.S. FEDERAL
INCOME AND ESTATE TAX CONSEQUENCES TO THEM OF ACQRING, OWNING AND DISPOSING OF OUR COMMON STOCK,
AS WELL AS ANY TAX CONSEQUENCES ARISING UNDER ANY BATE, LOCAL OR FOREIGN TAX LAWS AND ANY OTHER

U.S. FEDERAL TAX LAWS AND TAX TREATIES.

Definition of Non-U.S. Holder

For purposes of this discussion, a non-U.S. haklany beneficial owner of our common stock thatdsa “U.S. person” or a partnership (or
other entity treated as a partnership) for U.Sefabincome tax purposes. A U.S. person is anh@fallowing:

= an individual citizen or resident of the United 6t
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= a corporation (or other entity treated as a copmrdor U.S. federal income tax purposes) createdrganized under the laws of the
United States, any state therein or the Districofumbia;

= an estate the income of which is subject to U.@eifal income tax regardless of its source

= atrust (1) the administration of which is subjecthe primary supervision of a U.S. court andsalystantial decisions of which &
controlled by one or more U.S. persons or (2) lizeta valid election in effect under applicableabrey Regulations to be treated as a
U.S. person

Distributions on Our Common Stock

If we make cash or other property distributionsoan common stock, such distributions will consttdividends for U.S. federal income tax
purposes to the extent paid from our current ouaedated earnings and profits, as determined udderfederal income tax principles.
Amounts not treated as dividends for U.S. federedine tax purposes will constitute a return of t@ind will first be applied against and
reduce a holder’s adjusted tax basis in the comstmek, but not below zero. Distributions in excessur current and accumulated earnings
and profits and in excess of a non-U.S. holderdiasis in its shares will be treated as gain zedlon the sale or other disposition of the
common stock and will be treated as described uhdeBGain on Disposition of Our Common Stock” below.

Dividends paid to a non-U.S. holder of our commimtls that are not effectively connected with a Ut&de or business conducted by such
holder will be subject to U.S. federal withholditax at a rate of 30% of the gross amount of thaldivds, or such lower rate specified by an
applicable income tax treaty. To receive the béméfa reduced treaty rate, a non-U.S. holder rwsish to us or our paying agent a valid IRS
Form W-8BEN (or applicable successor form) centifysuch holder’s qualification for the reduced rdteis certification must be provided to
us or our paying agent prior to the payment ofdtivids and must be updated periodically. If the dd.-holder holds the stock through a
financial institution or other agent acting on tlen-U.S. holder’s behalf, the non-U.S. holder wélrequired to provide appropriate
documentation to the agent, who then will be resito provide certification to us or our paying sigeither directly or through other
intermediaries. Non-U.S. holders that do not tinglyvide us or our paying agent with the requiredification, but who qualify for a reduced
treaty rate, may obtain a refund of any excess atsawithheld by timely filing an appropriate clafor refund with the IRS. Non-U.S. holders
should consult their tax advisors regarding posséititlement to benefits under a tax treaty.

If a non-U.S. holder holds our common stock in amtion with such holder’s conduct of a trade oribess in the United States, and dividends
paid on the common stock are effectively conneutitld such holder’'s U.S. trade or business, anggtiired by an applicable income tax
treaty, attributable to a permanent establishmexibtained by the non-U.S. holder in the U.S., the-b.S. holder will be exempt from

U.S. federal withholding tax. To claim the exemptithe non-U.S. holder must furnish to us or owyipgagent a properly executed IRS

Form W-8ECI (or applicable successor form), ceitifythat the dividends are effectively connectethwulie non-U.S. holder’s conduct of a
trade or business within the United States.

Any dividends paid on our common stock that areaifely connected with a non-U.S. holder’s U.&d#& or business (and, if required by an
applicable income tax treaty, attributable to anpement establishment maintained by the non-U.Slenoh the United States) will be subject to
U.S. federal income tax on a net income basiseatahular graduated U.S. federal income tax ratédse same manner as if such holder were a
resident of the United States, unless an applidableme tax treaty provides otherwise. A nars. holder that is a foreign corporation also 1

be subject to a branch profits tax equal to 30%s(wh lower rate specified by an applicable inctaxetreaty) of a portion of its effectively
connected earnings and profits for the taxable,yasaadjusted for certain items.

Non-U.S. holders should consult their tax advisorsarding their entittiement to benefits under a reféwacome tax treaty.
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Gain on Disposition of Our Common Stock

Subiject to the discussion below regarding backupheiding, a non-U.S. holder generally will notdugbject to U.S. federal income tax on any
gain realized upon the sale or other dispositioawwfcommon stock unless:

= the gain is effectively connected with the -U.S. holde’s conduct of a trade or business in the UnitedeStaind if required by ¢
applicable income tax treaty, attributable to axpament establishment maintained by the-U.S. holder in the United State

= the nonU.S. holder is a nonresident alien individual preesie the United States for 183 days or more dutirggtaxable year of the s
or disposition, and certain other requirementsaeé or

= our common stock constitutes a “United Statespeaberty interest” by reason of our status as dddn$tates real property holding
corporation, or USRPHC, for U.S. federal incomepgarposes during the relevant statutory pet

Unless an applicable income tax treaty provideemitse, gain described in the first bullet poinbed will be subject to U.S. federal income
tax on a net income basis at the regular graduat8dfederal income tax rates in the same manniéisash holder were a resident of the
United States. Further, ndh-S. holders that are foreign corporations also bmgubject to a branch profits tax equal to 30&s(ch lower rat
specified by an applicable income tax treaty) pbetion of their effectively connected earnings @nofits for the taxable year, as adjusted for
certain items. NorJ.S. holders are urged to consult their tax adgisegarding any applicable income tax treatiesrtat provide for differer
rules.

A gain described in the second bullet point aboileb& subject to U.S. federal income tax at a 8&%o rate (or such lower rate specified by an
applicable income tax treaty), but may be offseth$. source capital losses (even though the iddaliis not considered a resident of the
United States), provided the non-U.S. holder haglif filed U.S. federal income tax returns withpest to such losses.

With respect to the third bullet point above, wéidye we are not currently and do not anticipatedneing a USRPHC for U.S. federal income
tax purposes. However, because the determinatiarnether we are a USRPHC depends on the fair magke¢ of our U.S. real property
interests relative to the fair market value of otlrer trade or business assets and our non-U |Sragzerty interests, there can be no assurance
that we are not a USRPHC or will not become onthénfuture. Even if we are or were to become a USRRa gain arising from the sale or
other taxable disposition by a non-U.S. holderwf@mmon stock will not be subject to tax if sutdiss of stock is “regularly traded,” as
defined by applicable Treasury Regulations, onstatdished securities market, and such bo8- holder owned, actually or constructively,

or less of such class of our stock throughout Huetsr of the five-year period ending on the ddtthe sale or other taxable disposition of the
stock or the non-U.S. holder’s holding period focls stock. We expect our common stock to be “retyjuteaded” on an established securities
market, although we cannot guarantee it will bé&raded. If a gain on the sale or other taxableadigjpn of our stock were subject to taxation
under the third bullet point above, the non-U.Sdapbwould be subject to U.S. federal income tathwespect to such gain in the same manner
as a U.S. person (subject to any applicable altemeninimum tax and a special alternative minimtax in the case of nonresident alien
individuals).

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

We must report annually to the IRS and to eachldh-holder the amount of distributions on our camrstock paid to such holder and the
amount of any tax withheld with respect to thossriiutions. These information reporting requiretseapply even if no withholding was
required because the distributions were effectizelynected with the holder’'s conduct of a U.S.dradbusiness, or if withholding was
reduced or eliminated by an applicable incomeaaty. This information also may be made availaipléer a specific treaty or agreement with
the tax authorities in the country in which the Ad1$. holder resides or is established. Backuphwiiting, currently at a 28% rate, will not
apply to distribution payments to a non-U.S. holafeour common stock provided the non-U.S. holdenishes to us or our paying agent the
required certification as to its non-U.S. statysptoviding a valid IRS Form W-8BEN or IRS Form VEE@I, as applicable, and satisfying
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certain other requirements. Notwithstanding thedoing, backup withholding may apply if either wavl or our paying agent has actual
knowledge, or reason to know, that the holderlis& person that is not an exempt recipient.

Unless a nord.S. holder complies with certification procedutestablish that it is not a U.S. person, infoiorateturns may be filed with tl
IRS in connection with, and the non-U.S. holder rhaysubject to backup withholding on the proceedis f a sale or other disposition of our
common stock. The certification procedures desdrihghe above paragraph will satisfy these ceatfon requirements as well.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any@mts withheld under the backup withholding rulesyrbe allowed as a refund or a credit
against a non-U.S. holder’s U.S. federal incomditbility, provided the required information isrtely furnished to the IRS. Backup
withholding and information reporting rules are qdex. Non-U.S. holders are urged to consult treiradvisors regarding the application of
these rules to them.

New Legislation Relating to Foreign Accounts

Newly enacted legislation may impose withholdingegon certain types of payments mad“foreign financial institutions” (as specially
defined under these rules) and certain other n@-ghtities. Under this legislation, the failurectiamply with additional certification,
information reporting and other specified requiratsecould result in withholding tax being imposedpayments of dividends and sales
proceeds to foreign intermediaries and certain ddd-holders. The legislation imposes a 30% witlimg) tax on dividends on, or gross
proceeds from the sale or other disposition of,aaummon stock paid to a foreign financial instibuatior to a foreign nofinancial entity, unles
(i) the foreign financial institution undertakegteén diligence and reporting obligations or (higtforeign non-financial entity either certifies it
does not have any substantial U.S. owners or fuesisdentifying information regarding each substtt.S. owner. If the payee is a foreign
financial institution, it must enter into an agrearhwith the U.S. Treasury requiring, among othargs, that it undertake to identify accounts
held by certain U.S. persons or U.S.-owned foreigtities, annually report certain information absut¢h accounts, and withhold 30% on
payments to account holders whose actions prevéonm complying with these reporting and otheruiegments. The legislation would apply
to payments made after December 31, 2012. Progpéntiestors should consult their tax advisors meigg this legislation.

The foregoing discussion of U.S. federal income taonsiderations is for general information purpose®nly and is not tax or legal
advice. Accordingly, you should consult your own ta advisor as to the particular tax consequences §mu of purchasing, owning and
disposing of our common stock, including the applability and effect of any U.S. federal, state or lcal or non-U.S. tax laws, and of any
changes or proposed changes in applicable law.
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Underwriting

We are offering the shares of our common stockrdeest in this prospectus through the underwritensied below. UBS Securities LLC and
Jefferies & Company, Inc. are the book-running ngans of this offering and the representatives efithderwriters. We have entered into an
underwriting agreement with the representativebjedi to the terms and conditions of the undemgitigreement, each of the underwriters
severally agreed to purchase the number of sh&ismmon stock listed next to its name in the fallog table.

Number of
Underwriter shares
UBS Securities LLC
Jefferies & Company, In
Robert W. Baird & Co. Incorporate
Cowen and Company, LL
Total 6,000,00!

The underwriting agreement provides that the undag must buy all of the shares if they buy ahthem. However, the underwriters are not
required to take or pay for the shares coveredheyhderwriters’ over-allotment option describetbhe

Our common stock is offered subject to a numbeoofitions, including:
= receipt and acceptance of our common stock by tidemwriters; ant
= the underwriter right to reject orders in whole or in pe
In connection with this offering, certain of thedemwriters or securities dealers may distributespeatuses electronically.

Over-Allotment Option

We have granted the underwriters an option to utowan aggregate of 900,000 additional sharesioEommon stock. The underwriters may
exercise this option solely for the purpose of emgeover-allotments, if any, made in connectiothwhis offering. The underwriters have

30 days from the date of this prospectus to exettis option. If the underwriters exercise thisiap they will each purchase additional shares
approximately in proportion to the amounts spedifiethe table above.

Commissions and Discounts

Shares sold by the underwriters to the public initially be offered at the initial public offeringrice set forth on the cover of this prospectus.
Any shares sold by the underwriters to securiteets may be sold at a discount of upto $  per share from the initial public offering
price. Any of these securities dealers may resgllshares purchased from the underwriters to ditakers or dealers at a discount of up to

$ per share from the public offeringcer

Sales of shares made outside the United Statedbenmade by affiliates of the underwriters. If &k tshares are not sold at the initial public
offering price, the representatives may changeffezing price and the other selling terms. Upor@#xion of the underwriting agreement, the
underwriters will be obligated to purchase the ebat the prices and upon the terms stated thdre@representatives of the underwriters t
informed us that they do not expect to sell moentfive percent of the total number of shares afimon stock being offered to accounts over
which such representatives exercise discretionattyoaity.
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The following table shows the per share and tatdlenwriting discounts and commissions we will payhte underwriters assuming both no
exercise and full exercise of the underwritersi@pto purchase additional shares of our commocksto

No exercise Full exercise
Per shart $ $
Total $ $

We estimate that the total expenses of this offgpiayable by us, not including the underwritingedignts and commissions, will be
approximately $3.25 million.
No Sales of Similar Securities

We, our executive officers and directors and had#rshares our common stock and options and wartampurchase shares of our common
stock have entered into lock-up agreements withutieerwriters. Under these agreements, subjecrtain exceptions, we and each of these
persons may not, without the prior written appraaUBS Securities LLC and Jefferies & Company,. Jmdfer, sell, contract to sell or
otherwise dispose of, directly or indirectly, odige our common stock or securities convertible artexchangeable or exercisable for our
common stock. These restrictions will be in effecta period of 180 days after the date of thisspeztus. At any time and without public
notice, UBS Securities LLC and Jefferies & Compadng, may, in their sole discretion, release somallmf the securities from these lock-up
agreements.

If:

= during the period that begins on the date thabisalendar days plus 3 business days before thddgof the 180-day lock-up period
and ends on the last day of the -day locl-up period,

= We issue an earnings release
= material news or a material event relating to uucs; or

= prior to the expiration of the 1-day locl-up period, we announce that we will release eamiegults during the -day perioc
beginning on the last day of the -day locl-up period,

then the 180-day lock-up period will be extendetll tine expiration of the date that is 15 calendays plus 3 business days after the date on
which the issuance of the earnings release or dtenal news or material event occurs.

Indemnification

We have agreed to indemnify the underwriters aed ttontrolling persons against certain liabilifiexcluding certain liabilities under the
Securities Act. If we are unable to provide thidamnification, we have agreed to contribute to paytsthe underwriters may be required to
make in respect of those liabilities.

NASDAQ Global Market Listing
Our common stock has been approved for listing lom NASDAQ Global Market under the trading symboNGM.”

Price Stabilization, Short Positions

In connection with this offering, the underwritengy engage in activities that stabilize, maintaintherwise affect the price of our common
stock, including:

= stabilizing transaction:

= short sales

= purchases to cover positions created by short;s
= imposition of penalty bids; ar

= syndicate covering transactiol
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Stabilizing transactions consist of bids or purelsamade for the purpose of preventing or retardidgcline in the market price of our comn
stock while this offering is in progress. Thesasactions may also include making short sales oEommon stock, which involve the sale by
the underwriters of a greater number of shareswinton stock than they are required to purchadeis$roffering, and purchasing shares of
common stock on the open market to cover positioeated by short sales. Short sales may be “cowred sales,” which are short positions
in an amount not greater than the underwritersi-@ietment option referred to above, or may bek&thshort sales,” which are short positions
in excess of that amount.

The underwriters may close out any covered shaitipa either by exercising their over-allotmentiop, in whole or in part, or by purchasing
shares in the open market. In making this deteridinathe underwriters will consider, among othengs, the price of shares available for
purchase in the open market as compared to the atiwhich they may purchase shares through theashdment option.

Naked short sales are short sales made in excélss ofe-allotment option. The underwriters must closeany naked short position by
purchasing shares in the open market. A naked phbagition is more likely to be created if the undeéters are concerned that there may be
downward pressure on the price of the common stotke open market that could adversely affect $twes who purchased in this offering.

The underwriters also may impose a penalty bids Becurs when a particular underwriter repays éouthderwriters a portion of the
underwriting discount received by it because tipeesentatives have repurchased shares sold by threfaccount of that underwriter in
stabilizing or short covering transactions.

As a result of these activities, the price of ommeon stock may be higher than the price that atisermight exist in the open market. If these
activities are commenced, they may be discontiryetthe underwriters at any time. The underwritessy/ warry out these transactions on The
NASDAQ Global Market, in the ov-the-counter market or otherwise.

Determination of Offering Price

Prior to this offering, there was no public marf@tour common stock. The initial public offeringige will be determined by negotiation by us
and the representatives of the underwriters. Threeipal factors to be considered in determiningittigal public offering price include:

= the information set forth in this prospectus artteoise available to representativ

= our history and prospects and the history of amdgmects for the industry in which we compt

= our past and present financial performance andgs@sament of our manageme

= our prospects for future earnings and the predete sf our developmer

= the general condition of the securities marketbatime of this offering

= the recent market prices of, and demand for, plybiiaded common stock of generally comparable camigs; anc
= other factors deemed relevant by the underwritedsue.

Affiliations

Certain of the underwriters and their affiliatesynfitom time to time in the future provide certaimnemercial banking, financial advisory,
investment banking and other services for us faclvthey will be entitled to receive separate fddwe underwriters and their affiliates may
from time to time in the future engage in trangawiwith us and perform services for us in theraadi course of their respective businesses.

Participation in this Offering

Certain of our principal stockholders and/or ttedfiliates have indicated an interest in purchasipgo an aggregate of $13.5 million of shares
of common stock in this offering, based upon thegeeked initial public offering price of $9.00 pdrase. However, because these potential
indications of interest are not binding agreementsommitments to purchase, any or all of thesek$tolders may elect not to purchase any
shares in this offering.
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Notice to Investors

Notice to Prospective Investors in the European Eco  nomic Area

In relation to each Member State of the EuropeamnBic Area, or EEA, which has implemented the peotus Directive (each, a “Relevant
Member State”), with effect from, and includingettlate on which the Prospectus Directive is implaettin that Relevant Member State (the
“Relevant Implementation Date”), an offer to thebfpci of our securities which are the subject of dfilering contemplated by this prospectus
may not be made in that Relevant Member State péxbat, with effect from, and including, the Redet Implementation Date, an offer to the
public in that Relevant Member State of our semgiimay be made at any time under the followingrexens under the Prospectus Directive,
if they have been implemented in that Relevant Mem8iate:

a) to legal entities which are authorized or regpdao operate in the financial markets or, if sotauthorized or regulated, whose
corporate purpose is solely to invest in our se¢ies:i

b) to any legal entity which has two or more of; &b average of at least 250 employees duringaiste(dr, in Sweden, the last two)
financial year(s); (2) a total balance sheet ofertban €43,000,000 and (3) an annual net turndueioce than €50,000,000, as shown in
its last (or, in Sweden, its last two) annual ansmlidated accounts;

c) to fewer than 100 natural or legal persons (otiien qualified investors as defined in the ProymeDirective), subject to
obtaining the prior consent of the representativesny such offer; or

d) in any other circumstances falling within Aréc3(2) of the Prospectus Directive, provided tteasuach offer of our securities
shall result in a requirement for the publicatignus or any underwriter or agent of a prospectusyant to Article 3 of the Prospectus
Directive.

As used above, the expression “offered to the publirelation to any of our securities in any Relat Member State means the
communication in any form and by any means of sigfit information on the terms of the offer and securities to be offered so as to enable
an investor to decide to purchase or subscribedosecurities, as the same may be varied in takvant Member State by any measure
implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Rate\sMember State; and the expression “Prospectiesidie” means Directive 2003/71/EC
and includes any relevant implementing measuradh &elevant Member State.

The EEA selling restrictions are in addition to arlger selling restrictions set forth in this prespus.

Notice to Prospective Investors in the United Kingd om

This prospectus is being distributed only to ananly directed at: (1) persons who are outsidelthiged Kingdom; (2) investment
professionals falling within Article 19(5) of therancial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financralnfotion) Order 2005 (the “Order”) or
(3) high net worth companies, and other persomgiom it may lawfully be communicated, falling withArticle 49(2)(a) to (d) of the Order
(all such persons falling within (1) through (3p&ther being referred to as “relevant persons”g 3ires are available only to, and any
invitation, offer or agreement to subscribe, pusehar otherwise acquire such shares will be engigealy with, relevant persons. Any pers
who is not a relevant person should not act oroelyhis prospectus or any of its contents.

Notice to Prospective Investors in Switzerland

This prospectus does not constitute an issue pcasppursuant to Article 652a or Article 1156 of tBwiss Code of Obligations (“CQ”"), and
the shares will not be listed on the SIX Swiss Exgje. Therefore, this prospectus may not complly thi¢ disclosure standards of the CO
and/or the listing rules (including any prospeaakemes) of the SIX Swiss Exchange. Accordingly sihares may not be offered to the public
in or from Switzerland, but only to a selected &ndted circle of investors, which do not subscribehe shares with a view to distribution.
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Notice to Prospective Investors in Australia

This prospectus is not a formal disclosure docuraadthas not been, nor will be, lodged with thetfalign Securities and Investments
Commission. It does not purport to contain all imfation that an investor or his, her or its proif@sal advisers would expect to find in a
prospectus or other disclosure document (as defintdte Corporations Act 2001 (Australia)) for therposes of Part 6D.2 of the Corporations
Act 2001 (Australia) or in a product disclosuretataent for the purposes of Part 7.9 of the CorpamatAct 2001 (Australia), in either case, in
relation to the securities.

The securities are not being offered in Austradiéretail clients” as defined in sections 761G &6d GA of the Corporations Act 2001
(Australia). This offering is being made in Ausiaasolely to “wholesale clients” for the purposésection 761G of the Corporations Act 2001
(Australia), and, as such, no prospectus, prodsctature statement or other disclosure documerglation to the securities has been, or will
be, prepared.

This prospectus does not constitute an offer intralia other than to wholesale clients. By submgtan application for our securities, you
represent and warrant to us that you are a wheesiaint for the purposes of section 761G of thepGrations Act 2001 (Australia). If any
recipient of this prospectus is not a wholesalent|ino offer of, or invitation to apply for, owaurities shall be deemed to be made to such
recipient and no applications for our securitieB e accepted from such recipient. Any offer teeaipient in Australia, and any agreement
arising from acceptance of such offer, is persanal may only be accepted by the recipient. In &idiby applying for our securities, you
undertake to us that, for a period of 12 monthmftbe date of issue of the securities, you will tnabsfer any interest in the securities to any
person in Australia other than to a wholesale tlien

Notice to Prospective Investors in Hong Kong

Our securities may not be offered or sold in Horamé by means of this prospectus or any documeet ditfan (1) to “professional investors”
within the meaning of the Securities and Futuredifiamce (Cap.571, Laws of Hong Kong) and any rolegle thereunder, (2) in circumstances
which do not constitute an offer to the public witthe meaning of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.8&s of Hong Kong) or (3) in other
circumstances which do not result in the documeirtgdba “prospectus” within the meaning of the Coniga Ordinance (Cap.32, Laws of

Hong Kong). No advertisement, invitation or docutreating to our securities may be issued or majntthe possession of any person for the
purpose of issue (in each case whether in Hong Komdsewhere) which is directed at, or the comsteftwhich are likely to be accessed or
read by, the public in Hong Kong (except if peretdtto do so under the securities laws of Hong Kartiggr than with respect to the securities
which are, or are intended to be, disposed of tmpyersons outside Hong Kong or only to “profesalanvestors” within the meaning of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Lawtoofy Kong) and any rules made thereunder.

Notice to Prospective Investors in Japan

Our securities have not been and will not be regést under the Financial Instruments and Exchamagedf Japan (the “Financial Instruments
and Exchange Law”), and our securities will nooiffered or sold, directly or indirectly, in Japam,to, or for the benefit of, any resident of
Japan (which term, as used herein, means any pegsigent in Japan, including any corporation deoentity organized under the laws of
Japan), or to others for re-offering or resaleedtiy or indirectly, in Japan, or to a residenfapan, except pursuant to an exemption from the
registration requirements of, and otherwise in clianpe with, the Financial Instruments and Exchabge and any other applicable laws,
regulations and ministerial guidelines of Japan.

Notice to Prospective Investors in Singapore

This document has not been registered as a praspeith the Monetary Authority of Singapore, andsSingapore, the offer and sale of our
securities is made pursuant to exemptions proviieections 274 and 275 of the Securities and EatAct, Chapter 289 of Singapore
(“SFA"). Accordingly, this prospectus and any otkdecument or material in connection with the offesale, or invitation for subscription or
purchase, of our
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securities may not be circulated or distributed,may our securities be offered or sold, or be ntadesubject of an invitation for subscription
or purchase, whether directly or indirectly, togmers in Singapore, other than (1) to an instit@idmvestor as defined in Section 4A of the ¢
pursuant to Section 274 of the SFA; (2) to a rai¢yeerson as defined in section 275(2) of the SE&syant to Section 275(1) of the SFA, or
any person pursuant to Section 275(1A) of the S, in accordance with the conditions specifieBéation 275 of the SFA or (3) otherwise
pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditafnany other applicable provision of the SFA, atle case subject to compliance with the
conditions (if any) set forth in the SFA. Moreoviis document is not a prospectus as definedarsthA. Accordingly, statutory liability und
the SFA in relation to the content of prospectwsesld not apply. Prospective investors in Singapgbreuld consider carefully whether an
investment in our securities is suitable for them.

Where our securities are subscribed for or purchaséer Section 275 of the SFA by a relevant penstirch is:

(a) a corporation (which is not an accredited itmeas defined in Section 4A of the SFA) the salsibess of which is to hold
investments and the entire share capital of wisawined by one or more individuals, each of whoamisiccredited investor; or

(b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accrediiteglstor) whose sole purpose is to hold investsiant each beneficiary of the trust
is an individual who is an accredited investor,rekaf that corporation or the beneficiaries’ righhd interest (howsoever described) in
that trust shall not be transferable for six morgfier that corporation or that trust has acquiredshares under Section 275 of the SFA,
except:

(1) to an institutional investor (for corporatiomsder Section 274 of the SFA) or to a relevantgedefined in Section 275(
of the SFA, or to any person pursuant to an offat is made on terms that such shares of that tipo or such rights and interest
in that trust are acquired at a consideration ¢fess than 200,000 Singapore dollars (or its exjaitt in a foreign currency) for
each transaction, whether such amount is to beipaidsh or by exchange of securities or othertasaad further for corporations,
in accordance with the conditions, specified int®ac275 of the SFA;

(2) where no consideration is given for the trange
(3) where the transfer is by operation of law.

In addition, investors in Singapore should note fegurities acquired by them are subject to remadetransfer restrictions specified under
Section 276 of the SFA, and they, therefore, sheakk their own legal advice before effecting asate or transfer of their securities.
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Legal Matters

The validity of our common stock offered by thigpectus will be passed upon for us by Latham &KatLLP, Menlo Park, California.
Certain attorneys and investment funds affiliatéith whe firm own shares of our preferred stock, ahhwill convert into an aggregate of 36,690
shares of our common stock, warrants to purchaseectible preferred stock, which will net exercist 172 shares of our common stock
based upon the expected initial public offeringerof $9.00 per share, in each case, immediatéy forthe consummation of this offering,
warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1,800 shhoesronon stock. Dewey & LeBoeuf LLP, New York, N&erk, is counsel for the
underwriters in connection with this offering.

Experts

The financial statements as of December 31, 2088809 and for each of the three years in the geximled December 31, 2009, included in
this prospectus, have been so included in reliandde report (which contains an explanatory paalgrelating to the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern as described in NuteHe financial statements) of Pricewaterhouse€mopLP, an independent registered pt
accounting firm, given on the authority of suchrfias experts in auditing and accounting.

Where You Can Find Additional Information

We have filed with the Securities and Exchange Cagsion a registration statement on Form S-1 urtteSecurities Act relating to the shares
of our common stock we are offering. This prospgctoes not contain all of the information set fantlthe registration statement and the
exhibits and schedules to the registration statén$enme items are omitted in accordance with thesrand regulations of the SEC. For further
information with respect to us and the common steelare offering, we refer you to the registratstatement and its exhibits and schedules.
Statements contained in this prospectus as todiiets of any contract, agreement or other doctiarenrsummaries of the material terms of
that contract, agreement or other document, ancefee you to a copy of the entire contract, agragme other document that we have filed as
an exhibit to the registration statement. A copyhef registration statement, and its exhibits argules, may be inspected without charge at
the public reference facilities maintained by tf#&CSat 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 2054%i€> of these materials may be obtained
by writing to the Public Reference Section of tl#CSat 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 2054&age call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330
for further information on the operation of the pabeference facility. The SEC maintains a wel #fitat contains reports, proxy and
information statements and other information regydegistrants that file electronically with th&S. The address of the SEC’s website is
http://www.sec.gov.

Upon completion of this offering, we will becomebgect to the information and periodic reportinguggments of the Exchange Act and will
file periodic reports, proxy statements and othérimation with the SEC. Such periodic reports xgrstatements and other information will
available for inspection and copying at the pulderence facility and web site of the SEC refeteedbove. We maintain a website at
www.completegenomics.com. You may access our amapalts on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Forrd,Gurrent reports on Form 8-K,
proxy statements on Schedule 14A and amendmetttege reports free of charge at our website as asaseasonably practicable after such
material is electronically filed with, or furnishéal, the SEC. The reference to our website addtess not constitute incorporation by refere
of the information contained in, or that can beessed through, our website.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Complete Genomics, Inc.
(A development stage enterprise)

In our opinion, the accompanying balance sheetdlamdelated statements of operations, of conderfiteferred stock and stockholdeesjuity
(deficit) and of cash flows present fairly, in alkterial respects, the financial position of CortwlBenomics, Inc. (the “Company”) (a
development stage enterprise) at December 31, 2002009, and the results of its operations anchih flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2009 and, cumulgfifel the period from June 14, 2005 (date of iniwey) to December 31, 2009 (not
separately presented) in conformity with accoungirigciples generally accepted in the United StafeSmerica. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s managent@ut.responsibility is to express an opinion orsthénancial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits of these finarstetements in accordance with the standards d?didic Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards requireatbgilan and perform the audit to obtain reasonasdeirance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. Alit mcludes examining, on a test basis, evidengparting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates made adgagement, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thatoidits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

The accompanying financial statements have begraped assuming the Company will continue as a goamgern. As discussed in Note 1 to
the financial statements, the Company has inclosgzks from operations since its inception and tiegaash flow from operations that raise
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability totoaie as a going concern. Management's plansgarceto these matters are also described
in Note 1. These financial statements do not irelady adjustments that might result from the outoifrthis uncertainty.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
July 30, 2010
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Complete Genomics, Inc.
(A development stage enterprise)

Balance Sheets

Pro forma

December 31 stockholders’

Assets
Current assetl
Cash and cash equivalel
Accounts receivabl
Inventory
Prepaid expense
Other current asse
Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Other asset
Total asset

equity as of
June 30, June 30,
2008 2009 2010 2010
(unaudited) (unaudited)

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Liabilities, Convertible Preferred Stock and Stocklolders’ Equity (Deficit)

Current liabilities
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities
Notes payable, curre
Deferred revenu
Total current liabilities
Notes payable, net of curre
Deferred rent, net of curre
Convertible preferred stock warrant liabil
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note

Convertible preferred stock, par value $0.001—6,333 shares authorized,;
508,942 and 6,472,996 shares issued and outstaatibgcember 31, 2008 and
2009, respectively; 9,288,222 shares authorizedrs81D,758 shares issued and
outstanding at June 30, 2010 (unaudited); no slissasd and outstanding pro
forma (unaudited) (liquidation value—$127,721 aid %994 (unaudited) at

December 31, 2009 and June 30, 2010, respecti

Stockholder equity (deficit)

Common stock, $0.001 par va—13,333,334 shares authorized; 93,825
94,281 shares issued and outstanding at Decemp208& and 2009,
respectively; 17,293,925 shares authorized; 950s#@8es issued and

outstanding at June 30, 2010 (unaudited);

outstanding, pro forma (unaudite
Additional paic-in capital

Deficit accumulated during the development st

Total stockholder equity (deficit)

Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock astdckholder' deficit

$ 6,18¢ $ 7,76F $ 7,97
— 1,28¢ 1,15¢
— 354 2,23¢
46€ 5,15¢ 57¢
56€ 45€ 41E
7,22( 15,01¢ 12,35¢
8,02¢ 14,86¢ 26,557
511 39t 87¢
$ 15,75¢ $ 30,27¢ $ 39,79
$ 74t $ 4,281 $ 5,121
1,744 2,032 2,57
3,99( 4,44( 21,98"
— 1,30z 3,53¢
6,47¢ 12,05¢ 33,21¢
7,707 3,51( 1,192
— 5,017 4.67:
1,10( 1,557 1,31¢ $ —
15,28¢ 22,13t 40,40:
45,62 85,83 95,84 —
shares issued and
— — 1 12
58 3,471 11,67¢ 108,82
(45,217) (81,167 (108,129) (108,12{)
(45,15¢) (77,690 (96,45) % 711
$ 15,75¢ $ 30,27¢ $ 39,79

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.
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Complete Genomics, Inc.
(A development stage enterprise)

Statements of Operations

Years ended December 31,

Six months ended
June 30,

Cumulative
period from
June 14, 2005

(date of
inception) to
June 30,
2007 2008 2009 2009 2010 2010
(unaudited) (unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Revenue $ — 3 —  $ 62 $ — 3 1,428 3 2,04¢
Operating expense
Star-up production cosl — — 5,03: 1,01z 8,98t 14,01¢
Research and developm 10,30¢ 23,63: 22,424 10,44¢ 11,09: 71,19
General and administrati\ 1,89¢ 3,17¢ 4,957 2,12C 4,86% 15,84:
Sales and marketir — 1,04 1,79¢ 62C 2,53¢ 5,38
Total operating expens 12,20: 27,851 34,20¢ 14,20: 27,48 106,43:

Loss from operation (12,20)  (27,85) (33,58hH (14,209 (26,05%) (104,38
Interest expens (215) (974 (3,465 (2,057 (1,144 (5,809
Interest and other income (expense), 163 437 1,101 (70) 23k 2,06¢
Net loss $(12,25Y) $(28,399 $ (35,949 $(16,32) $ (26,967 $ (108,129
Net loss per sha—basic and dilute: $(211.00 $(369.3 $ (386.56 $(177.90 $ (45.09
Weighted-average shares of common stock outstandi

used in computing net loss per st—basic and dilute 58,07: 76,87 92,99¢ 91,72¢ 598,08
Pro forma net loss per share of common stock—zasic

diluted (unaudited $ (6.59 $ (2.59
Weightec-average shares of common stock outstan

used in computing the pro forma net loss per sbfre

common stoc—basic and diluted (unaudite 5,619,60! 10,763,51

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.
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Statement of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockh

Complete Genomics, Inc.
(A development stage enterprise)

Convertible
preferred stock

olders’ Equity (Deficit)

Deficit

Common stock

Shares

Amount

Shares

Amount

Additional

paid-in
capital

accumulated

during the
development

stage

Total
stockholders’

equity
(deficit)

Beginning Balance

Issuance of common stock
founders for cash in June 2005
at $0.001 per sha

Net loss

(in thousands, except
share and per share amounts)

78,33:

(in thousands, except
share and per share amounts)

- $ —

$ —

N

Balances at December 31, 20(

Issuance of Series A redeemabl
convertible preferred stock for
cash in March 2006 at $43.85
per share, net of issuance cos
of $184

Issuance of common stock in
connection with an intellectual
property agreement in March
2006 at $5.10 per sha

Employee stock based
compensatiol

Nonemployee stock bas
compensatiol

Accretion of interest due on Seri
A redeemable convertible
preferred stocl

Net loss

137,97:

5,86¢

37C

78,33:

13,33¢

— (370

(4,565)

N

69

11

(370)
(4,565)

Balances at December 31, 20(
Issuance of Series B convertible
preferred stock for cash in

March 2007 at $69.00 per she
net of issuance costs of $1

Issuance of Series B convertil
preferred stock upon conversi
of promissory notes and accrt
interest in March 2007 at $69.
per share

Employee stock base
compensatiol

Nonemployee stock bas
compensatiol

Accretion of interest due on Series
A redeemable convertible
preferred stocl

Net loss

137,97

189,12¢

14,49:

6,23¢

12,86¢

1,00z

11€

— (287)

— 88

— 12

— (11€)

(4,565

(12,259

(4,852

88

12

(11€)
(12,257)

Balances at December 31, 20(

341,59:

20,22:
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Complete Genomics, Inc.
(A development stage enterprise)

Statement of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockh

Convertible
preferred stock

olders’ Equity (Deficit)}—(Continued)

Deficit

Common stock accumulated

Shares Amount

Additional during the

development

paid-in

Shares Amount capital stage

Total

stockholders’

equity
(deficit)

(in thousands, except
share and per share amounts)

Balances at December 31, 20( 341,59. 20,22

Issuance of Series C convertible
preferred stock for cash in February
2008 at $159.30 per share, net of
issuance costs of $1,1!

Issuance of Series C convertible
preferred stock as issuance costs
February 2008 at $159.30 per sh 1,004 —

Employee stock based compensa — —

Nonemployee stock based compens: — —

Exercise of stock optior — —

Net loss — —

166,34t 25,39¢

(in thousands, except
share and per share amounts)

91,66¢ — (305 (16,819

— — 284 —
2,16( — 25 —
(28,39

(17,12

284

52

25
(28,399

Balances at December 31, 20(

Issuance of Series D convertible
preferred stock for cash in August
20009 at $7.56 per share, net of
issuance costs of $2,8

Issuance of Series D convertible
preferred stock upon conversion of
promissory notes and accrued inte
in August 200¢

Issuance of common stock warrant:
connection with Series D convertik
preferred stocl —

Employee stock based compensa — —

Nonemployee stock based compens: — —

Exercise of stock optior — —

Net loss — —

3,972,72! 27,15¢

1,991,32!

93,82t — 58 (45,217

1,99¢ —
1,147 —

— — 26¢ —
45€ — 4 —
(35,949

(45,15

1,99¢
1,14z
26¢

4
(35,949

Balances at December 31, 20(
Issuance of Series D convertible
preferred stock for cash in Februai
and March 2010 at $7.56 per shar
net of issuance costs of $171
(unaudited
Issuance of common stock to founders
in March 2010 at $2.34 per share for
services rendered (unaudite — —
Issuance of common stock warrants i
connection with promissory notes
(unaudited — —
Employee stock based compensation
(unaudited — —
Nonemployee stock based compens:
(unaudited — —
Exercise of stock options (unaudite — —
Net loss (unauditec — —

94,28 — 3,471 (81,167)

786,53! 1 1,83¢ —

5,372 —
— — 81¢ —

— — 70 —
69,67¢ — 105 —
(26,96

(77,690)

1,84(

5,37:
81¢
7C

10E
(26,967

Balances at June 30, 2010 (unaudite.  7,819,75! $ 95,84«

950,49. $ 1 $11,67¢ $ (108,12) $

(96,45’)

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statement
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Complete Genomics, Inc.
(A development stage enterprise)

Statements of Cash Flows

Cumulative
period from
Six months ended June 14,
Years ended December 31, June 30, 2005
(date of
inception) to
June 30,
2007 2008 2009 2009 2010 2010
(unaudited) (unaudited)
(in thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss $(12,259) $(28,399 $(35,949 $(16,32%) $(26,967) $ (108,129
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegperating
activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 78¢ 2,79¢ 5,24( 2,034 3,03: 11,99«
Amortization of debt issuance co: 78 22€ 25¢ 13C 13C 693
Issuance of common stock in exchange for intelkdc
property — — — — — 69
Issuance of common stock to found — — — — 1,84( 1,84(
Change in fair value of convertible preferred staarant
liability 17t (65) (1,08¢) 75 (23%) (1,210
Stocl-based compensatic 10C 33€ 1,41( 343 88¢ 2,74
Noncash interest expense related to the promisgutgs and
notes payabl 3 — 2,11z 1,322 63€ 2,75¢
(Gain) loss on the disposal of property and equifr — 50€ 31 (42 36 57¢
Changes in assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl — — (1,28¢) (230) 134 (1,159
Inventory — — (354) (88) (1,885 (2,239
Prepaid expenst (167) (231) (4,68¢) (157) 4,57 (567)
Other current asse (12¢) (290) 11C 184 41 (167
Other asset (62) 27 (143) (177 (62 (299)
Accounts payabl 632 (30 1,07¢ 27C 1,22¢ 3,04¢
Accrued liabilities 842 717 28¢ 35 542 2,57¢
Deferred revenu — — 1,302 25C 2,23¢ 3,53¢
Deferred ren — — 5,017 993 (344) 4,67:
Net cash used in operating activit (9,989 (24,309 (26,662 (11,379 (14,172 (79,259
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipm (3,729 (7,419 (9,659 (1,60%) (15,700 (37,609
Net cash used in investing activiti (3,729 (7,419 (9,659 (1,607 (15,700 (37,609
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Complete Genomics, Inc.
(A development stage enterprise)

Statements of Cash Flows—(Continued)

Cumulative
period from
Six months ended June 14,
Years ended December 31, June 30, 2005
(date of
inception) to
June 30,
2007 2008 2009 2009 2010 2010
(unaudited) (unaudited)
(in thousands)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from promissory not 1,00¢ — 14,72t 12,07t 22,12 37,84¢
Proceeds from notes payal 2,80¢ 13,19 — 17,00(
Repayment of notes payal (333) (4,970 (3,990 (1,947 (2,159 (11,45)
Proceeds from issuance of convertible preferreckstuet of
issuance cos! 12,86¢ 25,39¢ 27,15¢ — 10,01: 81,30(
Proceeds from issuance of common si — — — — — 2
Exercise of stock optior — 25 4 4 10E 134
Net cash provided by financing activiti 16,34 33,64¢ 37,89¢ 10,13¢ 30,07¢ 124,83:
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 2,62¢ 1,92¢ 1,57¢ (2,84¢) 207 7,972
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe 1,632 4,26( 6,18¢ 6,18¢ 7,76¢ —
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $ 4,26( $ 6,18¢ $ 7,76¢ $ 3,34( $ 7,97- $ 7,97¢
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informatior
Cash paid for intere: $ 94 $ 34¢ $ 1,06¢ $ 58€ $ 36¢ $ 1,88t
Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing ar
financing activities
Accretion of interest due on Series A redeemabieedible
preferred stocl $ 11€ $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 48€
Issuance of warrants for convertible preferredlsioc
connection with promissory notes and notes pay 172 77¢ 1,541 1,517 — 2,52¢
Issuance of warrants for common stock in connectibh
Series D convertible preferred stock financ — — 1,99¢ — — 1,99¢
Issuance of common stock in connection with inttllal
property — — — — — 69
Conversion of promissory notes and interest intovedtible
preferred stocl 1,00 — 15,054 — — 16,05:
Issuance of convertible preferred stock as payriwertosts
associated with the issuance of Series C preferred
convertible stocl — 16C — — — 16C
Acquisition of property and equipment under accsuyayabl — — 2,45¢ 1,55¢ (93¢) 1,52(
Issuance of warrants for common stock in conneactiith
promissory note — — — — 5,37 5,372
Accrued deferred offering cos — — — — 552 552

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.
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Complete Genomics, Inc.
(A development stage enterprise)

Notes to Financial Statements

1. Nature of Operations

Complete Genomics, Inc., (the “Company”) is a fitdences company that has developed and commeetiadi DNA sequencing platform for
complete human genome sequencing and analysisCdimpany’s Complete Genomics Analysis Platform (“CBlatform”) combines its
proprietary human sequencing technology with itsaaded informatics and data management softwarésedd-to-end outsourced service
model to provide customers with data that is imratedy ready to be used for genome-based reseanenC@mpany’s solution provides
academic and biopharmaceutical researchers witlpledenhuman genomic data and analysis without remuihem to invest in in-house
sequencing instruments, high-performance compuésgurces and specialized personnel. The Compasynwarporated in Delaware on
June 14, 2005 and began operations in March 20@6 Cbmpany is in the development stage and simepfion has been engaged in
developing its complete human genome sequencimédagy, raising capital and recruiting personnel.

These financial statements are prepared on a goingern basis that contemplates the realizati@sséts and discharge of liabilities in their
normal course of business. The Company has incmeedperating losses and negative cash flows épenations during every year since
inception. At December 31, 2009 and June 30, 20E0Company had a deficit accumulated during theld@ment stage of $81,161,000 and
$108,128,000 (unaudited), respectively, and culyetttes not have financing sufficient for continuggkrations. These factors raise substantial
doubt about the Company’s ability to continue g®iamg concern. In order to continue its operatishe,Company must achieve profitable
operations and/or obtain additional debt or edfiitgncing. Management is currently pursuing finagcalternatives. However, there can be no
assurance that such financing will be successtuippleted or completed on terms acceptable to &mepany. The financial statements do not
include any adjustments that might result fromdb&come of this uncertainty.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates

The accompanying financial statements have begraped in accordance with accounting principles gehyeaccepted in the United States of
America (“GAAP”) and include all adjustments neagdor the fair presentation of the Company’s ficial position, results of operations and
cash flows for the periods presented. In prepatiedginancial statements, management must makaasts and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities anditbeosure of contingent assets and liabilitiesfabe date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenue and expenses duringplogting period. Actual results could differ frahose estimates.

Unaudited I nterim Financial | nformation

The accompanying balance sheet as of June 30, 2l 8tatements of operations and of cash flowgh®six months ended June 30, 2009 and
2010, and for the cumulative period from June DO3(date of inception) to June 30, 2010, and thiements of convertible preferred stock
and stockholders’ equity (deficit) for the six miestended June 30, 2010 are unaudited. The unauuiezoh financial statements have been
prepared on the same basis as the annual finatatements and, in the opinion of management,atedlenormal recurring adjustments
necessary to state fairly the Company’s finanoisifion as of June 30, 2010 and results of operatémd cash flows for the six months ended
June 30, 2009 and 2010, and for the cumulativeoddrom June 14, 2005 (date of inception) to Jume2B810. The financial data and other
information disclosed in these notes to the finansiatements related to the six month periodsiaaeidited. The results for the six months
ended June 30, 2010 are not necessarily indicafittee results to be expected for the year endiagember 31, 2010 or for any other interim
periods or for any future year.

F-9



Table of Contents

Complete Genomics, Inc.
(A development stage enterprise)

Notes to Financial Statements—(Continued)

Unaudited Pro Forma I nformation

The June 30, 2010 unaudited pro forma stockholagsity has been prepared assuming that immediptiyto the consummation of an
initial public offering, (i) all of the Company’soavertible preferred stock outstanding will convatb shares of common stock, (ii) 105,595 of
the Company’s convertible preferred stock warravlisbecome warrants for common stock and (iii) 288 of the Company’s convertible
preferred stock warrants will net exercise intorekaf the Company’s common stock. The June 30) B@&udited pro forma stockholders’
equity reflects the conversion of all 7,819,758standing shares of preferred stock into 10,533s0es of common stock and the
reclassification of the convertible preferred stagkrant liability to common stock.

Stock Split

The Company initiated a 30-for-1 reverse stockt gffective November 2009. All share and per slaneunts in these financial statements
have been retroactively adjusted to give effethreverse stock split.

Segment | nformation

The Company operates in one segment. Managemebnsaneasure of profitability and does not segriteiusiness for internal reporting.
All of the Company’s assets are located in the éthBtates.

Revenue Recognition

The Company generates revenue from selling its hupeaome sequencing services under purchase andeositracts. Revenues are
recognized when all of the following criteria aretmpersuasive evidence of an arrangement exidtshas transferred, the price is fixed or
determinable and collectability is reasonably asdutpon completion of the sequencing processCtrapany ships the research-ready
genomic data to the customer. The Company usepiaidocuments and third-party evidence to veffifipsent of the data. In order to
determine whether collectability is reasonably esduthe Company assesses a number of factoradingl past transaction history with the
customer and the creditworthiness of the custothtére Company determines that collectability i remsonably assured, the Company defers
the recognition of revenue until collectability lbetes reasonably assured. The Company also rea®waspayments from customers prior to
the commencement of the genome sequencing process.

For revenue generated under purchase orders, @&y has established standard terms and conditiahgre specified for all orders. The
Company uses the purchase order to establish p@rswevidence of an arrangement and whether teexdixed and determinable price for the
order. Revenue is recognized based upon the shipshgenomic data to customers and satisfacticaldérms and conditions contained in the
purchase order. Any down payments received arededas deferred revenue until the Company melatsvanue recognition criteria.

For revenue generated under contracts, the Comguarsiders each contract’s terms and conditiongterthine its obligations associated with
the contract. The Company will defer revenue uaitisignificant obligations, as defined in the aawt, have been met. Any down payments
received are recorded as deferred revenue, anduevs recognized upon shipment of genomic datasatisfaction of all remaining
obligations.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Other Risks and Uncertainties

The Company’s accounts receivable are derived fimatt sales and amounts contractually due, butetaived, under contracts. The
Company reviews its exposure to accounts receivaidegenerally requires no collateral for any sfitcounts receivable. The allowance for
doubtful accounts is the Company’s best estimate
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Complete Genomics, Inc.
(A development stage enterprise)

Notes to Financial Statements—(Continued)
of the amount of expected credit losses existingcicounts receivable and is based upon specifiomgs issues that have been identified. As
of December 31, 2009 and June 30, 2010 (unauditeslCompany has not recorded any allowance fobtfialuaccounts.

The Company is subject to all of the risks inheieran early-stage company developing a new apprea®DNA sequencing. These risks
include, but are not limited to, limited managemmsiources, intense competition, dependence upwsuoter acceptance of the products in
development and the changing nature of the DNA eecjug industry. The Company’s operating resultg bematerially affected by the
foregoing factors.

The Company depends on a limited number of sugpliecluding single-source suppliers, of variouaal components in the sequencing
process. The loss of these suppliers, or theurailo supply the Company with the necessary coesron a timely basis, could cause delays
in the sequencing process and adversely affec@tmepany.

As of December 31, 2009 and June 30, 2010, custorapresenting greater than 10% of accounts rdaeiveere as follows:

December 31,

June 30,
Customer 2009 2010
(unaudited)
Customer A 43% *
Customer E 2C% *
Customer C * 32%
Customer C * 12%

* Less than 10%

For the year ended December 31, 2009 and the sithmended June 30, 2010, customers represengategithan 10% of revenue were as
follows:

December 31,

June 30,

Customer 2009 2010

(unaudited)
Customer A 16% 20%
Customer E 16% *
Customer F 16% *
Customer C 17% *
Customer 16% *
Customer 13% *
Customer . * 15%
Customer K * 11%

* Less than 109

For the year ended December 31, 2009 and the sithmended June 30, 2010, countries representaajegrthan 10% of revenue were as
follows:

December 31,

June 30,
Country 2009 2010
(unaudited)
Belgium 16% *
China * 15%
United State: 84% 67%

* Less than 10%
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Complete Genomics, Inc.
(A development stage enterprise)

Notes to Financial Statements—(Continued)

Fair Value of Financial I nstruments

Carrying amounts of certain of the Company’s finahinstruments, including cash and cash equivalerepaid expenses and other current
assets, accounts payable and accrued liabilifgspaimate fair value due to short maturities. Base borrowing rates currently available to
the Company for promissory notes and notes payaitiresimilar terms, the carrying value of promigsaotes and notes payable approximate
their fair value.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmegmnischased with original maturities of three mordh¢ess to be cash equivalents. Cash anc
cash equivalents are deposited in a demand acabont financial institution and a money marketfuhhe use of one financial institution
potentially subjects the Company to a significamiaentration of credit risk. At times, such deposgilay be in excess of federally insured

limits.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment are stated at cost lessradated depreciation and amortization. Depreciatibproperty and equipment is computed
using the straight-line method over their estimatsefful lives as follows:

Computer equipmet 3 year:
Computer softwar 3 year
Furniture and fixture 5 year
Machinery and equipmel 3 year

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shoftthe useful life or the remaining term of thase. Upon retirement or sale, the cost
related accumulated depreciation are removed fhenbalance sheet and the resulting gain or lagflescted in operations. Maintenance and
repairs are charged to operations as incurred.

I mpairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impant whenever events or changes in circumstandésate that the carrying amount of an
asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability issorea by comparison of the carrying amount to tiieré net cash flows which the assets are
expected to generate. If such assets are consittetedimpaired, the impairment to be recognizedesisured by the amount by which the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds the projeisedunted future net cash flows arising fromahset. There have been no such
impairments of long-lived assets to date.

Inventories

Inventories consist of chemical reagents and sexogrsupplies that are stated at the lower of opstarket value. Cost is determined using
standard costs, which approximate actual costsfoatdn, first-out basis. Market value is detenead as the lower of replacement cost or net
realizable value.

Start-up Production Costs

Startup production costs are incurred during the peoiodevelopment and validation of the productiongess and include the costs associ
with commercialization of the sequencing procesge Tompany'’s start-up production costs primarilgsist of costs related to the acceptance
testing of customer genomic samples, sample
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Complete Genomics, Inc.
(A development stage enterprise)

Notes to Financial Statements—(Continued)

sequencing preparation, sample sequencing, thessig of data generated by the prototype sequgisiruments, continued validation of
the production process and optimization of instratpeerformance. These costs primarily include $edaaind benefits and stock-based
compensation expenses, chemical reagents and erniggenaterials and supplies, consultant fees,adggtion of equipment and facilities-
related costs.

Research and Devel opment

Research and development costs are charged tatiopsras incurred. Research and development qudtelie, but are not limited to, salaries
and benefits and stock-based compensation expdabegatory supplies, consulting costs and otherloead expenses.

Government Grant

The Company accounts for its government grantraslaction of expense related to either researctdamdlopment or general and
administrative expense. The allocation is basethergrant agreement and the related expense resethurotal reimbursement of expenses by
the government grant is as follows:

Cumulative

period from
Years ended Six months ended June 14, 2005

December 31, June 30,
(date of

inception) to
2007 2008 2009 2009 2010 June 30, 2010

(unaudited) (unaudited)

(in thousands)

Research and development expe $ 22 $ 778 $ 80C $ 377 $ 38¢ $ 1,981
General and administrative expet 8 25C 213 107 97 56€

$ 30 $ 1,02¢ $ 1,01 $ 484 $  48¢ $ 2,54¢

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensatiangements with employees using a fair value neethioich requires the recognition of
compensation expense for costs related to all dvasked payments, including stock options. Theviaiue method requires the Company to
estimate the fair value of stock-based payment@svan the date of grant using an option pricing ehohe Company uses the Black-Scholes
pricing model to estimate the fair value of optigmanted, which is expensed on a straight-linesbagér the vesting period.

The Company accounts for stock options issued t@employees based on the estimated fair value aweeds using the BlacReholes optiol
pricing model. The measurement of stock-based cosgi®n is subject to periodic adjustments as tuerlying equity instruments vest, and
the resulting change in value, if any, is recogaizethe Companyg statements of operations during the period tla¢ee services are render:

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under tret asd liability method, which requires, among otiéngs, that deferred income taxes be
provided for temporary differences between thebi@sis of the Company’s assets and liabilities aed financial statement reported amounts.
In addition, deferred tax assets are recordechifuture benefit of utilizing net operating loss@sl research and development credit
carryforwards. A valuation allowance is provideciagt deferred tax assets unless it is more litedy not that they will be realized.

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adoptecdticeunting guidance for uncertainties in incomesaxvhich prescribes a recognition
threshold and measurement process for recordingrtaic tax positions taken, or
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Complete Genomics, Inc.
(A development stage enterprise)

Notes to Financial Statements—(Continued)

expected to be taken, in a tax return in the firerstatements. Additionally, the guidance alscspries new treatment for the derecognition,
classification, accounting in interim periods ansttbsure requirements for uncertain tax positidiee Company accrues for the estimated
amount of taxes for uncertain tax positions igitiore likely than not that the Company would luieed to pay such additional taxes. An
uncertain tax position will not be recognized ihés a less than 50% likelihood of being sustained.

Convertible Preferred Stock Warrants

The Company accounts for its freestanding warrfamtshares of the Comparsytonvertible preferred stock that are contingergtieemable ¢
liabilities at fair value on the balance sheets Warrants are subject to re-measurement at edamhceasheet date, and the change in fair value
if any, is recognized as interest and other incéempense), net. The Company will continue to adjustiability for changes in fair value until
the earlier of (i) exercise of the warrants, (dbneersion into warrants to purchase common stogkipexpiration of the warrants. Upon
conversion, the convertible preferred stock warliability will be reclassified to additional paid-capital.

Convertible Preferred Stock

The holders of the Company’s outstanding convertiseferred stock, voting or consenting togethex ssparate class, control the vote of the
Company'’s stockholders. As a result, the holdemllcaferies of the Company’s convertible prefeisaatk can force a change-in-control that
would trigger liquidation. As redemption of the eentible preferred stock through liquidation isside the control of the Company, all shares
of convertible preferred stock have been preseotéside of stockholders’ equity (deficit) in ther@pany’s balance sheets. All series of
convertible preferred stock are collectively regerto in the financial statements as convertibédgured stock.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividirtdass by the weighted-average number of commoreshautstanding during the period,
excluding shares subject to repurchase. The Congpantential dilutive shares, which include outstisng common stock options, unvested
common shares subject to repurchase, convertibfenped stock and warrants, have not been inclid#éte computation of diluted net loss |
share for all the periods as the result would hedilutive. Such potentially dilutive shares aveckided when the effect would be to reduce the
net loss per share.

Pro Forma Net Loss Per Share

The unaudited pro forma basic and diluted net pessshare for the year ended December 31, 200¢hargix months ended June 30, 2010
(unaudited) reflects the conversion of all outstagahares of convertible preferred stock to comstogk. The unaudited pro forma
stockholders’ equity and pro forma basic and diutet loss per share do not give effect to theaisse of shares from the planned initial public
offering nor do they give effect to potential dil securities where the impact would be anti-diit Also, the numerator in the pro forma
basic and diluted net loss per share calculatieblean adjusted to remove gains and losses ragfribim re-measurements of the outstanding
convertible preferred stock warrant liability thghuJune 30, 2010 as it is assumed that these waméheither be converted to potentially
dilutive shares or be net exercised prior to atiainpublic offering and will no longer require pedic revaluation.
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A reconciliation of the numerator and denominateediin the calculation of basic and diluted nes losr share follows:

Years ended

Six months ended

December 31, June 30,
2007 2008 2009 2009 2010
(unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Historical net loss per share:
Numerator
Net loss attributed to common stockhold $(12,259)  $(28,399 $ (35949 $(16,32) $ (26,969
Denominator
Weighte-average common shares outstanc 91,66¢ 92,54¢ 94,24: 94,21 598,08
Less: Weighte-average shares subject to repurct (33,599 (15,67¢) (1,244 (2,48¢) —
Denominator for basic and diluted net loss peres 58,07- 76,87 92,99¢ 91,72« 598,08
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $(211.00 $(369.3 $ (386.56  $(177.9¢ $  (45.09
Pro forma net loss per share
Net loss attributed to common stockhold $ (35,949 $ (26,96
Pro forma adjustment to reverse the n-to-market adjustmer

attributable to the convertible preferred stocknaats (unauditec (1,08¢) (235
Net loss used to compute pro forma net loss peedbaaudited $ (37,03) $ (27,209
Denominatotr
Weightec-average shares of common stock outstanding us

computing net loss per share of common stock, kagiadilutec 92,99¢ 598,08(
Pro forma adjustments to reflect assumed weightedage effect of

conversion of convertible preferred stock (unawdji 5,526,60. 10,165,43
Denominator for pro forma basic and diluted neslpsr shar

(unaudited 5,619,60! 10,763,51
Pro forma basic and diluted net loss per shareu@itexd) $ (6.59 $ (2.5%)

The following outstanding shares of potentiallyutlite securities were excluded from the computatibdiluted net loss per share for the

periods presented because including them would haglean anti-dilutive effect:
December 31, June 30,
2007 2008 2009 2009 2010
(unaudited)

Options to purchase common st 76,94 105,92( 1,535,46! 110,47: 2,251,009
Common stock subject to repurchi 25,38: 7,46¢ — — —
Warrants to purchase convertible preferred s 2,81t 7,71( 384,15 281,78t 384,15:
Warrants to purchase common st — — 1,630,62! — 2,581,00!
Convertible preferred stock (on ar-if converted basis 1,843,53 3,222,67. 9,186,721  3,222,67 10,533,49

Total 1,948,66! 3,343,76! 12,736,97  3,614,93 15,749,74
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Stand&dard (FASB) issued a new accounting standardctiatges the accounting for revenue
arrangements with multiple deliverables. Specificahe new accounting standard requires an etdillocate arrangement consideration a
inception of an arrangement to all of its delivdeatbased on their relative selling prices. In &iddj the new standard eliminates the use of the
residual method of allocation and requires thetiradaselling-price method in all circumstances ihigh an entity recognizes revenue for an
arrangement with multiple deliverables. In Octob@d9, the FASB also issued a new accounting stdrttiat changes revenue recognition for
tangible products containing software and hardvedgments. Specifically, if certain requirementsraet, revenue arrangements that contain
tangible products with software elements that aseetial to the functionality of the products azeped out of the existing software revenue
recognition accounting guidance and will be accedrior under these new accounting standards. Rattdards will be effective for the
Company in the first quarter of 2011. Early adopii® permitted. The Company is currently assesiagmpact that the adoption of these
standards will have on its financial statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued an amendment &@@wunting standard which requires new disclosiamefair value measures and provides
clarification for existing disclosure requiremerpecifically, this amendment requires an entitgiszlose separately the amounts of
significant transfers in and out of Level 1 and & fair value measurements and to describe tsores for the transfers; and to disclose
separately information about purchases, salesafig®s and settlements in the reconciliation fonfalue measurements using significant
unobservable inputs, or Level 3 inputs. This amesrdrolarifies existing disclosure requirementstfar level of disaggregation used for clas
of assets and liabilities measured at fair valugraguires disclosure about the valuation techriguel inputs used to measure fair value for
both recurring and nonrecurring fair value meas@mrisiusing Level 2 and Level 3 inputs. This guidegisceffective for interim and annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2@88ept for certain Level 3 activity disclosurgugements that will be effective for
reporting periods after December 15, 2010. Accaigithe Company adopted this amendment on Jany&91D, except for the additional
Level 3 requirements, which will be adopted in 20@ther than requiring additional disclosures, diopof this new guidance did not have a
material impact on the Company’s financial statetsien

3. Fair Value Measurement

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value ie fimancial statements are categorized based Ugolevel of judgment associated with the
inputs used to measure their fair value. HieramdHevels which are directly related to the amaefrgubjectivity associated with the inputs to
the valuation of these assets or liabilities arfolsws:

Level 1—Observable inputs, such as quoted prices in aotiakets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2—Observable inputs, other than Level 1 prices, siscquoted prices for similar assets or liabilitpsoted prices in markets that are
active or other inputs that are observable or @odsroborated by observable market data for sobially the full term of the assets or
liabilities.

Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by littla@market activity and that are significant to taie value of the assets or liabiliti

The following table sets forth the Company’s fin@hinstruments that were measured at fair valua oecurring basis as of December 31,
2008 and 2009 and June 30, 2010 by level withirfalveralue hierarchy. Assets and liabilities measguat fair value are classified in their
entirety based on the lowest level of input thaigmificant to the fair value measurement. The @any’s assessment of the significance of a
particular input to the fair value measurementsrentirety requires management to make judgmermtsansider factors specific to the asset or
liability.
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As of December 31, 2008, the Company’s fair valieeanchy for its financial assets and financiabilities that are carried at fair value was as
follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(in thousands)
Assets
Money market fund (included in Cash and cash edgig) $6,18¢ $ — $ — $6,18¢
Liabilities
Convertible preferred stock warrant liabil $ — $ — $1,10C $1,10(

As of December 31, 2009, the Company’s fair valieednchy for its financial assets and financiabilidies that are carried at fair value was as
follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(in thousands)
Assets
Money market fund (included in Cash and cash edgiig) $6,12( $ — $ — $6,12(
Liabilities
Convertible preferred stock warrant liabil $ — $ — $1,55: $1,55¢

As of June 30, 2010, the Company'’s fair value @ for its financial assets and financial liafié that are carried at fair value was as
follows (unaudited):

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(in thousands)
Assets
Money market fund (included in Cash and cash edgiig) $ 621 $ — $ — $ 621
Liabilities
Convertible preferred stock warrant liabil $ — $ — $1,31¢ $1,31¢

The Company values its convertible preferred steakrant liability (Note 7) using the Black-Scholgstion pricing model. The expected term
for these warrants is based on the remaining coto@blife of these warrants. The expected votgtdissumption was determined by examining
the historical volatility for industry peers, agtGompany does not have a trading history fordtarmon stock. The risk-free interest rate
assumption is based on U.S. Treasury investmentsevterm is consistent with the expected term efithrrants. The expected dividend
assumption is based on the Company’s history apdaation of dividend payouts.

The change in the fair value of the convertiblefgmed warrant liability is summarized below:

(in thousands)

Fair value at December 31, 200 $ 38¢€
Decrease in the fair value recorded in interestathdr income (expense), r (65)
Issuance of convertible preferred stock warr: 77¢
Fair value at December 31, 200 1,10(
Decrease in the fair value recorded in interestathdr income (expense), r (1,08¢)
Issuance of convertible preferred stock warri 1,541
Fair value at December 31, 200 1,55:
Decrease in the fair value recorded in interestathdr income (expense), net (unaudit (239)
Fair value at June 30, 2010 (unaudited $ 1,31¢
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4. Balance Sheet Components
I nventory
Inventory consists of the following:

December 31,

June 30,
2009 2010
(unaudited)
(in thousands)

Raw material $ 237 $ 1,29
Work-in-progress 38 66%
Finished good 79 284

Total $ 354 $ 2,23¢
The Company did not have any inventory as of Deeergth, 2008.
Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment, net, consist of the foliayi

December 31, June 30,
2008 2009 2010
(unaudited)
(in thousands)
Computer equipmet $ 3,32¢ $ 5,107 $ 6,93
Computer softwar 1,03¢ 1,39( 1,801
Furniture and fixture 267 341 351
Machinery and equipmel 6,14( 7,612 13,59:
Leasehold Improvemen 337 6,06/ 6,56
Equipment under constructic — 1,451 4,66:
11,10¢ 21,96¢ 33,90¢

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortiza (3,087) (7,107 (7,357

$ 8,02¢ $14,86¢ $ 26,55

Depreciation and amortization expense for the yeaded December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009 and, ctivalya for the period from June 14,
2005 (date of inception) to June 30, 2010 was $X#8,$2,795,000, $5,240,000 and $11,994,000 (uted)drespectively. Depreciation and
amortization expense for the six months ended 30n2009 and 2010 was $2,034,000 (unaudited) ar@8300 (unaudited), respectively.
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Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities consist of the following:

December 31, June 30,
2008 2009 2010
(unaudited)
(in thousands)
Accrued professional fet $ 29t $ 7C $ =
Accrued vacation expen: 653 928 1,182
Accrued 401(k) expens 27 64 54
Outside service 34¢ 13t 41
Accrued interes 102 69 50
Accrued compensatic — — 437
Deferred rent, curret — 341 667
Other 31€ 43C 144

$1,74¢ $2,032 $ 257t

5. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Lease Obligations

In October 2007, the Company entered into an ageaefor office facilities consisting of approximbté 0,560 square feet under an operating
lease, which began on January 1, 2008 and expir@&eoember 31, 2010.

In October 2008, the Company entered into an ageaefor office facilities consisting of approximbt&6,096 square feet under an operating
lease, which began on March 1, 2009 and expiresugust 31, 2016.

The Company recognizes rent expense on a straighbasis over the non-cancellable lease term ecatds the difference between cash rent
payments and the recognition of rent expense afeardd rent liability. Where leases contain estadeclauses, rent abatements and/or
concessions, such as rent holidays and landlotenant incentives or allowances, the Company apfitiem in the determination of straight-
line rent expense over the lease term. Rent exdensige years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 ad@ 20d, cumulatively, for the period
from June 14, 2005 (date of inception) to June2BA0 was $438,000, $850,000, $1,914,000 and $408aZunaudited), respectively. Rent
expense for the six months ended June 30, 2002@He was $924,000 (unaudited) and $988,000 (urediditespectively.

Future minimum lease payments under these non-tablecoperating leases as of December 31, 2008sfellows:

(in thousands)
Years Ending December 31

2010 $ 2,61(
2011 2,51(
2012 2,58¢
2013 2,66¢
2014 2,747
Thereaftel 4,76:
Total future minimum lease paymel $ 17,88¢
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Secured Equipment Loan Agreements

In September 2006, the Company entered into asgé@quipment loan agreement with Silicon Valley B&1$VB"). The loan was for
$1,000,000 and had an interest rate of the gread&56% or prime plus 0.5% as determined at the tifithe draw down. Repayment of the
amount outstanding began on January 1, 2007 angayable in 36 equal monthly installments. In carioa with the loan, the Company
issued warrants to purchase the Company’s Serm#ertible preferred stock as discussed in Nofhé.loan was repaid in full as part of the
July 2008 loan agreement.

In August 2007, the Company entered into a seceg@ipment loan agreement with SVB and Gold Hill Wee Lending (“Gold Hill"). The
loan was for $3,000,000 and had an interest ratieeofreater of 9.25% or prime plus 1% as deterchateghe time of the draw down.
Repayment on the amount outstanding began thre¢hsafter the initial draw and was payable in 36atgnonthly installments. In connecti
with the loan, the Company issued warrants to pgelthe Company’s Series B convertible preferrecksas discussed in Note 7. The
Company drew down $194,000 in 2008. The loan wpaideas part of the July 2008 loan agreement.

In July 2008, the Company entered into a securageatent loan agreement with SVB, Leader Equity Lar@@l Oxford Finance Corporation.
The loan is for $13,000,000 and was drawn in foam¢hes between July and December 2008. The ihtatesfor each tranche was set at an
interest rate of the greater of 10.50% or primes @103%. The interest rates on the tranches dbtres range between 10.50% to 11.04% as
determined at the time of the draw down. The loeqsiire a termination payment be made with thd fen payment. The termination
payment is calculated based upon 4% of each adrdne amounts and causes the loans to have anieéfatterest rate of 12.81% to 13.34%.
The loan required that the proceeds be first usedgay the balances outstanding on the August a887September 2006 loan agreements
noted above. Repayment of the July 2008 loan begarmmonth after the first draw down under the laad continues for 36 equal monthly
installments. In connection with the loan, the Campissued warrants to purchase the Company’ssS€r@nvertible preferred stock, which
were later converted into warrants to purchaseeSdiconvertible preferred stock, as discussecdiie M. The Company has pledged as
collateral all property and equipment purchasedyamt to the secured equipment loan agreementsCadimpany drew down the full amount
during the year ended December 31, 2008. Thereafimancial covenants in the secured equipmemt égaeement.

Future loan repayments under the July 2008 loagemgent as of December 31, 2009 are as follows:

(in thousands)
Years Ending December 31

2010 $ 5,057
2011 3,92¢
Total payment: 8,98:
Less:

Interest expens (75€)

Unaccreted termination payme (277)
Total principal payment 7,95(
Less: Notes payable, curre 4,44(
Notes payable, net of curre $ 3,51(

Promissory Notes

In April, May and June 2010, the Company issuednssory notes to certain of its existing investorsan aggregate principal amount of
$22,121,452. The principal amount of the promissates accrues interest at an
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annual rate of 8%. The promissory notes maturbeaearliest of a corporate reorganization as défineghe promissory notes, the
consummation of an initial public offering of th@@pany’s common stock, an event of default purstatite terms of the promissory notes or
April 12, 2011. In the event that the Company isssigares of a new series of preferred stock wighemgte gross cash proceeds in excess of
$17,000,000, the outstanding principal and inteséslie promissory notes will automatically convietb that series of preferred stock at the
lowest price paid by an investor in the financingt(to exceed $7.56 per share). In August 2010ptomissory notes converted into Series E
preferred stock, as discussed in Note 14. In cdiorewith the promissory notes, the Company issuadants to purchase the Company’s
common stock, as discussed in Note 9.

Intellectual Property Agreement

In March 2006, the Company entered into an intali@oproperty agreement (Note 11) with Callida Gaius, Inc. for licenses related to the
Company’s core technology. Under the agreemenCtrapany will make annual payments of $250,00&fduration of six years starting in
March 2006. The payments are recorded as reseadctieavelopment expense.

Purchase Commitments

As of December 31, 2009, the Company had outstgmulinchase commitments related to its data centerelated connectivity and non-
cancellable orders for sequencing components & Sillion.

Contingencies

The Company is subject to claims and assessmemistime to time in the ordinary course of busind$e Company’s management does not
believe that any such matters, individually ortie taggregate, will have a material adverse effe¢the Company’s business, financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows.

I ndemnification

In the normal course of business, the Company im&y contracts and agreements that contain atyaof representations and warranties and
provide for general indemnifications. The Compangkposure under these agreements is unknown keeitausolves claims that may be me
against the Company in the future, but that haveyebbeen made. To date, the Company has notgogidlaims or been required to defend
any action related to its indemnification obligatso However, the Company may record charges ifutiiee as a result of these indemnifical
obligations.

In accordance with its Certificate of Incorporatiemd bylaws, the Company has indemnification olilige to its officers and directors for
certain events or occurrences, subject to cermits] while they are serving at the Company’s esjun such capacity. There have been no
claims to date, and the Company has director afickofinsurance that enables it to recover a portibany amounts paid for future potential
claims.
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6. Convertible Preferred Stock

The Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, as adesh authorizes the Company to issue 9,288,222slwdi$0.001 par value preferred stock.

Convertible preferred stock (“Preferred Stock”Patcember 31, 2008 consists of the following:

Proceeds,
Shares net of
Shares issued and Liquidation issuance
Series authorized outstanding amount costs
(in thousands, except share amounts)
A 138,65¢ 137,97: $ 6,05( $ 5,86¢
A-1 138,65¢ — — —
B 206,00( 203,62( 14,05( 13,871
B-1 206,00( — — —
C 175,00( 167,35( 39,98¢ 25,39¢
C-1 175,00( — — —
1,039,311 508,94 $ 60,08¢ $ 45,13¢
Preferred Stock at December 31, 2009 consistseofaifowing:
Proceeds,
Shares net of
Shares issued and Liquidation issuance
Series authorized outstanding amount costs
(in thousands, except share amounts)
A 138,65¢ 137,97. $ 6,05C $ 5,86¢
B 205,75¢ 203,62( 14,05( 13,87!
C 167,35’ 167,35( 39,98¢ 25,39¢
D 6,421,55! 5,964,05. 67,63 40,21
6,933,33. 6,472,991 $127,72. $ 85,341
Preferred Stock at June 30, 2010 consists of thmafimg (unaudited):
Proceeds,
Shares net of
Shares issued and Liquidation issuance
Series authorized outstanding amount costs
(in thousands, except share amounts)
A 138,65¢ 137,97 $ 6,05C $ 5,86¢
B 205,75¢ 203,62( 14,05( 13,87!
C 167,35’ 167,35( 39,98¢ 25,39¢
D 8,776,44! 7,310,811 82,90 50,22
9,288,22. 7,819,75! $142,99: $ 95,35¢

The rights and preferences of holders of Prefebtedk are as follows:
Dividends

Holder of Series A, B, C and D convertible prefdrstock are entitled to receive non-cumulativedbvids at the per annum rate of $3.51,

$5.52, $12.74 and $0.60 per share, respectivedyadpusted for stock splits, combinations reorgations and the like) out of any assets at the
time legally available therefor, when, as and ifldeed by the Board of Directors. Such dividendszayable in preference to any dividends on

common stock. There have been no dividends dectarddte.
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Conversion Rights

Each share of Preferred Stock is convertible, @bifition of the holder, at any time after the adtissuance of such share. Each share of Serie:
A, B, C and D convertible preferred stock shalcbevertible into that number of fully paid and nesessable shares of common stock that is
equal to $43.85, $69.00, $159.30 and $159.30, ctisply, divided by the conversion price of $9.82,1.64, $19.33 and $159.30, respectively,
(as adjusted for stock splits, combinations, reoigions and the like). The current conversiomgewith respect to Series A, B, C and D
convertible preferred stock are 1:4.6 shares, kba®es, 1:8.2 shares and 1:1 share, respectively.

Each share of Preferred Stock, automatically caevato the number of shares of common stock irtichvsuch shares are convertible at the
then effective conversion price immediately upontlie affirmative vote of the holders of more tt&%6 of the outstanding Preferred Stock,

(2) the consummation of a firmly underwritten pelifering pursuant to the Securities Act of 1988.amended, on Form S-1 or any successo!
form, provided, however, that (i) the per sharegtd the public is at least $238.95 (as adjusiedtbck splits, combinations, reorganizations
and the like) and (ii) the aggregate gross procemtitee Company are not less than $40,000,000.

Special Mandatory Conversion

If the Company issues preferred stock at a pricespare less than $159.30, (as adjusted for sulitk,combinations, reorganizations and the
like) with aggregate proceeds of over $2,000,00fan institutional or other professional investnd a preferred stockholder does not
purchase its pro rata shares in the offering hses shall automatically convert into shares afimon stock at the applicable conversion ra
the time of the preferred stock issuance.

Liquidation Rights

In the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding of the Company, the holders of Series A, Bn@ B convertible preferred stock shall be
entitled to receive, in preference to the distiitrubf any assets of the Company to holders of comatock, an amount equal to $43.85,
$69.00, $238.95 and $11.34 per share, respectipkiy,any declared but unpaid dividends. If up@dbcurrence of such event, the amounts
available for distribution among holders of PrederStock are insufficient to pay the aforementiopedferential amounts, the entire assets of
the Company legally available for distribution gl distributed among the holders of Series D edtitMe preferred stock, then among the
holders of Series C convertible preferred stocktaed ratably among the holders of Series A andt/ertible preferred stock together in
proportion to the preferential amount each holdetherwise entitled to receive.

After completion of the distribution to holders®feferred Stock, any remaining assets of the Coynglaall be distributed with equal priority,
pro rata among the holders of the Series A, B anoiivertible preferred stock and the holders of mam stock, treating each share of
Series A, B and D convertible preferred stock ashiid been converted into common stock at the #pplicable conversion rate up to 300%,
300% and 225%, respectively, of the liquidationf@rence for such shares of convertible preferredkstAny remaining funds will then be
distributed to common stockholders.

Voting Rights

The holder of each share of Preferred Stock igledtio one vote for each share of common stoakwitich shares of such Preferred Stock
could then be converted. The holder of each shaPeederred Stock votes together with common stotddrs and not as a separate class.
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Redemption

Prior to the issuance of Series B convertible pretestock in March 2007, Series A convertible grefd stock was redeemable at the election
of 75% of the then outstanding shares of Seriesrvertible preferred stock on or after March 24120The redemption would have required
the Company to pay a per share sum equal to thelétion preference of the Series A redeemable eitne preferred stock plus an amount
per share calculated at a rate of 8% per annum eonged quarterly, and unpaid but declared dividehde shares were to be redeemed in
three equal annual payments after the notice teemadvas issued. The first payment would occur tey taan 40 days after such written not
Upon the issuance of Series B convertible prefestedk in March 2007, Series A became nonredeenaaialéhe cumulative dividend stated
above was cancelled. Since the shares of Seriesmectible preferred stock were mandatorily redeadm#hrough March 2007, the Company
has accreted interest costs of $486,000 as of Demedi, 2009 and June 30, 2010 (unaudited).

7. Warrants for Convertible Preferred Stock
The Company had the following unexercised convierfilbeferred stock warrants:

Exercise

Shares as of Fair value as of
. December 31, December 31,
price per
Underlying Stock share 2008 2009 2008 2009
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Series A $ 43.8¢ 684 684 $ 61 $ 5
Series E $ 69.0( 2,131 2,131 19¢ 21
Series C $159.3( 4,89¢ — 841 —
Series C $ 7.5¢€ — 381,33t — 1,527
Total 7,71( 384,150 $1,10C  $1,55:
Exercise
Shares as of Fair value as of
price per
June 30, June 30,
Underlying Stock share 2010 2010
(unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Series A $ 43.8¢ 684 $ 6
Series E $ 69.0C 2,131 23
Series C $ 7.5¢€ 381,33 1,28¢
Total 384,15! $ 1,31¢

SeriesA

In 2006, the Company issued warrants to purchadeslB8res of Series A convertible preferred stoanatxercise price of $43.85 per share.
These warrants were issued in connection with éicared equipment loan agreement. The initial failue of the warrants of $36,000 was
recorded as a credit to warrant liability and adimt to the carrying value of the debt. The distauas fully amortized in 2008. The warrants
expire on the tenth anniversary after their isseatate. Immediately prior to the consummation ofiétial public offering as defined in the
warrants, the preferred stock warrants will contetommon stock warrants.

SeriesB

In 2007, the Company issued warrants to purcha3esB8res of Series B convertible preferred stoanatxercise price of $69.00 per share.
These warrants were issued in connection with pgsamy notes. The initial fair value of the warraoit$25,000 was recorded as a credit to
warrant liability and a discount to the carrying
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value of the debt. The discount on the debt wdyg &rhortized to interest expense upon conversigh®flebt in 2007. These warrants expire
upon the earlier of the fifth anniversary afterithgsuance date or the closing of an initial palolifering as defined in the warrant. If these
warrants are not exercised prior to an initial jpubffering and have not yet expired, these wagavili automatically net exercise into share
common stock at the initial public offering pricktbe common stock immediately prior to the conswatiom of the offering, assuming the
initial public offering price is greater than theeecise price of the warrants.

In 2007, the Company issued warrants to purcha8Ishares of Series B convertible preferred stben exercise price of $69.00 per share.
These warrants were issued in connection with thguat 2007 secured equipment loan. The initiafalue of the warrants of $172,000 was
recorded as a credit to warrant liability and au#nce cost of the debt. The issuance cost ofabeveas fully amortized in 2008. The warrants
expire on the tenth anniversary after their isseatate. Immediately prior to the consummation offétial public offering, the preferred stock
warrants will convert to common stock warrants.

Series C converted into Series D

In 2008, the Company issued warrants to purch&854hares of Series C convertible preferred sibel exercise price of $159.30 per share.
These warrants were issued in connection with the2D08 secured equipment loan. The exercise pncenumber of warrants were subjec
change upon the closing of a Series D preferrezkdtnancing agreement. In conjunction with thei€eD convertible preferred stock
financing in August 2009, the warrants became ésaite for Series D convertible preferred stocke Thnversion resulted in warrants to
purchase 103,173 shares of Series D convertibfenpeel stock with an exercise price of $7.56. Tigial fair value of the warrants of $779,(
was recorded as a credit to warrant liability andssuance cost of the debt. The issuance cobeafdbt is being amortized to interest expense
over the life of the debt. In 2008 and 2009, thenPany had amortized debt issuance costs of $10&080%259,000, respectively. The
Company had amortized debt issuance costs of $a8@uhaudited) for both the six months ended JUn€309 and 2010. The warrants ex

on the tenth anniversary after their issuance diaiediately prior to the consummation of an inigablic offering, the preferred stock
warrants will convert to common stock warrants.

SeriesD

In 2009, the Company issued warrants to purcha8gl83 shares of Series D convertible preferreckstib@an exercise price of $7.56 per share.
These warrants were issued in connection with pgsamy notes. The initial fair value of the warraoit$1,541,000 was recorded as a credit to
warrant liability and a discount to the carryingueaof the promissory note. The discount on thergseory notes was amortized to interest
expense over the life of the debt in 2009. In Au@@99, the discount was fully amortized upon theversion of the promissory notes. These
warrants expire upon the earlier of the fifth ammsary after their issuance date or upon consuromafian initial public offering. If these
warrants are not exercised prior to an initial jpubffering and have not yet expired, these wagavill automatically net exercise into share
common stock at the initial public offering pricktbe common stock immediately prior to the conswatiom of the offering, assuming the

initial public offering price is greater than theeecise price of the warrants.
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The assumptions used in the initial valuation btahvertible preferred stock warrants using thadBtScholes model are as follows:

2006 2007 2008 2009
Series A Series B Series C Series D
Contractual term (year: 10 5-10 10 5
Volatility 98.56% 100.48- 102.01% 99.97% 91.39- 106.57%
Dividend 0% 0% 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rat 4.69% 4.56- 4.72% 4.01% 1.82-2.71%
The assumptions used to revalue all convertibléemed stock warrants using the Black-Scholes madeks follows:
December 31, June 30,
2008 2009 2009 2010
(unaudited)

Remaining contractual term (yea 3.15- 9.58 2.15- 8.58 2.65-9.08 1.65- 8.08
Volatility 91.27- 102.65% 71.98-91.55% 101.58- 124.65% 76.71- 85.53%
Dividend 0% 0% 0% 0%
Risk-free rate 1.07- 2.42% 1.38- 3.33% 1.76- 3.55% 1.17-3.20%

The Company adjusts the fair value of the convierfiibeferred warrants at the end of each repogargpd. The fair value of the warrants as of
December 31, 2009 and June 30, 2010 was $1,553/a0$1,318,000 (unaudited), respectively. The chamghe fair value for the years en
December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009 and cumulatif@iyhe period from June 14, 2005 (date of inceptio June 30, 2010, resulted in an
increase of $175,000, and a decrease of $65,0008&%000 and $1,210,000 (unaudited), respectivaiych was reflected in interest and other
income (expense), net. The change in fair valu¢hfersix months ended June 30, 2009 and 2010 eesulian increase of $75,000 (unaudited)
and a decrease of $235,000 (unaudited), respagtivbich was reflected in interest and other incdm@ense), net.

8. Common Stock

The Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, as adesh) authorizes the Company to issue 17,293,928 slod $0.001 par value common
stock. Common stockholders are entitled to dividesdbject to preferred stock dividends, when &dddlared by the Board of Directors.
There have been no dividends declared to dateh®lier of each common share is entitled to one.vote

On June 14, 2005, 78,332 shares of restricted congtozk were issued at $0.001 per share to the @oypfounders under a restricted stock
purchase agreement. The shares vested over adaupgriod. The unvested shares of common stockudject to repurchase by the Company
in the event of termination of the employment rielaghip. Included in common stock outstanding aBetember 31, 2008 and 2009 are 7,465
and 0 shares, respectively, which are subjectadCibmpany’s right to repurchase relating to thegeements.

On March 28, 2006, the Company issued 13,333 sladirmmmnmon stock to Callida Genomics, Inc. in cdasation for entering into an
intellectual property license agreement. The Corppanorded the common stock’s fair value of $69,880esearch and development expense

On March 10, 2010 (unaudited), the Company gran&&j533 shares of common stock to its founders.ddrapany recorded the common
stock’s fair value of $1,840,000 as an expensehith $915,000 was recorded in general and adméniigé expense and $925,000 in research
and development expense.
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9. Warrants for Common Stock

On August 12, 2009, the Company issued warranpsitchase 1,630,629 shares of common stock at anisxgrice of $1.50 per share. These
warrants were issued in connection with the ComjsaBgries D convertible preferred stock offeringeTnitial fair value of the warrants was
calculated using the Black-Scholes option priciradel with the following assumptions: seven yeareeted term; 105.56% volatility; 0%
dividend; and a risk-free interest rate of 3.21%e Tair value of $1,999,000 was allocated to theravds and recorded as a credit to additional
paid-in capital and as a reduction of the procdexia Series D convertible preferred stock. Theseavds expire upon the earlier of the
seventh anniversary after their issuance date @n gpnsummation of an initial public offering. Ifese warrants are not exercised prior to an
initial public offering and have not yet expiredese warrants will automatically net exercise sttares of common stock at the initial public
offering price of the common stock immediately ptio the consummation of the offering, assumingitiitéal public offering price is greater
than the exercise price of the warrants.

In April, May and June 2010, the Company issuetthéoholders of promissory notes a warrant to pusetzanumber of shares of common stock
equal to the product of 5% of the principal amoofthe promissory notes and the number of monthsd®n the date of issuance of the
warrant and the date of the next financing (upwe months), divided by $1.50. Warrants to purcteseggregate of 3,686,893 (unaudited)
shares of common stock were outstanding as of 30n2010, of which the contingency for warrantptiochase 950,376 (unaudited) shares of
common stock was satisfied as of June 30, 2010wHEneEnts have an exercise price of $1.50 per svateexpire upon the fifth anniversary of
their issuance date which is the same date asshe date of the relevant promissory notes. Thialimalue of the warrants was calculated
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model whk following assumptions: five year expected terofatility ranging from 80.94% to

81.43% (unaudited); 0% dividend (unaudited); amidlafree interest rate ranging from 2.0% to 2.58% (uwiited). The fair value of $5,372,0
(unaudited) was allocated to the warrants and dexbas a credit to additional paid-in capital as@ aeduction of the proceeds of the
promissory notes. The fair value of the warrantseismig amortized to interest expense using thegfeinterest rate method over the term of
the notes.

10. Stock Option Plan

In 2006, the Company adopted the 2006 Equity Ineerlan (the “Plan”) which provides for the graugtiof stock options to employees,
directors and consultants of the Company. Optioastgd under the Plan may be either incentive stptions (“ISOs”) or nonqualified stock
options (“NSOs”). The Company has reserved 3,53ghhres of common stock for issuance under the Pla

Options to purchase the Company’s common stocklmeayranted at a price not less than the fair masidete (“FMV”) in the case of both
NSO and ISO, except for an employee or nonemplayeeowns more than 10% of the voting power of Esses of stock of the Company.,
which case the exercise price shall be no less1th@fo of the FMV per share on the grant date. fRaiket value is determined by the Boar
Directors. Options are exercisable as determinetthé@Board of Directors, but must become exercéesabh rate of not less than 20% per
annum over five years from the vesting date, exirefiie case of options granted to officers, doestind consultants. The Company has
historically granted options that vest over a fpear period. Options expire as determined by thar@of Directors, but not more than ten ye
after the date of grant.

F-27



Table of Contents

Complete Genomics, Inc.
(A development stage enterprise)

Notes to Financial Statements—(Continued)

Activity under the Plan is as follows:

Qutstanding options

Weighted Aggregate
Shares average
available Number of exercise intrinsic
for grant shares price value
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Shares reserved at 2006 Equity Incentive Plan tiare 45,16¢ — —
Options grante: (33,249 33,24: 5.1C
Options cancelle 66€ (66€) 5.1C
Balance, December 31, 20C 12,58¢ 32,57% 5.1C $ —
Additional shares reserve 42,93 — —
Options grante: (47,53) 47,53 15.22
Options cancelle: 3,16¢ (3,165 5.1C
Balance, December 31, 20C 11,15¢ 76,94 11.3¢ 39¢€
Additional shares reserve 21,26: — —
Options grante: (38,090 38,09( 58.8(
Options exercise — (2,160 11.5Z 80
Options cancelle 6,95: (6,959 17.13
Balance, December 31, 20C 1,28( 105,92( 28.0: 5,101
Additional shares reserv¢ 1,824,05. — —
Options grante: (1,463,62) 1,463,62. 2.04
Options exercise — (45€) 8.3C 30
Options cancelle 33,61¢ (33,616 18.2¢
Balance, December 31, 20C 395,32¢ 1,535,46! 3.47 754
Additional shares reserved (unaudit 1,605,70: —
Options granted (unaudite (935,189 935,18¢ 1.5C
Options exercised (unaudite — (69,679 1.5C 65
Options cancelled (unaudite 149,88¢ (149,886 1.5
Balance, June 30, 2010 (unauditec 1,215,72i 2,251,09: $ 1.5C $ 2,67¢
The following table summarizes information abowc&toptions outstanding at December 31, 2009:
Weighted
average
Weighted remaining
average contractual
Number of exercise
options price life (years)
As of December 31, 200
Options outstandin 1,535,46! $ 3.47 9.7¢
Options vested and expected to \ 1,351,43 $ 3.3¢ 9.7¢
Options vested and exercisa 787,63( $ 2.7: 9.77
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The following table summarizes information abowtcktoptions outstanding at June 30, 2010 (unaudited

Weighted

Weighted average

remaining

average contractual

Number of exercise
options price life (years)
As of June 30, 201(

Options outstandin 2,251,009 $ 1.5C 9.4:
Options vested and expected to \ 1,944,79: $ 1.5C 9.4%
Options vested and exercisa 746,23! $ 1.5C 9.2¢

Stock Option Modification

In January 2010, the Company modified stock opttonsurchase 85,477 (unaudited) shares of the Coywgaommon stock held by 106
employees and consultants. The modification didchange any of the other terms or conditions ofofitgons, and it did not have a significant
impact on the compensation expense recognizecistttiement of operations for the six months eddeé 30, 2010.

Stock-Based Compensation Associated with Awards to Employees

During the years ended December 31, 2008 and 20@Bduring the six months ended June 30, 201 dmepany granted stock options to
employees to purchase 38,090, 1,307,910 and 93%hd@dited), respectively, shares of common stdtk a weightedaverage grant date f
value of $1.42, $1.70 and $1.70 per share, resbgtiStock-based compensation expense recognintnigdhe years ended December 31,
2007, 2008 and 2009 and, cumulatively, for theqeefiom June 14, 2005 (date of inception) to June2®10 for stockased awards granted
employees amounts to $88,000, $284,000, $1,1430002,344,000 (unaudited), respectively. Stocleth@®mpensation expense recognized
during the six months ended June 30, 2009 and #615lock-based awards granted to employees amtwu 97,000 (unaudited) and
$819,000 (unaudited), respectively. As of Decen#igr2009 and June 30, 2010, there were total ugrézed compensation costs of
$2,653,000 and $2,249,000 (unaudited), respectivelgted to these stock options. These costsxgeced to be recognized over a period of
approximately 2.5 and 2.7 years (unaudited), respyg.

The Company estimated the fair value of stock oystiosing the Black-Scholes option valuation modke fair value of employee stock
options is being amortized on a straight-line basir the requisite service period of the award fhir value of employee stock options was
estimated using the following assumptions:

Years ended December 31, Six months ended June 30,
2008 2009 2009 2010
(unaudited)
Expected tern 6.08 year: 5.32-6.10 year: 5.82- 6.10 year: 5.50 year:
Expected volatility 82.05-84.79% 74.03- 92.44% 87.27-92.44% 80.54- 80.79%
Expected dividend 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Risk-free interest rat 2.79- 3.62% 1.80-2.72% 1.80- 2.19% 2.57-2.80%

Risk-Free Interest Rate: The Company determined the risk-free interestlgitesing a weighted average assumption equivabethet
expected term based on the U.S. Treasury constaunrity rate as of the date of grant.

Expected Volatility: The Company used an average historical stock patsility of comparable companies to be represérgaf future
stock price volatility, as the Company did not hawg trading history for its common stock.
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Expected Term: Expected term represents the period that the Coyfgatock-based awards are expected to be outstgnlhe Company’s
assumptions about the expected term were basednopamies that have similar industry, life cyclejarue and market capitalization.

Expected Dividend: The Company has not paid and does not anticipaiagany dividends in the near future.

The total fair value of employee stock options gdsduring the years ended December 31, 2007, 2002@09 was $40,000, $201,000 and
$898,000, respectively. The total fair value of évgpe shares vested during the six months endesl 32009 and 2010 was $179,000
(unaudited) and $355,000 (unaudited), respectively.

In December 2009, the Company modified the vestaigedule of 731,944 options originally granted owvBmber 2009 to approximately 100
employees. The modification did not change the remalb options granted, and it did not have a sigaift impact on the compensation
expense recognized in the statement of operatmmbé year ended December 31, 2009.

Options Granted to Nonempl oyees

Since inception, the Company has granted 161,®tX stptions to nonemployees. Stock-based compensatipense related to stock options
granted to nonemployees is recognized as the stotidn is earned. The Company believes that thmatad fair value of the stock options is
more readily measurable than the fair value ofsttreices rendered. The fair value of the stockomgtigranted to nonemployees is calculated at
each reporting date using the Black-Scholes opfwiting model using the following assumptions:

December 31, June 30,
2008 2009 2009 2010
(unaudited)
Remaining contractual ter 6.02 years 6.5- 10 years 6.03- 7.00 years 6.04- 9.57 year:
Expected volatility 84.79% 104.2- 111.5% 98.55-98.84%  77.58-79.13%
Expected dividend 0% 0% 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rat 2.59% 2.83- 3.40% 2.59-2.82% 2.86- 3.68%

Compensation expense related to these optionkdoydars ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 200@w@ndlatively, for the period from
June 14, 2005 (date of inception) to June 30, 2¢49$12,000, $52,000, $268,000 and $403,000 (uteal)drespectively. Compensation
expense related to those options for the six mosrtidled June 30, 2009 and 2010 was $47,000 (undypditd $70,000 (unaudited),
respectively.

11. Related Party Transactions

On March 28, 2006, the Company entered into aiécteal property license agreement (“the Agreerfenith Callida Genomics Inc.
(“Callida™), a company owned by the Company’s Cl8efentific Officer, for use of certain patentstgrd applications, know-how and other
intellectual property relating to the Company’sectechnology. As consideration for the rights doérses granted in this agreement, the
Company issued 13,333 shares of common stock t@&ain March 28, 2006, which was recorded atdtsrharket value as research and
development expense. The Company agreed to pagl&€alcash payment of $250,000 on a yearly bagiktie earlier of: (i) six years from

the date of the agreement of March 28, 2006, @ale, or other similar liquidity event, of Callidar consideration equal to, or exceeding,
$2,000,000, (iii) the registration, listing anddirag of the Company'’s securities on an establigtedk exchange or national market system or
(iv) the fair market value of the common sharesessto Callida becoming equal to, or exceedind)®2000. The agreement also required the
Company to pay Callida a cash payment of $1,000@8&h was paid in November 2008 and was recoedeal research and development
expense. Additionally, the Company reimbursed @al$50,000 for the cost of patent prosecution iclithrough the date of the agreement.
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The intellectual property license agreement witHi@aincludes several termination provisions, irdihg: any time after 15 months from the
contract date until the expiration of the contttacin the Company may terminate the agreement fpreason, or no reason, by giving Callida
written notice of termination. Upon terminationtbfs Agreement, the Company’s obligation to make famther payments, including those
referred to in the paragraph above, and the Conipaight to use any items covered in the licenseagent, are both cancelled.

During the years ended December 31, 2007, 2002@08 and, cumulatively, for the period from June2@D5 (date of inception) to June 30,
2010, the aggregate expenses under the licensenagné were $391,000, $1,333,000, $250,000 and $230 (unaudited), respectively.
During the six months ended June 30, 2009 and 2B&Gggregate expense under the license agreamei$125,000 (unaudited) for both
periods.

On March 28, 2006, the Company entered into a segreement with Callida for use of Callida’s gguént, location and staff. The
agreement was effective through June 30, 20061lin2D06, the agreement was modified and extenaléddigust 2007. During the year ended
December 31, 2007 and, cumulatively, for the pefioth June 14, 2005 (date of inception) to June2BA0, the aggregate expenses under this
agreement were $266,000 and $1,030,000 (unaudie=xpectively.

On February 21, 2007, the Company entered into jzsmry notes with entities affiliated with OVP Raats and Enterprise Partners (existing
investors). The borrowing was for an aggregateggwal amount of up to $2,000,000, plus simple ie$éon the outstanding principal amount,
at the annual rate of 6%. The Company drew dowthemotes for a total of $1,000,000 during the ysated December 31, 2007. The
outstanding balance plus interest on the balancecaaverted into Series B convertible preferredlstturing 2007. In connection with the
notes, the Company issued warrants to purchaseshithe Company’s Series B convertible prefestedk as discussed in Note 7.

In November 2007, the Company entered into a ctinguhgreement with Snezana Drmanac, the wife oCPmanac, the Company’s Chief
Scientific Officer and one of its founders. Mrs.ntanac provides research and development servilzgeddo the Company’s sequencing
technology as an independent contractor. Mrs. Demdsicompensated at a rate of $150 per hour fosdrgices. In 2009, Mrs. Drmanac wg
paid a total of $150,930 for her services purst@iiie consulting agreement. The consulting agreemdor a term of five years and can be
terminated by either party with ten days writtetice

On February 13, 2009, the Company entered into {ssmry notes with various holders of the Comparpreferred stock. The borrowings w
for an aggregate principal amount of up to $14,0@8, plus simple interest on the outstanding ppialcamount, at the annual rate of 8%. The
Company drew down on the notes for the full priatipmount during 2009. The outstanding balance iptesest on the balance was converted
into Series D convertible preferred stock durin@20n connection with the notes, the Company idsuarrants to purchase shares of the
Company’s Series D convertible preferred stockissudsed in Note 7.

F-31



Table of Contents

Complete Genomics, Inc.
(A development stage enterprise)

Notes to Financial Statements—(Continued)

12. Income Taxes
The Company has not recorded any income tax exgensiee years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 ad@ @0e to its history of operating
losses. The tax effects of temporary differencas gfive rise to significant portions of the defertax assets are as follows:

December 31,

2007 2008 2009

(in thousands)

Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss carryforwar $ 4,68¢ $ 13,37( $ 23,797
Research and development cre: 66C 1,48¢ 2,40¢
Capitalized sta-up costs 1,95¢ 4,071 4,11¢
Accruals and reserve 89 221 2,345
Fixed assets and depreciat — 142 261
Deferred tax asse 7,38¢ 19,28¢ 32,93(
Deferred tax liabilities

Fixed assets and depreciat (18€) — —
Net deferred tax assets prior to valuation alloves 7,20 19,28¢ 32,93(
Valuation allowanct (7,207) (19,289 (32,930
Net deferred tax asse $ — $ — $ —

The Company has established a full valuation allfmeaagainst its deferred tax assets due to thetairty surrounding realization of these
assets. The valuation allowance increased $5,101%1?,087,000 and $13,641,000 during the yearscB&cember 31, 2007, 2008 and 2(
respectively.

As of December 31, 2009, the Company had net dpgritss carryforwards of approximately $59,747,@0d $59,745,000 available to red
future taxable income, if any, for federal and @aiiia state income tax purposes, respectively.f€teral net operating loss carryforward
begins expiring in 2026, if not utilized, and thate net operating loss carryforward begins exg@iiin2016, if not utilized. The net operating
loss related deferred tax assets do not includessxtax benefits from employee stock option exescis

As of December 31, 2009, the Company had reseathl@velopment credit carryforwards of approxima,889,000 and $1,987,000
available to reduce taxable income, if any, forefedl and California state income tax purposes,e@sgely. The federal credit carryforwards
begin expiring in 2026, and the state credit camyfrds do not expire. Because of net operating dmsl credit carryforwards, all of the
Company'’s tax years, dating to inception in 2008ai open to federal tax examinations. Most statiedictions have four open tax years at
any point in time.

Utilization of net operating loss and tax creditrgéorwards is subject to ownership change rulegrasided under the Internal Revenue Code
and similar state provisions. The Company has padd an analysis to determine whether an ownerdtdapge has occurred from inception to
December 31, 2009. The analysis has determinedvwisadwnership changes have occurred during thasgeDue to the ownership changes,
the utilization of these net operating losses asearch credits are subject to annual limitatiamweler, the Company concluded that as of
December 31, 2009 no net operating losses or isead development credits will expire before zéition due to these ownership changes. In
the event the Company has a subsequent changengrsiip, net operating loss and research and dawelot credit carryovers could be
further limited and may expire unutilized.
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Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopteghtbeisions of the FASB’s guidance on accountinguiocertainty in income taxes. These
provisions provide a comprehensive model for tle@gaition, measurement and disclosure in finarste@ements of uncertain income tax
position that a company has taken or expects ® daka tax return. Under these provisions, a compan recognize the benefit of an income
tax position only if it is more likely than not @ater than 50%) that the tax position will be sast@ upon tax examination, based solely on the
technical merits of the tax position. Otherwise bemefit can be recognized. Assessing an unceggiposition begins with the initial
determination of the sustainability if the positiand is measured at the largest amount of behetii$ greater than 50% likely of being reali
upon ultimate settlement. As of each balance sieget unresolved uncertain tax positions must assessed. Additionally, companies are
required to accrue interest and related penalfiapplicable, on all tax exposures for which ressrhave been established consistent with
jurisdictional tax laws. The cumulative effect bigt adoption is recorded as an adjustment to tiea@iog balance of its deficit accumulal

during the development stage on the adoption date.

As a result of the implementation of these provisiche Company recognized a $40,000 increase umiiecognized tax benefits. There wa:
increase in the January 1, 2007 balance of deficitimulated during the development stage sincbehefit relates to attribute carryovers for
which the related deferred tax asset was subjexfidl valuation allowance. At the adoption datdanuary 1, 2007 and as of December 31,
2009, the Company had no accrued interest or pesattlated to the tax contingencies. Since theaognized tax benefit relates to attribute
carryovers for which the related deferred tax agset subject to a full valuation allowance, theoggation of the unrecognized tax benefits will
not affect the Company’s effective tax rate. Thenpany has elected to include interest and penatiescomponent of tax expense. The
Company does not anticipate that the amount ofaogmized tax benefits relating to tax positionstrg at December 31, 2009 will
significantly increase or decrease within the rigkimonths.

The aggregate changes in the balance of grossagmeed tax benefits were as follows:

(in thousands)

January 1, 2007 $ 40
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing the current peric 164
December 31, 200 204
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing the current peric 39t
December 31, 200: 59¢
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing the current peric 37C
December 31, 200! $ 96¢

13. Subsequent Events

On July 30, 2010, the Board of Directors of the @any approved the filing of a registration statehmmForm S-1 with the Securities and
Exchange Commission for an initial public offeriofithe Company’s common stock.

In April, May and June 2010, the Company issuedsedible promissory notes to certain of its exigtinvestors for an aggregate principal
amount of $22,121,452. The principal amount ofdbevertible promissory notes accrues interest @raal rate of 8%. The convertible
promissory notes mature at the earliest of a catpareorganization as defined in the convertibtaypssory notes, the consummation of an
initial public offering of the Compang’common stock, an event of default pursuant tdetiras of the convertible promissory notes or Ap#|
2011. In the event that the Company issues sh&ies@w series of preferred stock with aggregatsgcash proceeds in excess of
$17,000,000, the outstanding principal and inteséslie convertible promissory notes will automaliiz convert into that series of preferred
stock at the lowest price paid by an
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investor in the financing (not to exceed $7.56g&re). In addition, each investor who was issueghaertible promissory note also received a
warrant to purchase a number of shares of comnuoak sijual to the product of 5% of the principal amioof the convertible promissory notes
and the number of months between the date of isguafithe warrant and the date of the next finap¢imp to five months), divided by $1.50.
These warrants expire upon the fifth anniversargheir issuance date.

The Company has evaluated subsequent events thdolygB0, 2010, the date on which the financialesteents were issued for inclusion in the
Company'’s registration statement on Form S-1.

14. Subsequent Events (unaudited)

On August 4, 2010, the Company issued additionavedible promissory notes in the amount of $12@,80d related contingent common
stock warrants for 20,237 shares with an initial ¥alue of $20,000 calculated using the Black-3es@ption pricing model.

On August 5, 2010, the Company amended its Ceatéiof Incorporation to increase its authorizedelcapital to 28,067,001 shares of
common stock and 15,134,722 shares of preferrett.sttne shares of preferred stock may be issuédearseries: 138,658 shares of Series A
preferred stock; 205,758 shares of Series B pedestock; 167,357 shares of Series C preferredt;stg892,154 shares of Series D preferred
stock and 6,930,795 shares of Series E preferoett.dlone of the terms of the existing series efgnred stock were amended, except that the
minimum per share price (as adjusted for stockspiombinations, reorganizations and the likehpublic in a firmly underwritten public
offering pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933aagended, on Form S-1 that would trigger an autieneanversion of all series of preferred
stock was reduced from $238.95 to $11.34. The Sé&ripreferred stock shares have a liquidation pratee of $11.34 per share and will rec

a distribution prior to Series D preferred stockr&ls in a liquidation event.

In August, September and October 2010, the Compaluy3,921,826 shares of Series E preferred sto$K.86 per share to existing investors
for proceeds for $29,649,000. In addition, in cowfion with the Series E financing, the $22,607,60the principal amount and accrued
interest on the Company’s convertible promissoga@onverted into 2,990,355 shares of Series fénpeel stock. The total gross proceeds
from the Series E financing, including the convemsof the convertible promissory notes, was $52X8& As a result of the conversion of the
convertible promissory notes, the remaining valiihe debt discount recorded upon issuance of éhanwon stock warrants of $4,544,000 was
recorded against preferred stock. In connectioh thieé conversion of the promissory notes, the Completermined the actual number of
shares of common stock underlying warrants prelyousntingently issued to be 1,848,849 shares ofroon stock. The terms of these
warrants are discussed in Note 9.

Each investor in the Series E preferred stock fiiranreceived common stock warrants to purchase @5%te number of shares of Series E
preferred stock purchased. Warrants for 1,318, Aa8s of common stock with an exercise price 8% per share were issued. The common
stock warrants were exercisable if the Compangdeaid ship genomic data for at least 369 genomizeelem May 1, 2010 and September 30,
2010. On September 29, 2010, the Company’s boaddeftors determined that the Company had shigeadmic data for at least 369
genomes between May 1, 2010 and September 30, POtfuant to the terms of the warrants, the wasrailed to become exercisable and
were terminated and are no longer outstanding & pfember 30, 2010.

The Company’s Series E preferred stock was issutdakbeneficial conversion feature, which was edlat approximately $2 million. The
beneficial conversion amount has been accountedsfan increase in additional paid-in capital andrain-substance dividend to the preferred
stockholders.

On August 3, 2010, a patent infringement lawsuis filed against the Company by lllumina, Inc. amde8a, Inc. (an entity acquired by
lllumina), or the Plaintiffs, in the U.S DistrictoDrt in Delaware. The case caption is
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lllumina, Inc. and Solexa, Inc. v. Complete Genaiicc., Civil Action No. 10-649. The complaint allegestithe Company’s Complete
Genomics Analysis Platform, and in particular isnbinatorial probe anchor ligation technology, iimfles upon three patents held by lllumina
and Solexa. The Plaintiffs seek unspecified mogetamages and injunctive relief. If an injunctiergranted, it could force the Company to
stop or alter certain of its business activitidlse Tompany believes it has substantial and mesiteridefenses to these claims and intends to
vigorously defend its position; however, a negatiuvecome in this matter could have a material agbveffect on the Company’s financial
position, results of operations, cash flows andri®ss. The Company is not currently able to estrta potential loss, if any, that may result
from this claim.

In connection with the issuance of the interim ficial statements for the six months ended Jun2@1), the Company has evaluated
subsequent events through September 10, 2010atbelek interim financial statements were initigddlyued. In connection with the filing of 1
Amendment No. 6 to Registration Statement on Forin tBe Company has evaluated subsequent eventggthiNovember 10, 2010.
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Through and including , 2010 B2days after the date of this prospectus) federaksurities laws may require all dealers that
effect transactions in our common stock, whether onot participating in this offering, to deliver a prospectus. This is in addition to the
dealers’ obligation to deliver a prospectus when ding as underwriters and with respect to their unsdd allotments or subscriptions.
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Part Il
Information not required in prospectus

Item 13. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distributio  n

The expenses relating to the registration of tta@eshof common stock being offered hereby, otheem tinderwriting discounts and
commissions, will be borne by us. Such expensessimated to be as follows:

Amount to

be Paid
Securities and Exchange Commission registratiol $ 6,88¢
FINRA filing fee 10,16(
NASDAQ Global Market listing fe: 125,00(
Blue Sky fees and expens 5,00(
Printing and engraving expens 225,00(
Legal fees and expens 1,500,001
Accounting fees and expens 1,000,001
Transfer Agent and Registrar fe 20,00(
Miscellaneous expens 357,95:
Total $3,250,00!

Iltem 14. Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation peavides that a corporation may indemnify its dioes and officers from certain
expenses in connection with legal proceedings @nohips a corporation to include in its charter doents, and in agreements between the
corporation and its directors and officers, pramisi expanding the scope of indemnification beytad specifically provided by this section.

The Registrant’'s amended and restated certifidatecorporation provides for the indemnificationdifectors to the fullest extent permissible
under Delaware law.

The Registrant’s amended and restated bylaws pedeidthe indemnification of officers, directorsdathird parties acting on the Registrant’s
behalf if such persons act in good faith and insaaner reasonably believed to be in and not oppistte Registrant’s best interest, and, with
respect to any criminal action or proceeding, Sndemnified party had no reason to believe hisesrdonduct was unlawful.

The Registrant is entering into indemnificationesgnents with each of its directors and executifieass, in addition to the indemnification
provisions provided for in its charter documenty] ¢he Registrant intends to enter into indemniificeagreements with any new directors and
executive officers in the future.

The underwriting agreement (filed as Exhibit 1.tete@) will provide for indemnification by the undeniters of the Registrant and the
Registrants executive officers and directors, and indemniiiicaof the underwriters by the Registrant, fortair liabilities, including liabilities
arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as ameénitleconnection with matters specifically providadvriting by the underwriters for
inclusion in the registration statement.

The Registrant intends to purchase and maintauramee on behalf of any person who is or was atirer officer against any loss arising
from any claim asserted against him or her andriecuby him or her in that capacity, subject taaerexclusions and limits of the amount of
coverage.
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Item 15. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

The following information sets forth informationgarding all unregistered securities sold by thei®egnt since January 1, 2007 and give
effect to the 1:30 reverse stock split effectetlavember 2009:

1. In February 2007 and March 2007, the Registraneidsvarrants to purchase an aggregate of 393 stiitssSeries B preferred stock
an exercise price of $69.00 per share to threeedited investors in connection with a bridge loaaricing. The warrants may be
exercised at any time prior to their terminatiotedawhich are five years from the date of issua

2. In March 2007 and September 2007, in a serietosings, the Registrant issued and sold an agtgerf 203,620 shares of its Series B
preferred stock at a price of $69.00 per shara fowmbination of cash and the conversion of $110omiin convertible debt, for
aggregate gross consideration of $14.05 milliorseteen accredited investo

3. In August 2007, the Registrant issued warranfautchase an aggregate of 1,738 shares of itesI8rnpreferred stock at an exercise price
of $69.00 per share to financial institution lergigr connection with the entry into a credit fagiliThe warrants may be exercised at any
time prior to their termination dates, which ane years from the date of issuan

4. In February 2008 and March 2008, in a series dfinfys, the Registrant issued and sold an aggrefidt7,350 shares of its Series
preferred stock at a price of $159.30 per shareadgregate gross consideration of $26.7 millioreleven accredited investo

5. InJuly 2008, the Registrant issued warrants tealpase an aggregate of 4,895 shares of Series &me@ktock at an exercise price
$159.30 per share, which were subsequently cortrartdugust 2009 into warrants to purchase an aggecof 103,173 shares of Series
D preferred stock at an exercise price of $7.56spare, to financial institution lenders in conmatwvith the entry into a credit facility.
The warrants may be exercised at any time prithed termination dates, which are ten years frbendate of issuanc

7. In February 2009 through August 2009, in a serfedasings, the Registrant issued warrants to pasetan aggregate of 278,165 shi
of its Series D preferred stock at an exerciseepuoic$7.56 per share to nine accredited investoc®mnnection with a bridge loan
financing. The warrants may be exercised at ang pinor to their terminate dates, which are fivarggfrom the date of issuant

8. In August 2009, the Registrant issued and soldggmegyate of 5,964,054 shares of its Series D prfestock at a price of $7.56 per s
for a combination of cash and conversion of $15i5on in convertible debt, for aggregate grosssideration of $45.1 million, to
fourteen accredited investors, and issued wartarsrchase an aggregate of 1,630,629 sharesadriteon stock at an exercise price of
$1.50 per share to six accredited investors eagrhafh also purchased Series D preferred st

9. In February 2010 and March 2010, in a series dfiogs, the Registrant issued and sold an aggrefiat846,762 shares of its Series
preferred stock at price of $7.56 per share, fgregate gross consideration of $10.2 million, twetéen accredited investo

10. In March 2010, the Registrant issued and sold aneggte of 786,533 shares of its common stockpaita of $1.50 per share, f
aggregate gross consideration of $1.18 milliorthtee of its executive officers: Robert J. Curd®adoje Drmanac, Ph.D. and Clifford A.
Reid, Ph.D. Each of the executives purchased withhelds their respective shares in the name fsi.

11. From April 2010 through August 2010, in a seéclosings, the Registrant issued and sold greagte of $22,242,892 in principal
amount of convertible notes and warrants to pulaasaggregate of 1,848,849 shares of its comneak st an exercise price of $1.50
per share to 20 accredited investors. The warraaisbe exercised at any time prior to their terrtidmadates, which are five years from
the date of issuanc

12. In August, September and October 2010, iniasef closings, the Registrant issued and soldggmegate of 6,912,181 shares of its
Series E preferred stock at a price of $7.56 paresfor a combination of cash and the conversidgg2@t6 million in convertible debt and
accrued interest, for aggregate gross considerafi$b2.3 million, to 21 accredited investors, @glied warrants to purchase an
aggregate of 1,318,719 share:
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its common stock at an exercise price of $2.69.Wwaeants issued in connection with the Seriesefepred stock financing we
subsequently terminated and are no longer outstgrati of September 30, 20:

13. Since January 1, 2007, the Registrant hasepatock options to purchase 3,093,437 shares obihmon stock at exercise prices
ranging from $1.50 to $76.20 per share to a tdtalld employees, consultants and directors unde2006 Equity Incentive Pla

14. The Registrant has issued and sold an aggrefjat®,769 shares of its common stock to emplogeelsconsultants at prices ranging
from $1.50 to $35.40 per share pursuant to theceseenf options granted under its 2006 Equity InieenPlan.

15. In November 2010, the Registrant issued an aggrewfat13,398 shares of its common stock to twoealitrd investors pursuant to 1
exercise of warrants to purchase the Registrantisncon stock, each with an exercise price of $1&0share, for total cash proceeds of
$620,097

The issuance of securities described above in Ifeparagraphs (1) — (12) and (15) were exempt fiegistration under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, in reliance on Section 4(2)eB#rcurities Act of 1933, as amended, and Regul&ipromulgated thereunder, as
transactions by an issuer not involving any pubffering. The purchasers of the securities in themesactions represented that they were
accredited investors and that they were acquitiegsecurities for investment only and not with@wtoward the public sale or distribution
thereof. Such purchasers received written discésstirat the securities had not been registered tunel&Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
and that any resale must be made pursuant to stna@n statement or an available exemption fregistration. All purchasers either received
adequate financial statement or non-financial state information about the Registrant or had adegaecess, through their relationship with
the Registrant, to financial statement or non-foiainstatement information about the Registrane $ale of these securities was made without
general solicitation or advertising.

The issuance of securities described above in ltemparagraphs (13) and (14) were exempt from megish under the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, in reliance on either (1) Rule 701leguition S under the Securities Act of 1933, asradad, pursuant to compensatory benefit
plans or agreements approved by the Registrangsdbaf directors or (2) Section 4(2) of the SegesitAct of 1933, as amended, and
Regulation D promulgated thereunder, as transactigran issuer not involving any public offerindnelrecipients of securities in each of these
transactions represented their intention to acqbeesecurities for investment only and not witbwito or for sale in connection with any
distribution thereof, and appropriate legends vedfiged to the share certificates and instrumesgséd in such transactions. All recipients had
adequate access, through their relationships wgithounformation about us.

All certificates representing the securities issimethese transactions described in this Item thidted appropriate legends setting forth tha
securities had not been offered or sold pursuaatragistration statement and describing the agipliicrestrictions on transfer of the securities.
There were no underwriters employed in connectidh any of the transactions set forth in this It&

Iltem 16. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Exhibits
Exhibit No. Description of Exhibits
1.1+ Form of Underwriting Agreemen
3.1+ Seventh Restated Certificate of Incorporation ofnptete Genomics, Inc., currently in effe
3.2+ Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incaapion of Complete Genomics, Inc., to be in efieunediately prior t
the consummation of this offerin
3.3+ Bylaws of Complete Genomics, Inc., as amendedeatiyrin effect.
3.4+ Form of Amended and Restated Bylaws of Completeo®dxts, Inc., to be in effect immediately prior letconsummatio
of this offering.
4.1 Reference is made to exhibits 3.1 through
4.2+ Specimen Common Stock Certifica
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Exhibit No. Description of Exhibits
4.3+ Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Common S#stled in connection with a 2009 convertible brithg financing
transaction
4.4+ Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Common S#stled in connection with the 2010 convertible ¢eitban financing
transaction
4.5+ Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Series Aemed stock issued in connection with the Loan &ecurity Agreemen
dated September 21, 20(
4.6+ Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Series B2t stock issued in connection with the 2007 editMe bridge loat
financing transactior
4.7+ Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Series Bepel stock issued in connection with the Loan &edurity Agreement,
dated August 3, 200°
4.8+ Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Series Depef stock issued in connection with a 2009 cdiblerbridge loar
financing transactior
4.9+ Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Series Deped stock issued in connection with the Loan &ecurity Agreemen
dated July 30, 200t
5.1+ Opinion of Latham & Watkins LLF
10.1+ Fourth Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agregrdated August 6, 2010, between Complete Gengiimicsand
certain of its stockholder
10.2+ Form of Indemnity Agreement for directors and affte.
10.3at+ Intellectual Property License Agreement by and leefwCallida Genomics, Inc. and Complete Genomies dffective as of
March 28, 2006
10.3b+ Amendment to the Intellectual Property License A&gnent, effective as of December 17, 2008, by atdden Callida
Genomics, Inc. and Complete Genomics,
10.4+ Loan and Security Agreement, dated July 30, 209&ral among Silicon Valley Bank, Oxford Finance @oation, Leade
Lending LLC—Series A, Leader Lending LL—Series B and Complete Genomics, |
10.5+ Lease Agreement by and between Britania HacientlalMIC and Complete Genomics, Inc., dated Octdier2008
10.6a+ Complete Genomics, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Péanamende
10.6b+ Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2006 Bqguitentive Plan
10.7a+ Complete Genomics, Inc. 2010 Equity Incentive Aw@tan.
10.7b+ Form of Stock Option Grant Notice and Stock Optgreement under the 2010 Equity Incentive AwarchF
10.8+ Offer letter employment agreement, by and betweamilete Genomics, Inc. and Bruce Martin, dated M&@, 2010
10.9+ Offer letter employment agreement, by and betweam@ete Genomics, Inc. and Mark J. Sutherland,ddistarch 11, 201C
10.10+ Offer letter employment agreement, by and betweem@lete Genomics, Inc. and Ajay Bansal, dated Ma&3070.
10.11a+ Severance Agreement, by and between Complete Gespinc. and Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D., dated Mard@) 2006.
10.11b+ Amendment to Severance Agreement, by and betwesampléte Genomics, Inc. and Clifford A. Reid, Ph.@ated Decembe
31, 2008
10.12a+ Severance Agreement, by and between Complete Gespinc. and Robert J. Curson, dated March 28, 2
10.12b+ Amendment to Severance Agreement, by and betwempléte Genomics, Inc. and Robert J. Curson, datsémber 31
2008.
10.13a+ Severance Agreement, by and between Complete Gespinc. and Radoje Drmanac, Ph.D., dated Marcl2@86.
10.13b+ Amendment to Severance Agreement, by and betwesrpléte Genomics, Inc. and Radoje Drmanac, Ph.Deddaecembe
31, 2008,
10.14+ Complete Genomics, Inc. N-Employee Director Compensation Pol
10.15+ Complete Genomics, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase
23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Indeperiiegistered Public Accounting Firt
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Exhibit No. Description of Exhibits
23.2+ Consent of Latham & Watkins LLP (included in Exhibil).

23.3+ Consent of BCC Researc

24.1+ Power of Attorney

Tt Certain portions have been omitted pursuant to rfidential treatment request. Omitted informatiastbeen filed separately with the St
+  Previously filed

(b) Financial Statement Schedules

Schedules not listed above have been omitted bedchasnformation required to be set forth theisinot applicable or is shown in the
financial statements or notes thereto.

Item 17. Undertakings

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arisingpder the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, regyebmitted to directors, officers and
controlling persons of the Registrant pursuanh&foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the Regidtheas been advised that in the opinion o
Securities and Exchange Commission such indemtidités against public policy as expressed in teeusities Act of 1933, as amended, and
is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event thdhiancfor indemnification against such liabilitiestiier than the payment by the Registrant of
expenses incurred or paid by a director, officecantrolling person of the Registrant in the sustidslefense of any action, suit or proceed

is asserted by such director, officer or contrgllperson in connection with the securities beirggstered, the Registrant will, unless in the
opinion of its counsel the matter has been seltjecontrolling precedent, submit to a court of aygrate jurisdiction the question whether s
indemnification by it is against public policy aspeessed in the Securities Act of 1933, as ameratadiwill be governed by the final
adjudication of such issue.

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that:

(1) For purposes of determining any liability under 8exurities Act of 1933, as amended, the informmatimitted from the form ¢
prospectus filed as part of this registration steet in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained énftlim of prospectus filed by the
Registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(1) or (4) or(d®uinder the Securities Act of 1933, as amendeal| be deemed to be part of this
registration statement as of the time it was dedaffective

(2) For the purpose of determining any liability unttez Securities Act of 1933, as amended, eact-effective amendment that contain
form of prospectus shall be deemed to be a newstragipn statement relating to the securities effaherein, and the offering of such
securities at that time shall be deemed to bertialibona fide offering thereo

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes tdgedo the underwriters at the closing as spetiiiethe underwriting agreement, certifice
in such denominations and registered in such nasesquired by the underwriters to permit promgivvdey to each purchaser.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiesoA&033, as amended, the Registrant has duly cabsedmendment No. 6 to the Registral
Statement on Form S-1 to be signed on its behatlfibyindersigned, thereunto duly authorized, inGite of Mountain View, State of
California, on the 1@ day of November, 2010.

COMPLETE GENOMICS, INC.

By: /s/ CuFrorDA. REID

Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D.
President and Chief Executive Officer

Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiesoAt033, as amended, this Amendment No. 6 to tlggsRation Statement has been signed by
the following persons in the capacities indicatetbty on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ CLFFoOrRDA. REID Chairman, President and Chief Executive Off November 10, 201
Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D. (Principal Executive Officer
/s/ AJAY B ANSAL Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and November 10, 2010
Ajay Bansal Accounting Officer)
* Director November 10, 2010
Alexander E. Barkas, Ph.D.
* Director November 10, 2010
C. Thomas Caskey, M.D.
* Director November 10, 2010
Carl L. Gordon, Ph.D., CFA
* Director November 10, 2010
Michael P. Rubin, M.D.
* Director November 10, 2010
Andrew E. Senyei, M.D.
* Director November 10, 2010
Lewis J. Shuster
* Director November 10, 2010
Charles P. Waite, Jr.
* Director November 10, 2010
Robert T. Wall
*By: /'s/ CuLFFORDA. R EID November 10, 201

Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D.
Attorney-in-Fact
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Exhibit Index
Exhibit No. Description of Exhibits
1.1+ Form of Underwriting Agreemer
3.1+ Seventh Restated Certificate of Incorporation ofnplete Genomics, Inc., currently in effe
3.2+ Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incaapon of Complete Genomics, Inc., to be in efieahediately
prior to the consummation of this offerir
3.3+ Bylaws of Complete Genomics, Inc., as amendedeatlyrin effect.
3.4+ Form of Amended and Restated Bylaws of Completeo@#ts, Inc., to be in effect immediately prior heet
consummation of this offerin
4.1 Reference is made to exhibits 3.1 through
4.2+ Specimen Common Stock Certifica
4.3+ Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Common Ssstled in connection with a 2009 convertible britigen
financing transactior
4.4+ Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Common Ssstled in connection with the 2010 convertible gpeidban
financing transactior
4.5+ Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Series Aepred stock issued in connection with the Loan $ecurity
Agreement, dated September 21, 2(
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loan financing transactiol
4.7+ Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Series Bepesf stock issued in connection with the Loan &adurity
Agreement, dated August 3, 20!
4.8+ Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Series Deped stock issued in connection with a 2009 cdiblerbridge loa
financing transactior
4.9+ Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Series Deped stock issued in connection with the Loan &ecurity
Agreement, dated July 30, 20(
5.1+ Opinion of Latham & Watkins LLF
10.1+ Fourth Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreerdated August 6, 2010, between Complete Gengnmics
and certain of its stockholdel
10.2+ Form of Indemnity Agreement for directors and affis.
10.3at+ Intellectual Property License Agreement by and leetwCallida Genomics, Inc. and Complete Genomics,dffective
as of March 28, 200t
10.3b+ Amendment to the Intellectual Property License A&gnent, effective as of December 17, 2008, by ahdden Callid:
Genomics, Inc. and Complete Genomics,
10.4+ Loan and Security Agreement, dated July 30, 209&ra among Silicon Valley Bank, Oxford Finance [@oation,
Leader Lending LL—Series A, Leader Lending LI—Series B and Complete Genomics, |
10.5+ Lease Agreement by and between Britania Hacientla MIC and Complete Genomics, Inc., dated Octdier2008.
10.6a+ Complete Genomics, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Pésnamende
10.6b+ Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2006 Bguitentive Plan
10.7a+ Complete Genomics, Inc. 2010 Equity Incentive Awatan.
10.7b+ Form of Stock Option Grant Notice and Stock Op#agreement under the 2010 Equity Incentive AwarchF
10.8+ Offer letter employment agreement, by and betweam@ete Genomics, Inc. and Bruce Martin, dated M&®, 201C
10.9+ Offer letter employment agreement, by and betweam@ete Genomics, Inc. and Mark J. Sutherland,ddisterch 11
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10.10+ Offer letter employment agreement, by and betweam@ete Genomics, Inc. and Ajay Bansal, dated M&010.

10.11a+ Severance Agreement, by and between Complete Gespimc. and Clifford A. Reid, Ph.D., dated Mard) 2006.

10.11b+ Amendment to Severance Agreement, by and betweeplete Genomics, Inc. and Clifford A. Reid, Ph.@ated
December 31, 200!

10.12a+ Severance Agreement, by and between Complete Gespinc. and Robert J. Curson, dated March 28, 2

10.12b+ Amendment to Severance Agreement, by and betweempléte Genomics, Inc. and Robert J. Curson, ¢
December 31, 200!

10.13a+ Severance Agreement, by and between Complete Gespinc. and Radoje Drmanac, Ph.D., dated Marcl2@8s.

10.13b+ Amendment to Severance Agreement, by and betweerpléte Genomics, Inc. and Radoje Drmanac, Ph.Deg
December 31, 200!

10.14+ Complete Genomics, Inc. N-Employee Director Compensation Pol

10.15+ Complete Genomics, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, IndeperiRiegitstered Public Accounting Firt

23.2+ Consent of Latham & Watkins LLP (included in Exhibil).

23.3+ Consent of BCC Researc

24.1+ Power of Attorney

t Certain portions have been omitted pursuant to @fidential treatment request. Omitted informaticastoeen filed separately with the St

+  Previously filed



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We hereby consent to the use in this AmendmentNo.the Registration Statement on Form S-1 ofreport dated July 30, 2010 relating to
the financial statements of Complete Genomics, lmhich appears in such Registration Statementaldte consent to the reference to us ul
the heading “Experts” in such Registration Statetmen
/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LI

San Jose, California
November 10, 201



